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Staff Summary A-04-2024

Subject: Enterprise Assessment & Tax Maintenance Date: January 12, 2024
Renewal (RGIT24000006)
Department: Department of Shared Services/ Vendor Name: Tyler Technologies, Inc.
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Department Head Name: Melissa Gallucci Confract Number: A-04-2024
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Narrative

Purpose: To authorize and award a purchase order for the annual software licenses, support and
maintenance of the assessment Enterprise Assessment and Tax /ADAPT sysiem.

Discussion: The Department of Shared Services, Office of Purchasing has determined that this is a sole
source procurement. Tyler Technologies, Inc. is proprietary owner/supplier of this software and is the sole
vendor who manufactures, sells, and distributes exclusively the Enterprise Assessment & Tax and ADAPT
Maintenance Software. This is necessary to maintain the current technology and is a maintenance
agreement for modules related to tax biling, collections, delinquent tax, appeals management and EDMS
interface. The period of this agreement runs from

April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025.

Impact on Funding: The maximum amount authorized under this purchase order shall be Seven Hundred
Thirty-Five Thousand Three Hundred Eighty Dollars ($735,380.00) from general funds {ITGEN 1420/DESAS).

Recommendation: Department of Shared Services, Office of Purchcismg recommends owordlng a

purchase order to Tyler Technologies, Inc. as the sole source provider. |
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COUNTY OF NASSAU

INTER — DEPARTMENTAL MEMO

TO: CLERK OF THE COUNTY LEGISLATURE A-04-2024

FROM:  MELISSA GALLUCCI - COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES
DATE: January 12,2024
SUBJECT: RESOLUTION- VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES.

THIS RESOLUTION IS RECOMMENDED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES
TO AUTHORIZE AN AWARD AND TO EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER IN THE, AMOUNT OF
SEVEN HUNDRED THIRTY-FIVE THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED EIGHTY DOLLARS
(§735,380.00) ON BEHALF OF THE VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES TO TYLER
TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FOR ENTERPRISE & TAX AND ADAPT SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE
RENEWAL.

THE ABOVE DESCRIBED DOCUMENT ATTACHED HERETO IS FORWARDED F OR YOUR
REVIEW AND APPROVAL AND SUB SEQUENT TRANSMITTAL TO THE RULES COMMITTEE

FOR INCLUSION IN ITS AGENDA.
F
ANITYIVN (A

MELISSA GALLUCCI -
COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES

VB: gb
ENCL: (1) STAFF SUMMARY
(2) DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
(3) RESOLUTION
(4) BID SUMMARY
(5) BID PROPOSAL
(6) CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
(7) RECOMMENDATION OF AWARD
(8) POLITICAL CONTRIBUTION FORM




RULES RESOLUTION 2024

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES TO
AWARD AND EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU

ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES AND TYLER

TECHNOLOGIES, INC,

WHEREAS, the Commissioner of Shared Services is representing to the Rules Committee that

the firm, TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC., is a sole source provider and meets al| specifications for the

product described in the said contract as determined by the Commissioner of Shared Services.

RESOLVED, that the Rules Committee of the Nassau County Legislature authorizes the

Commissioner of Shared Services to award and execute the said Purchase Order with Tyler Technologies,

Ine.



COUNTY OF NASSAU
POLITICAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Has the vendor or any corporate officers of the vendor provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New York State
Election Law in (a) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b}, beginning April 1, 2018, the
period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this disclosure, to the campaign
committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the tampaign committees of any candidates for any of
the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County Clerk, the Comptrolier, the District Attorney, or any
County Legislator?

YES { | NO [X] If yes, to what campaign committee?

|

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Rob Kennedy-lensen [ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COIV]]

Dated: 03/04/2024 09:26:07 am Vendor:  Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Title: Group General Counsel
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PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FO

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent {10%) or
greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to answer any
question, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the questionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN

THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE AND IT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1. Principal Name: Mark Hawkins

Date of birth: 07/23/1975

Home address: 2125 Stags Leap

State/Province/
City: Celina Territory: TX
Country: uUs

Zip/Postal
Code:

75009

Business Address: 5101 Tennyson Parkway

State/Province/
City: Plano Territory: . TX

Country Us

Zip/Postal
Code:

75024

Telephone: {972) 713-3770

Other present address(es):

State/Province/
City: Territory:
Country:

Zip/Postal
Code:

Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)

President Treasurer

Chairman of Board Shareholder

Chief Exec. Officer Secretary

Chief Financial Officer Partner

Vice President
{Other)

Type Other

Description  President Property & Recarding Division

Start Date  02/18/2019

3 Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES [X] NO [ ] If Yes, provide detajls.
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Mark Hawkins owns less than a 10% interest. Only 1.47% of Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s shares are held by insiders. Please
see attached document.

1 File(s) uploaded: Holder Information 2022.JPG

4, Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of contribution
made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES [ ] NO [X] If Yes, provide details.

5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization other
than the one submitting the questionnaire?
YES [] NO [X] If Yes, provide details.

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past 3 years
while you were a principal owner or officer?
YES [] NO [X] If Yes, provide details.

—

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a result of
any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". if you need more space,
photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the guestionnaire.

7. In the past (5} years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5 in which
you have been a principal owner or officer:
a Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,

b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts cancelled for
cause?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

]

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not limited to,
failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES [ 1 NO IX] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

]

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action pending
that could formally debar or otherwise affact such business’s ability to bid or propose on contract?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

|

8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 fited a bankruptcy petition and/or been the
subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the last 7 year period,
been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated mare than 7 vears ago and/or is any such
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business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever initiated?
YES [] NO [X] If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. {Provide a detailed response ta all questions check "Yes", If
you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the questionnaire.)

a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES [ ] NO [X] if yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

d. in the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime, an
element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?
YES [] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

]

e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES [] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

]

]

[n the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

10 In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prasecuting or
investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related to activities performed
at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed in response to Question 5?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

| |

11 Inaddition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response to
Question 5, been the subject of a criminal fnvestigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other type of
investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory agencies while
you were a principal owner or officer?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

12 Inthe past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5 had any
sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license held?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
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13 Forthe past 5 tax years, have you failed to file an

local taxes or other assessed charges, including b
YES[]NO[X]

y required tax returns or failed to pay any applicakle federal, state or
ut not limited to water and sewer charges?
If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,
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l ‘ Mark Hawkins , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or any
affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

l, |_Mark Hawkins [ , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the

items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers ta each item therein to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of
this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. | understand that

the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the
submitting business entity,

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY
RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BiD OR FUTURE
BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Mark Hawkins MARK.HAWKINS@TYLERTECH.COM

President, Property & Recording Divsion

Title

03/04/2024 06:27:44 pm

Date
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PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All guestions on these questionnaires must be answered by afl officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent (10%) or
greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to answer any
question, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the questionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. EAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN
THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE AND |T WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1. Principal Name: Robert Kennedy-Jensen
Date of birth: 12/30/1971
Home address: 136 Stevens Avenue
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Pertland Territory: ME Code: 04102
Country: us
Business Address: 1 Tyler Drive
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Yarmouth Territory: ME Code: 04096
Country us
Telephone: 800.772.2260
Other present address{es);
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Territory: Code:
Cauntry:
Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)

President Treasurer

Chairman of Board Shareholder

Chief Exec. Officer Secretary

Chief Financial Officer Partner

Vice President

(Other)
Type Other

Description Group General Counsel
Start Date  03/01/2022

3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the gquestionnaire?
YES [X] NO [ ] If Yes, provide details.
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| Robert Kennedy-Jensen stock grants and purchases are less than 10%.

4, Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of contribution
made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES [ ] NO {X] If Yes, provide details.

5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization other
than the one submitting the guestionnaire?
YES [ ] NO [X] If Yes, provide details,

]

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past 3 years
while you were a principal owner or officer?
YES [1 NO [X] If Yes, provide details,

]

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a result of
any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES", If you need more space,
photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. in the past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5 in which
you have been a principal owner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ ] NO [X] if yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,

]

b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts cancelled for
cause?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

]

c. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not limited to,
failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,

—

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action pending
that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business’s ability to bid or propose on contract?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

]

8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or been the
subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the last 7 year period,
been in a state of bankruptey as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7 years ago and/or is any such
business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever initiated?

YES [ 1 NO [X] If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. {Provide a detailed response to all questions check "Yes". If
you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the guestionnaire.}

| ]
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a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES [] NG [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES [ [ NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken,

d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime, an
element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES [] NO [X] if yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?

YES [ NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

]

10 In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related to activities performed
at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/ar an affiliated business listed in response to Question 57
YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

11 In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response to
Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other type of
investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory agencies while
you were a principal owner or officer?

YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

12 Inthe past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5 had any
sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license held?
YES [1 NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

|

13 For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal, state or
local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
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YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
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|, | Robert Kennedy-Jensen T , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or any
affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

1,

Robert Kennedy-lensen , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the

items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of
this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. { understand that
the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the
submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY
RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE
BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Robert Kennedy-lensen ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COM

Group General Counsel

Title

03/01/2024 01:27:54 pim

Date
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Business History Form

The contract shall be awarded to the responsible proposer who, at the discretion of the County, taking into consideration the
reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to perform the services required by the County, offers the hest value
to the County and who will best promote the public interest.

In addition to the submission of proposals, each proposer shall complete and submit this questionnaire. The questionnaire shall
be filled out by the owner of a sole proprietorship or by an authorized representative of the firm, corparation or partnership
submitting the Proposal.

NOTE: All questions require a response, even if response is “none” or “not-a licable.” No blanks.
PP

(USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS).

Date: 03/01/2024
1) Proposer’s Legal Name: Tyler Technologies, Inc.
2) Address of Place of Business: 5101 Tennyson Parkway
State/Province/ Zip/Postal
City: Plano Territory: TX Code: 75024
Country:  US
3) Mailing Address (if different):
State/Pravince/ Zip/Postal
City: Territory: Code:
Country:
Phone:
| Daes the business own or rent its facilities? Own If other, please provide details:
4) Dun and Bradstreet number: 041089293
5) Federal I.D. Number: 752303920
6) The proposer is a: Corporation {Describe)
7) Does this business share office space, staff, or equipment expenses with any other business?
[ YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, please provide details:
8} Does this business control one or more other businesses?
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YES [X] NO [] If yes, please provide details:

Tyler Technologies, Inc. has the following wholly owned subsidiaries:

. Tyler Foundation {Non-Profit){Confidential and Proprietary)
. Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC
. Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD
. Tyler Federal, LLC
. Socrata UK Limited
. Harris Customer Programming, LLC
. Cavu Corporation
. MicraPact Philippines, Inc,
. NIC In¢,
. VendEngine, Inc.
9) Does this business have one or more affiliates, and/or is it a subsidiary of, or controlled by, any other business?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, please provide details: 1
10)  Has the proposer ever had a bond or surety cancelled or forfeited, or a contract with Nassau County or any other
government entity terminated?
YES [X] NO [ ] If yes, state the name of bonding agency, (if a bond), date, amount of bond and reason for such
cancellation or forfeiture: or details regarding the termination (if a contract}.
| See attached file of terminations,
1 File(s) uploaded: Nassau County, NY - Tyler Technologies, Inc. Terminations February 2024.docx
11) Has the proposer, during the past seven years, been declared bankrupt?
YES [ 1 NO [X] If yes, state date, court jurisdiction, amount of liabilities and amount of assets J
12} Inthe past five years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business, been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
investigative agency? And/or, in the past b years, have any owner and/or officer of any affiliated business been the
subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or
investigative agency, where such investigation was related to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of an affiliated
business.
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
{_taken. ]
13)  Inthe past 5 years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business been the
subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and local regulatary
agencies? And/or, in the past 5 years, has any owner and/or officer of an affiliated business been the subject of an
investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and local regulatory agencies, for
matters pertaining to that individual’s position at or relationship to an affiliated business.
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
Ijken. :‘
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14} Has any current or former director, owner or officer or managerial employee of this business had, either before or during
such person's employment, or since such employment if the charges pertained to events that allegedly occurred during
the time of employment by the submitting business, and allegedly related to the conduct of that business:

a) Any felony charge pending?
YES [ ] NO [X] i yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

b) Any misdemeanor charge pending?
YES [ [ NO [X] If yes, provide detalls for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken,

L |

c) In the past 10 years, you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony and/or any other crime, an element of
which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?

YES []NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

L ]

d} In the past 5 years, been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES { ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and carrective action
taken.

| Il

e} In the past 5 years, been found in violation of any ad ministrative, statutory, or regulatory provisions?
YES [ ] NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective acton
taken.

| ]

15} Inthe past (5) years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated business had any sanction
imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license held?
YES [ NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

L |

16)  For the past (5) tax years, has this business failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer cha rges?
YES [ NO [X] If yes, provide details for each such year. Provide a detailed response to all
questions checked 'YES'. If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questicnnaire.

17 Conflict of Interest:
a) Please disclose any conflicts of interest as outlined below. NOTE: If no conflicts exist, please expressly state “No
conflict exists.”
(i) Any material financial relationships that your firm or any firm employee has that may create a conflict of
interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.
LNo conflict exists.

{ii) Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County public servant that may create a

Page3 of 7 Rev. 3-2016



conflict of interest or the appearance of & conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County,
mo conflict exists.

(iii) Any other matter that your firm believes may create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of
interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| Na conflict exists, ]
b} Please describe any procedures your firm has, or would adopt, to assure the County that a conflict of interest
would not exist for your firm in the future.
| Please see attached Tyler Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. T

1 File(s} uploaded: Tyler Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 2024.pdf

A, Include a resume or detailed description of the Proposer’s professional qualifications, demonstrating extensive
experignce in your profession. Any prior similar experiences, and the results of these experiences, must be identified.

Have you previously uploaded the below information under in the Document Vault?
YES [X] NO []

Is the proposer an individual?
YES [ ] NO [X] Should the proposer be other than an individual, the Proposal MUST include:

i} Date of formation;

| 03/14/1930 ]

i) Name, addresses, and position of all persons having a financial interest in the company, incfuding shareholders,
members, general or limited partner. If none, explain.
LList of holders of Tyler stock available here: https://ﬁnance.yahoo.com/quote/TYL/hoIders?p=TYL j

i) Name, address and position of all officers and directors of the company. If none, explain.
LSee attached list of Board of Directors and Corporate Officers. J

1 File(s) uploaded: Board of Directors and Corporate Officers February 2024.docx

iv) State of incorporation {if applicable);

[oe 7
v) The number of employees in the firm;

| 7227 i

Vi) Annual revenue of firm;
| 1850204000 |

vii) Summary of relevant accomplishments
[ Please also refer to our annual report{s) located here; https://investors.tylertech.com/ﬁnancials/annual-reports-J
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| and-proxy-statements/default.aspx _|

1 File{(s) uploaded: Tyler Technologies Accomplishments 2024.docx

viii)  Copies of all state and local licenses and permits.

1 File(s)} uploaded: State of New York Business Filing Through 02282025.pdf

B. Indicate number of years in business.
[ 34
C. Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpful in determining the Proposer’s capacity and

reliability to perform these services.

https://investors.tylertech.com/financials/annua l-reports-and-proxy-statements/default.aspx

1 File(s) uploaded: Tyler-Technologies-2022-Annual-Report.pdf

D. Provide names and addresses for ho fewer than three references for whom the Proposer has provided similar services or

who are qualified to evaluate the Proposer’s capability to perform this work.

Company Wayne County, NY

Contact Persan Michael Jankowski, County Clerk

Address 9 Pearl St, PO Box 608

City Lyons State/Province/Territory NY
Country Us

Telephone (315) 946-7470

Fax #

E-Mail Address mjankowski@co.wayne.ny.us

Company City of Philadelphia

Contact Person James Leonard, Commissioner

Address 1400 John F. Kennedy Blvd

City Philadelphia State/Province/Territory PA
Country uUs

Telephone (215) 686-2261

Fax #

E-Mail Address James.leonard@phila.gov

Company Lackawanna County

Contact Person Evie Rafalko McNulty, Recorder of Deeds

Address 123 Wyoming Avenue, Suite 218

City Scranton State/Province/Territory PA
Country us

Telephone (570) 963-6775

Fax #

E-Mail Address

Page5of 7

menultye@lackawannacounty.org
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l, ﬁob Kennedy-Jensen —l , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or any
affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

l, | Rob Kennedy-lensen :] » hereby certify that | have read and understand all the

items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after the submission of
this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. | understand that
the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the
submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY
RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE
BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBIECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Name of submitting business: Tyler Technologies, inc.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Rob Kennedy-lensen ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COM

Group General Counsel

Title

03/04/2024

Date
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On average, Tyler Technologies adds eleven (11} new clients each week and has a ninety-eight percent
(98%) client retention rate.

In the past five (5) years, Tyler Technologies' Records Management, Enterprise Public Safety, and Data &
Insights product groups have had a total of eight {8) government entity client opt to terminate their
relationship with Tyier Technologies for reasons other than non-appropriation or non-renewal. That

decision was mutually agreed to by Tyler without either party admitting liability. Those clients, and the
year in which the termination took effect, are:

Enterprise Records Management:
e 2021

® St Lucie County Clerk of Circuit Court, FL

Enterprise Public Safety:

e 2023
o Kalamazoo Department of Public Safety, MI
e 2022
0 Lake County, OH**
e 2020 :
© Huber Heights, OH
e 2019

o Clayton County, GA**
o Anthony, NM **

© Sacramento Regional Public Safety Communications Center, CA

Data & Insights:
e 2019
o Utah Department of Transportation, UT

** Clients marked with an ** remain Tyler Clients on other software products.



Tyler Technologies' Property & Recording Division (formerly known as the Appraisal & Tax Division)
provides systems and software that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal
property and the recording of land and vital records. These activities include record keeping, mass
appraisal, inquiry and protest tracking, appraisal and tax roll generation, tax statement processing and
electronic state-level reporting. These systems are image and video-enabled to facilitate the storage of
and access to the many property-related and vital record documents and for the online storage of digital
photographs of properties for use in defending values in protest situations. Other related tax
applications are available for agencies that bill and collect taxes, including cities, counties, school tax
offices, and special taxing and collection agencies. These systems support biliing, collections, lock box
operations, mortgage company electronic payments, and various reporting requirements.

Tyler Technologies' Public Safety Division provides public safety software that is a fully unified and
comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911/computer aided dispatch
{“CAD"), records management, mobife computing, corrections management, Web-based information
sharing and decision support. The modules are fully integrated, utilizing a common database and
providing full functionality between modules, red ucing data entry. The software provides fast, efficient
dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actionable information from an agency’s database.

Please also see attached 2021 Annual Report.



Board of Directors

John S. Marr, Jr.: 1 Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Glenn A. Carter: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Brenda A. Cline: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Ronnie D Hawkins, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Mary Landrieu: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Paniel M. Pope: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Dustin R. Womble: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Corporate Officers

John S, Marr Jr. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Executive Chairman of the Board

H. Lynn Moore Jr, — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Planc TX 75024
Chief Executive Officer, President

Brian K. Miller — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Samantha B. Crosby — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Marketing Officer

Abigail Diaz - One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

Chief Legal Officer, Secretary

Jason Durham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plang TX 75024
Chief Accounting Officer

Jayne Holland — 7701 College Blvd., Overland Park, KS 66210
Chief Privacy Officer, Deputy Chief Legal Officer

Russell Gainford — 840 W. Long Lake Road, Troy, M| 48098
Senior Vice President, Cloud Strategy & Operations

Bruce Graham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Strategy Advisor

Jeff Green — 1601 East Valley Rd., Ste. 200, Renton, WA 98057
Chief Technology Officer

Kevin lwersen — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Information Officer

Jeff Puckett — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Operating Officer

Kelly Shimansky - One Tyier Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Human Resources Officer



Jeremy Ward — One Tyler Drive, Ya rmouth, ME 04096
Chief Information Security Officer

Operational Leadership:

Bret Dixon - 5101 Tennyson Pa rkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, State & Federzl Group

Rusty Smith - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Justice Group

Dane Womble - 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414

Group President, Public Administration Group

Brian Combs - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Platform Solutions Division

Mark Hawkins — One Tyler Way, Moraine, OH 45439
President, Property & Recording Division

Sean Marlow - 116 S. River Road, Unit D1, Bedford, NH 03110
President, Municipal & Schools Division

Brian McGrath - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Courts & Justice Division

Elizabeth Proudfit - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Digital Solutions Division

Chris Webster — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
President, ERP & Civic Division

Franklin Williams — 255 South King Street, Suite 1100, Seattle, WA 98104
President, Data & Insights Division



Board of Directors

John S. Marr, Jr.: 1 Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Glenn A, Carter: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Brenda A. Cline: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Ronnie D Hawkins, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Mary Landrieu: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Daniel M. Pope: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Dustin R. Womble: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Corporate Officers

John S. Marr ir. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Executive Chairman of the Board

H. Lynn Moore Jr. — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Executive Officer, President

Brian K. Miller — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
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Samantha B. Crosby — 5101 Tennyson Pa rkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Marketing Officer

Abigail Diaz - One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

Chief Legal Officer, Secretary

Jason Durham - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Accounting Officer

Jayne Holland — 7701 College Blvd., Overland Park, KS 66210
Chief Privacy Officer, Deputy Chief Legal Officer

Russell Gainford — 840 W. Long Lake Road, Troy, MI 48098
Senior Vice President, Cloud Strategy & Operations

Bruce Graham — 5101 Tennyson Pa rkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Strategy Advisor

Jeff Green — 1601 East Valley Rd., Ste. 200, Rentan, WA 98057
Chief Technology Officer

Kevin lwersen — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Information Officer

Jeff Puckett — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Operating Officer

Keily Shimansky — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Human Resources Officer



* Jeremy Ward — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Information Security Officer

Operational Leadership:

* Bret Dixon - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, State & Federal Group

¢ Rusty Smith - 5101 Tennyson Pa rkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Justice Group

¢ Dane Womble — 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414
Group President, Public Administration Group

* Brian Combs - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Platform Solutions Division

* Mark Hawkins — One Tyler Way, Moraine, OH 45439
President, Property & Recording Division

® Sean Marlow —116 S. River Road, Unit D1, Bedford, NH 03110
President, Municipal & Schools Division

* Brian McGrath - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Courts & Justice Division

* Elizabeth Proudfit - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plang, TX 75024
President, Digital Solutions Division

¢ Chris Webster — One Tyler Drive, Yarrnbuth, ME 04096
President, ERP & Civic Division

*  Franklin Williams — 255 South King Street, Suite 1100, Seattle, WA 98104
President, Data & Insights Division
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n an Unpredictable world,
eople look to the public
tor o"r:the services,

1 tion, and leadership
required to make our
“communities thrive.

Inturn, the public sector looks w Tyler to address its technology
needs of today while buiiding towards tbmo_rraw.

our long-term perspective and ihvest_meﬁts continue to bring
volue gs we help our public sector cliehts. interconnect thegr
communities. Thanks to our dependable.:éolutions and dedicapféi:l
tecm members, we help our clients b_u'ild; for the future while
overcoming the present-day chatlenges of Chahging workforce
dynamics, economic uncertaintes, and the lingering impast of

the pandemic.







We spent the year centinuing to strengthen our already-solid
balance sheet by repoying $360 million of dabt from our April 262
NIG aequisition, ending the year with a total outstanding debt of §995
millicn and cash and investments of $229 miltion. Our net leverage ot
yaar-end wag opproximately 1.64 times treiling twelve-month pro forme
EBITDA. 600 millicn of cur debt is in the form of convertible debt with
o fixed interest rate of 0.25%, which is extremaly fuvorcble, given
current rates, The remoining $395 million in debt is in prapoyable term
debt due in 2024 and 2026, with interast at fiogting rates based on
SOFR. We also have on undrawn $500 million revalving credit fagility,
which provides significant additional flaxibility.

Expanding our footprint

The year was highlighted by our continued integration of NIC {now our
Digital Solutions Division], our largest and most Impeotful acquisition
to dute. We've been hard at work integrating NIC’s payment expartise,
capabilities, and team members into our business, which in turn alliows
us to significantly decelerate our strategy to integrate poyments
across every facet of the public sector,

In addition, we're leveraging NIC’s existing client relationships to
expand our presence at the state and federal levels, leading to the
formation of o new State & Federal Group to align our resources and
pursue strategic market expansion opportunities.

While our current priority for capital allocation is to pay down debt, we
continued to augment our portfolic with the acquisitions of U.8. eDiract,
Quatred, and Rapid Financial Sclutions, which will accelerate our ahility
to enter new markets and offer @ broader range of copabiiities.

17,697
Reourting revenue
growth

Net income

4 NON-
GAAD

51H4.2M

GAAD net income

531B.1M
Non-GAAP net
income



Advaneing our cloud journay

We continued to accelerats our progress on our cloud
Journey during 2022, We remain on track with our projects to
have cloud-native or cloud-efficient versions of all our major
solutions, dlong with our planned exit from our proprietary
dato centers ovar the next three years. We introduced severdl
cloud-only products this year, and many of our cora products
are now solely avallable to new ciients in the cloud.

Our results refiect the ongoing success of our cloud
transition. Recurring revenues comprised 809 of our 2022
revenue, in large part due to o 299 increase in subscription
revenua for the yecr. 83% of our new software contract
value wes attributable to Sacs arrangements, up from 71%
in 2021, In addition, 386 existing an premises clients chose
to migrate to the cloud, compared to 23G in 2021,

To uceelerate our cloud prograss, we furthar strengthened
our Corporate Cloud Servicas team that acts os g central
point of service for engineering and support so gll our teams
can leverage o single, best-in-class cloud gpproach. We
also added new chief information sscurity officer and chief
privacy officer roles to our executive team to ensure these
koy considerations are represented at the highest lavel,

[ 1

40,000 cient instanations

I 0K

. ey . !
3 3 / G ’Q Q Client locations

Looking ahead

I've never entered o new ysar more confident about
Tyler's long-term prospacts, even In the foce of economic
uncertainty. Dur monagement team is ocutely focused
on achieving operational efficiencies while acceierating
revenue growth. 2023 will be o pivotal year in our cloud
transition, with one-time license revenues being replaced
by valuohla long-term recurring Saas revenue. We expect
oparating margins to trough in 2023 and are firmly committed
to returning to o trojectory of consistent operating margin
expansion beginning in 2024.

Thanks to our exclusive focus on the public sector, combined
with our broad portfolio of solutions gcross functions at
every level of government, our business remains resilient to
headwinds compared to our peers. Public sectar technology
cudgdets are more stable and predictadle than those of
private sector enterprises. Our clients aren‘t ot risk of going
out of husiness or being ccquired, ard we have ensured
the relationships we build today wilf remain strong for the
long haul. Qur greatest asset is our client base of more than
40,000 Instailations across nearly 13,000 focations, which
crectes o defensible moat that no cther company comes

near to replicating.







2022 financial review

Annual revenue 19 20 21 22 19 20 2l 22
528
GAAP
2019 — 510868
2020 —GLN7B
§0.6B
2021 —S$1592B
2022 — 518508
NON-GAAP
2019 —S1091B
2020 —S117B
2021 —S81595R

2022

— $1.8508




Annual earnings per difuted share

$4.69
$5.52
$3.82
$7.02

2020
2020
2021
2021

$3.87

2022

NON-GAAP

$7.50

2022

8

§7

86

50

54

§3

§2

GAAP e
operating .
margin

NON-GAAP
operating
margin

23.6%







83%

New software
contract value from
cloud solutions

1%

Ingrease in clients
converting to the
cloud (from an on-
premises deployment]




Leveraging the
payments opportunity

Key to our balanced approach of
serving our public sector clients
now and in the future is our 2021
acquisition of NIC, the largest in
Tyler’s history.

We made greot strides in 2022 integrating NiG's payments
expertise, copabilities, and team into our operations while
leveruging their relationships to increose gur footprint
across local, state, ond federal levels.

Our payments leadership ployed anintegral role in crecting a
stronger competitive position while unlocking new cross-sell
and upsell opportunities across our respective client boses.

571 $538B

New payments Governiment
deals across Tyler payments processed
for our ciients

Rerew your 1
CDrvers License -







 Accelerating our cloud journe




These moves allowed us to make substantial progress with our
product development initiatives in 2022, with all of our mojor
products on track to be cloud-efficient or cloud-native.

Several of cur major produots, including Enterprise ERP and
Enterprise Permitting & Licensing, are now exclusively offered
to new clients as cloud sclutions. We also Introduced severgl
ctoud-only products in the past vear, such as cur Elactronic
Warrants solution that cilows judicial officials to process
electronic warrant requests 24/7.

Our embrace of o cloud-Ffirst approach is matched by the
growing demand for cloud solutions from our pubtlic sector
clients. For sxample, while we began the year estimating that
appraximately 759 of new Enterprise Permitting & Licensing
software sales would be SaoS, we finished the yedr with {009/
of new clients for that product selecting our cloud-hased
solution instead of the on-pramises version,

Qur new contract volue for cloud solutions recched g record
high of 83% of our total, while o record 336 clients switched
from an on-premises sclution to the cloud.

Notable client adoptions of our
cloud-based solutions include:

01 theus. Department of State’s Diplomatic Security Service,
0 user of Tyler's on-pramises solutlon since 2017, signed g
five-year, $54 million agreement for Tylar's Case Management
Development Platform.

02 The Arizono Supreme Court reptaced an on-premises
system it had developed in-house 20 years ago with Tvler's
Enterprise Supervision solution. The new solution supports
Arizona’s 16 Adult Probation Departments, including the Superior
Court in Maricopa County, the fourth-most populous county in
the U.S.

03 The Jersey Villoge Police Department In Texas became
Tyler’s first AWS-hosted public safety client. The agenay
switched to ¢ suite of cloud-based public safety solutions
from Tyler, including Tyler's Enterprise Public Safety, Enterprise
Computer Aided Dispatch, Enterprise Records, Enterpriss Low
Enforcement Field Mobile, and Enterprise Fire Field Moblla.

We reorganized our cloud-hosting team into o new Corporate
Cloud Services team to mest client expectations while
accelerating our tronsition to a cloud-frst organization. By
creating a central peint of servics for enginearing and support,
the Corporate Cloud Services team ensures that all our tedms
can aecess, enable, secure, and launoh cloud services faster
and with greater consistency.

Last but not least, we're accelerating the process of shifting
our clients from cur proprietary dota centers to AWS, In the near
term, we cre incurring significant “bubble costs” cssociatad
with apercting our proprietary data centers while transitioning
clients to AWS. Once the transition Is complete, we will he able
to fully leveroge the capaobilities of the AWS solution, enhance
our approach to data security, and reduce our hosting costs.
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While our primary focus was the successful integration of NIG
and other recent acquisitions, we continued to toke advantoge
of strategic opportunities throughout 2022 to expand our
product portfolio and strengthen our competitive positien;

Gin February, we acquired U.S. eDiract, market-leading
provider of technology solutions for campground and autdoor
recroation maonagament. its solution provides o large-scaie,
enterprise-grade cloud transaction management system
focused on the government recreation and tourism industry,
enabling agencles to manage transactions for gverything from
campground acocommodations to licensses and parking.

02n May, we goquired Quatred, o systems integrator and
solution provider of advanced touchless technologies, allowing
ustointegrate a singie barseding solution into all our platforms
for a unified client experience.

03 n October, we acquired Rapid Finoncial Solutions, a
lsading provider of reliable, scalotle, and secure poyment
solutions that offers best-in-class card issuance and digital
disbursement capabllities. With this acquisition, we accelerated
our ability to offer paymeants disbursements for Iocal, state, and
federal government clients, significantly increasing the total
addressable market for our poyments solutions.




While these long-term investments will take time to fully
incorporate into our offerings, we are confident they will follow
the same path as similar past investments and deliver on the
potentiol we see with every acquisition.

In 2018, we acquired CaseloadPRO for approximataly $9 million,
which allowed us to integrate its comprehensive probation cose
monagement system (now Enterprise Supervision) nta aur
auite of justice soluticns. Since the acquisition, we significantly
expanded our market share for Enterprise Supervision, leading
to six key statewide contract wins, o 199% Increcse in average
deal size, and a 480% increase in annuaol revanue over the
past four years.

in August 2021, we aequirsd VendEngine for $84 million, adding
arokust solution to help the corrections market better meet its
obligations to incarcerated individuals and thelr familiss. In just
one year since the acguisition, we generated approximately $3
milfion in new annuai recurring revenus across 50 new clients
for our Resident Resources solution. In late 2022, we broke
ground on o new manufacturing facility that will eventually
double the production of the spacialized kinsks and eguipment
used to deliver services to incoreerated individuals, which will
allow us to significantly expand our ability to sell the solution
to clients in the coming years.




Unifying the
Tvler experience

Our Connected Communities vision imagines o world where government services
ut focal, regional, and stote levels are connected within a healthy digital
infrustructure. Connecting dotn, processes, und people makes communities
safer, smarter, and more responsive to the needs of residents,

Many of our new clients, such as the City of Lima, Ohio, cite our Connectad
Communities vision as o key reason they selscted Tyler. Seeking to leverqge a
comprenensive solution for all aspects of the city's police, court, and probation
business, the city signed o single contract for Tyler's Enterprise Public Safsty
suite ond Enterprise Justice suits, allowing it to replace legacy systems;
improve workflows, and enable better coordination and communication
across departments.

To continue to deliver on our vision, we launched several initiatives throughout
2022 to increase alignment and colloboration across the organization. For
exampls, as Tyler makas progress toward delivering a single; unifled payments
experience across oll our solutions, aur clients can more easily enable payments
andl settlements for hundreds of applications from o singfe platform. At the same
time, our Gov2Go platform provides a mobile-enabled solution that makes it easier
for constituents to manage and pay for public sector interactions ke vehicle tag
renewals, property taxes, park permits, and professional licenses, all from ¢ single
account instead of separate services.

We now publish doto to our Enterprise Deta Platform from every flagship Tyler
solution, By helping clients bring their data from across Tyler solutions into
a single doshboard, we help the public sector uncover patterns and occess
insights that couldn't be seen or shared before. One success story is the San
Diege Association of Governments in California, o consartium of the region’s
i9 locaf governments, which iaunched an Open Data portal 1o showcase the
region’s progress towards the United Naticns’ 17 Sustainable Development goals,
Thanks to the portal, Jocal leaders across the region can now make dota-driven
decisions when managing social issues while leveraging datn as they avoluate
grant applications fer local projects.

Finally, we released Tyler Forge components for our software developers vig GitHub,
which enables deveiopers to leverage ¢ cotelog of reusable controls and templotes
s0 they can focus on the functicnality of their application instead o nesthetics,
Forge components help ensure thot every web opplication in the Tyler portfolio has
u consistent look ond feel, aliowing us to deliver an enhanced user GXperience.
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SCLUTION SNAPSHOT:
COURTS & PUBLIC SAFETY

preaking i
recidivism cyole

Few people in incarceration remain there for life.
However, toe many incarcerated individuals lack
the skills or resources necessary to successfully
integrate into society wpon release, turning
what might have been a one-time offense into a
recurring eycie,

The Noshville-Davidson County Sheriff’s Office
In Tennessee implemented Tyler's Community
Readiness soiuticn to haelp eosily connect
the county’e 1,700 joil residents with housing
resources, job opportunities, and counseling
services upon release, By using the solution to
tecch inmates valuable social skills and connact
them with local community organizations after
their sentence is completed, the county can
work towards its goal of significantly reducing
its recidivism rates while pUtting incarcergted
residents on a path to g better life.

9%

Recidivism rate for formerly
incarcerated people who
found employment shortly
after their release

Source: Prison to Employment Connection






Strengthening the Tyler brand

Tyler has added more than 90 new products through internal
RE&D and acquisitions since 2009, allowing us to deliver the
market’s most comprehensive product portfolio to our public
sector clients.

But because each product was marketed as a stand-alone brand, extensive third-party market research showed that
our clients and prospects found our product names to be confusing.

For our brand to continue to scale and grew Its top-of-mind owarenass, it became clear that we nesded ta oreate
stronger afflliation for our Tyler corporate brand while simplifying how we maorket cur portfolio of soiutions. This
led to u significant brand avelution process that included o new product-naming architecture.

The new architecture uses functional, descriptive product names instead of individual product logos to help our
clients and prospects easily understand our breadth of offerings across all solutions. in addition, we organized
all our solutions into five portfolios: Entarprise Resource Pianning (ERP); Justice; Hedlth & Human Services
(HHS); Schools; and Tyler One. Thanks to our new brand architecture and solution portfolios, we’'ll be oble to more
effactively grow the Tyler brand as o singular identity, increasing our visibility in the market.

Increasin g EnerGov now; Enterprr’s_e Permitting & Licensing

losWarld now: Enterprise Assessment & Tox

C | ar lty thrOUgh Incode now: ERP Pro
consistent Munis now: Enterprise ERP

: b ran dm g New World Public Safety now: Enterprise Public Safety

Odyssey naw: Enterprise Justice

Socrato now: Data & insights
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Balancing togetherness with flexibility

In January 2022, Tyler team
members formally began working
under new post-pandemic work
arrangements.

For many, this meant a return to the office for three, four, or
five days a week. Others continued to worl remotely as they
had before the pandemic.

We supported the transition by training managers how to
design, cssess, and manage hybiid work arrangaments and
distriouted teams with a fecus on bringing team members
together when it is bast for clients and the health of the team.
Many teoms took advantage of our new Volunteer Day in
2022 to guther In person and strengthen team connections
while supporting our mission of building stronger, safer, and
smarter communities.

To ensurs dll tecm members dre welcomed and supported
when they join Tyler, regardless of their work arrangement,
we implemented consistent new tacm member crientction. We
made a similar change to our Tyler Days onboarding program
to ensure that employees across all divisions and work
arrangements have an opportunity to meet senior leaders and
goin a desper understanding of our culture and values.

We expanded our internal engagement sUrveys us we
transitioned bock to the office to ensure that our team's
concerns were undsrstood and addressed. We alse added
or enhonced meals, snacks, and cther amenities, such os
providing breokfast cnd lunch at no cost to team members in
our Yarmouth, Maine, office.

We modified $0Me workspdces to hetter sUpport new work
arrangsments while utilizing office space mere effectively.
Employees returning to our Lubbock, Texas, location were
treated to a significant renovation, which provided a new
state-of-the-art training clossroom, vibrant cafe, open seating
concept, sit-to-stand desks, ond a game ream, all in Lubbock’s
first LEED-certified sustoinable building. We remain investad in
previding welcoming, productive spaces where our people

can come together to work and colioberate. At the some




time, we are rationalizing our office footprint to align with
new flexible work arrangements by closing or consolidating
underutilized facilities.

For tha sixth vecr in a row, Tyler was included on the GovTach
100 list, which recognizes the top companies focused on
making o difference in state and local govarnment agencies in
the U.S, To make criticoi emplovee information ond processes
more occessible, we implementad myTyler, o global employes
platform that enables tsom members and managers to track
everything from pay and bensfits to time-off requests to the
parformance and merit process.

As Tyler grew In 2022, more than 1,500 new teom members
jsined Tyler to Tl new roles created to support our continued
growth ond epen positions due to internal promotions and
turnover. Turnover remained above pre-pandemic ievels;
however, it continued to remain below levels experienced by the
technology industry overall and begon to moderate by year-snd.

We created o new chief information sacurity officer role to
ensure our approdch to security is coheslve noross our product
lines. We afso continued to build out o privacy program capgble
of meeting the stringent nesds of state, federal, and global

privacy legislation ond reguldtions,

Our strong, caring culture and community ot Tyler continues
to be a strength in attracting and reteining team members. We
celebrated this culture with a new ongoing “Value of the Month”
series highlighting Tyler teum members who examplified our
vtulues, such os:;

31 Ellen Reed, lsad product manager for the Data Sclutions
team, displayed our core value of Growth by going the extre
mile to help a client transtorm how date is used and analyzed
geross thelr entire jurisdiction.

0 Z senior training snecialist Andrew Bare modsled our core
valuas of Inclusion and Community, serving as an cctive leader
on the ERP Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Commitias.

0% Mark Courtney and Levi Oswalt, senior implementation
consultants in Tyler's Property & Recording Division, epitomized
our core valuss of Accountability, Integrity, and Focus by
uncovering an issue for o client that required o complete
reconversion of dotw and then working overtime to complete
the reconversion so the project would stay on schedule without
sacrificing quatity.




Reconnecting in person

After two years of virtual gatherings, we
were thrilled to host more than 4,100 public
sector leaders in Indianapolis at Connect
2022, our annual client conference.

At this veor's confersnce, clients had the chance to engage in more than 850
closses, product demos, hands-on labs, warkshaps, and roundtable forums
across every focet of the public sector. To help participants maks the most of
the in-person experience, we offerad @ mobile app that provided access to their
personalized schedule, guest speaker information, and q list of attendees for
enhanced networking.

Connect 2022 also featured o new centralized Connect Solution Hub thaot
pravided participants with o single location to meet with Tyler staff, ask
questions, share idees, and formulate godis for maximizing their use of Tyler
sclutions. In addition, this centrolized location onabled clients to gain new
exposure to other Tyler products cutside of thair respective oreqs. As o result,
we generated a record number of more than 600 leads for our sales teams.

 SOLUTION SNAPSHOT: HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

Eneurmg every veteron 18 honored

! office. The cloud
makes it easier for administrators to track living and deceased veteruns to

As part of their services, the Juneau County Veterans Serwce officein W|scons _
track the burial sites of deceased veterans. Using this data, they know exectly ow meny gs are needed at euch cemetery, :

tlong with where to place them, o thdt orgonizations Ifke the American Leglon ond Veterans of Foreign Wurs can honot euch vet, "






Living our values

We work every day to ensure that our values — accountability,
Integrity, focus, inclusion, community, and growth - are embedded

in everything we do.

As part of our commitment to bhe o responsible partner to
our stakeholders, we continually strive to improve on our
key environmental, social, und governance (ESG) priorities.
We are ulso committed to operating with the highest ievel of
integrity and transparent disclosure in these areos to reflect
our corporate values.

This year, we relegsed our third onnugl corporate
respansibility repart, detailing our progress in addressing our
sustalnability, diversity, community, and sound corperate
governance commitments.

As part of their work creating @ more inclusive Tyler, our DEI
Councll formalized a new Tylsr Military veterans Employee
Resource Group to connect Tylar's veterans with opportunities
[0 suppart peers and engage in valunteer opportunities. The
council alse connected local DEl committees across Tyler's
divisions to share best proctices, collaborate on initiatives, and
support our collestive DEI efforts,

The 2022 $8P Global Corporate Sustainability Assessment
benchmarked Tyler in the 96th percentile against industry
pesars, up from the 93rd percentile in 2021, Notable gaing in (T
security, risk analysis, privacy protection, and human capito
development supported Tyler's improved score.
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Additionally, Tyler's inclusion in the Dow Jones Sustainability
Index (DJSI) continues to recognize Us ds being in the top 20%
of sustainability performers amaeng the 600 largest U.S. and
Cunadian compaonies in the S&P Global Broad Marksat Index.

The Tyler Foundation continued to deliver support to nonprofits
gcress the many communities where our employees and
clients live end work, contributing more than $376,000 to
86 organizations. Employees in our Lubbock, Texas, office
clso donated $3,000 to the UMC Foundation in support of
the Children‘’s Mirgcle Network. In addition, our Maine App
Challenge in support of STEM education awardad $15,000 in
college scholarships to three high schoal students. Now in its
eighth year, the Maine App Challengs has awarded more than
§70,000 in 529 college savings plons to students in Maine
since its inception.

Tyler remains committed to closely partnering with nonprofit
argonization BEB to help It deliver its state-of-the-art Children
First software, which creates digital profiles that help accelarate
the journey to match orphans with loving families. In addition to
our technicel support and resourcas, our employees donated
$164,000 to BEB during the Coemmunity Foundotion of Texas
North Texas Giving Day, which the organization used to fund
implementations of its software in governmenis and institutions
ground the world.
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Reconciliation of GAAP to NON-GAAP Financial Measures (Unaudited)

2022 2021 2020
{In thousands, except per share data)
RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP TOTAL REVENUES
GAAP total revenues $1,850,204 $1,592,287 $1,116,663
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Write-downs of acquisition-related deferred revenue — 2,678 478
Add: Amortization of acquired leases — — 313
Non-GAAP total reveniies $1,850,204 $1,594,965 $1,117 454
RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP GRGSS PROFIT AND MARGIN
GAAP gross profit $ 783,883 $ 700,644 $ 542512
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Write-downs of acquisition-related deferred revenug — 2,678 478
Add: Amartization of acquirad leases — — 313
Add: Share-based compensation expense ingluded in cost of revenues 27,485 - 23,705 18,125
Add: Amortization of acquired software 52,192 45,601 31,962
Non-GAAP gross profit $ 863,541 $ 781,528 $ 593,390
GAAP gross mergin 42 4% 44.6% 48.6%
Non-GAAP gross margin 46,7% 48.0% 53.1%
RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP QPERATING INCOME AND MAREIN
GAAP operating income $ 214,249 $ 180,735 $ 172926
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Write-downs of acquisition-related deferred revenue — 2,678 478
Add: Amortization of acquirad leases e — 313
Add: Share-basad compensation expense 102,885 104,728 67,365
Add: Employer partion of payrol| tax related to employee stuck transactions 1,571 3437 3,204
Add: Acquisition-related costs 1,971 23,495 —
Add: COVID-19 incremental costs — — 1,537
Add: Lease restructuring costs and ather asset write-cffs 2,782 — —_
Add: Amartization of acquired software 52,182 45,601 31,962
Add: Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles £1,363 44 849 21,662
Nen-GAAP adjustments suktotal $ 222,864 $ 224,786 $ 125611
Non-GAAP operating inceme $ 437113 $ 405,521 $ 299,537
GAAP operating margin 11.6% 11.4% 15.5%
Non-GAAP aperating margin 23.6% 25.4% 26.8%
RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP NET INCOME AND EARNINGS PER SHARE
GAAP net income $ 164,240 $ 161,458 $ 194,320
Nor-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Total non-GAAP adjustments to oparating income 222,864 224,786 126,611
Add: Acquisition-related costs in intersst axpense —_ 6,407 —
Less: Tax impact related to non-GAAP adjustments {68,99%) {96,119) (92,175)
Non-GAAP nat income $ 318,105 $ 295,532 $ 220,256
GAAP aarnings per diluted share 3.87 § 38 $ 4.69
Non-GAAP eamnings per diluted snare $ 750 £ 702 § 552
DETAIL OF SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE
Subscriptions, maintenance and professional services $ 27486 $ 23705 $ 18125
Sales and marketing expense 8,800 8,834 7,504
General and administrative expense £6,699 72,187 41,335
Total share-based compensation expense $ 102,985 $ 104,728 $ 67,365
RECONCILIATION OF FREE CASH FLOW
Nat cash pravided by operating activities $ 381,455 $ 371,753 § 355,089
Less: additions to property and aquipment {22,529 {33,919 (22,690}
Less: investments in suftware development (27,622 (21,693) {5,776)
Free cash flow $ 331,304 $ 316,141 $ 326,623
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Stock Market Data

Our commen stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “TYL". At December 31, 2022, we had approximately
1,065 stockholders of record. Most of our stockholders hold their sharas in street name; therefore, there are substantiaily mare than 1,065

beneficial owners of our common stock.

Low

2021 First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Guarter
Fourtin Quarter

2022 First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$372.80
384.38
450.20
452.26

$385.00
300.85
313.35
28111

We did not pay any cash dividends in 2022 or 2021. Qur bank credit agreement contains restrictions on the payment of cash dividends.
We intend to retain earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying a cash dividend in the

foreseeable future.

31



Selected Financial Data

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

{In thousands, except per share data)
STATEMENT OF QPERATIONS DATA:
Revenues $1,850,204 $ 1,592,287 $1,116,683
Cost and expenses:

Cost of revenues 1,066,341 882,643 574,151

Sales and marketing expense 135,743 118,624 58,466

General and administrative expansa 267,324 271,955 151,095

Research and development expense 105,184 93,481 88,363

Amortization of other intangibles 61,363 44,848 21,662
Operating income 214,249 180,735 172,926
Interest expense {28,379) (23,298) {1,013
Cther incame, net 1,723 1,544 3,129
Income before income taxes 187,593 158,981 175,042
Incoma tax pravision (benefit) 73,353 (2477 (19,778}
Net income 164,240 161,458 184,820
Net earnings per diluted share $ 387 $ 382 $ 469
Weighted average diluted shares 42,399 42,244 41,526
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS DATA:
Cash flows provided by operating activities $ 381455 $ 371,753 $ 355,089
Cash flows used hy investing activities {172,530 (2,090,935) (98,320)
Cash flows {used) provided by financing activities (344,239 1,424,730 114,172
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total zssets $4,687,417 $ 4,732,161 $2,607,274
Rewalving line of credit —_ — —
Term leans, net 392,905 748,511 —
Convertible senfor notes due 2026, net 594,484 592,755 —
Shargholdars' equity 2,624,389 2,324,032 1,986,111
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notas included
in this Annual Report. For a comparison of our Resuits of Operations far the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020, and our Cash
Flow discussion for the year ended December 2021, see Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of
Operations” of our Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2021.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to histerical information, this Arnual Report contains forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements are made in
reliance upon safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, The forward-looking statements are subject to
certain risks and uncertzinties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those reflected in the forward-looking statements.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-Tooking statements, which reflect management’s apinion oniy as of the
date hereof. We undartake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements. Readers
should carefully review the risk factors described in documents wa file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission,

When used in this Annual Report, the words “befieves,” “expects,” “anticipates,” "foresees,” “forecasts,” “est| mates,” “pians,” “intends,”
“continues,” "may,” “will,"” “should,” "projects,” “might,” “could” or other similar words or phrases are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. Similarly, statements that describe our business stretegy, outlook, objectives, plans, intentions or goals also are
forward-loaking statements,

OVERVIEW
General

We provide integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector. We develop and market a broad line of
software products and services to address the IT neads of public sector entities. We provide subscripticn-basad services such as software
as a service (“SaaS"), transaction-based fees primarily related to digital government services and online payment processing, and
electronic document filing sclutions (“e-filing"), which simplify the filing and management of court related documents. In addition, we
provide professional IT services to our clients, including software and hardware Installation, data conversion, training, and for certain
clients, product modifications, along with continuing maintenance and support for clients using our systems. Additicnally, we provide
property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

We provide our software systems and related professicnal services and appraisal services threugh seven business units, which focus on
the following procucts:

+ financial management, education and planning, regulatory, and maintenance saftware solutions:

= financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory, and maintenance softwara solutions;

= courts and justice and public safety software solutions;

« data and insights solutions;

+ appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services;
= daevelopment platform selutions including case management and business process management; and

« digital government and payments solutions,
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting, we report our results in two reportable segments. The Enterprise Software (“ES")
reportable segment provides public sector entities with software systems and services to maet their information technology and automation
needs for mission-critical “back-office” functions such as: financial management and education; planning, regulatory and maintenance;
courts and justice; public safety; data and insights; appraisal and tax software solutions; land and vital records management software
solutions; and property appraisal services. The Platform Technologies (“PT") reportable segment provides public sector entities with
software solutions to perform transaction processing, streamling data processing, and improve operaticns and waorkflows such as digital
government and payments sclutions and development platform solutions.

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment operating income. We
define segment operating Income for our business units as income before non-cash amortization of intangible assets associated with
their acquisitions, interest expense, and income taxes. Segment operating income includes intercompany transactions. The majority
of intercompany transactions ralate to contracts involving more than one unit and are valued based on the contractual arrangement,
Corporate segment operating loss primarily consists of compensation costs for the executive management team, certain shared services
staff, and share-based compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment cperating income also includes revenues and
expenses related to a company-wide user conference,

As of January 1, 2022, the appraisal and tax software solutiens, land and vital records management software solutions, and property
appraisal service business unit, which was previously reportec in the Appraisal & Tax ("A&T") reportable segment, was moved to the ES
reportable segment. The digital government and payments solutions, which was previcusly reported in the NIC reportable segment, and
development platform soluticns moved to the PT reportable segment to reflect changes in the way in which management makes operating
decisions, allacates resources, and manages the growth and prafitability of the Company. As a result of the changes in our reportable
segments, the former A&T and NIC reportable segments are no longer considered separate segments. Prior period amounts for the ES and
PT reportable segments have been adjusted to reflect the segment change, See Notg 17, “Segment and Related Information,” in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation, We have elected to present
amortization of software development, previously included in the cost of revenues software licenses and royalties line item, in a separate
category line item on the consolidated statements of income for all reporting periods presented. Previously disclosed as seiling, general
and administrative expense is now disclosed in separate line itams: sales and marketing expense and general and administrative expense
on the consolidated statements of income for ali reporting periods presentad.

Recent Acquisitions
2022

On Octeber 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC, a principal provider of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with
best-in-class card issuance and digital disbursement capabilities. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.2 million, was
approximately $67.7 million, consisting of $51.2 million paid in cash, $18.2 million of commaon steck, and $500,000 related to working
capital holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc. (US eDirect}, a leading provider of technology solutions for campground and outdoor
recreation management. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $6.4 million, was approximately $116.5 million, consisting of
$118.8 miliion paid in cash and approximately $4.1 million ralated to indemnity hoidbacks.

2021

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultimate Information Systems, Inc. (dba Arx). Arx is a cloud-based platform
which creates accessibla technology to enable a medern-day police force that s fully transparent, accountable, and a trusted resource to
the community it serves. The total purchase price, net of cash acguired, was approximately $12.8 million,

On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendEngine, Inc {(VendEngine), a cloud-based software provider focused an financial technology for
the corrections market. The total purchase price, net of cash acguired of $1.7 miilion, was approximately $83.6 million, consisting of
$81.6 million paid in cash, and approximately $3.8 millien related to indemnity holdbacks.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, a leacing digital government solutions and payment company that primarily serves federal and
state government agencies. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $331.8 miilion, was agproximately $2.0 billion, consisting
of cash pald of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase consideration ralated to the conversion of unvested restricted stock awards.

On March 31, 2021, we completed two acquisitions, Glass Arc, inc. (dba ReadySub) and DataSpec, Inc. (DataSpec), for the combined
purchase price of $12.1 million,

2022 Operating Results

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, total revenues increased 16% compared to the prior period. Excluding the 2022
impact of recent acquisitions!, total revenues increased 4% compared to prior period. Revenues from acquisitions contributed 12.4% of
growth for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022,

Subscriptions revenue grew 29.0% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, due to an ongoing shift toward a cloud-based,
software as a service business model, as well as the inclusion of transaction-based revenue from NIC's digital government and paymeants
processing businesses. Excluding the 2022 impact of recent acquisitions?, subscriptions revenue increased 6.3% for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2022.

The majority of our revenues are comprised of revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider to be recurring revenues.
Annualized recurring revenues (“ARR"} is calculated based on guarter-to-date end total recurring revenues multiplied by four. ARR was
$1.50 billion and $1.39 billion as of December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. ARR increased 8% compared to the pricr period, due
to an increase in subscriptions revenue due to an ongoing shift toward SaaS arrangemaents,

For the tweive months ended December 31, 2022, total revenues include COVID-related subscriptions revenue of $10.8 million from
NIC's Tour Heelth offering and professional services revenue of $40.2 miflion from pandemic unemployment and Virginia rent relief
offerings. These programs all ended in 2022 and we do not expect to generate COVID-related subscriptions revanue and professional
services revenue in future periods,

We menitor and analyze several key performance indicators in order to manage our business and evaluate our financial and operating
performance. These indicators include the following:

Revenues - We derive our revenues from five primary sources: subscription-based arrangements; maintenance; professional services;
sale of software licenses and royaltias; and appraisal services. Subscriptions and maintenance are considered recurring revenue sources
and comprised approximately 80% of our revenues in 2022, Tha number of new SaaS clients and the number of existing clients who
convert from our traditional software arrangements to our SaaS model are a significant driver of our revenue growth, together with new
software license sales and maintenance rate increases. We menitor ARR which is calculated based on quarter-to-date end total recurring
revenues muitiplied by four. As of December 31, 2022, ARR was $1.50 billion. In addition, we also monitor our customer base and
turnover, which historically is very low. During 2022, based on our number of customers, turnover was approximately 2%,

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins ~Qur primary cost component is personnel expenses in connection with providing software
implementation, subscription-based services, mairtenance ane support, and appraisal services to our clients. We can improve gross
margins by controlling headcount and related costs and by expanding our revenue base, especially from those products and services that
produce incremental revenue with minimal incremental cost, such as software licenses and royalties, subscription-based services, and
maintenance and suppert. Our appraisal projects are cyclical in nature, and we often employ appraisal personnel on a short-term basis to
coincide with the life of a project. As of Dacember 31, 2022, sur total employee count included in cost of reverues increased to 5,021
from 4,746 at December 31, 2021, including 56 employees who joined us through acquisitions completed sinca December 31, 2021.

Sales and Marketing (“S&M?) Expense - The primary components of S&M expense include sales personnel salaries and share-based
compensaticn expense, sales commissjons, travel-reiated expenses, advertising and marketing materials, and allocated depreciation,
facilities, and 1T support. Sales commissions typically fluctuate with revenues and share-based compensation expense generaliy
increases based increased level of awards issues during the period and as the market price of cur stock increases, Other administrative
expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than ravenues.

! Excludes the 2022 incremental impact as a rasult of not having the recent acquisition for a full fiscal year.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

General and Administrative (“G&A”) Expense - The primary components of G&A expense includa personnel salaries and
share-based compensation expense for general corporate functions, including senior management, finance, accounting, legal, human
resources and corporate development, third party professional fees, travel-related expenses, insurance, allocation of depraciation,
facilities and IT support costs, acquisition-related axpanses and other administrative expanses, Share-based compensation expense
generally increases as the market price of our stock increases. Other administrative expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than
revenues.

Liquidity and Cash Flows - The primary driver of out cash flows is net income. Uses of cash include acquisitions, capital investments
in property and equipment and discretionary purchases of treasury stock. Our working capital needs are fairly stable throughout
the year with the significant components of cash cutflows being payment of personnel expenses offset by cash inflows representing
collection of accounts receivable and cash receipts from clients in advance of revenue being earned. In recent years, we have also
recaived significant amounts of cash from employees exercising stock options and contributing to our Emplayae Stock Purchase Plan,

Balance Sheet ~ Cash, accounts receivable and days sales outstanding and deferred revenue balances are impertant indicators of
our business.

Outlook

The local government software market continues to be active with sales activity trending at or near pre-pandemic levels in most sectors of
our business, and cur backlog at December 31, 2022 reached $1.89 billion, a 5% increase from the prior period. We expect to continue
to achieve solid growth in revenues ard eamings. With our strong financial pesition and cash flow, we plan to continue to make significant
investments fn product development and accelarating our move to the cloud to better position us to centinue to expand our addrassable
market and strengthen our competitive position over the long term. The expenses associated with the cloud transition are expected to
pressure operating margins in 2023 and 2024,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial stataments, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accested in the United States {“GAAP"). The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial stataments, the reported amounts of revenues, cost of revenues and expenses during the reporting period, and related disclosure
of contingencies, The Notes to the Financial Statements included as part of this Annual Report describe our significant accounting policies
used in the preparation of the financial statements. Significant iterns subject to such estimates and assumptions include the application
of the progress toward completion methods of revenue recognition, estimated standalone selting price (“SSP") for distinct performance
obiigations, the fair value amount and estimated useful lives of intangible assets, determination of shars-based compensation expense
and allowance for losses and sales adjustments. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making fudgments about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting palicies require significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition, We earn revenues from software |icenses, royalties, subscripticn-based services, professional services, post-
contract customer support ("PCS”" or “maintenance”), hardware, and appraisal services. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control
of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those
products or setvices. We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

» ldentification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

« Identification of the performance obiigations in the contract

= Determination of the transaction price

* Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

+ Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

Our software arrangements with customers contain multiple performance obligations that range from software licenses and SaaS
arrangements, installation, training, and consulting to software modification and customization to meet specific customer needs
(services), hosting, and PCS. For these contracts, we account far individual performance obligations separately when they are distinct.
We evaluate whether separate performance ooligations can be distinct or should be accounted for as one performance obligation,
Arrangements that include professional services, such as training or installation, are evaluated to determine whether the customer
can benefit from the services either on their own or togsther with other resources readily available to the customer and whether the
services are separately identifiable from other promises in the cantract. Many of our software arrangements involve “off-the-shelf”
software, We recognize the revenue allocable to "off-the-shelf” software licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when control
of the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinct, We consider off-the-shel!f software to
be distinct when it can be added to an arrangement with minor changes fn the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for
the customer's purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as training are not considered highly interdependent or highly
interrelated to the product’s functionality.

For arrangements that invelve significant production, madification or customization of the software, or where professional services
are otherwise not considered distinct, we recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-completicn. We measure progress-
to-completion primariiy using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which occurs as we incur
costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total
cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue ara calculated using the pregress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any
changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated
losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent. When profassional services
are distinct, the fee allocabie to the service element is recognized over the time we perform the services and is billed on a time and
material or milestones basis.

Subscription-based services consist of revenues derived from SaaS arrangements, transaction and payment processing, electronic filing
transactions, and digital government services, Revernua from subscri ption-based services is generally recognized over time on a ratable
basis cver the contract term, beginning on the date that our service is made available to the customer. For SaaS arrangements, we evaluate
whether the customer has the contractual right to take possession of our software at any time during the hosting period without significant
penalty and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the software on the customer’s hardware or enter into another arrangement
with & third-party to host the software. We allocate contract value to each performance obligation of the arrangement that qualifies for
treatment as a distinct element based on estimated SSP. We racognize S2a$ arrangements ratably over the terms of the arrangements,
which range from onhe to ten years, but are typically for periods of three to five years, For professional services associated with certain Saas
arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinet, and we recognize the revenue ratably over the remaining contractual
period once we have provided the customer access (o the software. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable
and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been mat.

For transaction and payments revenue and e-filing transaction fees, we have the right tc charge the customer an ameunt that directly
corresponds with the valus to the customer of our performance to date. Therefore, we recognize revenue for these services ovar time
based on the amount billable to the customer in accordance with the ‘as invoiced' practical expedient in ASC 606-10-55-18. in some
cases, we are paid on a fixed fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual period. Typically, the structure of our
arrangements does not give rise to variable consideration, However, in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in
our estimates, additional revenue for variatle consideration whan we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount can be estimated
reliably and its realization is probable.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis, We determine the SSP based on
our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our contracts, the
applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our contracts. We use a range of amounts to estimate
SSF when we sell ezch of the products and services separately and need to determine whether there is a discount to ba allocated based on
the relative SSP of the various products and services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the
product or sarvice separately, we determing SSP using the expected cost-ptus margin approach. Revenue is recognized net of allowances
for sales adjustments and any taxes coliected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.
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We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are recorded against revenues at the time the lcss is incurrad,
Since most of our clients are domestic governmental entities, we rarely incur a credit loss resuiting from the inability of a client to
make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for lossas and
sales adjustments may require revision, include, but are not limited to, managing our client's expectations regarding the scope of the
services to be delivered and defects or errors in naw versions or enhancemenis of our software products. Qur allowance for losses and
sales adjustments of $14.8 million and $12.1 million at December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively, does nat include
provisions for credit losses. As of January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial instruments — Credit Losses, and primarily
evaluated our historical experience with credit losses related to trade and other receivables. Because we rarely experience credit [osses
with our clients, we have not recorded a materia) raserve for credit losses.

In cannection with certain of aur contracts, we hava recorded retentions receivable or unbilled receivables consisting of costs and estimated
profit in excess of billings as of the balance sheet date, Many of the contracts which give rise to unbilled receivables at a given balance
sheet data ars subject to pillings in the subsequent accounting period. We review unbillad receivables and related contract provisions
to ensure we are justified in recognizing revanue prior to hifling the customer and that we hava objective evidence which allows us to
recognize such revenue. In addition, we have a sizable amount of daferred revenue, which represents bitlings in excess of revenue earned.
The majority of this (iability consists of subscriptions and maintenance billings for which payments are made in advance and the revenue
is ratably earned over the subscription or maintenance billing period, generally one year. We also have deferred revenue for those contracts
in which we receive a deposit and the conditions in which te record revenue for the sarvice or product have not been met. On a petiodic
basis, we review by customer the detail components of our deferred ravenue to ensure our accounting remains appropriate.

Business Combinations. Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the ailocation of the purchase price to the varicus assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair values. The determination of fair value requires the use of significant estimates
and assumptions, and in making these determinations, management uses all available information.

For tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business compination, management estimates the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on guoted market prices, the carrying value of the acquired assets and widely accepted valuation
techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multip'e analyses. The assumptions made in performing these valuations
include, but are not limited to, discount rates, future revenues and operating casls, projections of capital costs, and other assumptions
believed to be consistent with those used by principal market participants.

Due to the specializad nature of thesa calculations, we engage third-party specialists to assist management in evaluating our assumptions
as well as appropriately measuring the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. We ad]ust the preliminary purchase price
allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing date as we obtain new information about facts and circumstances
that existed as of the closing date. If actuai results are materialiy different than the assumptions we used to determine fair value of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed through a business combination as welf as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible
assets, it is possible that adjustments ta the carrying values of such assets and liabilitias will have a material impact on our financial

position and results of operations.

intangible Assets and Goodwili. Cur business acquisitions typically resuit in the creation of goodwill and other intangible asset
balances, and these balances affect the amount and timing of future period amortization expense, as well as expense we couid possibly
incur as a result of an impairmant charge. The cost of acquired companies is allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets based
on estimated fair value, with the excess allocated to goodwill. Accordingly, we have a significant balance of acquisition date intangible
assets, including software, customer related Intangitles, trade name, leases and goodwill. These intangibie assets (other than goodwil!)
are amortized aver their estimated useful lives. We currently have no intangible assets with indefinite lives other than goodwiil,
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We assess goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently whenaver events or changes fn circumstances indicate its carrying value
may not be recoverable, We begin with the qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less
than its carrying value before applying the quantitative assessment described below, When testing goodwill for impairment quantitatively,
we first compare the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwil] exceeds
the Implied fair value of that goodwiil, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values calculated in our impairment tests are determined
using discounted cash flow models involving several assumptions (Level 3 inputs), The assumptions that are used are based upon what
we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant wou'd use in estimating fair value. We hase our fair value estimates on assumpticns we
believe to be reasonable but that are urpredictable and inherantly uncertain. We evaluate the reasonatileness of the fair value calculations
of our reporting units by comparing the total of the fair value of all of our reporting units to our total market capitalization.

During the fourth guarter, as part of our annual impairment test as of October 1, we performed qualitative assessmants for the reporting
urits containing the recently acquired data and insights, digitai governmant and payments solutions, and development platform solutions,
and concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment data, Approximately $1.7 billion, of 70%, of total goodwill as of
December 31, 2022, relates to these reporting units, which as a result of these recent acquisitions, do not have significant excess fair
values over carrying velues. We performed qualitative assessments for the remaining raporting units in which we determined that it not
more likely than not that the fair value exceeded the carrying value; therefore, we did not perform & Step 1 quantitative impairment
test. Our annual gosdwill impairment analysis did not resu!t in an impairment charge. During 2022, we have recordad no impairment to
goodwill as no triggering events or change In circumstances indicating a petential impairment hes scourred as of period-end.

Determining the fair value of qur reporting units involves the Use of significant sstimates and assumptions and considerable management
judgment. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to
inherent uncertainty. Charges in market conditions or ather factors outside of our control, such as the COVID-18 pandemic, could cause
us to change key assumptions and our judgment about a reporting unit's praspects. Similarly, in a specific period, a reporting unit could
significantly underperform relative to its historical or projected future aperating results. Either situation could resuit in a meaningfully
different estimate of the fair value of our reporting units, and a consequent future impairment charge,

All intangible assets (other than goocwill} are reviewed for impairment whenaver events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of other intangible assets is measurad by comparison of the carrying amount to
estimated undiscounted future cash flows. The assessment of recaverability or of the estimated useful life for amartization purposes will be
affected if the fiming or the amount of estimated future operating cash fiows is not achieved. Such indicators may include, among others:
a significant decline in expected future cash flows; a sustained, significant decline in stock price and market capitalization; a significant
adverse change in legal factors or in the busiress climate; unanticipated competition; and reductions in growth rates, |n addition, products,
capabilities, or technologies developed by others may render our software products cbsolete or non-com petitive. Any adverse change in these
factors could have a significant impact on the recoverability of goodwill or other intangible assets. During 2022, we did nat identify any
triggering events that would indicate that the carrying amount of our intangible assets may not be recoverabie.

Recent adoption of new accounting prenouncements

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 — Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 805) ("ASU 2021-08"). ASU 2021-08 requires an acquirer in a business combinaticn to recognize and measure
contract assets and contract lahiiities (deferred revenue) from acquired contracts using the revenue recognition guidance In Topic
606, Under this “Topic 606 approach,” the acquirer applies the revenue model as it it had originated the contracts. This is a departure
from the current requirement to measure contract assets and contract liabilities at fair value. ASU 2021-08 is effective for ail public
business entities in annual and interim periods starting after Decamber 185, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. An entity that early
adopts should apply the amendments (1) retrospectively to all business combinations for which the acquisition date occurs on or after
the beginning of the fiscal yaar that includes the interim period of early application and (2) prospectively to all business combinations
that occur an or after the date of initial application. We early adopted as of January 1, 2022, The adoption of ASU 2021-08 resulted in
ne adjustments to the fair value of the deferred revenye valances assumed in our 2022 acquisitions. See Note 2, “Acquisitions,” to the
consolidated financial statements for further discussion,
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Recent Accounting Guidance not yet Adopted
There were no new not yet adopted accounting pronouncements currently issued that would affect the Company or have a material impact

on its consolidated financial position or results of operations in future periods.

ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATICGNS AND OTHER

The following discussion compares the historical results of operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2021 and 202¢C.

Percentage of Total Revenues

Years Ended Decembar 31, 2022 2021 2020
Revenuss:
Subscriptions 54.7% 13.3% 31.4%
Maintenance 25.3 29.8 419
Professional services 13.1 13.2 16,7
Software licenses and rayalties 32 4.6 6.5
Appraisal servicas 19 17 19
Hardware and other 13 14 16
Total revenuas ' 100.0 100.0 100.0
Cost of revenues:
Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services 516 50.3 45.8
Software licenses, royaities, and amertization of acquired software 31 31 32
Amortization of software development 04 0.1 —
Appraisal services 1.3 1.2 14
Hardware and ather 13 0.8 11
Sales and marketing expense 7.3 74 8.8
General and administrative expense 144 17.1 144
Research and development expensa 5.7 5.9 15
Amartization of customer and trade name intangibles 313 2.8 19
Operating income 116 11.3 155
Interast expanse (1.5} {1.5) {0.1)
Other income, net 0.1 0.1 0.3
Income befare income taxes 10.2 2.9 157
Income tax provisfon (nenefit) 1.3 {0.2) (1.8)
Net Income 8.8% 10.1% 17.5%
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2022 Compared to 2021

Revenues
Recent Acquisitions

On Cetober 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Selutions, LLC (Rapid), a providar of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with best-
in-class card issuance and digital disbursement capabilities. On Fabruary 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc. (US eDirect), a teading
provider of tachnology solutions for campground and outdcar recreation management. On April 21, 2021, we acouired NIC, Inc., a leading
digital govarnment solutions and payment compary that serves federal, state and local government agencies. US eDirect and Rapid are
operated as & part of the digital government and payment solutions business unit (alsc known as the NIC division} and the results of NIC,
US eDirect, and Rapid from their respective dates of acquisition, are included with the operating results of the PT segment,

The following table details revenues for the NIC division for the period from acquisition through Dacember 31, 2022 and 2021, which
are presented in our consolidated statements of income from the date of acquisition and included in the operating results of the PT
reportable segment (in thousands).

2022 2021
Revenues:

Subscriptions $470,904 $344,852
Maintenance 810 560
Profassional services 50,006 23,665
Software licensas and royalties — —
Appraisal services — -
Hardware and gther — —

Tatal revenues $521,720 $358,917

Subscriptions.

The following tabie sets forth a comparisan of our subscriptions revenue for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
£S $ 526,323 $425,078 $ 101,245 24%
PT 485,981 354,357 126,624 35
Total subscriptions revenua $1,012,304 5784435 $ 227,869 29%
Less: Revenue from recent acquisitions? (178,363) — (178,363)
Total subscriptions revenue excluding acquisitions $ 833,941 $784435 $ 49,506 6%

Subscriptions revenue caonsists of revenue derived from our SaaS arrangements and transaction-based fees primarily related to digital
government services and payment processing. We also provide electronic document filing solutions {"e-filing"} that simplify the filing
and management of court related documents for courts ang law offices, E-filing revenue is derived from transacticn fees and fixed
fee arrangements.

Subscriptions revenue grew 29% compared to 2021, primarily due to the inclusion of transaction-based revenues from NIC including
Rapid and US eDirect from the respective dates of acquisition. Excluding the incremental impact of recent acquisitions, subscriptions
ravenue Increased 6%. New SaaS ciients as well as existing clients who converted to our SaaS model provided the majority of the
subscriptions revenue increase. In 2022, we added 609 new Sza$ clients and 336 existing clients elected to convert to our Saas
model. Our mix of new software contracts in 2022 was approximately 23% perpetual software license arrangemenis and approximately
/7% subscription-based arrangements compared to total new clisnt mix in 2021 of approximately 33% perpetual software license
arrangements and approximately 67% subscription-based arrangements,

2 Exciudes the 2022 incremental impact as a result of not having the recent acquisition for 2 full fiscal year,
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Tetal subscriptions revenue derived from transaction-based fees was $600.8 million and $454.8 miilion for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2022, and 2021, respactively. The increase of $146.0 million or 32% is attributable to inclusion of the NIC divisicn,
including Rapid and US eDiract transaction-based revenues from the respective dates of acquisition, Transaction-based revenue from
the NIC division was $470.9 miltion and $344.7 miltion for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, raspectively.
Excluding NIC, transaction-based fees contributed $19.8 million to the increass in subscriptions revenue due to the increased volumes
of online payments and e-filing services in 2022,

Maintenance.

The foilowmg table sets forth & compatison of our maintenance revenue for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES $44£,143 $439 589 $ 2554 1%
PT 24,312 34,698 (10,386) (30)
Tatal maintenance ravenue $448,455 $474,287 $ (5832) 1%
Less: Revenue from recent acquisitions 2 (689) — (689
Total maintenance revenue excluding acquisitions $457 766 $474,287 $ (6,521) (1)%

We provide maintenance and support services for our software products and certain third-party software. Maintenance revenue decreased
1% compared to the prior period. Maintenance revenue declined mainly due to attrition related to & legacy case managemant solution and
clients converting from on-prermises |icense arrangements to Saa$, partially offset by annual maintenance rate increases and maintenance
associated with new softwars license sales.

Annualized Recurring Revenues

Subscriptions and maintenance are considered recurring revenue sources. Annualized recurring revenues {“ARR”) is calculatad basad on
quarter-end tatal recurring revenues multiplied by four. ARR was $1.50 billion and $1.39 villion as of December 31, 2022, and 2021,
respectively. ARR increased 8% compared to the prior period due 1o an increase in subscriptions revenue resulting from an ongoing shift
toward Saa$ arrangements.

Professional services.

The fellowing table sets forth a2 comparison of our profassional services revenue for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES $170,462 $165,396 $ 5086 3%
PT 72,655 43,5995 28,660 65
Total professional services revenue $243,117 $209,391 $ 33,728 16%
Less: Revenue from recent acquisitions 2 (17,073 — (17,073
Jotal professional services revenue excluding acquisitions $226,044 $205,391 $ 16,653 3%

Professional services revenus primarily consists of professional services billed in connection with implementing our software, converting
ctient data, training client personnel, custom development activities and consulting. New clients who purchase our proprietary software
licenses or subscriptions generally also contract with us to provide the related professional setvices. Existing clients also pericdically
purchase additional training, consulting and minor programming services.

2 Excludes the 2022 incremental impact as a result of not having the recent acquisition for & full fiscal year.
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Professional services revenue increased 16% compared to the prior year, primarily due to the inclusion of revenues from recent
acquisitions from the date of acquisition. Excluding the incremental impact of recent acquisitions, professional services revenue
increased 8%. The increase in professional services revenue is primarily attributed to higher revenues generated by the continued
COVID pandemic-related rent relief services and the return of hillabie travel revenue as onsite services have increased since 2021.
The increases are partially offset by more clients selecting our cloud solutions instead of cur on-premises license arrangements which
typically require more professional services.

Software licenses and royalties.

The following tabie sets forth a comparison of our software licenses and royalties revenue for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES $55,158 $66,816 $111,658) (17)%
BT 1,248 7,635 {3,388) 44)
Total software licenses and royalties revenue $59,406 $74,452 $(15,046) (200%
L.2ss: Revenue from recent acquisitions? — — —_—
Total softwara licenses and royalties revenue excluding acquisitions $59,408 §74,452 $(15,046) {201%

Software licenses and royalties revenue decreased 20% compared to the prior peried. The declina is primarily attributed to the shift in
the mix of new software contracts toward more subscription-based agreements comparad to the prior period.

Although the mix of new contracts between subscription-based and perpetual license arrangements may vary from quarter to quarter and
year to year, we expect the decline in software license revenues will accelerata as we continue to shift our model away from perpetual
licenses tc SaaS. Subscription-based arrangements result in lower software license revenua in the initial year as compared to perpetual
software license arrangements but generate higher overall revenue over the term of the contract.

Appraisal services.

The following table sets forth a comparisen of aur appraisal services revenue for the years ended December 31 {$ in thousands):

Change

. ]

2022 2021 $ %
ES $34,508 $27.788 $6,720 24%

PT « — — — —
Total appraisal services revenue $34,508 $27,788 $5,720 24%

Less: Revenue from racent agquisitions 2 — — —

Total appraisal services ravenue excluding acquisitions $34.508 $27,788 $6,720 24%

In 2022, appraisal services revenue grew 24% compared to the prior period primarily due to refaxed travel restrictions allowing for the
ramp-up of appraisal services for several new revaluation contracts which started in recent quarters. The appraisal services business is
somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation cycles in varicus states.

2 Excludes the 2022 incremental impact as a result of not having the recent acquisition for a full fiscal year.
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Cost of revenues and gross margins

The following table sets forth a comparison of the key compenents of our cost of ravenues for the years ended Daecember 31

($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
Subscriptions, maintenance, and professiona’ services $953,897 $799,158 $154,739 19%
Software licensas and royalties 6,083 3,552 2,531 7l
Amortization of software development 6,507 2325 4,182 180
Amartization of acquired softwara 52,152 45,601 6,591 14
Apprafsal services 23,988 19,061 4,927 26
Hardware and other 23,674 12,948 10,728 83
Total cost of revenues $1,066,341 $882,643 $183,598 21%
The following table sets forth a comparison of Bross margin percentage by revenue type for the years ended December 31:
2022 2021 Change
Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services A3.7% 45.6% 0.9)%
Soitwars licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired software (9.0 30.9 (39.9)
Appraisal services 305 314 {0.9)
Hardware and other 270 110 (14.00
Overall gross margin 82.4% 14 6% (2.2)%

Gross margin percentage by revanue type, excluding the incremental impact of recent acquisitions?, for

the years ended December 31:

2022 2021 Change
Subscriptions, maintenance, and professignal services 45.8% 45.6% 0.2%
Software licenses, royalties, software devalopment, and acquired software ) 7l 30.9 (23.8)
Appraisal services 30.5 34 0.9
Hardware and othar 219 1.0 (13.1)
Cverall gross margin 43.8% 44.6% 0.8)%

Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services, Cost of subscriptions, maintenance and professional setvices primarily
consists of personnel costs related to installatian of our software, conversion of client data, training client personnel and support activities
and various other services such as custom client development, on-going operation of SaaS, digital government, and other transaction-

based services such as e-filing. Other costs included are interchange fees required lo process credit/deb
fees to process automated clearinghouse transactions related to our payments business.

it card transacticns and bank
In 2022, the subscriptions, maintenance

and professional services gross margin declined 0.9% compared to the prior period primarily due to several factors, including lower
maintenance revenue resulting from attrition related to a lagacy case management solution; a post-COVID return of low-margin revenues
such as billable travel; higher personnel costs related to inflation, as we!ll as costs refated to onboarding new professional services

amployees who are not yet billable; and higher hosting costs related to our accelerated shift to the

cloud. Our implementation and support

staff grew by 225 employees since December 31, 2021, as we increased hiring to ensure that we are well-positioned to dsliver our
current backlog and anticipated new business. Excluding the incremental impact from recent acquisitions of $70 million, £ross margin

was 45.8% in 2022, a slight increase of 0.2% which is attributabie to an increase in SaaS arran

COVID-related transaction-based revenues compared to the prior period.
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Software licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired software. Amortization expense for acquired software comprises
the majority of costs of scftware licenses, royalties, softwara development, and acquired software. We do not have any direct costs
assceiated with royalties. The gross margin for software licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired software was negative
9.0% in 2022 and 30.9% in 2021. Excluding the impact of amortization expense of acquired software, the margin was 78.8% in 2022
and 92.1% in 2021. The decline in scftware licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired software gross margin compared to
the prier peried is due to lower revenue from software licenses.

Appraisal services. Appraisal services revenue comprised approximately 1.9% of total revenues. The appraisal services gross margin
decrease of 0.9% compared to 2021 is primariiy due to higher personnel costs related to inflaticn, as well as increased low margin billable
travel revenue. The appraisal services businass is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation cycles in various states.

Overall gross margin. Our 2022 hiended gross margin decreased 2.2% compared to 2021, principally due to the inclusion of N!C’s
revenues (including lower margin COVID related revenues), which historically have lower margins than Tyler's software-related revenues,
Excluding the incremantal impact from recent acquisitions of $60 million, overall gross margin was 43.8% in 2022. The decrease
of 0.8% in overall gross margin compared to the prior period is due Lo lower revenue from software licenses and maintenance, higher
Nosting costs related to our accelerated shift to the cloud, and higher personnel costs. Excluding employess from recent acquisitions, our
implemeantation and support, and appraisal staff graw by 219 employees since December 31, 2021, as we incraased hiring to ensure that
we are well-positioned to deliver our current backlog and anticipated new business,

Sales and marketing expense

Sales and Marketing expense (“S&M”) consists primarily of salaries, employee tenefits, travel, share-based compensation expense,
commissions and related overhead costs for sales and marketing employees, as well as professional fees, trade shaw activities, advertising
costs and cther marketing costs. The following table sets forth a comparison of our S&M expenses for the years ended December 31
{$ in thousands):

Change
N
2022 2021 3 %
Sales and marketing expense $135,743 $118,624 417119 14%

S&M as a percantage of revenue was 7.3% in 2022 comparad to 7.4% in 2021. S&M expense increased approximately 14% comparad
to the prior period, primarily due to the inclusion of recent acquisitions' S&M expense. Excluding the incremental impact of S&M expense
from recent acquisitions of $5.6 millien, S&M incraased 10% compared to the prior period. Higher S&M expense is due to higher bonus
and commission expense relating to improved operating results, increase in road show and user conference eXpenses, increase in travel-
related expenses, and higher sales and marketing personne! costs from increased employee headcount:
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General and administrative expense

General and administrative ("G&A") expense consists primarily of personnel salaries and share-based compensation expense for general
corporate functions, including senior management, finance, accounting, fegal, human resources and corporate development, third party
professional fees, travel-related expenses, insurance, aliocation of depreciation, facilities and IT support costs, acquisition-related expenses
and other administrative expanses. The following table sets forth a comparison of our G&A expense for the years ended December 31
($ in thousands):

Change
“
2022 2021 $ %
General and administrative expense $267 324 $271,955 $(4,631) 2%

G&A as a percentage of revenue was 14.4% in 2022 compared to 17.1% in 2021. G&A expense decreasad approximately 2% comparad
to the prior period. The decrease in G&A is primarily attributed to lower transaction costs related to recent acquisitions and lower share-
based compensation expense. G&A includes $2.0 miliion of transaction expenses related to acquisitions completed in 2022 compared
to $23.5 million of transaction expense related to acquisitions completed in 2021, During 2022, stock compensation expense declined
$5.5 mitlion compared to 2021, generally due to a lower fair value of each share-based award resulting from the decline in our stock
price. The decreases are offset by inclusion of G&A expense from acquisitions of $21.5 million, higher benus axpense due to improved
operating results, increases in amortization of software development for internal use, increases in travel-related expenses and other
administrative costs, and higher persennel costs from increased empioyee headcount. In 2022, GEA expanse also included $2.8 million
related lo lease restructuring and other asset write-offs.

Research and development expense

Research and development expense consists primarily of salaries, employee benefits and related overhead costs associated with new product
development. The following table sets forth a comparisen of our research and development expense for the years ended December 31
(% in thousands):

Change
“
2022 2021 $ %
Research and develapment expense $105,184 $93,481 $11,703 13%

Research and development expense consists mainly of costs associated with development of new products and technologies from which
we do not currently generate significant revenue,

Research and development expense &s a percent of total revenue was 5.7% in 2022 compared to 5.9% in 2021. Research and
development expense incraased 13% in 2022 compared to the prior period, mainly due to a number of new Tyler product developmeant
initiatives across our preduct suites, including increased Investments in research and development at recently acquired businesses.

Amortization of other intangibles

Other intangibles are comprised of the excass of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired that are allocated
te acquired software and customer related, trade name, and leases acquired intangibles. The remaining excess purchase price is allocated
to goodwill that Is not subject te amartization. Amartization expense related to acquired software is included with cost of revenues while
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amortization expense of customer and trade name intangibies is recorded as operating expense. The estimated useful {ives of other intangibles
rangefromoneto25years. The followingtablesetsforth acomparison of ouramortization of other intangibles for theyearsended Dacember31
($ in thousands):

Change
“
2022 2021 $ %
Amartization of other intangibles $61,363 $44.849 $16,514 7%

Amortization of other intangibles increased due to the impact of Intangibles added with several acquisitions completed in 2022 and 2021.

Estimated annual amortization expense relating to customer related, trade name, and acquired lease Intangibles, excluding acguired
software for which the amortization expense is recorded as cost of revenues, for the next five years and thereafier is as follows (in thousands):

2023 $ 70,233
2024 54,141
2025 53,404
20248 52,586
2027 52,143
Thereafter 524,162

Interest expense

The following table sets forth a comparison of our interast expense for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
“
2022 2021 $ %
Interast expense . $(28,379) $(23,298) $(5,081) 22%

Interest expense is comprised of interest expense and non-usage and other fees associated with our borrowings. The change in interest
expense comparad to the prior period is attributable tc an increase in amortization expense related to debt issuance costs, resulting from
our aceelerated repayment of the term loans, coupled with an increase in interest rates compared to tha prior period.

Other income, net

The following table sets forth a comparison of cur other income, net for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
L
2022 2021 5 %
Other income, net $1,723 $1,544 $179 12%

Other income, nat, is primarily comprised of interest income from invested cash. The change n other income, nat, compared to the prior
period is due to increased interest income generated from invested cash as a result of higher interest rates in 2022 compared to 2021,
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Income tax provision

The following table sets forth a comparison of our income tax provision for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
“
2022 2021 $ %
Income tax provision (benefit) $23,353 $(2477 $25,830 {1,043)%

Effective income tax rate 12.4% (1.6)%

The increase in the income tax provision and the effective income tax rate in 2022 comparad to the priar period is principally driven
by a decrease in excess tax benefits from share-based compensation and an increase in iiabiiitias for uncertain tax positions, offset
by an Increase in research tax credit benefits. The share-based exercise and vesting activity in 2022 generated $7.8 million of excess
tax benefits, while exercise and vesting activity in 2021 generated $47.7 million of excess tax benafits, The tax benefits related to
research tax credits totaled $31.3 million in 2022 compared to $5.0 millien in 2021, as a result of completing & multiyear rasearch and
development tax credit study during 2022,

The effective income tax rates for the periods presented wera different from the statutory United States federal income tax rate of 21%
primarily due to excess tax benefits fram share-based compensation and the tax henefits of research tax credits, offset by an increase in
liabilities for uncertain tax positions, state income taxes, and non-deductible businass expenses. Excluding the impact of the excess tax
benefits, uncertain tax positions and research credits, our income tax provision and affective tax rate in 2022 would have been $54.1 million
and 28.8%, respectively, and in 2021, would have been $50.6 million and 31.8%, respectively,

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $173.9 mililon compared to $3G9.2 million at December 31, 2021,
We also had $55.5 million invested in investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed securiiies as of December 31,
2022, compared io $98.7 millicn at December 31, 2021. These investments have varying maturity dates through 2027 and are held as
availeble-for-sale. As of December 31, 2022, we had $395.0 million outstanding borrowings under our 2021 Credit Agresment and one
outstanding letter of credit totaling $1.5 million in favor of a client contract. We believe our cash on hand, cash from cperating activities,
availability under our revolving line of credit, and access to the cradit markets provide us with sufficiant flexibility to meet our long-term
financial needs. ’

The follewing table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2022 2021 Change
Cash flows provided (used) by:
Operating activities $ 381,455 $ 371,753 $355,089
Invasting activities (172,530) {2,090,935) {98,320}
Financing activities (344,239) 1,424,730 114,172
Net {decraase) increase in cash and cash equivalents 5(135,310 $ {294,452) $370,941

Net cash provided by operating activities continues to be our primary source of funds to finance operating needs and capital expenditures.
Other potential capital resources include cash on hand, public and private issuances of debt or equity securities, and hank borrowings. It
is possibie that our ability to access the capital and credit markets in the future may be limited by economic conditions or other factors,
We currently believe that our cash on hand, cash pravided by operating activities, and available credit are sufficient to fund our working
capital requiremants, capital expenditures, income tax obligations, and share repurchases for at ieast the next twelve months.

In 2022, operating activities provided cash of $381.5 millian compared to $371.8 million n 2021, Operating activities that provided
cash were primarily comprised of net income of $164.2 million, non-cash depreciation and amortization charges of $159.1 million,
non-cash share-based compensation axpense of $103.0 million and non-cask amortization of cperating lease right-of-use assets of
$13.0 million. Working capital, excluding cash, decreased approximately $60.6 million mainly due to timing of payments to and receipts
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from our government partners, timing of payments of payroll related taxes and vendor invoces, and deferred taxes associated with tax
research credits and stock option activity during the period. These dacreases were offset by the timing of tax payments, prepaid expenses,
and increase in deferred revenue during the pericd. 1n general, changes in deferred ravenue are cyclical and primarily driven by the timing
of our maintenance renewal billings, Our renewal dates ocour throughout the year, but our largest renewal billing cycles occur in the
second and fourth quarters. Subscription renewals are billed throughout the yaar.

Days sales outstanding (DSO) in accounts receivable were 115 days at December 31, 2022, compared to 108 days at December 31,
2021, DSO Is calculated based on quarter-end accounts receivable divided by the quotient of annualized quarterly revenuas divided by
360 days. The increase in DSO compared to December 31, 2021, is attributed to siower payments from certain large clients and timing
of receipts from our government partners.

Investing activities used cash of $172.5 million in 2022 compared to $2.1 billion in 2021. On Cctober 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid
Financial Solutions, LLC, for the total purchase ptice, net of cash acquired of $2.2 milifon, of approximately $67.7 miliion, consisting
of $51.2 million paid in cash, $18.2 million of comrmon stock, and $500,000 related to working capital holdbacks, subject to certzin
post-closing adjustments. On May 31, 2022, we completed the acquisition of Quatred, LLC for the total cash price of approximately
$637,000. On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc, for the total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $6.4 million, of
approximately $116.5 million, consisting of $112.8 million peid in cash and approximately $4.1 mitlion related to indemnity holdbacks.
During 2022, we also paid approximately $1.9 million in indemnity and working capital holdbacks related to acquisitions completed in
late 2021. In addition, approximately $27.6 millicn of software developmant costs were capitalized. Approximately $22.5 million was
invested in property and equipmant, including $4.5 million related to real estate. The remaining additions were for computer equipmeant
and furniture and fixtures in support of growth, particularly with respect to data centers supparting growth in our cloud-basad offerings,

Investing activities used cash of $2.1 billion in 2021. We invested $77.5 million and received $131.4 millicn in proceeds from
investment grade corperate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-hacked securities with maturity dates ranging from 2022 through 2027. On
March 31, 2021, we complsted two acquisitions with the total purchase price, net of cash acquired, of $12.1 million paid in cash, On
April 21, 2021, we complated the acquisition of NIC for the total purchase price of $2.0 &iliion, nat of cash acquired of $331.8 million,
including cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 millicn of purchase consideration relatad to the conversion of unvested restricted stock awards.
On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendEngine for the total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 million, of approximately
$83.8 million consisting of $80.2 million paid in cash and approximately $5.4 million rolated to indemnity holdbacks, subject to
certain post-closing adjustments, On Seplember 9, 2021, we acquired all of the equity interest of Arx for the total purchase price, net
of cash acquired, of approximately $12.8 million, of which $12.3 million was paid in cash and approximately $500,000 was accrued
for indemnity holdbacks. Approximately $33.9 million was invested in property and equipment, including $12.8 million reiated to real
estate. In addition, approximately $21.7 million of software development was capitalized in 2021. The remaining additions were for
computer equipment and furniture and fixtures in support of internal growth, with the mafority associated with aur data centers supperting
growth in our cloud-based offerings. These expenditures were funded from cash generated from operations.

Financing activities used cash of $344.2 million in 2022 compared to cash provided of $1.4 billion in 2021, primarily attributable to
repayment of $360.0 million of term debt, partially offset by payments received from stock option exercises, net of withheld shares for
taxes upon equity award and employee stock purchase plan activity.

Financing activities provided cash of $1.2 billion In 2021, Financing activities in 2021 were primarily comprised of proceeds from the
issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit Agreement. On March 9, 2021, we issued $600.0 million ageregate principal
amount of Convertible Senior Notes. The net proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $591.4 million, net of initial
purchasers' discounts of $6.0 million and debt issuance costs of $2.6 million. On April 21, 2021, in connection with the completion of
the NIC acquisition, the Company, as borrower, entered into & new 2021 Credt Agreament with various |lenders consisting of an unsecurad
revolving credit facility of up to $500.0 miilion and unsecured term loans totaling $900.0 million. The net proceads from the borrowings
under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net of dabt discounts of $7.2 million and debt issuance costs of $4.9 million and
$6.4 million of commitment fees paid related to the terminated $1.6 billion unsecured bridge loan facility. During the twelve months
ended December 31, 2021, wa repaid $250.0 million of the unsecured revolving credit facility and $145.0 million of the term debt. The
remainder of the financing activities was comprised of receipts of $109.9 million from stock option exercises and employee stock purchase

plan activity. We also purchased approximately 33,000 shares of our common stack for an aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million.
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In February 2019, our board of directors authorized the rapurchase of an additional 1.5 million shares of our cormmon stock. The
repurchase program, which was approved by our board of directors, was ariginally announced in October 2002 and was amended at
various times from 2003 through 2019. As of February 22, 2023, we have autharization from our beard of directors to repurchase up to
2.3 million additional shares of our common stock. Our share repurchase program allows us to repurchase shares at our discretion. Market
conditicns influence the timing of the buybacks and the number of shares repurchased, as wall as the volume of employee stock opticn
exercises, Share repurchasas are generally funded using our existing cash balances and borrowings under our credit facility and may occur
through open market purchases and transactions structured through investment banking institutions, privately negotiated transactions
andfor other mechanisms. There is no expiration date specified for the authorization and we intend to repurchase stock under the plan
from time to time.

As of December 31, 2022, we had $600 million in outstanding principal for the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026. Under our 2021
Credit Agreement, we had $335 million in autstanding principal for tha Term Loans, no cutstanding borrowings under the 2021 Revolving
Credit Facility, and an available borrowing capacity of $500 miilion as of Decamber 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, we had one
outstanding lstter of credit totaling $1.5 million. The letter of credit, which guarantess our performance under a client contract, renews
automatically annually unlass canceled In writing and expires in the third quarter of 2026. For the twelve months ended December 31,
2022, we repaid $360 million of the Term Loans under 2021 Credit Agreement.

We paid interest of $21.3 million in 2022, $17.7 million in 2021, including $6.4 million related to the senior unsecured bridge loan
facility commitment fee in 2021, and $610,000 in 2020. See Notz 6, “Debt,” to the consolidated financial statements for discussions
of the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Cradit Agreement.

We paid fncome taxes, net of refunds received, of $38.5 million in 2022, $2.2 million in 2021, and $3.3 million in 2020. In 2022, stock
option exercise activity generated net tax benefits of $7.8 million and reduced tax payments accordingly, as compared to $47.7 million
and $60.2 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

For tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (*TCJA") eliminates the option to currently
deduct research and development expenses and requires taxpayers to capitalize and amortize them over five years for research activities
performed in the United States and 15 years for research activities performed outside the United States pursuant to IRC Section 174.
Although Congress is considering legislation that would repeal or defer this capitalization and amortization requirement, it is net certain
that this provision will be repealed or atherwise modified. If the requirement is not repealed or replaced, it will increase our U.S. federal
and state cash tax payments and reduce cash flaws in fiscal year 2023 and future years.

We anticipate that 2023 capital spending will be betwsen $68 million and $70 million, including approximately $16 million related
to real estate and approximately $37 million of software development. We expect the majority of the other capital spending will consist
of computer equipment and software for infrastructure replacements and expansion. We also expect cash tax payments to be higher as
a result of IRC Sectien 174. Capital spending and cash tax payments are expected to be funded from existing cash balances and cash
flows from operations.

From time to time we engage in discussions with potential acquisition candidates. In order to pursue such opportunities, which could
tequire significant commitments of capital, we may be requirad to incur debt or to issue additicnal potentially dilutive securities in the
future, No assurance can be given as to our future acquisition opportunities and how such opportunities will be financed.

We |ease office facilities for use in our operations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable
operating lease agreements and they expire from one to 12 years. Some of these leases include options to extend for up to six years.

Gur estimated future obligations consist of debt, uncertain tax positions, leases, ang putchase commitments as of December 31, 2022,
Refer to Note 6, "Debt," Note 10, “Income Tax,” Nota 14, “Leases,” and Note 16, "Commitment and Contingencies,” to the consolidated
financial statements for related discussions.

CAPITALIZATION
At December 31, 2022, our capitalization consisted of $987.4 miliion of cutstanding debt and $2.6 billion of sharehoiders’ equity.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Markat risk represents the risk of loss that may affect us due te adverse changes in financial market prices and interest rates.

As of December 31, 2022, we had $395.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our 2021 Cradit Agreement and available borrewing
capacity under the 2021 Credit Agreement was $500.0 million,

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A-1 bear interest, at the Company’s opticn, at a per annum rate of
either (1) the Administrative Agent's prime commercial lending rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) (the “Base Rate"} plus
amargin of 0.125% to 0.75% or (2} the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all ienders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of
1.125% to 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 bears interest, at the Company's option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Base Ratz plus a margin
of 0% to 0.5% or (2) the cne-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to 1.5%.

Puring the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, the effective interast rate for our borrowings was 3.79%. Based on the aggregate
outstanding principal balance under the 2021 Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2022, of $395.0 million, each guarter point change
in interest rates would result in a $1.0 million changs in annual interest expense.

In January 2023, we amended ocur 2021 Credit Agreement to replace the LIBOR reference rate with the SOFR reference rate. Assuming
that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is appropriately adjusted to equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that there should be minimal impact
on our operations.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures —Wemaintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e}
of the Securities Exchange Act) designed to provide reasonabls assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's
rules and forms. These include controls and procedures designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and communicated to cur
management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriata to allow timely decisions regarding raguired
disclosures. Management, with the participation of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022. Based on this evaluation, the chief executive officer and chisf financial
officer have concluded that our disclosure contrsls and proceduras were effective as of December 31, 2022,

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting — Tyler's management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Tyler's intarnal
control over financial reparting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to Tyler’s management and board of directors regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements,

Because of its tnherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect Lo financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectivenass of Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {2013
framework) {the COSO criteria). Based on our assessment, we concluded that, as of December 31, 2022, Tyler's internal control over
financial reporting was effactive based on those criteria.

Tyler's internal control aver financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent
registered public accounting firm who also audited Tyler's financial statements. Ernst & Young’s attestation report on Tyler's interna!l
contrel over financial reporting appears on page 54 hereof,

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting — During the guarler ended December 31, 2022, there were no changes in
our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), that have materially affacted, or are
reasonably fikely to materially affect, our internal controf over financial reporting,
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Beard of Directors of Tyler Technologies, [nc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consclidated balanca sheets of Tyler Technologies, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2022
and 2021, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for 2ach of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
staternents”). In our opinion, the consolidated financiai statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and Its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generaily accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accardance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated
February 22, 2023, expressed an unqualified opinion theraon. .

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the respensibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCACQB and are reguired to be
Independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCACB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCADB. Those standards require that we plan and petform the audit
to obtatn reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud,
Cur audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statemants. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material
ta the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the
critical zudit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure
to which it relates.
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Descripiion
of the Matter

How We
Addressed
the Matter in
Our Audit

Goodwill impairment tests

As of December 31, 2022, the Company's goodwill balance of $2.5 billion was attributable to multiple reporting
units. As disclosad in Note 1 to the conselidated financial staterments, goodwill is assessed for impairmant annually, or
more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable. The
Company begins with a qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is
iess than its carrying value before applying a quantitative assessment. During the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company
performed a quantitative assessment for goodwill associated with reporting units comprised of more recently acquired
businesses, which do not have significant excess fair values over carrying values.

Auditing management's quantitative analyses for geodwill impairment was complex and highly judgmental due to the
significant judgement required to determine the fair value of these reporting units. In particular, the Company’s fair
value estimates for these reporting units were sensitive to significant assumptions, such as weighted average cost
of capital and revenue growth rates which are forward looking and affected by expectations ahout future market or
ecohomic conditions.

We cobtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating affectiveness of controls aver the
Company’s review process for quantitative goodwill impairment assessmeants, inciuding controls ovar managament’s
review of the significant assumptions described above.

To test the estimated fair value of the applicabie reparting units, we performed audit procedures that included, among
others, assessing tha methodologies and testing the significant assumptions discussed ahove and the underlying data
used by the Company in its analyses. We evaluated management’s forecasted revenue to identify, understand and
evaluate changes as compared to histarical results and perfarmed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to
evaluate the changes in the fair value of the reporting units that would result from changes in the assumptions. We also
involved internal valuation specialists to assist In evaluating management's methedologies and significant assumptions
applied in deveioping the fair value estimates.

éAmazf ¥ LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1966.

Dallas, Texas

February 22, 2023
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To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Opinien on Internal Contral over Financial Reporting

We have audited Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s internal controf over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criterig astablished
in Internai Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework} (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Tyler Technoiogies, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on the COSQ criteria,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States) (PCACB), the
consclidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for sach of the three years in the period anded December 31, 2022, and the related notes
and our report dated February 22, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Cpinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal conirol over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Raporting. Our responsibility is to express an apinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCACB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintaired in all material respects.

Qur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control aver financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances, We believe that cur audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepled accounting
principles, A company’s internal contral aver financizl reporting includes those policies anc pracedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary o permit preparation of financial statemants in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are baing made only in accordance with
authorizations of managemant and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding pravention or timely detaction
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal contral over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements, Alsg, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditians, of that the degree of compliance with the poiicies or procedures may deteriorate.

St + MLLP

Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2023
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Consolidated Statements of Income

For the vears ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
{In thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues:
Subseriptions $1,012,304 $ 784435 $ 350,648
Maintenance 468,455 474,287 467,513
Professional services 243,117 209,351 186,409
Software licenses and royalties 55,406 14,452 73,164
Appraisal services 34,508 27,788 21,127
Hardware and other 32,414 21,934 17,802
Total revenues 1,850,204 1,592,287 1,116,663
Cost of revenues:
Subscriptions, maintenance and professional services 053,897 784,158 510,504
Software licenses and royaltias 6,083 3552 3,338
Ameortization of software development 6,507 2,325 —
Amertization of acquired software 52,192 45,601 31,962
Aopraisal services 23,088 19,061 15,945
Hardware and other 23,674 12,946 12,401
Total cost of revenues 1,066,341 882,643 574,151
Gross profit 783,883 708,644 542,512
Sales and marketing axpense 135,743 118,624 98,466
General and administrative expense 267,324 271,555 161,095
Research and development expense 105,184 93,481 88,363
Amartization of other intangibles 61,363 44,845 21,662
Qperating income 214,249 180,735 172,926
Interest expense (28,379) (23,298) (1,013
(Other income, net 1723 1,544 3,128
Income befora incama taxes 187,582 158,981 175,042
Income tax provision {benefit) 23,353 (2.477) (19,778)
Nat income $ 164,240 $ 161,458 5 154,820
Earnings per common share:
Basic $ 395 $ 3.95 $ 487
Dilutad $ 387 $ 382 $ 489
See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the years ended December 31,

2022 2020
{In thousands)
Net income $164,240 $194,820
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Securities available-for-sale and transferred securities:
Change in net unrealized holding losses an available for sale securities during the period (850 —
Reclassification adjustment of unrealized losses on securities transferred from held-to-maturity (27} —
Reclassification adjustment for net loss on sale of available for sale securities, included in net income 79 —
Other comprehensive loss, nat of tax (798} _
Comprehensive income $163,.442 $194,820

Sea accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2022 2021
(In thousands, except par value and share amounts)
ASSETS
Current assats:
Cash and cash eguivalants $ 173,857 $ 309,171
Accounts receivable (less allowance for losses &nd sales adjustments of $14,751 in 2022 and $12,086 in 2021) 577,257 521,059
Short-term investments 37,030 52,300
Prepaid expenses 50,859 55,513
Inceme tax receivabis -— 18,137
(ther current assets 8,239 8,151
Total current assets 847,242 964,331
Accounts receivable, long-term 8271 13,937
Operating lease right-of-use assets 50,989 39,720
Property and equipment, net 172,784 181,193
(ther assets:
Software development costs, net 48,189 28,185
Goodwili 2,489,308 2,359,674
Other intangibles, net 1,002,164 1,052,493
Non-current investments 18,508 46,353
Other non-current assets 49,560 45,971
4,687,417 $4,732,161
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 104813 $ 119,988
Accrued liakilities 131,541 158,424
Operating lease liabilfties 10,736 10,560
Inceme tax payable 43,667 —
Deferred revenue 568,538 510,529
Current portion of term leans 30,000 30,000
Total current llzhilities 889,695 829,501
Revslving lina of credit — —_
Term loans, net 362,905 718,511
Convertible senior notes due 2026, net 584,484 592,755
Deferred revenug, long-term 2,037 38
Daferred income taxas 148,891 228,085
Cperating lease liahilities, long-term I 48,049 35,336
Other long-term liabilities 16,967 2,893
Totzl liahilities 2,063,028 2,408,129
Commitments and contingencies e —
Sharaholders’ equity:
Praferred stock, $10.00 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued — —
Gommon stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares autharized; 48,147,969 shares issued in 2022 and 2021 481 481
Additional paid-in capital 1,204,725 1,075,650
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (844) (48)
Retained earnings 1,437,854 1,273,614
Treasury stock, at cost; 8,364,991 and 6,832,640 shares in 2072 and 2021, respectively (22,827) {25,667)
Total shareholders' equity 2,624,389 2,324,032
$4,687 417 $4,732,181

See accompanying notes
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For tha years ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
{In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 164,240 $ 161,458 $ 194,820
Adjustments to reconcile nat income to cash provided by oparating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 159,072 135,624 81,657
Losses from sale of investmants 45 — —
Share-based compensation expense 102,985 104,726 67,365
Provision for losses and sales adjustments — accounts receivable 2,781 281 3517
Amartization of operating lease right-of-use assats 12,969 10,216 5,782
Deferred income tax banefit {87,192 (13,271} {7,936)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, axclusive of effects of acquired companies:
Accounts receivahle (51,410 17,608 {10,733)
income tax receivable 61,940 14,258 (15,117
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 910 (23,863 (8,304)
Accounts payahle (17,537) (44,947) {967)
Operating lease liabilities (12,395 (6,952 (6,549)
Accrued liabilities (24,344 (24,822) 2,870
Daferred revenue 59,460 44,874 48,684
(Other long-tarm liabilities 9,932 (1,587 —
Net cash provided by operating activities 381,455 371,753 355,089
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additians to property and aquipment (22,529) (33,819} (22,690
Purchase of marketable security investments (29,935) (77,450) (156,618)
Proceeds and maturities from marketable sacurity investments 71,034 131,448 82,742
Purchase of investment in comman shares ; — — (10,000}
Proceads from the sale of investment in praferred shares — — 15,000
Investment in software development (27.622) {21,693) (5,776
Cost of acquisitions, net of cash acquired (163,921) {2,089,706) {1,292}
Other 443 384 314
Net cash used by investing activities (172,530 (2,090,935) (98,320}
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net borrowings on revolving credit fagility — — —
Payment on term loans {360,000) (145,000 —
Progeads from term loans — 900,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes — 600,000 —
Payment of debt issuance costs — (27,165) —
Purchase of treasury shares — {12,977 (15,484)
Payment of contingent consideration — — {5,618}
Proceeds from exercise of steck options, net of withheld shares for taxes upon equity award (890) 96,714 124,363
Contributions from employes stock purchase plan 16,651 13,158 14,912
Net cash {used) provided by financing activities (344,238 1,424,730 114,172
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents {135,314) (294,452) 370,941
Cash and cash equivaients at beginning of period 305,171 603,623 232,682
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 173,857 $ 309,171 $ 603,623

See accompanying notss.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
{In thousands)
Supplemental cash flow infermation:
Cash paid for interest $21,256 $17,728 $ 610
Gash paid for income taxes, net 38,490 2,212 3,263
Naen-cash investing and financing activities:
Non-cash additicns to property and equipment $ 169 $ 233 $ 189
Issuance of shares for acquisitions 18,169 — —
Purchase consideration for conversion of unvested restricted stock awards — 1,872 —

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020

Accumulated

MECK_ Agg:ﬂ?;a[ Gnm[?rzlzrnsive Retained Treasury Stock Sharteztélders’
Shares Amount Capital Incoma {Loss}  Earnings Shares Amount Equity

{In thousands)

Balance at Dacember 31, 2019 48,148 $481 $ 739478  $48) § 917336 {8,839 $(40,181) $1,617.058
Net income — — -— e 194,820 — — 194,820
Issiance of shares pursuant to stock

compensation plan — — 90,636 — — 1,283 33,727 124,363
Employee taxes paid for withheld shares

upon equity award settlemeant — — — — — (34) (12,823} (12,923
Stock compensation — — 67,365 — — — — 67,385
Issuance of shares pursuant to employee

stock purchase plan — — 7,853 — — 40 3,059 10,912
Treasury stock purchases — — — — — {59} {15,484) {15,484)

Baiance ai December 31, 2020 48,148 481 505,332 (46) 1,112,156 (7,609 (31,312) 1,986,111
Net incoma — — — — 161,458 — — 161,458
Exercise of stock options and vesting

of restricted stock units — — 50,831 — — 832 45,883 96,714
Employee taxes paid for withhald shares

upon equity award settlement — — — — — (58} (27,0300 (27,030
Stock compensation — — 104,726 —_ — — — 104,728
Issuance of shares pursuant to employes

stock purchase plan — — 12,889 — — 35 269 13,158
Treasury stock purchases — — — — — (33) (12,971 {12,977
Purchase consideration for conversion

of unvested restricted stock awards — — 1,872 — — — — 1,872

Balance at December 31, 2021 48,148 481 1,075,650 (46) 1,273,614 (6,833) (25,667} 2,324,032
Net incoma — — — — 164,240 e —_ 164,240
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — —_— — (798) — —_ — {798)
Exercise of stock options and vesting

of restricted stock units — — (3,218) — — £33 28,547 26,329
Employee taxes paid for withheld shares
upon equity award sattlamant — — — — —_ {70} {27,219) {27,219)
Stock compensation — — 102,985 o — — — 102,985
Issuance af shares pursuant to employee :
stock purchase plan — — 16,365 o —_ 49 286 16,651
Treasury stock purchases . — — — — —_— — o
Issuance of shares for acquisitions e . 17,943 — — 56 226 18,169
Balance at December 31, 2022 48,148 $481 $1,209.725  $(844)  $1,437,854 (6,365) $(22,827) $2,624,389

Sea accompanying notes.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tables in thousands, except per share data)

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DESCRIPTION GF BUSINESS

We provide integrated scftware systems and related services for the public sectar. We davelop and market a broad line of software
solutions and services to address the information technelogy (“(T") needs primarily of cities, counties, states, schools, federal agencies,
and other government entities. We provide subscription-based services such as software as a service (“Saa8"), transaction-based fees
primarily related to digital government services and onling payment processing, and electronic document filing solutions (“e-filing"),
which simplify the filing and management of court related documents. In addition, we provids professional IT services, including software
and hardware installation, data canversion, training, and for certain customers, product medifications, along with continuing maintenance
and support for customers using our systems, Additionally, we provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxi ng jurisdictions,

PRINGIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include our parent company and 62 subsidiaries, which are wholly-owned. Alf significant
intercempany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consclidation, Comprehensive incame (loss) is defined as the changs
in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources and
includes all components of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). During the twelve months ended December 31,
2022, we had approximately $798,000 of other comprehensive loss, net of taxes, from our available-for-sale investment holdings. We did
not have material items of cther comprehensive income during the vears ended December 31, 2021, and 2020.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current vear presentation. We have elected ta present
amortization of sofiware development, previously included in the cost of revenues software |icenses and royalties line item, in & separate
category line itam on the consolidated statements of income for all reporting periods presented. We also have elected to present sales
and marketing expense and general and administrative expense, previously disclosed as salling, general, and administrative axpense, as
separate category line items on the consclidated statements of income for all reporting periods presentad.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in excess of that necessary for operating requirernents is invested in short-term, highly liquid, income-producing investments.
Investments with original maturities of three months or less are classified as cash and cash equivalents, which primarily consist of cash
on depaosit with several banks and money market funds. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value,

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Nature of Products and Services

We earn revenues from subscription-based services, post-contract custemer support (“PCS" or “maintenance”), professional services,
software licenses and royalties, appraisal services, and hardware and other. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised
products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we sxpect to receive in exchange for those products or
services. Wa determine revenus recognition through the following steps:

« |dentification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

= Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

« Determination of the transaction price

» Allocation of the transaction price to the performance chiigations in the contract
+ Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a parformance obligation
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Our software arrangements with customers contain multipla performance obligations that range from software licenses, installation,
training, and consulting fo software modification and customization to mesat specific customer needs (servicas), hosting, and PCS. For
these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations separately when they are distinct. We evaluate whether separate
performance obligations can be distinct or should be accounted for as one perfarmance obligaticn. Arrangements that include professional
services, such as training or installation, are evaluated to determine whether those sarvices are highly interdependent or interrelated to
the product’s functionality. The transaction price is allocated to the distinct performance obligaticns an a relative standalone seifing
price (“SSP”) basis. We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditians and other
factors, including the vaiue of our centracts, the applications sold, customer demagraphics, and the number and types of usars within cur
contracts. Revenue is recognized net of allowances for sales adjustments and any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently
remitted to governmental authorities,

Subseription-Based Services:

Subscripticn-based services consist primarily of revenue derived from SzaS arrangements, digital government services, payment
processing, and e-fiting. For Saa$ arrangements, we evaluate whether the customer has the contractual right to take passession of our
software at any time during the hosting peried without significant penalty and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the software
on the customer’s hardware or enter into anather arrangement with a third-party to host the software. We allocate contract value to each
performance obligation of the arrangement that qualifies for treatment as a distinct element based on estimated SSP. We recognize
SaaS services ratably over the term of the arrangement, which range from one to 10 years, but are typically for a period of three to five
years. For profassional services associated with certain Saa$ arrangements, we have concluded that the services are rot distinct, and
we recognize the revenue ratably over the remaining contractual period once we have pravided the customer access to the software, We
record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

Transaction-based fees primarily relate to digital government services and online payment services, which are sometimes offered with the
assistance of third-party vendors. In general, when we are the principal in a fransaction, we record the revanue and related costs on a
gross basis. Otherwise, we net the cost of revenue associated with the service against the gross revenue (amount billed to the customer)
and record the net amount as revenue.

E-filing transaction fees primarily pertain to documents filed with the courts by attorneys and other third-parties via our e-filing services
and retrieval of filed docuiments via our access services. For each document filed with a court, the filer generally pays a transaction fee and
a court filing fee to us and we remit a portion of the transaction fee and the filing fee to the caurt. We record as revenue the transaction
fee, while the portion of the transaction fee remitted to the courts is recordad as cost of revenues as we are acting as an agent in the
arrangement. Court filing fees collected on behalf of the courts and remitted to the courts are recorded on a net basis and thus de not
affect our consolidated statements of income.

For e-filing transaction fees and transaction-based revenues from digital government services and online payments, we have the right
to charge the custemer an ameunt that directly corresponds with the value to the customer of our performance to date. Therefore, we
recognize revenues for these services over time based on the amount billable to the customer. In some cases, we are paid on a fixed
fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual period, Typically, the structura of our arrangements does not give rise
to variabie consideration. However, in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in our estimates, additional
revenues for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount can be estimatad reliably and its reatization
is probable.

Costs of performing services under subscription-based arrangements are expensed as incurred, except for certain direct and incremental
contract origination and set-up costs associated with Saa$ arrangements. Such direct and incremental costs are capitalized and amortized
ratably over the period of benefit.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Software Arrangements:

Software Licenses and Royalties

Many of our software arrangements involve "off-the-shelf” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to “off-the-shelf” software
licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when contro! of the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is
not considered distinct. We consider “off-the-shelf” scftware to be distinct when it can be added to an arrangement with minor changes in
the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upen instaliation, and remaining services such as training
are not considered highly interdependent ar interrelated to the product’s functionality.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where professional services
are otherwise not considered distinct, we recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-complation. We measure progress-
to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of conirol to the customer which occurs as we incur
costs on our contracts. These arrangemants are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total
cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-compietion measurement after giving effect to any
changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated
losses on uncempleted coniracts are racorded in the pericd in which we first determing that a loss is apparent.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when access to the software
license is made available to the customer and the remainder of the fee due over a passage of time stipulated by the contract. We
record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

We recognize royalty revenus when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arrangements. Currently, our third-party
royafties are recognized on an estimated basis and adjusted if needed, when we receive notice of amounts we are entitled to receive.
We typicaily receive notice of royalty revenue we are entitled to and amounts are billed on a quarterly basis in the guarter immediately
following the royalty reporting period, and adjustments have not been significant.

Professional Services

As noted above, some of our software arrangements include services considered highly interdependent or highly interrelated or require
significant customization to maet the customer's desired functionality. For these software arrangements, both the software licenses and
related professional services revenue are not distinct and are recognized over time using the progress-to-completion method. We measure
progress-to-completion primarity using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which occurs as we
incur costs on our contracts, Contract fees are typically billed an a milestone basis as defired within contract terms. We record amounts
that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revanues, depending on whether the revanue recognition
criteria have been met. When professional services are distinct, the fee allocable to the service alement is recognized over the time we
perform the services and is billed on a time and material basis,

Post-Contract Customer Support

Our customers generally enter into PCS agreements when they purchase our software licenses. PCS includes telephone support, bug fixes,
and rights to upgrades on a when-and-if available basis. PCS is considered distinct when purchased with sur software licenses. Our PCS
agreements are typically renewable annually. PCS is recognized over time on a straight-line basis over the period the PCS is provided. All
significant costs and expenses associated with PCS are expensed as incurred.

Computer Hardware Eqguipment

Revenue allocable to cemputer hardware equipment is recognized at a point in time when contral of the equipment is transferred to
the customer.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Appraisal Services:

For aur property appraisal projects, we recognize revenue using the progress-to-completion methad since many of these projects are
executed over one to three-year periods and consist of various unique activities. Appraisal services require a significant level of integration
and interdependency with various individual service components; therefore, the service components are not considered distinct. Appraisal
services are recognized over time by measuring progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfar
of control to the customer which occurs as we Incur costs en our contracts, These arrangements are often executed over an extended
pericc and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-
completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates, Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are
recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the pericd in which we first
determine that a less is apparent. Contract fees are typically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract terms. We racord
amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whather the revenue
racognition criteria have been met,

Significant Judgments:

Our centracts with customers often include multiple performance obligations to a customer. When a software arrangement (license or
subscription) includes both softwara licenses and professional services, judgment is required to determine whether the software ficense is
considered distinet and accounted for separately, or not distinct and accounted for together with the professional services and recognized
over time.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine the SSP based on
our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market cenditions and other factors, including the value of aur contracts, the
applications sold, customer dermographics, and the number and types of users within our contracts. Wa use a range of amounts to
estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately and need to determine whether there is a discount to be allocatad
based on the relative SSP of the various products and services. In instances where SSP is not directly cbservable, such as when we do
not self the product or service separately, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification, or customization of the software, or whera professional services
otherwise cannot be considered distinct, we recognize revenue as control is transferred to the customer over time using progress-to-
completion methods, Depending on the contract, we measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred, or value
added. The progress-to-completion method generally results in the recognition of reasonably consistent profit margins over the life of a
contract because we can provide reasonably dependable estimates of contract billings and contract costs. These arrangements are often
implemented over an extended time period and cccasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue
are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total
estimated contract costs, if any, are recarded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncempleted contracts are recorded
in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparant.

Refer to Note 18, “Disaggregation of Revenue,” for further information, including the economic factors that affact the nature, amount,
timing, and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows of our various revenue categories,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Contract Balances:
Accounts receivable and allowance for losses and sales adjustments

Timing of revenue recognition may differ fram the timing of inveiting to customers. We record an unbilled receivabla when revenue
is recognized prior to invoicing, or deferred revenue when invoicing occurs prior to revenue recognition, For multi-year agreements,
we generally invoice customers annually at the beginning of each annuai coverage period. We record an unbilled receivable related to
revenue recognized for on-premises licenses as we have an unconditicnal tight to invoice and raceive payment in the future related to
those licenses.

In connection with our appraisal services contracts and certain professional services contracts, we may perform work prior to when the
software and services are billable and/for payable purstant ta the contract, Unbilled revenue is riot billatle at the balance sheet date but
is recoverable over the remaining life of the cortract through billings made in accordance with contractual agreements, The termination
clauses in most of our contracts provide for the payment for the value of products delivered or services perfarmad in the event of early
termination. We have historically recorded such unbilled receivables (costs and estimated prefit in excess of billings) in connaction with
(1} property appraisal services contracts accounted for using progress-to-completion method of revenue recognition using laboer hours as
a measure of progress towards completion in which the services are parformed in one accounting period but the billing narmally oceurs
subsequently and may span another accounting period; (2) professional sarvices contracts accounted for using progress-to-completion
method of revenue recognition using labor hours as a measure of progress towards complation in which the services are performed
in one accounting period but the billing for the software element of the arrangement may be based upon the specific phase of the
implementation; (3) software revenue for which we have recognized revenug at the point in time when the software is made availabla to
the customer but the billing has not vat bean submitted to the customer; {4) some of our contracts which provide for an ameunt to be
withheld from a progress billing (generally between 5% and 15% retention) until final and satisfactory project completion is achigved; and
{5) in a limited number of cases, extended payment terms, which may be granted to customers with whem we generaily have a long-term
relationship and favorable collection history.

As of December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, total current and long-term acceunts receivable, net of allowance for lossas and
sales adjustments, was $585.5 million and $535.0 millicn, respectively. We have recorded unbilled receivables of $135.4 million and
$140.3 miltion at December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively. Included in unbilled receivables are retention receivables
of $8.6 million and $7.7 million at December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively, which become payabie upon the
completion of the contract or complation of our fieldwork and formal hearings. Unbilled receivables expected to be coliected within one
year have been inciuded with accounts receivable, current portion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Unbilled receivables
and retention receivables expected to be collected past one year have been included with accounts receivakle, long-term portion in the
accompanying consolidated baiance sheets,

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 90 days,
In instances where the timing of revenue racognition differs from the timing of invaicing, we hava determined our contracts generally
do not include a significant financing component. The primary purpsse of our inveicing terms is to provide customers with simplified
and predictable ways of purchasing our products and services, not to receive financing from our customers or to provide customers with
financing. Examples include invoicing at tha begirning of a subscription term with revenue recognized ratably over the contract period,
and multi-year on-premises term licenses that are invoiced annually with revenue recognized upfront,

We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustmants, which losses are recorded against revenue at the time the loss is incurred, Since
most of our clients are domestic governmental entitias, we rarely incur a credit loss resulting from the inability of a client to make required
payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales adjustments may
require revision, includa, but are not limited to, rmanaging our client’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered and
defects or arrors in new versians or enhancements of our software products. Our allowance for losses and sales adjustments of $14.8 milfion
and $12.1 million at December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively. Because we rarely exparierce credit losses with our
clients, we have not recorded a material reserve for credit losses.
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The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for iosses and sales adjustments:

Years Ended December 31, 2022 2021

Balznce at beginning of year $12,088 $ 9,255
Provisions for fosses and sales adjustments — accounts raceivabla 2,781 2,831
Callections of accounts previously written off {106 —
Balance at end of year $14,761 $12,086

Deferred Revenue

The maijority of deferred revenue consists of deferrad subscription-based services revenue that has been billed based on contractual terms
in the underlying arrangement, with the remaining balance consisting of payments received in advance of revenue being earned under
maintenance, software licensing, software and appraisal services, and hardware installation. Refer to Note 19, Deferrad Revenue and
Performance Obligations, for further information, inciuding deferred revenue by segment and changes in defarred revenue during the period.

Deferred Commissions

Sales commissions earned by our sales force are considerad incremental and recoverable costs of obtalning a contract with a customer.
Sales commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then amortized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over
a period of benefit that we have determined to be three to seven years, We utilized the “portfolio approach” practical expedient, which
allows entities to apply the guidance to a portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics because the effects on the financial statements
of this approach would not differ materially from applying the guidance to individual centracts. Using the "portfolio approach”, we
determinad the period of benefit by taking into consideration our customer contracts, our technology life-cycle and other factors, Sales
commissions for renewal contracts are generally not paid in connection with the renewal of a contract. In the small number of instances
where a commission Is paid on a renawal, it is not commensurate with the commission paid on the initial sale and is recognized over the
term of renewal, which is generally one year, Amortizaticn expanse related to deferred commissions is included in sales and marketing
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of incame. Refer ta Note 20, "Deferred Commissions,” for further information.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include direct and incremental costs such as commissions associated with arrangements for
which revenue recognition has been deferred. Such costs are expensed at the time the related revenue is recognized.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financlal statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP")
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include revanue recognition, determining the nature and timing of
satisfaction of performance obligations, determining the SSP of performance obligations, variable consideration, and other obligations such
as returns and refunds; loss contingencies; the estimated useful life of deferrad commissions; the fair value amount and estimated useful
lives of intangible asseté; the carrying amount of operating iease right-of-use assets and operating |ease liabilities; determining share-based
cempensation expense; the aliowance for losses and sales adjustments; and determining the potential outcome of future tax consequernces
af events that have been recognized on our consolidated financial statements of tzx raturns. Actual results could differ from estimates.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, equipment and purchased software are recarded at origina! cost and increased by the cost of any significant improvements
after purchase, We expense maintenance and repairs when incurred. Depreciation and amortization is calculated using the straight-line
method over the shorter of the assat’s estimated useful life or the term of the lease In the case of leasehold improvements. For income
tax purposes, we use accelerated depreciation methods as aliowed by tax laws.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
We expensed research and development expense of $105.2 millien in 2022, $93.5 million in 2021, and $88.4 million in 2020,

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred taxes arise because of different treatment between
financial statement accounting and tax accounting, known as “tempcrary differences”. We record the tax effect of these temporary
differences as “deferrad tax assets” {generally ttems that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in the Tuture periods) and “deferred tax
liabilities” (generally items that we received & tax deduction for, which have not yet been recerdad in the income statement). The deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rules and Jaws that are expected to be in effect when the temporary differences
are expectad to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that
a deferred tax asset will not be "realized,”

We do not recognize a tax benefit far uncertain tax positions Lnless management’s assessment concludes that it is “more likely than
net" that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits. If the recogniticn threshold is met, we recognize a tax benefit based
upon the largest amount of the tax benefit that is more iikely than not probable, determined by cumulative probability, of being realized
upon settlement with the taxing authority. We recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax
expense in the consolidated staterments of income.

Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Section 174

For the tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 {"TCJA™) eliminates the aption to currently
deduct research and deveiopment expensas and requires taxpayers to capitalize and amortize them over five years for research activities
performed in the United States and 15 years for research activities performed outside the United States pursuant to I1RC Section 174,
Although Congress is considering legislation that would repeal or defer this capitalization and amortization requirement, it is not certain
that this provision will be repealed or otherwise modified. |f the requirement is not repealed or raplaced, it will increase our .S, federal
and state cash tax payments and reduce cash flows in fiscal year 2023 and future years,

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

We have a share-based award pian that provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock units, and performance share units to
key employees, directors and non-empioyee consultants. Stock options generally vest after three to six years of continuous service from
the date of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years. Restricted stack unit grants generally vest ratabiy over three to five years of
continuous service from the date of grant. Each performance share unit represents the right to receive one share of our commen stock
based on our achiavement of certain financial performance targets during applicable performance periods, which generally cliff vest in one
or thrae years. We account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC /18, Stock Compensation.
See Mote 12, “Share-Basad Compensation,” for further information.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assels acquired and liabilities
assumed al their respective fair values, The determination of fair value requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, and in
making these determinations, management uses all availabie information,
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For tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination, management estimates the fair valus of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on quoted market prices, the carrying value of the acquired assets ana widely accepted vaiuation
technigues, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses. The assumptions made in performing these valuations
include, but are not limited to, discount rates, future revenues and operating costs, prejections of capital costs, and other assumptions
believed to be consistent with those used by principal market participants.

Due to the specialized nature of these calculations, we engage third-party specialists to assist management in evaluating our assumptions
as well as appropriately measuring the fair value of assets acquired and [liabilities assumed. We adjust the preliminary purchase price
allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing date as we obtain new information about facts and circumstances
that existed as of the closing date. If actual results are materially different than the assumptions we used to determine fair value of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed through a business comhination as well as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible
assets, it is possible that adjustments to the carrying values of such assets and liabilities will have a material impact on our financial
position and results of operations. See Note 2, “Acquisitions,” for further information,

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

We assess goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently whenaver evenis or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value
may riot be recoverable, We begin with the qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair vatue is less
than its carrying value before applying the quantitative assessment described below. When testing goodwill for impairmant quantitatively,
we first compare the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwili exceads
the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values calculated in our impairment tests are determined
using discounted cash flow models involving several assumptions (Level 3 inputs). The assumptions that are used are based upon what
we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in estimating fair value. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we
believe to be reasonable but that are unprediciable and inherently uncertain. We evaluate the reasonableness of the fair value calculations
af aur reporting units by comparing the total of the falr value of all of our reporting units to our total market capitalization,

During the fourth quarter, as part of cur annual impairment test as of October 1, we performed qualitative assessments for the reporting
units containing the recently acquired data and insights, digital government and payments sclutions, and davelopment platform solutions,
and concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date. Approximatsly $1.7 billion, or 70%, of total goodwill as of
December 31, 2022, relates to these reporting units, which as a result of these recent acquisitions, do not have significant excess fair
values aver carrying values, We performed qualitative assessments for the remaining reporting units in which we determined that it not
more iikely than not that the fair value exceeded the carrying value; therefore, we did not perform a Step 1 quantitative impairment
test. Cur annual goodwill impairment analysis did not result in an impairment charge. During 2022, we have recorded no impairment to
goodwill as no triggering events or change in circumstances indicating a potential impairmeant has occurred as of period-end.

Determining the fair value of our reporting units involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and considerable management
judgment. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reascnable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to
inherent uncertainty. Changes in market conditions or other factors outside of our control could cause us to change key assumptions and
our judgment about a reporting unit’s prospects. Similarly, in a specific period, a reporting unit could significantly underperform relative
to its historical or projected future operating results. Either situation could result in a meaningfully different estimate of the fair value of
our reporting units, and a consequent future impairment charge.

There have been no impairments to goodwill in any of the periods presented. See Note 4, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” for
additional information.
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Other Intangihle Assets

We make judgments about the recoverability of purchased intangibie assets other than goodwill whenever avents or changes in
circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist, Customer base and acquired software each comprise approximately half of our
purchased intangible assets other than goodwill. We review our customer turnever each year for indications of impairment. Our customer
turnover has historically been very low. If indications of impairment are determined to exist, we measure the recoversbility of assats by a
comparisen of the carrying amount of the asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expacted to be generated by the asset.
If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. There have been no impairments of intangible assets in any
of the periods presented.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Wa periodically evaluate whether current facts or circumstances indicete that the carrying value of cur property and equipment or
other long-lived assets to be held and used may not be recoverable. If such circumstances are determined to exist, we measure the
recoverability of assets to be held and used by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset or appropriate grouping of assets and
the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their
estimated future cash flows, an fmpairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the
fair value of the assets. There was no impairment of long-lived assats in any of the periods presented.

COSTS OF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

We capilalize software development costs upon the establishment of technological feasibility and prior to the availabitity of the product
for general release to customers for software sold to third parties and for application develepmeant costs of software developed for internal
use. Software devalopment costs primarily consist of persannel costs. During the twelve months period ended Dacember 31, 2022, and
2021, respectively, we capitalized approximately $27.6 million and $21.7 millien of software development costs. We bagin to amortize
capitalized costs when a product is available for general release to custemers and internal use software is ready for its intended use.
Amortization expense is determined on a product-by-preduct basis at a rate not less than straight-line basis over the software's remaining
estimated econamic life of, genarally, three to five years.

CONTINGENT PURCHASE CONSIDERATION

Cantingent future cash payments related to acquisitions are recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and included in the
determination of the acquisition date purchase price. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent future cash payments are
recognized in earnings in the period that the change cccurs, We have no contingent consideration outstanding as of December 31, 2022,

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable from trade customers, and investments in marketable securities. Qur cash and cash equivalents primarily consist
of operating account balances and money market funds, which are maintained at several major demestic financial institutions and the
batancas often exceed insured amounts. As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $173.9 million. We parform
periodic evaluations of the credit standing of these financial institutions.

Goneentrations of credit risk with respect to recaivables are limited due to the size and geographical diversity of our customer base. As a
result, we do not believe we have any significant concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2022,

We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are recorded against revenues at the time the loss Is incurred.
Since most of our customers are domestic governmental entities, we rarely incur a loss resulting from the inability of a customer to
make reguired payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales
adjustments may require revision include, but are not limitad to, fallure to manage our customer's expectations regarding the scope of the
services to be delivered, and defects or errars in new versions or enhancemants of our software products. Historically, our credit losses
have not been significant.
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LEASES

We determing if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-cf-use ("ROU") assets,
and operating lease liabilities, current and long-term, on our consalidated baiance sheets. We currently do not have any finance lease
arrangements.

Operating lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the prasent value of the future minimum lease paymants
over the lease term at commencement date. As most of our leases do nct provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing
rate based on the information available at commeancement date of the lease in determining the present value of future payments. The
aperating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives and initial direct costs incurred. Our
lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease
expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on & straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases with an initial term of 12 months
or less are not recorded on the balance sheet; we recognize lease expense for these leaseson a straight-line basis over the lease tarm. We
have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are generally accounted for as a single lease component.

INDEMNIFIGATION

Most of our software ficense agreements indemnify our customers in the event that the software sold infringes upon the intellectual
property rights of a third-party. These agreements typically provide that in such event we wil! either modify or replace the scftware so
that it becomes non-infringing or procure for the customer the right to use the software, We have not recorded a liability associated with
these indemnifications, as we are not aware of any pending or threatened infringement actions that are possible |osses. We believe the
estimated fair value of these intellectual property indemnification clauses is minimal.

We have zlso agreed to indemnify certain officers and our board members i¥ they ara namead or threatened to be named as a party to
any proceeding by reascn of the fact that they acted in such capacity. We maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage
to protect against any such losses, We have not recorded & liability associated with these indemnifications. Because of our insurance
coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreemants is minimal,

REGENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNGEMENTS

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 — Accounting for Contract Assets and Confract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers
(ASC 80b) ("ASU 2021-08"). ASU 2021-08 requires an acguirer in a business combinatien to recognize and measure contract assets
and contract liabilities (deferred revenue} from acquired contracts using the revenue recognition guidance in Topic 606. Under this
“Topic 606 epproach,” the acquirer applies the revenue model as if it had originated the contracts. This is a departure from the current
requirement to measure contract assets and contract liabilities at fair value. ASU 2021-08 is effective for all public business entities in
anrual and interim periods starting after December 15, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. An entity that early adopts should apply
the amendments (1} retrospectively to all business combinations for which the acquisition date occurs on or after the beginning of the
fiscal year that includes the interim period of early application and (2) prospectively to all business combinations that occur on or after
the date of initial application. We early adopted as of January 1, 2022, The adoption of ASU 2021-C8 did nat result in an adjustment
to the fair value of the deferred revenue balances assumed in our 2022 acguisitions. See Note 2, "Acquisitions,” for further discussion.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONDUNCEMENTS

There were no new not yet adopted accounting pronouncements currently issued that wouid affect the Company aor have a material impact
on its consolidated financial position or results of operations in future periods.
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{2} ACQUISITIONS

2022

On October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC {Rapid), a provider of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with
best-in-class card issuance and digital disbursement capabilitias. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.2 million, was
approximately $67.7 mitlion, consisting of $51.2 million paid in cash, $18.2 million of common stock, and $500,000 related to working
capital holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments,

We have performed a preliminary valuation analysis of the fair market value of Rapid’s assets and liabilities. In connection with this
transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $2.9 million and assumed liabilitias of approximately $635,000. We recorded goodwill
of approximately $40.0 million, all of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of
approximately $27.6 million. The goodwill arising from this acquisition Is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues,
earnings and cash flow by expanding aur addressable market and client base. The $27.6 million of intangible assets are attributable to
customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average pericd of approximately 10 years.

On May 31, 2022, we completed the acquisition of Guatred, LLC (Quatred), a systems integrator and barcade technology solutions provider.
The total cash price was approximately $637,000.

On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc, (US eDirect), a leading provider of techriology solutions for campground and outdoor
recreation management. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $6.4 million, was approximately $116.5 million, consisting of
$118.8 millicn paid in cash and approximately $4.1 million related to indemnity holdbacks.

We have performed a valuation analysis of tha fair market value of US eDirect’s assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the
preliminary allocation of the purchase price as of the acquisition date:

Cash $ 6,361
Accounts recaivable 1,730
COther current assets 584
Cther noncurrent assets 698
Goodwill and identifiahle intangible assets 125,541
Accounts payable (1,881)
Accrued expenses (357)
Other noncurrent liabilities (742)
Deferred revenue (688)
Deferred tax liabilitias, nat (8,326)
Total consideration $122,630

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $9.4 million and assumed liabilities of approximately $3.7 million.
We recorded goodwili of approximately $91.4 million, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable
intangible assets of approximately $34.1 million. The goodwill arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed to cur ability to genarate
increased revenues, earnings, and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and client base. The identifiable intangible assets
are altributable to customer relationships, acquired softwere, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of
approximately 13 years. We recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $8.3 million related to the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations.
Since the acquisition date, we recorded adjustments to the prel iminary opening calance sheet attributed to decreases in other current assets,
other noncurrent assets, identifiable intangible assets, accrueg expenses, and defarred revenue, and increases in accounts receivahle,
accounts payable, and deferred tax liabilities, resulting in a net increase to goodwill of approximately $1C.3 million.
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As of December 31, 2022, the purchase price allocations for US eDirect and Quatred are complete, while the purchase price allocation
for Rapid is nat final; therefore, certain preliminary valuation estimates of fair value assumed at the acquisiticn date for intangible assets,
receivables, and related deferred taxes are subject to change as valuations are finalized. Our balance gheet as of December 31, 2022,
reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired based on their estimated fair value at the date of the acquisition.
The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired are based on valuations using Leve! 3 unobservable inputs that are supportad by little
or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Rapid and US eDirect are operated as a part of the digital government and payments sofutions business unit {alsc known as the NIC
division), therefore the following unaudited pro forma consolidated operating results information has been prepared as if the acquisitions
of Rapid and US eDirect had occurred on January 1, 2021, and NIC had accurred on January 1, 2020, after giving effect to certain
adjustments, including amortization of intangibles, transaction costs, and tax effects.

Years Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Revenues $1,867,011 $1,785,623 $1,577,117
Net income 147,028 157,765 183,994
Basic earnings per share $ 354 $ 3.86 $ 4,60
Diluted earnings per share $ 347 $ 373 $ 4.43

The pro farma information above does not include acguisitions that are not considered material to our resuits of operations. The pro forma
information does not purport to represent what our results of operations actually would have been had such transaction occurred on the
date specified or to project our results of operations for any future period.

The actual operating results of Rapid, US eDirect, and NIC from their respective dates of acquisition are included with the operating
results of the Platform Technalogies segment. The operating results of Quatred are included in the operating results of the Enterprise
Software segment since the date of acquisition, The impact of the 2022 acquisitions on our operating rasults, assets, and lighilities is not
material. In the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we incurred fees of approximately $2.0 million for financial advisory, lega!,
accounting, due diligence, valuation, and other varicus services necessary to complete acguisitions. These costs were expensed in 2022
and are included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income,

2021

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultimate information Systems, Inc. (dba Arx). Arx is a cloud-based platform
which creates accessible technology to enable a modern-day police forge that is fully transparent, accountable, and a trusted resource to
the community it serves. The total purchase price, nat of cash acquired, was approximately $12.8 miltion.

On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendEngine, Inc., a cloud-based software provider focused on financial technofogy for the corrections
market. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 million, was approximately $83.6 million, consisting of $81.6 million paid
in cash, and approximately $3.8 million related to indemnity holdbacks,

In cennection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $5.8 million and assumed liabilities o approximately $3.0 millicn.
We recorded goodwill of approximately $54.3 million, none of which is expected ta be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable
intangible assets of approximately $37.9 million. The $37.9 million of intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships,
acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 13 years. We recorded net deferred
tax Itabilities of $2.6 million related to the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations. In the twelve months ended December 31, we
recorded adjustmants to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to a decrease to accounts receivable, accounts payable, deferred
income taxes, and an adjustment to the accrual for indemnity holdbacks and increases in identifiable intangible assets and accrued
expensas resulting in a net decrease to goodwill of approximately $4.4 milijon,

Cn April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, Inc., a leading digital government soluticns and payment company that primarily serves federal and
state government agencies. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $331.8 million, was approximately $2.0 billion, consisting
of cash peid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase consideration related to the conversien of unvested restricted stock awards.
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We have performed the valuation analysis of the fair market value of NIC's assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the
allocation of the purchase price as of the acquisition date:

Cash $ 331,793
Accounts receivable 149,515
Other current assets 12,988
QOther noncurrent assets 20,974
[dentifiable intangible assets 777,000
Goodwill 1,446,858
Accounts payable {150,099
Accrued expenses {63,154)
Dther noncurrent liahilities {11,493}
Defarred revenue (3,294)
Dafarrad tax liabilitias, nat {190,596)
Total consideration $2 320,492

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $515.3 million and assumed liabilities of approximately
$228.0 million. Wa recorded goodwill of approximately $1.4 hillion, nene of which is expacted to be deductible for tax purposes, and
other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $777.0 millicn. The $777.0 million of intangible assets are attributable to customer
relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 17 years. We
recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $190.6 million related to the tax affect of our estimated fair velue allocations. In the twelve months
ended December 31, 2021, we recorded adjustments to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to a decrease to accounts
receivable and increases in identifiable intangible assets, deferrad revenue and related deferred taxes resulting in a net decrease to goodwill
of approximately $17.2 million.

NIC delivers user-friendly digital services thal make it easier and more efficient for citizens and businesses to interact with government-
providing valuable conveniences like applying for unemployment insurance, submitting business filings, renewing licenses, accessing
information and making secure paymenis without visiting a government office. In addition, NIC has extensive expertise and scale in the
government payments arena which will accelerate our strategic payments initiatives. Therefore, the goodwill of approximately $1.4 billion
arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding
our addressable market and client base.

On March 31, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Glass Arc, Inc. (dba ReadySub), a cloud-based platform that assists school
districts with absence tracking, filling substitute teacher assignmeants, and automating essential payroli processes, The total cash price
was approximately $6.2 million, net of cash acquired.

On March 31, 2021, we acquired substantially all assets of DataSpec, Inc. (DataSpec), a provider of & SaaS solution that allows for
secure electronic claims submission to the federal Department of Vetarans Affairs and reporting capabiiities, in addition to scheduling,
calendaring, and payments. The total cash purchase price was approximately $5.8 million.

The operating results of Arx, DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEngine are included with the operating results of the Enterprise Software
segment since their date of acquisition. The impact of the Arx, DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEngine acquisitions, individually and in
the aggregate, on our cperating results, assets and liabilities is not material. The operating results of NIC are included in the Platform
Technologies Segment. Revenues from NIC Included in Tyler's resutts of operations totaled approximately $368.9 million and net income
was approximately $37.2 million from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2021, In 2021, we incurred fees of approximately
$23.5 mitlion for financial advisory, iegal, accounting, due diligence, valuation and other various services necessary to complete these
acguisitions. The Company also incurred $1.6 million of expense related 1o a separation agreement with NIC’s former Chief Executive
Officer. These costs were expensed in 2021 and are included in general and administrative expanse in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income. As of December 31, 2022, the purchase price allacations for 2021 acquisitions are complete.
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(3) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET AND SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, NET

Property and equipment, net consists of the following at Deceambar 31;

Useful Lives {years) 2022 2021

Land — $ 22,908 § 22,523
Building and leasehold improvements 5-38 155,054 154,222
Cemputer equipment and purchased software 3-5 121,968 109,691
Furniture and fixtures 5 39,373 35,932
Transpartation equipment 5 200 207
N 343,508 322,575

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (170,722) (141,382)
Property and equipment, net $ 172,786 $ 181,193

Depreciation expense was $29.5 million in 2022, $29.4 million in 2021, and $25.5 miliion in 2020,
We paid $4.5 million and $12.8 millien for real estate and the expansion of existing facilities in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Software development costs, net consists of the following at December 31:

Useful Lives (years) 2022 2021
Software development costs 3-5 $ 59,504 $32.274
Accumuiated amortization (11,715 {3,785)
Software development costs, net $ 48,189 $28,489

Amortization expense for software development costs is recorded to cost of revenues and general and administrative expense. Amortization
expense for software development costs recorded to cost of revenues was $6.5 million in 2022, $2.3 million in 2021, and no expense in
2020, Amortization expense for software development costs recorded to general and administrative expense was $1.4 million in 2022,
no expense in 2021, and $1.2 million in 2020.

Estimated annual amortization expense related to software development costs:

2023 $11,038
2024 12,440
2025 11,238
2026 8,247
2027 3,624
Thereafter 1,304

$48,188
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(4) GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the twe years ended December 31, 2022 are as follows:

Enterprise Platform
Seftware Technologies Total
Balance as of 12/31/2020 $762,127 $ 76301 $ 838428
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase af NIG — 1,446,858 1,445,868
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of VendEngine 54,456 — 54,456
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of other acquisitions 19,522 — 19,927
Balance as of 12/31/2021 836,505 1,523,168 2,359,674
Goodwill acquired refated to the purchase of US eDirect — 91,441 91,441
Goodwifl acquired related to the purchase of Rapid — 40,005 40,005
Purchase price adjustments related to the purchase of VendEngine (204) — (204)
Purchase price adjustments related to the purchase of other acquisitions (1,608) — (1,608)
Balance as of 12/31/2022 $834,693 $1,654,615 $2,489,308
Other intangible assets and related accumulated amortization consists of the following at December 31:
2022 2021
Gross carrying amount of other intangibles:
Customer related intangibles $ 990,545 § 949,844
Acguired software 456,137 433300
Trade names 45,293 45,353
Leases acquired 5,037 5,037
1,497,012 1,434,034
Accumulated amortization (494,848) (381,541)
Total other intangibles, net $1,002,164 $1,052,493

Amortization expense for acquired software is recorded to cost of revenues. Amortization expense for customer related intangibles, trade
names and leases acquired is recorded to amortization of other intangibles. Total amortization expense for other intangibles was $113.9
million in 2022, $90.8 million in 2021, and $53.9 million in 2020.

The amortization periods of other intangible assets are summarized in the following table:

December 31, 2022

December 31, 2021

Weighted Weighted
Gross Average Gross Average
Carrying Amortization Accumulated Carrying Amartization  Accumulated
Amount Period Amortization Amount Period Amortization
Non-amaortizable intangibles:
Goodwill $2,489,308 — $ — $2,359,674 — $ —
Amortizablg intangibles:
Customer related intangibles $ 900,545 20 years $209,501 $ 949,844 21 years $157,077
Acquired software 456,137 5 years 260,642 433,800 7 years 208,451
Trade names 45,293 5 years 21,055 45,353 10 years 13,064
Leases acquired 5,037 9 years 3,646 5,037 § years 2,945
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Estimated annual amortization expense refated to other intangibles:

2023 $ 105284
2024 89,192
2025 88,423
2026 80,722
2027 18,626
Thereaiter 559,917

$1,002,164

(5) ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued fiabilities consist of the following at December 31;

2022 2021
Acerued wages, bonuses and commissions $ 73,745 $ 83695
Other accrued liabilities 58,196 69,728
$131,94 4158 424

(6) DEBT

The following table summarizes our total outstanding borrowings related to the 2021 Credit Agreament and Convertible Senicr Notas:

Maturity December 31,  December 31,
Rate Date 2022 2021

2021 Credit Agreement
Revolving credit facility L+150% April 2028 $ — $ —
Term Loan A-1 L +1.50% Aprif 2028 250,000 585,000
Term Loan A-2 L+1.25% Rpril 2024 105,800 170,000
Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 0.25% March 2026 600,000 600,000
Total borrowings 555,000 1,355,000
Less: unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs (7,611} (13,724}
Total borrowings, net 987,389 1,341,276
Lass: current partion of debt (30,000 (30,000)
Carrying value $557 385 $1,311,276
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2021 CREDIT AGREEMENT

In connection with the completion of the acquisition of NIC on April 21, 2021, we, as borrower, entered into a new $1.4 billion
Credit Agreement (the "2021 Credit Agreement™) with the various lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, Nationa! Association, as
Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender, and lssuing Lender. The 2021 Credit Agreement providas for {1) a senior unsecured revolving
credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of uUp to $500 million, including sub-facilities for standby letters of credit and swinglina
loans (the “Revelving Credit Facility”), (2) an amertizing five-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $600 million (the “Term Loan
A-1"), and {3) a non-amortizing three-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $300 million {the “Term Loan A-2") and, together (the
“Term Loans”). The 2021 Credit Agreement matures on Aprii 20, 2026, and the loans may be prepaid at any time, without premium
or penalty, subject tc certain minimum amounts and payment of any |LIBOR breakage costs. In addition to the required amortization
payments on the Term Loan A-1 of 5% annually, certain mandatoty quarterly prepayments of the Term Loans and the Revolving Credit
Facility will be reguired (i) upon the issuance or incurrence of additional debt not otherwise permittad under the 2021 Credit Agreemant
and (i) upon the occurrence of certain assat sales and insurance and condemnation recoveries, subject to certain thresholds, baskets,
and reinvestment provisions as provided in the 2021 Credit Agreement,

Berrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A-1 bear interest, at the Company’s option, at & per annum rate of
either (1) the Administrative Agant's prime commercial lending rate (subject to cettain higher rate determinations) (the “Base Rate")
plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or {2} the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a
margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 bears interest, at the Company’s option, at a per annum rate of eithar (1) the Base Rate
plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, of, subject to approval by ali lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin
of 0.875% to 1.5%. The margin in each case is based upon the Company’s total net leverage ratic, as determined pursuant to the 2021
Credit Agreement, The 2021 Credit Agreement has customary benchmark replacement language with respect to the replacement of
LIBOR once LIBOR becomes unavailable. In addition to paying interest on the outstanding principal of loans under the Revolving Credit
Facility, the Company is required to pay a commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility, currently
0.25% per annum, ranging from 0.15% to C.3% based upon the Company’s total net leverage ratio.

LIBOR, the London inter-Bank Offered Rate, is currently anticipated to be phased out in June 2023 and is expected to transition to a
new standard rate, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR™), which will incorporate certain overnight repo market data collected
from muitiple data sets. In January 2023, we amended? our 2021 Credit Agreement to replace the LIBOR reference rate with the SOFR
reference rate. Assuming that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is appropriately adjusted to equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that there
should be minimal impact on our operations.

The net proceads from the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net of debt discounts of $7.2 miliion and
debt issuance costs of $4.9 million and $6.4 million of commitment feas paid related to the terminated $1.6 billian unsecured bridge
loan facility. On the Closing Date, the Company paid approximately $2.3 billion in cash for the purchase of NIC. The Term |.cans of $900
million and a portion of the proceeds of the Revolving Credit Facility, in the amount of $250 million, together with cash available to the
Corrpany of $609 million and the net proceeds of its Convertible Senior Notes of $594 million, were used to complete the acquisition
and pay fees and expanses in connection with the acouisition and the 2021 Credit Agreement, The remaining portion of the Revoiving
Credit Facility may be used for working capital requirements, acquisitions, and capital expenditures of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The 2021 Credit Agreement requires us to maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions and prohibits us from making
certain investments, advances, cash dividends or loans, and limits incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens. As of December 31,
2022, we were in compliance with those covenants.

Tha carrying amount is the par value of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans less the dabt discount and debt issuance costs that
are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method aver the terms of the Term Loans. Interest expense is included in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

3 The foregoing is a summary of the amended terms and conditions of the 2021 Credit Agreement and not a complete description of the Third
Amendment to Credit Agreamant, dated January 27,2023, Accordingly, the foregoing is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
Third Amendment to Credit Agreement attached to this Current Report on Ferm 10-K as Exhibit 4.2, which is incorporated by reference,
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Convertible Senior Notes due 2025

On March 9, 2021, we issued 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 in the aggregate principal amount of $600.0 million (“the
Convertible Senior Notes” or "the Notes"}. The Convertible Senior Notes were issued pursuant to, and are governed by, an indenture (the
“Indenture"), dated as of March 9, 2021, with U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The net proceeds frem the issuance of the
Convertible Senior Notes ware $591.4 million, net of initial purchasers' discounts of $6.0 million and debt issuance costs of $2.6 million.

The Convertible Senior Notes are senior, unsecured cbligations and are (i) equal in right of payment with our future senior, unsecured
indebtedness; (i} senior In right of payment to our future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the Notes; {iii) effectively
subordinated to our future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing that indebtedness; and (iv)
structurally subordinated to all future indebtedness and cther liabilities, including trade payables, and (o the extent we are not a holder
thereof) preferred equity, if any, of our subsidiaries.

The Convertible Senior Notes accrue interest at a rate of 0.25% per annum, payable semi-annuaily in arrears on March 156 and September
15 of each year, beginning on September 15, 2021. The Convertible Senicr Notes mature on March 15, 2026, unless earlier repurchased,
redeemed, or converted,

Before September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes have the right to convert their Convertible Senior Notes only upon
the accurrance of certain events, Under the terms of the Indenture, the Convartible Senior Notes are convertible into common stock of
Tyler Technologies, Inc. (referred to as “our commen stock™ herein} at the follawing times or circumstances:

» during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ended June 3@, 2021, if the last reported saie price per share of
our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price for each of at least 20 trading days (whether of not consecutive) during the
30 censecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding catendar quarter;

« during the five consecutive business days immediately after any five consecutive trading day period (such five consecutive trading
day period, the “Measurement Period") if the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Canvertible Senior Notes, s detarmined
following a request by their holder in accordance with the procedures in the Indenture, for sach trading day of the Measurement Period
was |ess than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price per share of our common stock on such trading day and the conversion
rate on such trading day;

+ upon the occurrence of certain carparate events or distributions en our common stack, including but net limited to a “Fundamental
Change" (as defined in the indenture);

= upen the occurrence of specified corporate events; or

+ on or after September 15, 2025, until the close of business on the secend scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity
date, March 15, 2026,

With certain exceptions, upon a change of control or other fundamental change (both as defined in the Indenture governing the Convertible
Senior Notes), the holders of the Convertible Senior Notes may require us to repurchase all or part of the principal amount of the
Converiible Senior Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes, plus any accrued
and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.

As of December 31, 2022, none of the conditions allowing holders of the Convertible Senior Notes to convert have been met,

From and including September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes may convert their Convertible Senior Notes at any time
at their alecticn until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date. We will settle any
convarsions of the Cenvertible Senior Notes either entirely in cash or in a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, at our
election. However, upon conversion of any Convertible Senior Notes, the conversion value, which will be determined aver an “Observation
Period” (as defined in the Indenture) consisting of 30 trading days, will be paid in cash up to at least the principal amount of the Notes
being converted.
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The initia! conversion rate is 2.0266 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes, which represents
&n initial conversion price of approximatzly $493.44 per share of common stock. The conversion rate and conversion price wiit be subject
to adjustment upon the cccurrence of certain events. In addition, if certain corporate events that constitute a “Make-Whole Fundamental
Change” (as defined in the Indenture) occur, then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, be increased for & specified period
of time.

The Convertible Senior Notes are redeemabls, in whole or in part, at our option at any time, and from time to time, on or after March
15, 2024 and on or before the 30th scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date, at a cash redemption price equal to
the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, up to, but excluding, the redemption date,
but only if the last reported sale price per share of our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price of the Notes on (i} each of
at least 20 trading days, whether or not consecutive, during the 30 consacutive trading days ending on, and including, the trading day
immediately before the date we send the related redemption netice; and (i) the trading day immediately before the date we send such
notice. In addition, calling any Note for redemption constitutes a Make-Whole Fundamental Change with respect to that Note, in which
case the conversion rate applicable to the conversion of that Note will be increased in cerfain circumstances if it is converted after it is
called for redemption.

Effective Interest

The weighted average interest rates for the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreament and Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 wera
5.62% and 0.25%, as of December 31, 2022, respectively. During the twelve months endad December 31, 2022, the effective interest
rates for our borrowings were 3.79% and 0.54% for the 2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Netes, respectively. The
following sets forth the interest expense recagnized related to the borrowings undar the 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior
Neotes and is included in interest expensz in the accompanying consolidated statements of income:

Years Ended Decemper 31, 2022 2021 2020
Contractual interest expense — Revolving Cradit Facility $ (1,267) $ (1,240 —
Contractual interest expense — Term Loans {18,583) (9,341) —
Contractual interest expense — Convertible Senlor Notes {1,500 (1,213 —
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs {7,029 {3,297) -
Interest expense and amortization of deht issuance costs —

terminated 2019 Credit Agreement and Senior Unsacured Bridgs loan facility — (8,203} (1,013
Total $28,379) $(23,298) $(1,013)

As of December 31, 2022, we had one outstanding standalone letter of credit totaling $1.5 million. The letter of credit, which guaranteas
our performance under a client contract, renews automatically annually unless canceled in writing, and expires in the third quarter of
2026. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we repaid $360 miilion of the Term Loans under the 2021 Credit Agreament.

As of December 31, 2022, the required annual maturities related to the 2097 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes due
2026 were as follows:

Year ending December 31, Annual Maturities
2023 $ 30,000
2024 135,000
2025 30,000
2026 800,000
2027 -
Total reguired maturities $995,000
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(7) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table presents our financial instruments:

December 31, 2022 2021
Cash and cash equivalents $173,857 $309,171
Held-to-maturity investments — 98,653
Availabie-for-sale Investments h5,538 —
Equity invastments 13,000 10,000
Total $239,395 $417.824

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of maney market funds with original maturity dates of three months or less, for which we
determine fair value through quoted market prices.

Our available-for-sale securities were histarically classified as held-to-maturity. Management determined that our investment portfolio
would be transferred frem held-to-maturity to available-for-sale, in order to have the flexibility to buy and seli investments and maximize
cash liquidity for petential acquisitions or for debt repayments. Accordingly, our investment portfolio is now classified as available-for-sala
as of December 31, 2022. Our available-for-sale investments primarily consist of investment grade corporata bonds, municipal bonds,
and asset-backed securities with maturity dates through 2027. These investments are presented at fair vafue and are included in short-
term investments and non-currant investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Unrealized gains or losses associstad
with the investments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax in the accompanying consalidated balance sheets
and statements of comprehensive income. For our available-for-sale investments, we do not have the intent to sell, nor is it more fikely
than not that we would be required to sell before recovery of their cost basis.

As of December 31, 2022, we have an accrued interest receivable balance of approximately $200,000 which is included in accounts
receiveble, net, We do nol measure an allowance for credit losses for accrued interest receivables. We record any losses within the
maturity period or at the time of sale of the investment and any write-offs to accrued interest receivables are recorded as a reduction
to interest incoma in the period of the loss. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we have recordad no cradit lossas
for acerued interest receivables. Interest income and amortization of discounts and premiums are included in other income, net in the
accompanying consolidated statements of incoma.

The following table presents the compenents of our available-for-sala investments:

December 31, 2022 2021
Amortized cost $58,670 —
Unrealized gains 15 -
Unrealized losses (1,148 —
Estimated fair value $55,538 R

As of December 31, 2022, we have $37.0 million of available-for-sale debt securities with contractual maturities of one year or less and
$18.5 million with contractual maturities great than one year, As of December 31, 2022, 24 available-for-sale debt securities with a fair
value of $25.8 million have been in a loss position for one year or less and 28 securities with a fair value of $23.1 million have been in
a loss position for greater than one year.
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The following table presents the activity on our available-for-sale or held-to-maturity investments:

Years Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Proceeds from sales and maturities $71,034 $13i,448 $82,742
Realized fosses on saies, nat of tax (79) —_ _

Our equity investments consist of an 18% interest in BFTR, LLC., a wholly owned subsidiary of Bison Capital Partners V L.P, BFTR, LLC, a
privately held Austratian company specializing in digitizing the spoken word in court and legal proceedings. The investrment in common
stock is accounted for under tha equity method because we de not have the ability to exarcise significant inflirence aver the investee; and
as the securities do not have readily determinable fair values, our investment is carried at cost less any impairment write-downs.

(8) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The following tables prasent the changes in the baiances of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax by component:

Unrealized Loss On Accumulated Other

Available-for-Sales Comprehensive

Securities Other Loss

Balance as of Dacember 31, 2020 $ (8 § — $ (46)
Other comprehensive income bafore reclassifications — — —
Amounts raclassified to nat income — — —
Other comprehansive income {loss) — — —
Balance as of Dacember 31, 2021 $ {48) 5 — $ (46)
Other comprehensive loss befors reclassifications (850) — (850)
Reclassification adjustment of unrealizad losses an securities transferred fram held-to-maturity 27) — 2N
Reclassification adjustment for net loss on sale of available for sale securities, included in net incame 79 — 79
Other comprehensive loss (798) — {798)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $(844) $§ — $(844)

(9) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset ar paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction betwean
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or maost advantageous market for that asset of liability. Guidance on fair

value measurements and disclosures establishes a valuation hierarchy for disciosure of inputs used in measuring fair value defined
as follows:

* Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

+ Level 2—Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liaoiiities in active markets and quoted prices in non-active marksts,
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, and inputs that are not directly observable, but are carroborated by observable
market data.

* Level 3—Inputs that are unobservatle and are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the use of significant management
judgment.
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The classification of a financial asset or ligbility within the hierarchy is determinad basad on the least reliable lavel of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. In determining fair value, we utilize valuaticn techniques that maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible, We also consider the counterparty and our own non-performance
risk in our assessment of fair value.

The following tabie presents fair values of our financial and debt instruments categorized by their fair value hizrarchy as of December 31,
2022:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Available-for-sale Investmants $ — $ 55,538 - $ 55538
Equity investments — — 10,000 10,000
2021 Credit Agreement

Revolving Credit Facility — — — —_

Term Loan A-1 — 288,302 — 288,302

Term Loan A-2 — 104,603 — 104,603
Convertible Saniar Notes due 2026 — 560,910 — 560,910

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, accounts payables, short-term obligations and certain other assets at cost approximate
fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments,

As of December 31, 2022, we have $55.5 million in investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds, and asset-backed securities
with maturity dates through 2027, The fair values of these securities are considered Level 2 as they are based on inputs from quoted
prices in markets that are nct active or cther observable market data.

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

As of December 31, 2022, we have an 18% interest in BFTR, LLC. The investment in common stock is accounted under the eguity
method because we do not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee and the securities do not have readity
determinable fair values, Our investment is carried at cost less any impairment write-downs. Periodically, our equity method investments
are assessed for impairment. We do not reassess the fair value of 2quity method investments if there are no identifiad events or changes in
circumstances that may have a significant adverse effect on tha fair value of the investments. No events or changes in circumstances have
occurred during the period that require reassessment. There has been o impairment of our equity method investment for the periods
presented. This investment is included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balanca shests.

We assess goodwill for impairment annually on October 1. In addition, we review goodwill, property end equipment, and othar intangibles
for impairment whenever evenls or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. During the fourth
guarter of 2022, we completed our annual assessment of goodwilt which did not result in an impairment charge. Further, we identified
no indicators of impairment to long-lived and other assets and therefore, no impairment was recorded as of and for the period ended
December 31, 2022.

Financial instruments measured at fair value only for disclosure purposes

The fair value of our borrowing under our 2021 Credit Agreement would approximate book value as of December 31, 2022, because our
interest rates reset approximately every 30 days or less.

The carrying amount of the Revolving Cradit Faciiity and Term Loans is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that
are amortized to interest expanse using the effective interest method over the terms of the Term Loans. Interest expense is included in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income,
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The fair value of our Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 is determined based on quoted market prices for a similar liability when traded

as an assetf in an active market, a Level 2 input. See Note 6, "Debt,” for further discussion,

The carrying amount of the Conveartib'e Senior Notes is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amortized
to interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the Convertible Senior Notes. Interest expense is included in tha

accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The foilowing tabie presents the fair value and carrying value, net, of the 2021 Credjt Agreement and our Convertible Notes dua 2026):

Fair Value at December 31,

Fair Value at December 31,

2022 2021 2022 2021
2021 Credit Agraement
Revolving Credit Facility - $ — 5 — 5 —
Term Loan A-1 . 288,302 580,515 288,302 580 515
Tarm Loan A-2 104,603 167,997 104,503 167,996
Convertible Notas due 2026 560,310 735,662 594,484 592,765
$953,815 $1485,174 $947,389 $1,341,276
(10) INCOME TAX
Income tax provisicn {benefit) on income from operations consists of the fellowing:
Yoars Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Current:
Fedaral $ 84,570 $ 7591 $(10,538)
State 25,975 3,203 {1,304)
110,545 10,744 (11,847
Deferrad (87,192 (13,271) (7.936)
$ 23,353 $ 2477 $(19,778)
Reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to our effective income tax expense rate for operations follows:
Years Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Federal income tax expense at statutory rate $ 35,395 $ 33,385 $ 36,759
State income tax, net of federzl income tax banefit 9,187 5,594 6,677
Net operating loss carryback {261) 3,391 (3,345}
Excess tax benefits of share-hased compensation (7,752} (47,675) (60,190
Tax credits {31,334) (4,999 (3,867)
Non-deductible business expenses 5,425 71542 4,199
Uncertain tax positions 8,338 {425) —
QOther, net 345 700 89
$ 23,353 $ 2470 $(19,778)

in 2022, we completed a multi-year research and development tax credit stucly, which resulted in a $31.3 miliion research tax credit benefit,
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The tax effects of the major items recorded as deferred fax assats and liabilities as of December 31 are:

2022 2021
Deferred income tax assets:
Capitalized research and exparimental expenditures 4 76,731 $ —_
Operating expenses not currently deductibla 17,263 16,639
Stock option and other employee henafit plans 21,373 19,596
l.oss and credit carryforwards 8,589 18,604
Deferred revenue 4,405 4,717
Other 289 —
Total deferred income tax assets 128,650 59,556
Yaluation allowance - —
Total deferrad inceme tax assets, net of veluation allowance 128,650 58 556
Deferred ncome tax liabilities:
Intangihle assets {256,818} (265,827
Praperty and equipment {11,220 (12,272}
Prepaid expenses (9,503) (8,542}
Tota! deferred income tax liabilities (277,541 (287,641)
Net deferred income tax liabilities $(148,891) $(228,085)

As of December 31, 2022, the capitalization and amortization requirements of research and experimental expenditures pursuant to the
TCJA changes to Internal Revenue Code Section 174 resulted in a deferred tax asset of $76.7 million.

As of Decamber 31, 2022, we had federal nat operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22.9 million, after-tax state net operating
loss carryforwards of approximately $1.6 million, and tax credit carryforwards of approximately $4.1 million. The federal net operating

loss cartyforward will begin to expire in 2037, if not utilized, and a portion of the state net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards
begin expiring in 2033, if not utilized,

The acquired carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation but are expected to be realized. We believe it is more likely than not that
all other deferred tax assets will be realized. However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted in the
future if estimates of reversing taxable temporary differences are revised.

The following table pravides a reconciliation of the 8ross unrecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax positions for the years ended
December 31:

2022 2021
Balance at beginning of pariod $ 4,635 $1,979
Additions for tax positions of prior pericd 5,522 4508
Reductions for tax positions of prior peried (170) (10)
Additions for tax positions of current period 5,804 212
Seftlements — —
Expiration of statutes of limitations {1,160) {2,004)
Balance at end of peried $14,631 $ 4,635

As of December 31, 2022, $1.9 million of the unrecognized tax benefits are reflected as a decrease in deferred income taxes
and $12.7 miition are included in other long-term labilities in our consolidated balance sheets. The total amount of unrecognized tax
benefits, net of federal income tax benefit of state taxes, if recognized, that would affect the effactive tax rate is $13.9 million as of
December 31, 2022, and $4.3 million and $1.9 million as of December 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively, It is reasanably possible
that events wiil occur during the next 12 months that would cause the total amount of unrecognized tax banefits to increase or dacrease,
However, we do not expect such increases or dacreases to ke material to the financial condition ar results of operations.
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We are subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income tax of multiple state, local and foreign jurisdictions. We are routinely subject
to income tax examinations by these taxing jurisdictions, but we do not have a history of, nor do we expect any material adjustments as
a resuit of these examinations. With faw exceptions, major U.S. federal, state, local and foreign jurisdictions are no longer subject to

examination for years before 2018. As of Fabruary 22, 2023, no significant edjustments have been propesad by any taxing jurisdiction.

We recognize interest and penaities ralated to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense in the consolidated
statemants of income, Accrued interest and penalty amounts were not significant at December 31, 2022,

(11) SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The foilowing table details activity in our common stock:

Years Ended Decamber 31,

2022 2021 2020
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Purchases of traasury shares — S (33) $(12,977) (59) $ (15,484
Stack option exarcises 188 26,329 627 96,714 1,174 124,353
Employee stock plan purchases 49 16,651 35 13,158 49 10,912
Restricted stock units vested, net of withheld shares

upon award settlement 176 {27,219) 147 (25,158 76 (12,523
Shares issued for acquisition 56 18,169 — — — —

As of February 22, 2023, we had authorization from our board of directors to repurchase up to 2.3 million additional shares of aur
common stock.

(12) SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-Based Compensation Plan

In May 2018, stockholders approved the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (“the 2018 Plan") which amended and
restated the existing Tyler Technoiogies, Inc. 2010 Stock Option Pian {“the 2010 Plan"). Upon stockholder approval of the 2018 Plan, the
remaining shares available for grant under the 2010 Plan were added to the shares authorized for grant under the 2018 Pian. Additionally,
any awards previously granted undar the 2010 Plan that expire unexercised or are forfeited are addad to the shares authorized for grant
under the 2018 Pian.

During fiscal year 2022, we granted stock awards under the 2018 Plan in the form of stack options, restricted stock units and performance
share units. Stock options generally vest after three to six years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a contractual term
of 10 years. Once options become exercisable, the employee can purchase shares of our common stock at the market price on the date
we granted the option. Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three to five years of continuous service from the date of
grant. Each performance share unit represents the right to recelve one share of our common stock based on our achiavement of certain
financial performance targets during applicable performance periods. We account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value
recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation.

As of December 31, 2022, there were 1.3 million shares available for future grants under the 2018 Plan from the 22.9 million shares
previously approved by the shareholders,
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Determining Fair Value of Stock Compensation

Valuation and Ameortization Method. We estimate the fair value of stock option awards grantad using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model. For restricted stock unit and performance stock unit awards, we estimate fair value as market value on the date of grant. We
amortize the fair value of all awards on a straight-line basfs over the reguisite service pericds, which are generally tha vesting periods.

Expected Life. The expacted life of awards granted represents the pericd of time that they are expected to be outstanding. The expacted
life represents the weighted-average period the stock options are expected to be outstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting
tarms, remaining contractual life and the employees’ expected exercise based on historical patterns.

Expected Volatility. Using the Black-Scholes optlon valuation model, we estimate the volatility of our commen stock at the date of grant
based on the historical vofatility of sur common stock,

Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option valuation model on the implied yield
currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an eguivalent remaining term equal to the expected life of the award.

Expected Dividend Yield. We have not paid any cash dividends on our cornmon stock in more than ten years and we do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable futyre. Consequently, we use an expected dividend yield of zerc in the Black-Scholes option
valuation modal,

Expected Forfeitures. We use historical data to sstimate pre-vesting option forfeitures. We record share-based compensation only for
those awards that ara expected to vast,

The following weighted average assumptions were used for options granted:

Years Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Expected life {in years) 5.0 50 5.0
Expectad volatility 28.3% 26.1% 27.0%
Rish-free interast rate 3.3% 1.0% 0.4%
Expected forfeiture rata —% —% —%

Share-Based Award Activity

The following table sumrmarizas restricted stock unit and performance stock unit activity during the periods presented (shares in thousands):

Weighted

Average
Grant Date

Number of Fair Value

Shares per Share
Unvestad at December 31, 2021 600 $355.43
Granted 240 374.16
Conversion of Unvested Restricted Stock Awards — —_
Vested (246} 316.10
Forfeited (26) 392.35
Unvested at December 31, 2022 568 $376.07
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Options granted, exercised, forfeited and expired are summarized as follows:

Weightad Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Confractual Life  Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price {Years) Yalue

QOutstanding at December 31, 2021 1,620 206.06
Granted 90 345.05
Exercised (186) 141,54
Forfeited (13) 28250

Qutstanding at December 31, 2022 1511 $2721.38 5 $175,246

Exarcisable at December 31, 2022 1,249 $185.54 5 $167,620

We had unvested options to purchase approximately 267,000 shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $346.14 as of
December 31, 2022, and unvested options to purchase approximately 445,000 shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price
of $293.84 as of December 31, 2021.

Cther informaticn pertaining to aption activity was as follows during the twelve months ended December 31:

2022 2021 2020
Weighted average grant-date fair value of stack oplions granted $108.99 $ 11318 $ 98.59
Total intrinsic value of stock aptions exercised $43.160 $215,062 $292,394

Share-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes share-based cempensation expanse related to share-based awards which is recorded in the consolidated
statements of income:

Yoars Ended Decembar 31, 2022 2021 2020
Subscriptions, maintenance and professional services $ 27486 $ 23,705 $18,125
Sales and marketing expense 8,800 8,834 7,504
General and administrative expense 66,699 72,187 41,336
Totai share-based compensation expense 102,585 104,726 57,365
Total tax benefit (27,599) (63,456) (66,241)
Nat decrease in net income $ 75,385 $ 41,270 § 1,124

As of December 31, 2022, wa had $175.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost refated to unvested options and restricted stock
units, net of expected forfeitures, which is expected to be amortized over a weighted average amortization period of 2,7 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under our Employes Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP") participants may contribute up to 15% of thair annual compensation to purchase
common shares of Tyler. The purchase price of the shares is equaf to 85% of the closing price of Tyler shares on the last day of each
quartarly offering period. As of December 31, 2022, there were 576,000 shares available for future issuances under the ESPP from the
2.0 million shares previously approved by the stockhoiders.
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(13) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table detalls the reconciliation of basic earnings per share to diluted earnings per share:

Years Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2029

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share;

Net income $164,240 $161,458 $192,820
Denominator:

Weighted-average basic common shares outstanding 41,544 40,848 40,035
Assumed conversion of dilutive securities:

Stock awards 855 1,382 1,491
Convertinle Senior Notas — 14 —
Denominator for diluted earnings par share — Adjusted weighted-average shares 42,399 42,244 41,526
Earnings per common share:

Basic $ 395 $ 39 $ 487

Diluted § 387 $ 382 $ 469

Share-based awards representing the right to purchase common stock of 372,000 shares in 2022, 117,000 shares in 2021, and
132,000 shares in 2020, were nct included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because thelr inclusion would have had an
antidilutive effect.

We have used the if-converted method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of the Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 on our diluted
net incoime per share. Under the if-converted method, the Notes are assumed to be converted at the beginning of the perfod and the
resulting commen shares are included in the denominator of the diluted eamings per share calculation for the entire period being presented
and interest expense, net of tax, recorded in connection with the Convertibie Senior Notes is not added back to the numerator, only in
the periods in which such effect is dilutive. The approximately 1.2 million remaining resulting commen shares related to the Notes are
not included in the dilutive weighted-average common shares outstanding calculaticn for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022,
as their effect would be antidilutive given none of the conversion features have been triggerad. See Neote 6, “Debt,” for discussion on the
conversion features refated to the Convertible Senior Notes.

(14) LEASES

We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable
operating lease agreements with original maturities between one to 12 years. Some of thase leases include options to extend for up to six
years, We have no finance leases and no ralated party lease agreements as of December 31, 2022, Right-of-use lease assats and lease
liabilities for our operating leases are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. During 2022, we incurrad lease restructuring costs,
resulting In an additional $1.7 million of cperating lease costs.

The components of operating lease expense were as follows:

Years ended December 31,

Lease Costs 2022 2021 2020

Operating lease cost $14,743 $11,085 $ 8,524
Short-term tease cost 2,166 2,308 1,940
Variahig lsase cost 1,047 1,659 1,760
Net lease cost $17,956 $15,062 $10,224
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Supplemental information related to leases is as follows:

Years ended December 31,
Gther [nformation 2022 2021

Cash flows:
Cash paid amounts includad in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Dperating cash outflows from operating leases $13,562 $11,432
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations {non-cash):
Operating iaases $25,171 $20,140
Lease term and discount rate:
Weighted average remaining lzase term (years) 7 6
Weighted average discount rate 1L.57% 1.81%

As of December 31, 2022, maturities of lease liabiiities were as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount
2023 $11,054
2024 10,878
2025 8,942
2026 7,022
2027 5,843
Thereafter 17,876
Total lease payments 61,715
L.ess: Interest (2,930}
Present value of operating leasa liabilities $58,785

Rental Income from third parties

We own office buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plano, Texas; Tray, Michigan; Latham, New York; and
Moraine, Ohio. We lease space in some of these buildings to third-party tenants. The proparty we lease to others under operating leases
consists primarily of specific facilities where cne Lenant obtains substantially all of the economic benefit from the asset and has the right
to direct the use of the asset. These non-cancelable leases expire betwaen 2023 and 2027, and some have options to extend the lease for
up to 10 years. We determine if an arrangement is a lzase at inception. None of our leases allow the |essee to purchase the leased asset.

Rental income from third-party tenants was $1.7 million in 2022, $1.2 million in 2021, and $1.1 miliion in 2020. Rental income is
included in hardwarz and other revenue on the consclidated statements of income. Future minimum operating rental income based on
contractual agreements is as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount
2023 $ 1,881
2024 1,904
2025 1,363
2026 408
2027 131
Thereafter —
Total $ 5,687

As of December 31, 2022, we had no additional significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.
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(15) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majority of our employeas meeting minimum service requirements. Eligible employees can
centribute up to 30% of thelr current compensation to the plan subject to certain statutery limitations. We contribute up to @ maximum
of 3% of an employee’s compensation to the plan. We made contributions te the plan and charged operating results $17.5 million in
2022, $15.6 million in 2021, and $12.7 million in 2020.

(16) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

During the first guarter 2022, the Company received a notice of termination for convenience for professional services under a contractual
arrangement with a state client. Upon receipt of the termination nctice, we ceased performing services under the contractual arrangement
and sought payment of contractuzlly owed fees of approximately $15 million in connection with the terminaticn for convenience, As of
December 31, the total exposure in our financial statements includad the remaining balance of net billad accaunts receivable for licenses
and sarvices randered under the contract of approximately $12 million.

The client was unresponsive ta company outreach for several maoriths. On August 23, 2022, the Company filed a lawsuit to enforce our
rights and remedias under the applicable contractual arrangement. The client has not filed responsive pleadings and no other significant
activity has occurred in the lawsuit, Although we believe our products and services were delivered in accordance with the terms of
our contract and that we are entitled to payment in connection with the termination for convenience, at this time the matter remszins
unresolved. We are unable to estimate the probability of a favorable or unfavorable outcome with respect to the dispute or estimate the
amount of potential less, if any, related to this matter. We can pravide no assurances that we will not incur additional costs as We plrsue
our rights and remedies under the contract.

Purchase Commitments

We have contractual obligations for third-party technology used in our solutions and for other services we purchass as part of our normal
operations. in certain cases, these arrangements require a minimum annual purchase commitment by us. As of December 31, 2022, the
temaining aggregate minimum purchase commitment under these arrangements was approximately $264 million through 2028. Future
minimum payments related to purchase commitments based on contractual agreements is as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount
2023 $ 41,210
2024 41,862
2025 39,730
2026 42,681
2027 42734
Thereafter 56,245
Tatal $264,467
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(17) SEGMENT AND RELATED {NFORMATION

We provide integrated information managemant solutions and services for the public sector.

We provide our software systems and related professional services and appraisal services through seven business units, which focus on
the following products:

« financial management, education and planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

+ financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

= courts and justice anc public safety software solutions;

+ data and insights soiutions;

» appraisal and tax software soluticns, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services;
» develcpment platform solutions including case management and business process management; and

» digital government and payments solutions.

In accerdance with ASC 280-10, Sagment Reporting, we report our results in two reportable segments, The Enterprise Software (“ES")
reportable segment provides public sector entities with software systems and services to meet their information technology and autamation
needs for mission-critical “back-cffice” functions such as: financial management and education; planning, regulatory and maintenance;
courts and justice; public safety; data and insights; appraisal and tax software selutions; land and vital records management software
solutions; and property eppraisal services. The Platform Technologies (“PT") reportable segment provides public sector entities with
software solutions to perfarm fransaction processing, streamiine data processing, and improve operations and workflows such as digitai
government and paymeants solutions and davelopment platform solutions.

We evatuate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment operating income. We
define segment operating income for our business units as income before non-cash amortization of intangible assets associatad with
their acquisitions, interest expense, and income taxes. Segment cperating income includes intercompany transactions. The majority
of intercompany transactions relate to contracts involving more than one unit and are valued based on the contractual arrangement.
Corporate segment operating loss primarily consists of compensation costs for the executive management team, certain shared services
staff, and share-based compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment operating income also includes revenues and
expenses related to a company-wide user conferance, The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described
in Note 1, "Summary of Significant Accounting Palicies.”

As of January 1, 2022, the appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property
appraisal setvice business unit, which was previously reported in the Appraisal & Tax ("A&T”) reportable segment, was moved to the £S
reportable segment. The digital government and payments solutions, which was previously reported in the NIC reportable segment, and
development platform solutions moved to the PT reportable segment to reflect changes in the way in which management makes operating
decisions, allocates resources, and manages the growth and profitability of the Company. As a result of the changes in our reportable
segments, the former A&T and NIC reportable segments are no longer considered separate segments. Prior periods amounts for the ES and
PT reportable segments have been adjusted to reflect the segment change.

Segment assets primarily consist of net accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets and net praperty and eguipment,
and software development cests, Corporate assets primarily consist of cash and investments, prepaid insurance, intangibles associated
with acquisitions, deferred income taxes and net property and equipment mainly related to unallocated information and technology assets.

The ES segment capital expenditures included $3.6 miltion in 2022 and $12.8 million in 2021 for the expansion of existing buildings
and purchases of buildings. The PT segment had $863,000 capital expenditures in 2022 and had no capital expenditures in 2021 for
the expansion of existing buildings.
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Enterprise Platform
For the year ended December 31, 2022 Software Technologies Corporate Totals
Subscriptions $ 526,323 $485,881 $ — $1,012,304
Maintsnance 444 143 24,312 — 468,455
Professional services 170,462 72,655 — 243,117
Software licenses and royalties 55,158 4,248 — 59,406
Appraisal services 34,508 — — 34,508
Hardware and ather 26,582 — 5,822 32414
Intercompany 21,538 — (21,636) —
Total revenues $1,278,822 $587,186 $ (15814) $1,850,204
Depreciation and amortization expense 55,389 84,609 14,074 158,072
Segment operating income 418,776 123,291 (214,263 327,804
Software development expenditures 3,790 14,581 9,251 27,622
Capital expenditures 8,972 5,845 5,712 22,52%
Segment assets $ 636,377 $362 610 $3,688,430 $4,687,417

Entarprise Platform
For the year ended December 31, 2021 Software Technologies Corporate Totals
Revenues
Subscriptions $ 425078 $359,357 $ - $ 784,435
Maintenance 439,588 34,698 — 474,287
Professional services 185,396 43,995 — 209,391
Software licenses and royalties 66,816 7,636 — 74,452
Appraisal services 27,788 — = 27,788
Hardware and other 18,876 3 3,027 21,934
Intercampany 22,033 -— (22,033) —_
Total revenues $1,165578 $445,717 $ (19,008) $1,592,287
Depreciation and amortization expense 54,011 55,539 25,074 135,624
Segment operating income 401,382 92,582 (222,779 271,185
Softwara development expanditures 3,504 12,332 5,857 21,693
Capital expenditures 19,213 3,696 11,010 33,919
Segment assets $ 601,390 $359,919 $3,770,852 $4,732,161

Enterprise Platform
For the year ended December 31, 2020 Saftware Technologies Corporate Totals
Revenues
Subscriptions § 335842 $ 10,804 $ — $ 350,648
Maintenance 427813 36,700 — 467,513
Professional services 165,022 21,387 — 186,409
Sottware licenses and royaltiss 67,979 5,185 — 13,164
Appraisal services 21,127 — — 21,127
Hardware and other 17,755 38 11 17,802
Intercompany 19,131 — (19,131) —
Total revenias $1,058,669 $ 77,114 $ (19,120 $1,118,663
Depreciation and amortization expense 52,715 15,717 13,225 81,657
Sepment operating income 355,679 15,569 (144,698) 226,550
Software development expenditures — 5,776 — 5,776
Capital expenditures 14,248 §52 1,792 22,890
Segment assets $ 561324 $ 57420 $1,988,530 $2,807,274
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Years Ended December 31,

Reconciliation of reportahle segment cperating income to the Compa ny’s consolit ated totals: 2022 2021 2020

Total segment operating income $327,804 $271,185 $225 550
Amartization of acquired software (67,192) {45,601 (31,962)
Amortization of other intangibles (81,363) {44,849} (21,662)
Interest expense {28,379) {23,298) (1,013)
QOther income, net 1,723 1,544 3129
Incoma before incame taxes $187,593 $158,981 $175,042

{18} DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

The tables below show disaggregation of revenue into categories that reflect how econemic factors affect the nature, amount, timing, and
uncertainty of revenues and cash flows,

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Timing of revenue recognition by revenue category during the period is as follows:

Products and Products and
services services
transferred at a transferred
For the year ended December 31, 2022 point in time over time Total
Revenues:
Subscriptions FJ— $1,012,304 $1,012,304
Maintenance — 468,455 168,455
Professional services o 243,117 243,117
Software licenses and royalties 50,302 9,104 59,406
Appraisal services — 34,508 34,508
Hardware and other 32,414 — 32414
Total $82.716 $1,767,488 $1,850,204
Preducts and Products and
SBrvices services
transferrad at a transferred
For the year ended December 31, 2021 point in time over time Total
Revenues:
Subscriptions 5 — $ 784,435 $ 784,435
Maintenance — 474,287 474,287
Professional services ‘ — 209,391 209,391
Software licenses and royalties 62,847 11,605 74,452
Appraisal services — 27,788 27,788
Hardware and other 21,934 — 21,934
Total $84,781 $1,507 506 $1,592,287
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Products and Products and
Services services
transferred at & transferred
For the year ended December 31, 2020 paint in time over time Total
Revenues:
Subscriptions i — $ 350,648 $ 350,548
Maintenance — 457,513 467,513
Protessional services — 186,409 186,408
Software licenses and royalties 62,029 11,135 73,164
Appraisal services — 21,127 21,127
Hardwara and other , 17,802 — 17,802
Total $79,831 $1,036,832 $1,116,663

Recurring Revenues

The majotity of our revenue is comprised of revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider to be recurring revenues.
Subscriptions revenue primarily consists of revenues derived from our SaaS arrangements and transaction-based fees, which relate to
digital government services, e-filing transactions, and payment processing. Total subscriptions revenue derived from transaction-based
fees included in total recurring revenues was $600.8 million, $454.8 millian, and $91.0 millicn, respectively, for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. The contract terms for subscription arrangements range from one to 10 years
but are typicaily contracted for initial periods of three to five years. Virtually all of our on-premises software clients contract with us for
maintenance and support, which provides us with a significant soutce of recurring revenues, That maintenance and support is generally
provided under annual, or in some cases, multi-year contracts. We consider all other revenue categories to be non-recurring revenues.

Recurring revenuas and non-recurring revenues recognized during the period are as follows:

Enterprise Platform
For the year ended December 31, 2022 Software Technologies Corparate Totals
Recurring revenues $ 970,488 $510,293 8 — $1,480,759
Nonr-recurring revenues 286,720 75,903 5,822 369,445
Intercompany 21,636 — (21,636) —
Total revenues $1,278,822 $587,196 $(15,814) $1,850,204
Enterprise Platform
For the year anded December 31, 2021 Software Technologles Corporate Totals
Recurring revenues $ 864667 $394,085 5 — $1,258,722
Mon-recurring revenues 278,876 51,662 3,027 333,565
Intercompany 22,033 — (22,033 —
Total revenuas $1,165,578 $445,717 $(19,006) $1,592 287
Enterprise Platform
For the year ended December 31, 2020 Software Technologies Corporate Totals
Recurring revenusas $ 767,655 $ 50,506 5 — $ 818,141
Non-recurring ravenues 271,883 26,608 11 298,502
Intarcampany 19,131 — (19,131} —
Total revenues $1,058,669 $ 77014 $(18,120) $1,116,663
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(19) DEFERRED REVENUE AND PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

Total deferred revenue, including leng-term, by segment is as follows:

December 31, 2022 2021

Enterprise Software $533,902 $479,048
Platform Technologies ) 33,691 29,705
Cornorate 2,982 1,814
Totals 8570,575 $510,567

Changes in total deferred revenue, including long-term, were as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount
Balance at baginning of year $ 510,587
Defarral of revenue 1,267,937
Recagnition of deferred revenue (1,207,929
Balance at end of year $ 570,575

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations -

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not
yet been recognized (“backlog”), which includes deferred revanue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future
pericds. Backlog as of December 31, 2022, was $1.89 billion, of which we expect ta recognize approximately 47% &s revenue over the
next 12 months and the remainder theraafter.

(20) DEFERRED COMMISSIONS

Sales commissions earnad by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining & contract with a customer. Sales
commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then amortized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over a period
of benefit that we have determined to be generally three to seven years. Deferred commissions were $43.8 million and $38.1 million
as of Decemper 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Amortization expense was $15.4 million, $13.4 million, and $11.9 million for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively, There were no indicators of impairment in relation to the costs
capitalized for the periods presented. Defarred commissions have been included with prepaid expenses for the currant portien and non-
current other assets for the long-term portion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization expense related to deferred
commissions is included in sales and marketing expense in tha accompanying consolidated statemants of income.

(21) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no material events or transactions that sccurred subseguent to December 31, 2022.
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Performance Graph
The fallowing Performance Graph and related information shail not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities

and Exchange Cemmission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933
or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except fo the extant that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The following table compares total shareholder returns for Tyler over the last five years to the Standard and Pocr's 500 Stock Index and
the Standard and Poor's 600 Information Technology Index assuming a $100 investment made on December 31, 2017. Each of the
three measures of cumulative total return assumes reinvestment of dividends. The stock performance shown on the graph below is not
necessarily indicative of future price performance,

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN
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COUNTY OF NASSAU

CONSULTANT’S, CONTRACTOR’S AND VENDOR'S DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name of the Entity: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Address: 5101 Tennyson Pkwy

City: Plano State/Province/Tertitory: TX Zip/Postal Code: 75024
Country: us

2. Entity’s Vendor Identification Number: 75-2303920

3. Type of Business: Public Corp {specify)

4. List names and addresses of all principals; that is, all individuals serving on the Board of Directors or comparable body, all
partners and limited partners, all corporate officers, all parties of Joint Ventures, and all members and officers of limited
liability companies {attach additional sheets if hecessary):

1 File{s) uploaded: Board of Directors and Corporate Officers February 2024.docx

5. List names and addresses of all shareholders, members, or partners of the firm. If the shareholder is not an individual, list

the individual shareholders/partners/members. If 3 Publicly held Corporation, include a copy of the 10K in lieu of completing
this section,
If none, explain.

]

2 File(s) uploaded: Form 10K 022124.pdf, Form 10K 022124.pdf

6. List all affiliated and related companies and their relationship to the firm entered on line 1. above {if none, enter “None”), Attach
a separate disclosure farm far each affiliated or subsidiary company that may take part in the performance of this contract. Such
disclosure shall be updated to include affiliated or subsidiary companies not previously disclosed that participate in the
performance of the contract.

Performance will be through Tyler Technologies, Inc. Tyler Technologies, Inc. has the following wholly owned subsidiaries:
. Tyler Technologies AT Services, LLC

* Tyler Appraisal & Tax Services, ULC

. Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD
. Socrata UK Limited

. Tyler Federal, LLC
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U Harris Custom Programming, LLC

. MicroPact Philippines, Inc.
. Cavu Corporation

. NIC Inc.

. NICUSA, Inc.

. VendEngine Inc.

7. List all lobbyists whose services were utilized at any stage in this matter {i.e., pre-bid, bid, post-bid, etc.). If none, enter “None.”
The term “lobbylist” means any and every person or organization retained, employed or desighated by any client to influence - or
promote a matter before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads, legislators or committees,
including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee and Planning Commission. Such matters include, but are
not limited to, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation, procurements.
The term “lobbyist” does not include any officer, director, trustee, employee, counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of
New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

Are there lobbyists involved in this matter?
YES [ ] NO [X]

(a) Name, title, business address and telephone number of lobbyist(s):

(b) Describe lobbying activity of each lobbyist. See below for a complete description of lobbying activities,

(c) List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New York
State):

|

8. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a signatory of the
firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.

The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they are, to his/her
knowledge, true and accurate.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Rob Kennedy-Jensen [ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated: 03/04/2024 09:32:19 am

Title: Group General Counsel
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The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County Legislature, or any
member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local legislation or resolution; any
determination by the County Executive to support, Oppose, approve or disapprove any local legislation or resolution, whether or
not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any determination by an elected County official or an officer
or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of goods, services or construction, including the preparation of
contract specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or
administration of a contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving
the disbursement of public monies; any determination made by the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of
Nassau, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and
Parks Advisory Committee, the Planning Com mission, with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real
property subject to County regulation, or any agencies, hoards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to
requests for proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an elected
county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition by the county of
any interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the county, or with respect
to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency of any rule
having the force and effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding before an agency; the
agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature
oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by
an elected county official or an officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or
regulation, including any determination made to suppart or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation,
rule or regulation, whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has
been formaily proposed.
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PART [

ITEM I. BUSINESS.
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Tyler Technologies, Inc. (“Tyler™) is a major provider of integraled information management solutions and services for the public seclor. We pariner with clients to make government more accessibls to
the public, more responsive to the needs of citizens and more efficient in its operations. We have a broad line of software solutions and services to address the informztion technology {“IT"} necds of
magor areas of operations for cities, counties, schools and other government entities, We offer clients delivery of our soltware applications through software as a service {“5aaS™) and on-premisc
solutions. In recent years, substantialiy all of the Tyler's products are sold through subscriplions delivered as SanS. We provide professional [T services to our clients, including soRware and hardware
installation, data conversion, training and, at times, product modifications. [n addition, we are the nation’s largest provider of outsoutced property appraisal services for taxing jurisdictions. We also
provide continuing client support services to ensure product performance and reliability, which provides us with long-term client relationships and a significant base of recurring maintenance revenue,
We provide digital gavernment services and payment solutions, In addition, we pravide electronic document filing {“e~filing”) solutions, which simplify the filing and management of court documents.

MARKET OVERVIEW

The state and local government market is one of the largest and most decentralized IT markets in the country, consisting of all 50 states, approximately 3,000 counties, 36,000 cities and towns and
12,900 school districts, This market is also comprised of approximately 38,000 special districts and other agencies, each with speciaiized delegated responsibilities and unique information management
requircments.

Traditionally, local government bodies and agencies performed state-mandated duti es, including property assessment, record keeping, road maintenance, law enforcement, administration of election
and judicial Munctions, and the provision of welfare assistance, Today, 2 host of emerging and urgent issues are confronti ng lacal governments, each of which demands a sarvice response. These areas
include criminal justice and corrections, administration and finance, public safety, health and human services, planning, regulatory and maintenance and records and document management. Transfers
of responsibility from the federal and state governments to county and municipal governments and agencics in these and other arcas also place additional service and financial requirements on these
local government units. In addition, constituents of local gavernments are increasingly demanding improved service and betier aceess (o information from public entities. As a resull, local governments
recognize the increasing value of information management systems and services to, among other things, imprave revenue collection, provide increased access to information, and streamtine delivery of
services to their constituents, Local government bodies are now recognizing that “c-government” is an additional respansibility for commiunity development. From integrated tax systems to intcgrated
civil and criminal justice information systems, many counties and cities have benefited significantly from the implementalion of jurisdiction-wide systems that allow different agencies or government
affices to share data and provide o more comprehensive approach to information management. Many city and county governmental agencies also have unique individual information management
requirements, which must be tailored to the specific functions of each particular office.

Many local governments also have difficultics attracting and retaining the staff necessary i support theit IT functions. As a result, they seek to establish long-term relationships with reliable providers
of high quality IT products and services such as Tyler.

Although loca! governments often face budgetary constraints in their operations, their primary revenue sources are usyally property taxes, and o a lesser extent, utility billings and other fees, which
histerically tend te be relatively stable. Tn addition, the acquisition of new lechnology typically enables local governments to operate mare efficiently, more securely, and often provides a measurable
return on investment that justifies the purchase of sefiware and related services.

Gartnes, Inc., a leading information technology research and advisory company, estimates that state and local government application and vertical specific software spending will grow from 527.8
billion in 2023 to $40.0 billion in 2026. The professional services and suppart segments of the market are expected to expand from $33.5 billion in 2023 to 541.9 billion in 2026, Application and
vertical specific software sales in the primary and secondary education segments of the market is expected to expand from 55 .4 billion in 2023 to $6.6 billion in 2026 while professional setvices and
support are expected to grow fram $5.1 billion in 2023 to $6.1 hiltion in 2026, Far the national and international government markets, application and vertical specific software sales is expected to
expand from $42.2 billion in 2023 to $61.5 billion in 2026 while professional services and suppart are expected ta grow fram $63.6 billion, in 2023 to $82.1 billion in 2026,




PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We provide a comprehensive and flexible suite of products and services that addresses the information technology nceds ef cities, counties; states, schools, federal apencies, and other government
crlitics.

We design, develop, market and support a broad runge of sollware solutions Lo serve mission-crilical *back-o[fice” functions of the public sector. Many of our sofiware applications include Iniernet-
accessible solutions that allow for real-time public access to a variety of information or that allow the public to transact business with governments online. Our software solutions and services are
provided through seven business units, which focus on the following products:

+  financial management, cducation and planning, regulatery, and maintenance software salutions;

+  (linancial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatary, and mainienance soflware solutions:

«  courts and justice and public safety seftware solutions,

«  data and insights solutions;

¢ appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services;
*  development platform solutions including case management and business process management; and

»  digital government and payments solutions.

Each of our core software solutions consists of several fully integrated applications. For clients who acquire software for use on premises, we genetally {icense our solutions under standard perpetual
license agreements that pravide the client with a fully paid, nonexclusive, nontransferable right to use the soflware. In some of the product areas, such as financial management and education and
property appraisal and tax, we offer multipte solutions designed to meet the needs of different sized governments.

We also offer Saa8 artangements for clients who do not wish to maintain, update and operate these systems or to make up-front capital expenditures to implement these advanced technologies. For
these clients, the software and client data are hosted at our data centers or at third~party locations, and clients typically sign multi-year contracts for these subscription-based services.

A description of our suites of products and services follows;
Financial Management and Education

Qur financial management and education solutions are enterprise resource planning systems for the public secior, which integrate information across al! facets of a client organization, Our financial
management solutions include modular fund accounting systems that can be tailored to meet the needs of virtually any government agency or not-for-profit entity. Our financial management systems
include modules for general ledger, budget preparation, fixed assets, requisitions, purchase orders, bid management, accounts payable, contract management, accounts recsivable, investment
management, inventory control, project and grant accounting, work orders, job costing, GASB reporting, payroll and uman resources. All of our financial management systetns are intended to
conlorm to government auditing and financial reporting requirements and generaily accepted acceunting principles.

We sell ntility billing systems that support the billing and collection of metered and non-matered services, along with multiple billing cycles. Our Web-enabled utility billing solutions allow clients to
access information online such as average consumption and transaction history. In addition, our systems can aceept seoured Tniernet payments via credit cards and checks.

We also offer specialized products that automate numerous city and county functions, including municipal courts, parking tickets, equipment and groject costing, animal licenses, business licenses,
permits and inspections, code enforcement, citizen complaint tracking, ambulance billing, fleet maintenance, and cemetery records management.

In addition to providing financial management systems to K-12 schools, we sell student information systems for K12 schools, which manage such activities as scheduling, grades and attendance, We
also offer stndent (ransportation solutions to manage school bus routing optimization, flect management, field trips and other related functions.

Tyler’s tinancial management and education solutiens include Web components that enhance governments’ service capabilitics by facilitating online access (o information for both empioyees and
citizens and enabling online transactions,

Courts and Justice

We offer 2 complete, fully integrated suite of judicial solutions designed to handle complex, mult-jurisdictional county or statewidz implementations as well as single county systems. Our solutions
help climinate duplicate data entry, promote more effective business procedures, and improve efficiency across the entire justice process.




Our unified court case management system is designed to autemate the tracking and management of information involved in all case types. including criminal, traftic, civil, family, probate and juvenile
courts. It alse tracks the status of cascs, processes fines and fecs and generales the specialized judgment and sentencing decuments, notices and forms required in the court process. Documents received
by the court can be scatined inte the electrottic case file and casily retrieved for viewing, Documents generated by the court can be electronically signed and automatically atlached to the electronic case
tile. Additional modules automate the management of court calendars, coordinate judges' schedules and generate court dockets. Our targeted courtroom technologies allow courts to rapidly review
calendars, cases and view documents in the courtroom. Courts may also take advantage of our related jury management system. We also offer a solution far online dispute resolution thal aulomates the
flew and resolution of common and historically time-consuming disputes including debe, landlord, tenant, smali claims, child custody and other case types.

Our court and law enforcement systems allow the public to access, via the Internet, a variety of infoermation, including non-confidential eriminal and civil court records, jail booking and release
information, bond and bondsmen information, and court calendars and dockels. Tn addition, our systers allow cities and counties to accept payments for traffic and parking tickets over the Internet,
with a seamless and automatic interface to back-office justice and financial systems.

Our prosecutor syslem enables state attorney offices o track and manage eriminal cases, including detailed viclim information and privale case notes. Invesligative reports and charging instrument
documents can be generated and stored for later viewing, Prosecutors ¢an sehedule and record the outcome of grand jury hearings. When integrated with the court system, prosecuters can view the
electronic case tile and related documents, as well as manage witness lists and subpoenas needed for courl hearings.

Our supervision system allows pre-trial and probation offices to manage offender caseloads. Supcrvision offfcers can track contact schedules, risk/needs assessments and reassessments, detailed drug
lest results, employment histories, compliznce with conditions and payments of (ees and restituiion. Decuments and forms, like pre-sentence investigations or revocalion orders, can be generaled and
stored for easy viewing, When integrated with the jail and court systems, supervision officers obtain easy access and quick notification of offenders that have court hearings scheduled, are arrested
locally, and have new warrants issued.

We also offer a court case management solution that automates and tracks all aspects of municipal courts and offices. [t is a fully integrated, graphical application that provides effective case
management, document processing and cash/bond managemenl. This systein complies with all state reporting and conviclion reporls and includes electronic reporting and also integrates with certain of
our financial management solutions and public safety solutions.

Also our product selutions pravide a suite of financial and communications applications ranging from depesit technologies for commissary, ordering, and warehouse technology to a host of
informational, electronic communications, sscurity, accounting, and financial trust management components for correctional facilities.

Public Safety

Our public safety software is a fully unified and comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911 / computer aided dispatch (“CAD™), records management, mobile
computing, corrections management, Web-based information sharing and decision support. The modules are fully integrated, utilizing a conmon database and providing full Fanctionality between
modules, reducing data entry. The software provides fast, efficient dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actiohable information from an agency’s database.

Our 911 / CAD sclutions previde real-time, eritical response dispatch functions in either single- or multi-jurisdictional environments. When integrated with our records management software, a vital
link exists between dispatch and the most comprehensive records database available, Within seconds, the dispatch operator and the otticer in the field can access critical information, such as prior
incidents and outstanding warrants, increasing officer knowledge and safety. The solutions offer strong geographic information systems integration to help dispatchers guickly locale and send the bess
response during an emergency. Qur 911/ CAD selutions dramatically improve performance, response time and unit safety,

Our records management solutions for law enforcement and fire track statistical, operational, investigative and management data for inquiry and reporting, The systems create an efficient case
processing workflow and help solve crimes with an accessible database that maintains ceniral files on people, places, property, vehicles and criminal activity. Our public safety records managemeng
solutions enable easy access to information and simplify reporting,

Our mobile computing solutions far [aw cnforcement and tire provide instant access i local, state, regional and federa! databases via mobile devices. Officers and firefighters can experience the
bencfits of obtaining critical, real-time information in the ficld, while saving time by preparing reports directly in their vehicles,




Our jail management systems document and manage information that meets the requirements of a madern jail facility. This includes the bhooking and housing of persons in custody, supervising
defendants on a pre-trial release, maintaining offenders sentenced to loca! incarceration and billing other agencies for housing inmates. Searching, reporting and Iracking features are integrated,
allowing reliable, up-lo-date access to current arrest and incarceration datn, including digital mug shots. Our systems also provide warrant checks lor visitars or book-ins, inmate classification and risk
assessment, commissary, preperly and medical processing, automation of statistics, and state and federal reporting,

Our civil pracessing solutions manage civil pracess needs from document receipt through service, payment process and final closzout. We also have a mobile clectronic citation solution through which
law enforcement officers can easily enter cilation information in a mobile device, which is autematically uploaded into the court or public safety records management systems, rather than hand-writing
citalions thal must be re-entered into the systems.

Property Appraisal and Tax

We provide systems and software that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property, including record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry and protest tracking, appraisal and tax rail
generatiny, tax statement processing, and electronic state-level reparting. These sysiems are image and videa-enabled to Facilitate the storage of and access to the many property-related documents and
for the online storage of digital photographs of properties for use in defending values in protest situations. Other related tax applications are available for agencies that bill and collect taxes, including
cities, coumties, school tax offices, and special taxing and coltection agencies. These systems support billing, collections, lock box operations, mortgage company electronic payments, and various
reporting requirements.

Planning, Regulaiory and Maintenance

Our planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions are designed for public sector agencies such as community development, planning, building, code enforcement, tax and revenues, public
worles, lransporlation, land control, environmental, fire safely, storm waler management, regulatory controls and engineering. These salulions help public sector agencies beller manage their day-lo-day
business functions while streamlining and automaling the many aspects of their land management, parmitting and planning systems. Our mobile selutions extend automation to the field and Web
access brings online services to citizens 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.

Land and Vital Records Manageinent

We also offer a number of speeialized sofiware applications designed to help local governments chhance and automate operations involving records and document management. These systeins record,
scan and index information [or the many documents maintained by local governments, such as deeds, morlgages, liens, UCC financing statements and vital records (birth, death and marriage

certificates}. These applications include fully integrated imaging systems with batch and scan processing capabilities and fully integrated receipting and cashiering systems, as well as Web-enabled
public access.

Our content management selutions allow state and local governments and school districts to capture, deliver, manage and archive clectronic information. These solutions sircamline the flow ol digital
information (hroughout the organization to increase efficiency by ransforming paper fonms and documents into electeonic images thal drive key business processes.

Data and Insights

Our data and insights solutions make existing government data discoverable, usable, and acticnable for government workers and the people they serve. The data and insights solution includes a data-as-
a~getvice platform and cloud applications for open data and citizen engagement, exclusively for city, county, state, and federal government organizations. Our datz and insights solutions allow
government to analyze, visualize, and securely share data acress mulliple departments and programs. These solutions deliver data-driven innovation and cost-savings by bringing together disparate
systems and leveraging the cloud to dramatically cnhance the effectiveness of government programs, to improve quality of life for residents, to positively impact local economies, and to achieve
excellence in government operations.

Plaiforin Technologies

We offer a low-code application development platform solution for case management and business process management, Whether based on premises or in the claud, its Data-First™ approach alfows
the application to be implemented immediately and configured continuously, enabling clients to get to work quickly while keeping costs low. Our low code application platform allows government
agencies the abilily to track, collaborate, and report on the data that drives activities forward.




Digital (Government Services

We deliver user-(riendly digital services that make it easier and more efficient for citizens and businesses Lo interact with government providing valuabie conveniences like applying for unemployment
insurance, submitting business filings, renewing licenses, accessing information and making secure payments without visiting & government office. Our digital government services unit designs, builds,
and operates digital government setvices en an enlerprise-wide basis on behalf of state and local governmenis desiring Lo provide aceess to government information and to complete secure
governmenl-based transactions through multiple digital channels. These digital gevernment services consist of websites and applications that allow consumers, such as businesses and citizens, w0
access government information, complete transactions and make electronic payments, We also provide payment processing services, software development and digital government services, other than
these services provided under state enterprise contracts, to federal agencies as well as state and local governtents,

Pi f SVEHUES

We derive our revenues from five primary sources:

«  Subscription-based services

*  Maintenance and support

= Professional services

*  Software licenses and rovalties
v Appraisal services

Subscription-Based Services

Subscriptions revenue primarily consists of revenues derived from our Saas arrangements. We are able to provide the majority of our software products through our SanS model. The clients who
chowse this model typically do not wish 1o maintain, update and operale these systems or make up-lront capital expenditures io implement these advanced technoiogies. The contracl terms for these
arranggments range from ene to ten years but are typically contracted for initial petiods of three to five years. The majority of our Saas or hosting arrangements include additional professional services
as well as maintenance and support services. In certain arrangerments, the client may also acquire a license to the software.

Other sources of subscriptions revenug are derived from transaction-hased faes primarily related to digital government services, online payment solutions, which are sometimes offered with the
assislance of third-party vendors, and online dispute resolution solutions. We also provide electronic document filing sofutions {“e-filing™) that simplily the filing and managermenl of court relaled
documents for courts and law offices. E-filing revenue is derived from transaction foes and fixed fee arrangements.

Maintenance gnd Support

Following the implementation of our software systems, we provide ongeing software support services to assist onr clients in operating the systems and (o periodically update the software. Support is
provided to clients over the phone ot via the Web through help desks staffed by aur client support representatives. For more complicated issues, our staff, with the clients' permission, can log on to
clients” systems remotely. We maintain our clients’ software largely through releases that contain improvements and incremental additions of features and Runctionality, along with updares necessary
because of legislative or regulatory chonges.

Virtuaily all of our software clients contract with us for maintenance and suppert, which provides us with 2 significant source of recurring revenue. We generally provide maintenance and support for
our on-premises clients under annual, or in some cases, multi<year contracts, with 2 typical fee based on g percentage of the software product’s license fee. These fees can generally be increased on
renewal and may also increase as new license fees increase, Maintenance and suppart fees are generaily paid annually in advance, Most maintenance contracts automatically renew unless the client or
Tyter gives notice of termination prior to expiration. Similar support is provided to our Saa$ clients and is included in their subscription fees, which are classified as subseription-based revenue.

Erofegsional ices

We provide a variety of professional services to clients who utilize our software products. Virtually 21! of our clients contract with us for installation, training, and data conversjon services in
conneciion with their implementation of Tyler's software sclutions, The complete implementation process for a typical system includes planning, design, data conversion, sef-up and testing. At the
culmination of the implementation process, & data implementation team is generally onsite at the client’s facility or available via remote video conferencing (o ensure the smooti go-live with the new
system. Implementation fees are charged separately to clients on either a fixed-fec or hourly charge basis, depending on the contract.




Both in conncction with the installation of new systems and on an angoeing basis, we provide extensive training services and programs related to our products and services. Training can be provided in
our training centers, onsite al clisnts” locations, at meetings and conferences, or remately, and can be customized to meer clients’ requirements, The vast majority of our clienfs contracl wilh us for
training services, both o improve their employees’ proficiency and productivity and to fully utilize the functionality of our systems. Lraining services are generally billed on an hourly or daily basis,
along with travel and other expenses.

Software [icenses gnd Royaltiss

Many of our soflware arrangements involve “off-the-shel [ software. We recognize the revenue allocable to “offvthesshel P software licenses and specified upprades al a point in time when control of
the soltware license transfers to the customer, unless the sofiware is not considered distinet. We consider "off-the~shelf" software to be distinct when it can be added to an arrangement with minor
changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpese upon installation, and remaining services such as training are not considered highly interdependent or
interrelated to the product's functionality

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customizalion of the software, or where professional services are otherwise not considered distinet, we recognize revenue over
time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of conitol to the customer which oceurs as we incur
cosls on our contracts, These arrangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates, Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated
using the progress-to~-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts ate recorded in the period in which we first deiermine that 2 lpss is apparent.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when access to the software license is made available to the customer and the remainder of
the fee due over a passage of ime stipulated by the contract. We record amounts that have been inveiced in ascounts receivable and in deferred revenue of revenues, depending on whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

We recognize royalty revenue when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arcangements. Currently, our thivd-paity royalties are recognized on an estimated basis and adjusted if
needed, when we receive notice of amounts we 2re entitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenue we are entitled to and billed on a guarterly basis in the quarter immediately
following the royalty reporting period and adjustments have not been significant,

Anntaisal Setvices
We are the nation’s largest provider of property appraisal cutsourcing services for local government taxing authorities. These services inciude:

+  The physical inspection of comimercial and residential properties
«  Data collection and processing

»  Sophisticated computer analyses for propertly valuation

v Preparation of tax rolls

»  Community education regarding the assessment process

+  Arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction

Local government taxing aulhorities normally reappraise properties from Lime Lo time lo update values lor tax assessment purposes and (o maintain equity in the taxing process. In some jurisdictions,
law mandates reassessment cycles; in others, they are discretionary. While some taxing jurisdictions perform reappraisals in-house, many local govermments outsource this fungtion becavse of its
cyclical nature and because of the specialized knowledge and expertise requirements associated with it. Our appraisal services business unit has operated in this business since 1938.

In some instances, we also provide property tax and / or appraisal software products in contiection with appraisal outsourcing projects, while other clients may only engage us to provide appraisal
services. Appraisal putsourcing services are somewhat seasonzl in naturc to the extent that winter weather conditions reduce the productivity of data collection activities in connection with those
projects.

STRATEGY
Our objective is to grow owr revenues and earnings organically, supplemented by focused strategic acquisitions. The key components of our business strategy are to;

+  Provide high quality, value—added products and services to our clients. We compete on the basis of, among other things, delivering to clients our deep domain expertise in government
opetations threugh the highest value products and services in the market. We believe we have achieved a repulation as a premium product and service provider to the government market.




Contipue to expand our product and serviee offerings, While we airendy have what we belicve (o be the broadest line of software products for local gavernments, we continually upgrade
our core software applications and expand our complementary product and service afferings to respond to technalogical advancements and the changing needs of aur clisnts. We regularly
add new products and services to our portfolio through internal product development as well as acquisitions, We believe that the addition of new features and applications enhances the
market appeai of our core products. We have also broadened our ollerings of consuling and business process reengineering services.

Agcelerate our move (9 the cloygd, We have offered mest of our core producls in both an on-premises license model and a cloud-based subscription mode! for several years and have seen a
steudy increase in the percentage of new soflware clients choosing our cloud model in recent years. Beginning in late 2019, we moved our approach Lo sales [rom “cloudeneyiral™ lo
“cloud-first,” with an inereasing preference o provide our solutions in the cioud. We are making significant invesumenis in optimizing our products to be deployed efficiently in the public
cloud and over a multi-year period are trangitioning from hosting clients in Tyler's proprietary data centers to utilizing Amazon Web Services (“AWS”) for cloud hosting,

Expand our client bage. We scek (o cstablish long-term relationships with new clicnis primarily through our sales and marketing cfforts. While we currently have clients in all 50 states,
Canada, the Caribbean, the United Kingdom, Australia, and other international lacations, some ol our solutions have not Tully achieved nationwide geographic penctration. We intend 1o
continue to expand into new geographic markets by adding sales staff and tarpeting marketing efforts by solutions in those areas. We also intend to continue to expand our customer base
to include larger jurisdictions. While our traditiona! market focus has primarily been on small and mid-sized gavernments, our increased size and market presence, together with the
technological advances and improved scalability of certain of our solutions, are allowing us fo achieve increasing suceess in selling to larger clients. We aiso expect to expand our
presence in international markets by leveraging our leadership position in the United States through the disciplined pursuit of selected apportunities in other couniries,

Expand our existing client relationshjps. Qur existing customer base offers significant oppoitunities tor additional sales of salutions and services that we currenily ofter, but that existing
clients do not fully utilize. Add~on sales to existing clients typically involve lower sales and marketing expense than sales to new clients. In particular, we believe that the acquisition of
NIC in April 2021 provides us with significant opportunities to sell Tyler software products into NIC’s client base and to provide NIC’s payment services to Tyler's client base.

Grow recurring revenues. We have a large recurring revenue base rom maintenance and suppart and subscription-based services, which generated reveaues of'$1.5 billion, or 80% of {otal
revenues, in 2022, We have historically experienced very low custemer turnover (approximately 2% annuaily) and recutring revenues continue to grow as the installed customer base
increases. Subscription-hased reverues have been our fastest growing revenue category aver the past five years, increasing from $220.5 million in 2018 to $1.0 billion in 2022, We
monitor Annualized Recurring Revenue {“ARR”), which is calculated based on quarter-to-date end total recurring revenues multiplied by four ARR was $1.50 billion and $1.39 billion as
of December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. ARR increased 8% compared to the prior period due to an increase in subseriptions revenue resulting from an ongoing shift toward Saa§
arrangements.

Maximjze economies of seale and take advantage of fingneial leyerage in our business, We seek to build and maintain a larger client base o create economies af scale, enabling us to
provide value-added products and services to our clients while expanding cur operating margins, In addition, we believe that we have & marketing and administrative infrasuucture in

place that can be leveraged to accommodate significant long-term growth without proportionatcly increasing sales and marketing and generai and administrative cxpenses.

Altract and refain highly qualified employges. We believe that the depth and quality of our menagement and staff is one of our significant sirengths, and that the ability te retain such
employees is crucial to our continued growth and success. We believe that our stabla management team, financial strength and growth opportunities, as well as our leadership position in
the public sector market, enhance our attractiveness as an employer for highly skilled empiayees.

Pursue strafegic acqisitions. We selectively pursue strategic acquisitions that provide us with one or more of the Tallowing:

e New products and services to complement our existing offerings
°  Entry into new markets refated (o the public sector
°  New clients and/or geographic expansion




*  Laiablish strategiz alliances. We have a strategic collaboration agreement with Amazon Web Services ("AWS") for cloud hosting services, which brings togcether Tyler, the nation's largest
sofiware company exclusively focused on the public sector, and AWS, (he broadest and deepest cloud platform. Specifically, the agreement with AWS provides the frameworls for
development, training and caliaboration in order to Support next-generation applications (hat have the scalability, resiliency, and seeurity AWS offers. AWS is assisting us in accelerating
innovation and the development of strategic initiatives. These initiatives will bring the most advanced cloud-native services to Tyler clients, improving the Aow of information and
providing a better exparience for staie, local, and federal governmenis,

SALES, MARKETING AND CLIENTS

We market our products and services primarily through direct sales and macketing personnel located throughout the United States, Other in-houze sales stalf tocus on add-on sales, professional services
and support, For certain products we also utilize o Fartner network for both sales and professional services, primarily in the state and federal markets.

Sales of new systems are lypically generated from referrals from ather government offices or departments within a county or municipality, referrals from othar local gavernments. relationships
established between sales representatives and coualy or local officials, contacts at trade shows, direct mailings, and direct contact rom praspects already familiar with us, We are active in numerous
national, state, county, and local government associations and participate it annual meetings, trade shows, and educational avenls,

Clients consist primerily of federal, siate, eounty and municipal agencies, school districts and other locai government slfices. In counties, clients include the auditor, treasurer, fax assessor/colleciar,
county clerk, district clerk, county and district court judges, probation officers, sheri ff, and county appraiser. At munieipal govemment sites, clients include direciors from various departments,
including administration, finance, utilities, public warks, eode enforcement, personnel, purchasing, taxation, municipal court and police. At the state and federal levels, clients include Chief
Information Officers and agency heads. Contracts for software preducts and services are generally implemented over periods of three months to one year, althongh some complex implementations may
span muitiple years, with aonually renewing maintenance and support update agreemeants thereafler, Although either the client or we can terminaie these agreements, histarically almost alt suppert and
maintenance agreements are automatically renewed annnally. During 2022, approximately 25% of our revenue was attributable ta ongoing support and maintenance agreements,

COMPETITION

We compete with numerous local, regional, and national firms that provide or ofter some or many of the same solutions and services that we provide, Many of these competitors are smaller companies
that may offer less expensive solutions than ours. Muny of these firms operate within a specific geographic area and / or in & narrow produst er service niche, We also compete with national firms,
sote of which have grenter financial and technical resources than we do, including Oracle Corporation, Infor, SAP AG, Workday, Inc,, CentralSquare Technologies, Thomson Reuters Corporation,
Motoraia Solutions, [nc., Axon Enterprise, Inc., and Constellation Software, Inc. Th addition, we sometimes compete with consulting and systems integration firms, which develop custom systems,
primarily for larger governments. We also occasi onally compete with central internal information service departments of governments, which requires us {o persuade the end-user department to
discontinue service by {ts own personnel and outsource the service o us.

We compete on a variety of factors, including price, service, name recognition, reputation, technological eapabilities, and the ability to modify existing praducts and services to acecommodate the
individual requirements of tie client. Qur ability to offer an integrated system of applications for several offices or departments is ofien a com petitive advantage. Governmental units often are required
to seek competitive proposals through a request for proposal process and some prospective olients use consultants to assist them with the proposal and vendor selection process,

SUFPLIERS

Substantially all of the compulers, peripherals, printers, scanners, operating system saliware, office autemation sollware, and other equipment necessary for the implementation and provision of gur
software systems and services are presently available from several third-party sources. Hardware is purchased on original equiptnent manufacturer or distributor terms at discounts from retail. We have
not expericnced any significait supply problenis.

BACKLOG

At Decermber 31, 2022, our revenue backiog was approximately $1.89 billion, compared to $1.80 billion at December 31 . 2021 The backlog generally represents signed contracts under which the
tevenue has not been recognized. Approximately S886 million, or 47%, af the bacilog is expected to be recognized during 2623




INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PROPRIETARY RIGHTS, ANT TICENSIES

Ve regard certain features of our internzal eperations, soltware, and decumentation as confidential and proprietary and rely on a combination of contractual restrictions, trade secret laws and other
measures to protect vur propriefary intellectual property. We generally du not rely on patents. We believe that, due to the rapid rate of technological change in the computer sofiware industry, trade
secreds and copyright protection are less significant than factors such as knowledge. ability and experience of our employees, (requent product snhancements, and timeliness and quality of support
services. We typically license our software products under non-exclusive license agreements, which are generally non-transferable and have a perpetual terin.

[TUMAN CAPITAL RESQURCES
Human Capited

Out experienced, collaborative team is one of the most significant contributors to our success in empawering the public sector to create smarter, safer, and sironger communities. Our effectivensss in
attracting and developing talented team members, many of whom spend the majority of their careers at Tyler serving our public sector clients, demonstrates owr commitment to providing & welcoming
and safe workplace, with a culture, benefits, and apperlunities for our team members to continnally grow and develop their careers within Tyler,

As of December 31, 2022, we had approximately 7,200 team members. Approximately 335 of these team members are located in Canada and the Philippines; the remainder work remotely in the U.S.
or are based in one of our nearly 80 U5, offices. No Tyler cmployces are represented by unions. We believe our efforts in managing and supporting our workforee are effective, as evidenced by current
levels of applicants, team member tenure, and high levels of engagement reported through continuous survey feedback from Tyler team members. Before we returned to office in January, the vast
majority of team members worked remotely. After the return, 39% of team members became either partially or fully office based.

Our team continues (o work collaboratively with and for our clients and partners across multiple work arrangements: fully office-based. fully remote and a blended approach of office-based and remote
wotk, which we refer to as flex-work. Regardless of where team members work, we do so together to develop for, sell to, implement and support our public sector clients,

Atthe end of 2023, Tyler’s U.S. workforce was 63% male and 37% female, and women represented 42% of Tyler's leadership. Our workforce was comprised as fellows: 71% White, 7% Asian, 4%
Hispanic or Latino, 5% Black or African American, and 13% Other. For aur leadership, the breakdown was 93% While, 5% Asian, 2% Hispanic or Latino, We define leadership as positions which are
ane or twe levels removed from our CEQ with management respongibility. Race and gender reporting are based on information provided by team members. Voluntary watkforee turnover (rolling 12-
month atrition) was 10% as of December 31, 2022, a deerease from 2021 turnover of 12.5%, The averapge tenure of our team members continues to be approximately seven years and approximately
27% of our employees have been emplayed by Tyler for more than ten years. The most frequent factor cited by team members leaving Tyler in 2022 was career opportunities with compensation also
cited as a factor. Job offer compensation levels for roles in the tech sector continued to increase in 2022 at levels we have not experienced in well over a decade.

Investments in Talent

We are committed to providing Tyler team members with career growth opperiunities and the trairing and resources necessary to continually stzengthen their skills. Our talent assessment and
development programs provide managers and employees with the rasources needed to achieve carcer goals, build management skills and lead their teams.

For example, in 2022:

» 974 Tyler team members participated in close to 11,000 hours of AWS cloud certification training. There were 352 AWS accreditations and 228 certifications completed, as we continue to
Invest in developing cloud skills across the Tyler workforce.

= Again this year, over 200 Tyler managers participated in our S-month Tyler Manager Development program which includes more than 50 hours of interaclive, experiential learning, focused on
developing skills managers need to lead a high performing team, plus multiple leadership assessments, including 360-degree feedback, and e dedicated mentor to support their development,
To date, 42% of our management leads have participated in the program,

«  Divigion Presidents and Corporate Function Excoutives conducted annual leadership assessment and talent reviews with their HR leaders and leadership teams to plan for succession and
identify development priorities within their leams.

« Qur Tylerl! anline training platform was utilized by over 8,100 team members who completed almazt 35,000 hours of Tyler-sponsared AWS, managemcent and compliance training lo support
centinuous learning, profeasional training and development.




Oversight and Management

Our Human Resources team is tasked with leading and supporting our organization in managing employment-reiated malters, including recruiting and hiring, onboarding and training, compensalion
planning, talent management and development. Our executive tezm is responsible for periodically reviewing team member programs and initiatives, including healthcare and other benefits, as well as
our management development and succession planning practices and our Diversity, Equity and Tnclusion (“DEI”) eftorts, Management periodically reports to the Board and its comimittees human
capital measurcs and results that guide how we attract, retain and develop a workforee to enable our business strategics.

Health & Safety

We invest in the well-being of Tyler leam members and their families. We provide a range of offerings in suppert of mental and emetional, financial, and physical health and welfness not only for our
team members, but also for the family members who depend on them. The prolonged stressers of the COVIT-19 pandemic continued in 2022, and we extended the new benefits introduced in 2020,
including enhanced mental health and telehealth benefits and full coverage for COVID illness and vaccinations.

Diversity and Inclusion

We believe that a diverse workforce is eritizal (o our suecess, and we continue to menitor and imprave the application of our hiring, relention, campensation and advancement processes for women and
underrepresented populations across our workforce, including our team members of caler, veterans and members of our LGBTQ community. Our networks of support, made up of local diversity,
equity, and inclusien committees and employee resources groups, serve to enhance our inclusive and diverse culture.

INTERNET WEBSITE AND AVAILABILITY OF PUBLIC FILINGS

We file annual, quarterly, current and other reparts, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act. You may
read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-732-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and other
information statements, and other information regarding issuers, including us, that file slectronically with the SEC. The address of this site is hitp:/fwww.sec_gov.

We also maintain a website at www tylertech.com. We make available free of charge through this site cur Arnual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Forms 4 and 5, Current
Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasanably practicable after we electronical by file such
material with, or furnish it to the SEC, Tn additien, copies of our annwal report will be made available, free of charge, upon written request.

Our “Code of Business Conduct and Ethies” is also available on our website. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements regarding amendmenis to, or waivers from, a provision of aur Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on our website.

ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS.

An investment in our comrmon slock itrtvolves a high degree of risk. Investors evalualing our company should carefully consider the laclors described below and all other information conlained in this
Annual Report. Any of the following factors could materially harm our business, operating restlts, and financial condition. Additional factors and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we
currently consider immaterial could also harm our business, operating resulis, and financial condition. This section should be read in conjunction with the Financiai Statements and related Notes and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this Annual Report, We may make forward-looking statements from time to time, both written and
oral, We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements. Qur actual results may differ materially from those projected in any such
forward-locking statements due to a number of factors, including those set forth below and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Risks Associated with Our Business, Including Our Softwaere Products
Cyber-atiacks and seomwrity vulnerabilities can disrupt ouwr busiiness and harm aur competitive position,

TFhreats to IT security can take a variely of forms. Individuals and groups of hackers, and sophisticated organizations including state-sponsored organizations, may teke stcps that pose threats (o our
clients and our I'T. They may, for example, develop and deploy tnalicious sotiware to atiack our products and services and/or gain access to our networks and data centers ot act in a coordinated manner
to launch digtributed denial of service or other coordinated attacks. Cyber thrcats are constantly evolving, thereby increasing the difficulty of detecting and successfully defending against them. Cyber
threats can have cascaditiy impacts that unfold with increasing speed acress our internal networks and systems and thosc of our partners and clients. Breaches of our network or data security could
disrupt the security of our internal systems and business applications, impair our ability to provide services to our




clients and protect the privacy of their data, result in product development delays, compromise conlidential or technical business information harming our campetitive position, resull in theft or misuse
of our intellectual property or other assets. require us to allocate more resources 1o improve technologies, or otherwise adversely affect our business. Our business policies and internal security controls
may not keep pace with these evolving thieats. Despite the network and application security, internal conirol measures, and physical securily procedures we eniploy to safeguard our systems, we may
still be vulnerable to a security breach, intrusion, or lass or theft of confidential client data, transaction data, or proprietary company information, which may harm our busingss, reputation and future
financial results. The lost revenue and centainment, remediation, investigalion, legal and other costs could be significant and may exceed our insurance policy limits or may not be covered by insurance
at all. Further, we may be subject to regulatory enforcement actions and litigation that could result in financial Judgments or the payment of settlement amounts and disputes with insurance carTiers
COTCEMINg coverage.

in September 2020, we [iled u Curreni Report on Form 8-K teporting a securily incident (the *Incidenl") invelving ransomware disrupting access to some of our internal IT systems and telephons
systems. We promptly notified our clients of the Incident and provided timely updates to our clients through direct communications and updates to our website. There is no evidence that the
environments where we host client applications were affected, and our hasting services to those clients were not interropted. There was alse no evidence of malicious achivity on client networks
agsociated with the Incident, We contained the Incident and recovered from it, resuming normal operations with our clients. We deplayed supplemental remediation efforts as necessary and cooperated
wilh law enforoement’s investigation,

Although we completed our investigation into the Incident and believe we contained and recovered from the Incident. we are subject Lo risk and uncertainties as a result of ihe Incident. There can be no
assurance as to what the ongoing impact of the Incident witl be, if any. We maintain cybersecurity insurance coverage in an amount that we believe is adequate.

Disclosure of personally identifiable information and-or other sensitive client data could result in Liabifity and harm owr repuialion.

Wie store and process increasingly large amounts of personally identifiable information and other confidential information of our clients. The contiued occurrence of high-profile data breaches
provides evidence of an external environment increasingly hostile to information security. Despite our efforts to improve security controls, it fs possible our security contrals over personal data, our
training of employees on data security, and other practices we follow may not prevent the improper disclosure of sensitive client data that we store and manage. Disclosure of personally identifiable
information and/or other sensitive client data could result in liability and harm our reputation,

We depend on third pariies with whom we engage or collaborale for certaim projects, deliverables, and-or financial transaction processes. If these pariies fail to satisfy their obligaiions to us or we are
unable to mainiain ihese refationshups, our operaling results und business prospects could be adversely affected.

To satisfy our obligations under client cantracts, we often engage third parties to provide certain deliverables or Fulfill certain requirements. We may also use third parties to ensure that our services and
solutions integrate with the software, systems, or infrastructure requirements of other vendors and service providers. Cur ability to serve our clients and deliver our solutions in a timely manner
depends on our ability to retain and maintain refationships with third-party vendors and service providets and the abulity of these third partics to meet their obligations in a timely manner, as well a3 on
our effective oversight of their performance. If any third party fails (o perform on a timely basis the agreed-upon services, our ability to Fulfill our ebligations may be jeopardized. Third-party
performance deficiencies could result in breaches of our obligations with respect to. or the termination for defauit of, one or more of our client contracts. A breach or termination for default could
expose us to ligbility for damages and have an adverse effect on our business prospects, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to compete for future contracts and
orders. A global cconomic slowdown, the COVID-19 pandemic, or similar circumstances could also adversely affect the businesses of aur third-party providers, hindering their ability to provide the
services on which we rely. Our agreements with third parties typically are non-exclusive and do not prohibit them from working with our competitors, If we are unsuccessful in establishing or
maintaining our relationships with these third parties, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenues could be impaired and our business, operating results or financial condition
cotld be adversely affected,

In addition, we may act as subcontractor [0 a third-party prime contractor to secure new projects. Subcontracting arrangements where we are not the prime contractor pose unique risks to us because we
may not have control over the customer relationship, and our ability to generate revenues under such subcontracts may depend on the prime contractor, its performance and relationship with the
customet, and its relationship with us. We could suffer losses in the event a prime cantract under which we serve as a subconitractor is terminated, whether for non-performance by the prime contractor
or otherwise. Upon a termination of the prime contract, our subcontract would similarly terminate, and the resulting contract loss could have an adverse effect on our business prospects, results of
operations, cash flows, and financial condition and our ability to compete for fulure contracts and orders.




We rely on third-party providers—incinding Amazon Web Services—for hosting services and other lechnology-reluted services needed to deliver certain of owr clowd solutions. Any disruption in the
services provided by such third-party providers could adversely affect our business and subject uy fo fiability:

A material portion of our business is provided through software hosling services, which are sometimes hosted from and use computing infrastructure provided by third purties, including Amazon Web
Services. These hosting services depend on the uninterrupted operalion ef data centers and the ability to protect computer equipment and information stored in these data centets against damage that
may be caused by natural disaster, fire, power loss, telecommunications or [nternet failure, acts of terrorism, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses, and other similar damaging events. [f any of our
data centers were 1o become inoperable for an extended peried, we might be unable to flfill our contractual commitments. Although we take what we believe to be reasonable precautions against such
occurrences, we can give no assurance that damaging events such as these will not result in a prolonged interruption of our services, which could result in client dissatisfaction, loss of revenues, and
damage Lo our business.

Third-party hosting service providers have no abligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Tf we are unable to renew these agreements on commercially
reasonable terms, we may be required to transition to a new provider and we may incur significant costs and possible service interruption in connection with doing so. In addition, such service
providers could decide to close their facilitics or change or suspend their service offerings without adequate notice to us. Moreover, any financial difficultics, such as bankruptcy. faced by such service
praviders may have negative effecls on our business, the nature and extent of which are difficuit to predict, Because we cannol easily switch third-party hosting service providers, any disruption with
respect Lo our current providers would impact our operations and our business could be adversely impacied. Problems lfaced by our hosting service providers could adversely affect the experience off

our customers, For example, Amazon Web Services has experienced significant service oulages in the past and may do so again in the future. Tn additien, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has
disrupted and may continue to disrupt the supply chain of hardware needed to maintain these third-party systems or 1o run our business.

Material portions of our business require the Internet infrastructure fo he refiabhle.

Part of our future success continues to depend on the use of the Tnternet as a means to access publie information and perform transactions electronically, including, for example, electronic filing of
court documents. This in part requires ongoing maintenance of the Internet infrastructure, especially to prevent interruptions in service, as wel! as additional development of that infiastructure. This
requires a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity, security, and timealy development of somplementary products for providing reliable Internet access and sarvices. Tf this
infrastruciure fails to be sufficiently developed or be adequately maintained, our business wonld be harmed because users may not be able to access our government portals

We employ third-party licensed software and sofiware components for use in or with owr solutions, and the inability 1o maintain these licenses or the presence of errors ar security vilnerabilities in the
software we ticense could timit the functionality of owr products and result in increased costs or reduced service levels, which would adversely rffect our business.

We ingorporate and include third-party software into and with certain of our products and solutions, We also use third-party software and tools in certnin areas of the development process for our
solutions. We anticipate that we will continue to rely on such third-party software and development tools in the future. In addition, there can be no assurance that these third parties will continue to
make their software or tools availabls to ug on acceptable terms, or at all, not make their products available to our competitors on more favorable terms, invest the appropriate levels of resources in
their products and services to maintain and enhance the capabilities of their software, or remain in business, Any impairment in our relationship with these third partics or our ability to license or
otherwise use their software or tools could have a materizal adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition. Although we believe that there are commercially
reasonable alternatives to the third-party software and tools we currently license, this may not always be the case, or they may be difficult, time-consuming, or costly to replace. In addition, although
we maintain a supplier seeurity evaluation process, it the third-party seftware or tools we use has or have errors, security vulnerabilities, or otherwise malfunctions, the functienality of our solutions
may be negatively impacted, owr customers may experience reduced service levels, and our business may suffer.




Certuin of our solutions wilize open sowrce safivware, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or mote af these npen sowrce licenses cowld acversely affect aur business.

Certain of our solutions include sofiware covered by open source licenses. The lerms of various epen source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S courts, and there is a risk that such licenses
could b construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our abiiity to market our solutions, Tt is possible under the terms of certain open souree licenses, if we combine
our proprietary software with apen source software in a certain manner, that we could be required to release the source code of cur proprielary software and make our proprietary soflware pvailable
under open source licenses. In the event that partions of gur proprictary sofiware are determined to be subject to an open saurce license, we could be required to publicly release the affected portions of
our source cade, re-engineer all or a portion of our solutions, or otherwise be limited in the licensing of our solutions, each of which could reduce or eliminate the value of sur solutions. In addition to
risks related to license requirements, use of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provige warranties or
controls on the origin of the sofiware. Many of the risks associated with the use ol open saurce soltware cannol be eliminated and could adversely affect our business.

Wet run the risk of errors or defects with new products or enbiameements lo exfsiing producis,

Our software products are complex and may contain errors or defects, especially when first intcaduced or when new versions or enhancements are released, Any such defects could result in a loss of
revenues or delay markel acceptance. Qur license agreements typically contain provisiens designed to Limi; our exposure to potential liability, However, it is possible we may not always successfully
negotiate such provisions in our client contracts or the limitation of liability provisions may not be effective due to existing or future federal, stale, or locai laws, ordinances, or judicial decisions.
Although we maintain errors and omissions and general liability insurance, and we try to structure contracts to limit liability, we cannot assure you that a successful claim could not be made or would
not have a material adverse effect on our fulure epetating results.

We must timely respond to techiological changes to be competitive.

The market for our products is characterized by technological change, evolving industry standards in soltware lechnology, changes in client requirements, and frequent new product introductions and
enhancements. The introduction of products embodying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards can render existing products obsolete and unmarketable, As a result, our future
success will depend, in part, upon cur ability t enhance existing products and develop and introducs new products that keep pace with technological developments, satisfy increasingly sophisticated
client requirements, and achieve market acceptance, We cannot assure you that we will successfully identify new product opportunities and develop and bring new products to market in a timely and
cost-elfective manner. The products, capabilities, or technelogies developed by others could also render our products or technologies obsolete ar noncompeiitive. Our business may be adversely
atfected if we are unable to develop or acquire new sofware products or develop enhancements to existing products on a timely and cost-effective basis, ar if such new products or enhancements do
not achieve market acceptance.

We may be unable io protect owr proprietary rights.

Many of our product and service offerings incorporate proprictary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectual property rights. We rely on a combination of contracts, copyrights, and
tracle secret laws to establish and protect our proprietary rights in our technology. We cannat be certain that we have taken all appropriate steps Lo deter misappropriation of eur intellectual property.
There has aiso been an apparent evolution in the legal standards and regulations courts and the 1.8, patent office may apply in favorably evaluating software patent rights We are not currently
involved in any material intellectual property litigation; however, we tay be a party to such litigation in the future to protect our proprietary information, trade seerets, know-how, and other intellectua)
property rights. We cannot assurc you that third partics will not assert infringement or misappropriation claims against us with respect to current or future products. Any claims or litigation, with or
without meril, could be time-consuming, costly, and a diversion Lo management. Any such claims and litigation could also cause product shipment delays or require us to enter into royally or Licensing
arrangements. Such royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may not be available on ferms acceptable to us, if at all. Therefore, litigation to defend and enforce our inteilectual property rights
could have a material adverse effect on our business, regardless of the final outcome of such litigation,

Clignts may elect to terminale our mamienance conlracts and ranage operations internally,

It is possible that our clients may elect to not renew maintenance contracts for our software, trying instead to maintain and operate the software themselves using their perpetual license rights
{excluding software applications that we provide ot a hosted or cloud basis). Alternatively, clients may elect to drop maintenance an certain modules that they ultimately decide not to use. This could
adversely affect our revenues and profits. Additionally, they may inadvertently aliow our intellectual property or other information o fall into the hands of third parties, including our competitors,
which could adversely affect our business,




Risks Assoclated with Selling Producis and Services into the Public Sector Marketpince
Selling prodhicts and services into the public sector poses unigue challenges.

We derive substantially all of our revenues from sales of software and serviees o state, counly, and ity povernments, other federal or municipal agencics, and other public enlitics. We expect that sales
to public sector clients will continue {o account for substantially all of our revenues in the [ulure. We face mmany risks and challenges associated wilh conlracling wilh govermmental entities, including:

+  Resource limitations caused by budgetary constraints, which may provide for a termination of executed contracts due to a lack of future funding

*  Long and complex sales cycles

* Contract payments al times being subjcct to achieving implementation milestones, and we may have ditfercnces with clienis as 1o whether milestones have been achicved
¢ Political resistance Lo the coneepl al contracting with third pariies io provide 1T solutions

*  Legislative changes affecting a local government's authority to contract with third parties

*  Varying bid pracedures and inlernal processes for bid acceptance

¢ Various ather political factors, including changes in governmental administrations and personrel

Each of these risks is outside our control. [T we fail (o adequately adapt to these risks and uncerlainties, our financial performance could be adversely affecled,
COVID-19 may adversely affect our fusiness and resulls of operations.

We expect that the continued global presence of COVID-16 may negatively impact our business and financial results in fiscal year 2023, As the virus continues to persist, increased infection rates
{generally or as the resuit of new strains of the virus) may result in governinent authorities returning to stricter measures to conlain the virus, including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, and
business [imilations and shutdowns. While we are unable to accurately predict the full impact that COVID-19 will continue to have on our results from operations, financial condition, liquidity and
cash flows due Lo numerous winceriainties, including the duration and severity of the pandemic and conlainment measures and associated compliance, the pandemic may negalively impact our revenues
and other financial results,

Because an increasing portion of our revenues are recurring, the effect of COVID-19 an our results of operatious may also not be futly reflected for some time. We may see some more immediate
impact on our business should there he new delays in government procurcment processes and uncertainty around public seetor budgets, or new delays in implementations caused by travel restrictions,
closed offices, or clients shifling facus to more pressing issues,

Appraisal and software implementations projects may be delayed it clients put projects on hold or slow projects by extending ga-iive dates. While we have the ability to deliver most of our
professional services remotely, some of our professional satvices, including appraisal assessments, are more effective when performed on-site, and certain clients may continue to insist on pn-site
services in any event. Tn addition, our delivery of some professional serviees requires the availability of clicat personnel, There may be a negative impact on our revenues if we are unabic to deliver
these services. Also, we expect sollware licenses and subscriplions revenues to be negatively attected il there are delays in procursment processes, Some clients could request changes to paymeni
terms, negatively impacting the timing of collectians of accounts receivables in future periods. For the twelve months ended Decensher 3 1, 2022, 80% of aur total revenues and earnings are relatively
predictable as a result of our subseription and maintenance revenue, which is recurring in nature; thus the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic may not be fully reflected in our results of operations and
overall [inancial performance until future periods,

We have historically evaluated goodwill For impairment annually as of October 1, or meore frequently if impairment indicators arose. Subsequent (o our annual goodwill impairment analysis, we
mouitor for any events or changes in circumstances, such as significant adverse changes in business climate or operating resuits, changes in management’s business strategy, an inability to successfully
introduce new products in the marketplace, an inability to suceessfully achieve internal forecasts or significant declines in our stock price, which may represent an indicator of impairment, The
occurrence of any of these events, which could be caused or impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, may require us to record future goodwill impairment charges.

A prolonged econemic slowdown could harm auwr operations,

A prolonged economic slowdawn or recession could reduce demand for our software products aud services. Governments may face financial pressures that could in turn affect our growth rate and
profitability in the future. There is no assurance that government spending levels will be unaffected by declining or stagnant general cconomic conditions, and if budget shortfalls ocour, they may
negatively impact government IT spending and could adversely atfect our business,
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The open bidding process creates wnceriainty in prediciing future contract awards.

Many governmental agencies purchase products and services through an open bidding process. Generally, a governmental entily will publish an established list of requitements requesting polential
vendors Lo prapose solutions for the established requirements. To respond successfully to these requests for proposals. we must accurately estimale our cost structure for servicing a proposed contracl
the time required 1o estavlish operations for the praposed client, and the likely terms of any other third-party proposals submitted. We caniot guarantee that we will win any bids in the future through
the request for proposal process, or that any winning bids will ultimately result in contracts on favorable lerms. Our failurc to scoure contracts through the open bidding process, or ta secure such
contracts on (avorable terms, toay adversely aflect our revenues and gross margins.

We face significant competition from other vendors and poitential new entrants iito our markets.

We believe we are a leading provider of integrated solutions for the public sector. However, we face competition from a variety of sofiware vendors that offer products and services similar to those
offered by vs, as well as from companies offering to develop custom seftware, We compete based on 2 number of factors, including:

+  The attractiveness of our “evergreen” business model

«  The breadth, depth, and quality of cur product and service cfferings

+  The ability to modify our offerings to accommodate particular clients’ needs
+  Technological innovation

+  Name recognition, reputation and references

« Price

»  Qur financial strength and stability

Our market is highly fragmentad with a large number of competitors that vary in size, product platform, and product scope, Qur competitors include consulting firms, publicly held companies that
focus on sclected segments of the public sector market, and a significant number of smallcr, privately held companies. Certain competitors have greater technical, marketing, and financial resources
than we do, We cannol assure you that such competitors will not develop preducts or offer services that are superior to our preducts or services or that achieve greater markel acooplance.

We also compete with internal, centralized 1T departments of governmental entities, which requires us to persuade the endsuser to stop the internal service and outsource ta us. In addition, our clients
and prospective clients could elect to provide information management setvices internally through new or existing departments, which could reduce the market for our services,

We could face additional competition as other established and emerging companies enter the public sector software market and new products and technologies are introduced. Increased competition
could result it pricing pressure, fewer client orders, reduced gross margins, and loss of market share, Cuzrent and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions ot establish cooperative
relationships among themselves or with third parties, thereby increasing the ability of their products to address the needs of our prospective clients. It is possible that new competiters or alliances may
emerge and rapidly gain significant market share. We eannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors, and the failure to do so would have a
matcrial adverse effect upon our business,

Fixed-price contracts may affect our profity,
Some of aur contracts are structured on a fixed=price basis, which can lead to various risks, including:

+ The failure to accurately estimate the resources and time required for an engagement
*  The failute to effectively manage our clients” expeciations regarding the scope of services delivered for a fixed fee
+  The failure to timely and satisfactorily complete fixed-price engagements within budget

Il we do not adequately assess and manage these and other risks, we may be subject to cost overruns and penalties, which may harm our financial performance.
Changes in the insurance markets may affect owr business.

Some of our clients, primarily those for our praperty appraisal services, require that we secure performance bonds before they wil! select us as their vendor. Tn addition, we have in the past been
required to provide letters of credit as securily (or the issuance of a performance bond. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to secure such performance bends in the future on terms that are
favorable ta us, if at all. Our inability to abtain performance bonds on favorable terms or at all could impact our future ability ta win some coniract awards, particutarly larpe property appraisal services
contracts, which could negatively impact revenues. In addition, the general insurance markets may expericnce volatility and/or restrictive coverage trends, which may lead (o fature increases in our
general and administrative expense and negatively impact our operating results.




Risks Related ta Qur Indebiedness

Servicing our indebiedness reguires o significont amount of cash, We ay not have sufficieni cash flow from aur business (o puy our indebiedness, and we may not otherwise have the ubility (o raise
the funds necessary io seitle for cash conversions of the Canvertible Senior Notes or 1o repurchuse the Cotvertible Sentor Notes upon a fundamenial change, or i repeay our indebtedness obligations
wnder our 2021 Credit Agreement, cach of which could aclversely affect our busmess and resulls of operations.

As of December 31, 2022, we had cutstanding an aggregate principal amount of $600 miilion of our Convertible Senior Notes and $395 million under our 2021 Credit Agreement. In April 2021, we
entered into the 2021 Credit Agreement with significantly inereased borrowing capacity of up to $1.4 billion and on the closing of the acquisition of NIC on April 21, 2021, we barrowed initial [oans in
the aggrepate principal amount of $1.15 billion. The 2021 Credit Agreement also has an option to increase the amount available up ta an additional $500 million subject 1o our leverage and other
factors, The proceeds from the issuance of our Convertible Senior Notes and from loans under the 2021 Credit Agreement were used as sources of funding for the acquisition of NIC. Our indebtedness
may increase our vuinerability to any generally adverse ecconomic and industry conditions, and we and our subsidiaries may, subjest to the limitations in the terms of our existing and luture
indebtedness, incur additional debt, secure existing or future debt or recapitalize our debt. If we incur additional indgbtedness, the risks related to our business would increase and our ability to service
or repay our indebtedness may be adversely impacted. '

Pursuant to their terms, holders may convert their Convertible Senicr Notes at their aption prior ta the scheduled maturities of their Convertible Senior Notes under certain eircumstances. Upon
conversion of the Converlibie Senior Notes, unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our common steck to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we
will be obligated to make cash payments. [n addition, holders of our Convertible Senior Nofes wiill have the right to require us to repurchase their Convertible Senior Notes upon the ocenrrence of a
tundamental change (as defined in the Indenture, dated as of March 9, 2021, between the Company and U.S. Bani National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee™) {the “Indenture™), at & repurchase
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of (he Convertible Senior Notes to be repurchased, plus acerued anc unpaid interest, i any. Although it is our intention, and we currently expect 1o have the
ability, to settle the Convertible Senior Nates in cash, there s a rigk (hat we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain finaneing at the time we are required to make repurchases of
Convertible Senior Notes surrendered or Convertible Senior Notes being converted. In addition, our ability to make payments may be limited by law, by regulatory authority, or by agreements
governing our future indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase Canvertible Senior Notes at 4 time when the repurchase is required by the Indenture or o pay any cash payable on future conversions of
the Convertible Senior Notes as required by the Indenture would constituta a default under the indenture. A default under the Indenture ot the fundamental change itself could also lead to a default
under agreements governing our other existing or future indebtedness, If the repayment of other indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice aor grace periods, we may nat have
sufficient funds to repay the other indebtedness and repurchase the Convertible Senior Notes or make cash payments upon conversions thereof

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal and interest on our indebtedness when due or to make payments upon conversian ar repurchase demands with respect to our Convertible Senjor
Notes, or ta refinance our indebtedness as we may need or desire, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive, and other factors beyond our conirol, Qur
business may not continue to generate cash flow from opetations in the future sufficient to satisfy our abligations under our existing indebtedness, and any future indebtedness we may incur, and fo
make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as reducing or defaying investments or capital
expenditures. selling assets, refinancing, or obtaining additional cquity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance existing or future indebtedness will depend on
the capital markels and our financial cendition at such lime, We may nol be ablz ie engage in any of these activilies or eogage in these aclivilies on desirable terms, which could result in a default on
our existing or future indebiedness and have a material adverse effect en our business, results of opetations, and financial condition.

Covenant restrictions under our indebledness may limit our ability to aperate our business and may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, and earnings per share.

The Indenture governing the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit A greement do, and owr future indebtedness agreements may, contain covenants that may restrict our ability to finance future
operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities, Subject to customary carve-ouis, thresholds and baskets, the 2021 Credit Agreement (and the Indenture by means of a cross-default)
restricts, absent consent of the agent and lenders under the 2021 Credit Agteement, our ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to, among other things:

= Incur additional indebtedness,

*  Perinit liens on our assets,

*  Make certain investments, acquisitions and dispositians,
+ Make certain specified fundaniental changes, and

*  Make certain restricted payments.




in addition, the 2021 Credit A greement (and the Indenture by means of a cross-default) contains other custemary affirmative and negative covenants, and events of default. The 2021 Credit Agraement
is unsecured but requires us to maintain certain financial ratios regarding our total leverage and interest coverage and other financial conditions in addition tg the restrictions described above. Events
beyond our control, including changes in general economic and business conditions, may result in a breach of any of these covenants and result in & default under the 2021 Credit Apreement that may,
in turn, result in a default under the Tndenture. I an cvent of default under the 2021 Credit Agreement occurs, the lenders could terminate all commitments to lend and elect to declare all zmounts
oulstanding thereunder, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. 1T we were unable to pay such amaunts, the lenders could proceed against the guarantees by our direct and
indirect material domestic subsidiaries. Should the lenders proceed against the guarantess, we cannot give assurance that we would have sufficient assets to pay amounts due on the 2021 Credit
Agreemen( and the Convertible Senior Notes.

Variable rale indebledness subjects the Company (o interest rate risk, which coudd cause our debt service obligutions (o increase significanify.

Our borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement are, and are expected to continue to be, af variable rates of interest and expose Tyler to interest rate risk. If interest rates continue to increase, our debt
service abligations on the variable rate indebtedness would inerease even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and our net income waould decrease. Revolving credit facility loans and Term
A=l Loans under the 2021 Credit Agreement bear interest at a per annum rate equal fo, at our optian, cither {1] the administrative agent’s prime commercial lending rate (subject to cortain higher rate
determinalions} (Lhe “Base Rate”) plus a margin of 0.125% 1o 0.75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, tvelve-month LIBOR rate plus a marpin of [.125% ia 1.75%.
Our Term A-2 Loans bear interest, at our option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Base Rate plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or (2) the one-, three~, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-
month LIBOR rate plus & margin of 0.875% to |.5%. The margin in each case is based upon our total net leverage ratia, as detsrmined pursuant to the 2021 Credlit Agreement. Based on the debt under
the 2021 Credit Agreement, the aggregate principal outstanding balance as of Decerber 31,2022 i5 $395.0 million, and sach quarter point change in interest rates would result in 2 $1.0 miliion change
in annual interest expense.

LIBOR, the Londen Inter-Bank Offered Rate, is currently anticipated to be phased out in June 2023 and is expected to lransition to a new standard rate, the Secured Overni ght Financing Rate
{“SCFR™), which will incorporate certain overnight repa market data collecled from multiple data sets. In January 2023, we amended our 2021 Credit Agreement to replace the LIBOR reference rale
with the SOFR reference rate. Assuming that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is appropriately adjusted to equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that there should be minimal impact on our operations.

The conditioned conversion feature of the Convertible Senior Notes, if iriggered, may adversely affect our flnancial condition and resulis of operations.

[n the event the conditional conversion feature of the notes is triggered, holders of our Convertible Senior Notes will be cntitled to convert the Convertible Senior Notes at any time during specified
periods at their eption. If one or more holders elset to convert their Convertible Senior Notes, unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by delivering solely shares of our commen stock
{other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we would be required fo settle a portion or all of our coaversion obligation through the payment of cash, which could adverscly atfeet
our liquidity. [n addition, even if holders do not elect to convert their Convertible Senior Notes, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to reclassity all or a portion of the outstanding
principal of the notes as a current rather than long=term liability, which would result in a material reduction of our net working capital.

Transactions relating to owr Convertible Senior Notes may affect the vatue of owr common stock.

Qur Convertible Senior Notes may become convertible in the future at the option of their holders under certain circumstances. If holders of our Convertible Senior Notes elect to convert their notes, we
may seitle our conversion obligation by delivering to them a significant oumber of shares of our common stock, which would cause dilution to our existing sharcholders.




Risks Associated with Our Periodic Results and Stock Price
Huctuations in quarterly revenues could adversely impact our operatig results and stock price.
Our revenues and operating results are difficult lo predict and may fluctuats substantially from quarter to querter for & variety of reasons, including:

+  The size of license transactions can vaty significantly

*  Clients may unexpectedly postpone or cancel procurement processes due (o changes in strategic priovitics, project objectives, budgel, or personnel

+  Client purchasing processes vary significanily and a client’s internal approval, expendilure authorization, and contract nepotiation pracesses can be difficult and time consuming o
complete, even after selection of a vendor

*  The number, timing, and significance of software product enhancements and new sofiware praduct announcements by us and our competitors may affect purchase decisions

+  We may have Lo defer revenues under our revenue recognilion policies and GAAP

 Clients may elect subscriptionsbased arrangements, which result in lowsr software license revenues in the initial year as compared to traditional, on-premise sollware license
arrangements, but generate higher recurring revenues over the term of the contract

In each fiseal quarter, our expense levels, operating cests, and hiring plans are based to some extent on projections of future revenues and are relatively fixed. If our actual revenues fall below
expectations, we conld experience a reduction in oparating results. Also, if actual revenues or earnings for any given quarter fall below expectations, it may lead to & decline in our stock price.

Increases in investment in research and development could decrease overall marging,

An imporlant element of our corporale stiategy is 1o continue 1o dedicale a significant ameunt of resources (o research and develapment and relaled product and service opportunities both through
internal investments and the acquisition of intellectual property from campanies that we haye acquired. We believe that we must continue te dedicate a significant amount of resourees to our research
and development etforts to maintain our competitive position, and research and development expense could adversely affect operating margins.

Our stock price may he volatile.
The market price of our common stock may be volatile. Examples of factars that may significantly impact our stock price include:

*  Actual or anticipated fluctuations In our operating results

*  Announcements of technological innovations, new products, or new contracts by us or our competitors
+  Developments with respect to patents, copyrights, or other proprietary rights

+  Conditions and trends in the software and other technolagy industrics

+  Changes in financial estimates by securities analysts

*  General market cotditions and other factors

In addition, the stock market has from time (o time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of technolegy company stocks and may in the
future adversely affect the market price of our stock. Sometimes, securities class action litigation is filed following periods of valatility in the market price of & particular company’s securities. We
cannol assure you that similar litigation will not ocour in the future with respeet (o us. Such litigation could resull in substantial costs and a diversion ol managernent’s altention and resources, which
could have a material adverse effect upon our financial performance,

Our financial outiook mav not be realized,

From time fo time, in press releases and otherwise, we may publish forecasts or ather forward-lookin # statements regarding our results, inchuding estimated revenues or earni ngs. Any forecast of our
future performance reflects various sssumptions. These assumptions are subject to significant uncertainties, and as a matter of course, any number of them may prove to be incorrect, Further. the
achievement of any forecast depends on numerous risks and other factars (including those described in this discussion), many of which are beyond our control. As a result, we canmnot be certain that gur
performance will be consistent with atty management forecasts or that the variation from such forecasts will not be material and adverse. Current and potential stockholders are cautioned not to base
their entirc analysis of our business and praspeets upon isolated predictions, but instead are encouraged to utilize our entire publicly available mix of historical and forward-looking information, as well
as other available information regarding us, our praducts and services, and the soflware industry when evaluating aur prospeclive results of operations.
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Risks Associated with Our Growth Strategy and Other General Corporate Risks
We may experience difficultics in exeenting owr acguisition stralegy.

A material portion of our historical growih has resuited ltom strategic acquisitions. Although our focus is on organic internal growth, we will centinue to identify and pursue strategic acquisitions with
suitable eandiclates. These transactions involve signilicant challenges and risks, including risks thal a transaction does not advance our business strategy; thal we do not achieve the expected relurn on
our investment; that we have difficulty integrating business systems and technology; that we have difficulty retaining or integrating new employees; that the transactions distract management from our
other businesses; that we acquire unforescen lizbilitics; and other ynanticipated cvents. Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to suecesstfully integrate future acquisitions into our
operations. [t may take longer than expecied to realize the full benefits of these transactions, such s increased revenue, enhanced efficiencics, or increased market share, or the benefits may be
ultimately less than we expected, Although we conduct due diligence reviews of potential acquisition candidates, we may not identity all material liabilities or risks related to acquisition candidates.
There can be no assurance that any such strategic acquisitions will be accomplished on favarable terms or will result in profitable operations.

Our failure (o properly munage growth could adversely affecr our business.

We cantinuc to cxpand our operations by pursuing existing and potential markct opportunities, This growth places significant demands on management and operational resourees. In order to manage
growth eflectively, we must implement and improve our operational systems, procedures, and controls on 2 limely basis. IT we fuil Lo implement these systems, our business may be materially
adversely affected.

We may be unable {o hire, iniegrate, and retain qualified personnel.

Qur continued success will depend upon the availability and performance of our key management, sales, marketing, client support, and product development personnel. The loss of key management or
technical personncel could adversely affect us. We believe that our continued success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract, integrate, and retain such personnel. We have at times
experienced and continue to experience challenges in recruiting qualified personnel. Competition for qualified soflware development, sales, and olher personnel is intense, and we cannot assure you
that we will be successful in altracling and retaining such personnel. [n addition, competitive job markets may increase our costs relating to compensation packages due to higher salary expectations
and pressutes.

Compliance with changing regufation of corporate governance fay result in additional expenses.

Changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance, compliance, and public disclosure can create uncertainty for public companies. The costs required 1o comply with such
evalving laws across the various states and at the federal level are difficult to predict and/or harmonize. To maintain high standards of corporale governance, compliance, and public disclosure, we
intend to invest all reasenably necessary resources to comply with evolving standards, This investment may result in an unforeseen increase in general and administrative expense and 2 diversion of
management’s time and attention trom revenue-generating activitics, which may harm our operating results.

We do not faresee paying dividends on our commaon stock.

We have not declared nor paid a cash dividend since we enterad the business of providing software solutions and services to the pablic sector in 1998, We intend to retain earnings for use in the
cperation and expansion of our business. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends ont our common stock in the foreseeable fuwre,

Provisions in our certfficate of incorporation, bylaws, and Deloware law could deter wakeover altempls.

QOur beard of directors may issue up to 1,000,000 shares of prefetred stock and may determine the prise, rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions, including voting angd conversion rights, of these
preferred shares, These determinations may be made without any further vole or action by our stockholders. The rights of the holders ol our cammon stock will be subject to, and may be adversely
affected by, the rights of the holders of any preferted stock that may be issued in the future. The issuance of preferred stock may make it more difficult for & third-party to acquire a majority of our
autstanding voting stock. [n addition, some provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, and the Delaware General Corporation Law could also delay, prevent, or make more difficult a
merger, tender offer, ar proxy contest involving us.

ITEM 1B. UNRESQLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

Naot applicable,
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iTEM 2 PROPERTIES.

We gceupy a total of approximately 1.3 million square feet of office space, of which approximately 746,000 square feet is in various office Mcilities we own. We own or lease offices for our major
operaticns in the states of Arkansas, Arizona, California, Colorado, Conneeticut, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, Massachusetts, Maine, Michigan, Missouri, Montana, Nerth Carolina, New York,
Ohio, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia. Washingion, Washington D.C., Wisconsin, Onlacio and British Columbia, Canada and the Philippines.

ITEM 3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

During the first quarter 2022, the Company received a notice of termination for convenience for professional services under a contractual arrangement with a state client. Upon receipt of the
termination notice, we ceased performing services under the contractual arrangement and sought payment of contractually owed fees of approximately ${5 millien in connection with the termination
for convenience. As of December 31, the total exposure in our financial statements included the remaining balance of net billed accounts receivable for licenses and services rendered under the conlract
of approximately 512 million.

The clienl was unresponsive to company outreach for several months. On August 23, 2022, the Company filed a lawsuit to enforce our rights and remedies under the applicable centractual
arrangement, The client has not filed responsive pleadings and no other significant activity has ocourred in the lawsuit. Although we believe our products and services were delivered in accordance
with the terms of our contract and that we are entitled to payment in connection with the termination for convenicnee, at this time the matter rermains unresolved. We are unablc to cstimate the
probability of a favorable or unfavorable outcome with respect to the dispute or estimate the amount of potential loss, i€ any, related to this matier. We can provide no agsurances that we witl not incur
additional costs as we pursie our rights and remedies under the contract.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURTTY HOLDERS,

Not applicable,
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PART I
ITEM 3. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Our common stock is lraded an the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “TYL™ At December 31, 2022, we had approximately 1.065 stockholders of record. Most of our stockholders hold
their shares in street name; therefore, there are substantially more than 1,065 beneficial owners of our commen stock.

We did not pay any cash dividends in 2022 or 2021, Our bank credit agreement contains restrictions an the payment of cash dividends. We intend (o retain carnings for use in the operation and
expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable [uture.

The foliowing table summarizes certain information related o our stock incentive plan, restricterd stack units and our employee stock purchase plan. There are no warrants or rights related to our equity
campensation plans as of December 31, 2022.

Number of seeuritics remaining available

Number of securities to Tor
be issusd upon exercise fulure issuance under
of outstanding options, warrants, purchase equity compensation
rights Weighted average plans {excluding seeurilies reflected in
and vesting of restricted stock units as of exercise price of outstanding options initial column
December 31, 2022 and unvested restricted stock units as of December 31, 2022)
Plap Category
Equity compensation plans approved by security shareholders:
2018 Ingentive Stock Plan 2,078,261 263.59 1,254,531
Employee Stack Purchage Pian 11,092 274.05 576,343
Equity compensation plans net approved by security sharcholders — — _
2,089,353 § 263.64 1,830,874

As of December 31, 2022, we had authorization to repurchase up to approximately 2.3 million additional shares of Tyler common stock, During 2022, we purchased no shares of our common stock.

A summary of the repurchiase activity during 2022 is as follows:

Additional number of shares Maximum mumber of shares that
Total nitaiber of shares authorized that may be may be repurchased under

Period repurchased repurchaged Average price paid per share current authorization
Three mpnths ended March 31 —_ — — 2,344,200
‘Three onths ende June 30 — — — 2,344,200
Thtee months ended September 30 — - — 2,344,200
October ! through Qctaber 31 —_ —_ —_ 2344.200
Noventber 1 through November 30 — — — 2,344,200
December 1 through December 31 — — — 2,344,200

The repurchase program, which was approved by our board of directors, was announced in October 2002, and was amended at various times trom 2003 through 2019. Thers is no expiration date
specified for the autherization, and we intend 1o repurchase stock under the program from time to time.

As of February 22, 2023, we had remazining authorization to repurchase up 10 2.3 million additional shares of our common siock,
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Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related information shatl not be deemed “solicihng material” or 1o be “filed " with the Securitics and Exchange Commnission, nor shell such information be
incorporated by reference into any future filing wnder the Securities Act of 1933 o Securitivs Fexchange Act of 1934, each ax amended, except o the extent thal we specifically incorporate it by

reference into such fifing,
ast five years (o the Standard and Poor's 500 Stack Index and the Standard and Poors 600 Information Technology Index

The following table compares total shareholder returns for Tyler over the |
return assumes reinvestment of dividends. The stock performance shown on the graph below

assuming g $100 investment made on December 31, 2017, Bach of the three measures of curulative total
15 nol necessarily indicative of future price performance.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN
3450 J
£375
3300
o
$225
@ ooEm T _
5150 e e T
5‘3 T T T T 1
1231417 12/3118 12/31419 12:31720 12431521 12/31/22
—#-- Tyler Technologies, Ine.  —g8— S&P 500 Stock [ndex -~y - S&P 600 Information Technology ladex
Company / Index 12/31/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31,20 12/31721 12/31/22
Tyler Technologies, [nc. 100 104.95 169.45 2456.55 303.84 182.10
S&F 500 Stock Index 100 93.62 125,72 L-18.85 191.58 156,88
100 91.07 127.12 162.47 206.09 160.09

SE&P 600 Information Technotogy Index

ITEM 6.
This section has been climinated as a result of adopting the November 19, 2020, amendment to Ttem 301 of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT"S DISCUSSION AND ANALYS1S OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF CPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8§ of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, Fora
comparison of our Results of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020, and our Cash Flow discussion for the year ended December 2021, see “Part 11, Ttem 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results ef Operations” of our Annual Repert on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the SEC on February 23, 2022,

CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This dacument contains “forward-looking stalemenls” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 2LE of Uhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are not historical in
nature and typically address future or anticipated events, trends, expectations or beliefs with respect to our financial condition, results of operations or business. Forward-looking statements aften
cotitain words such as “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “foresees,” “forecasts,” “estimates, i ? Umay,” “will.” “should,” “projects,” “might,” “could™ or other simnilar

fLrs " " Frs EERTY

plans,” “intends.” “continues,
words or phrases. Similarly, statements that describe our business strategy, outlook, objectives, plans, intentions or goals also are forward-looking statements. We believe there is a reasonable basis for
our forward-looking statements, but they are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties and actual results could differ materially fram the expectations and beliefs reflected in the forward-looking
statements. We presently consider the following to be among the important factors that could cause actual results ta differ materially from our expectations and beliefs: (1) the continuing effects of the
COVID-12 pandemic, including its potential etfects on the economic environment, our customers and our operations, as well as any changes to federal, state or local goverament laws, regulations or
arders in connection with the pandemie; (2) changes in the budgets or regulatory environments of our clients, primarily local and state governments, that could negatively impact information
technology spending; (3) disruption 1o our business and harm (o our compelilive posilion resulling from cyber-attacks and security vulnerabitities; (4) our abilily w protect client information from
security breaches and provide uninterrupted aperations of data centers; (5) our ability to achieve growth or operational synergies through the integration of acquired businesses, while avoiding
unanticipated costs and discuptions to existing operations; (6) material portions of our business require the internet infrastructure o be adequately maintained; (7) our ability to achieve our financial
forecasts due to various factors, including project delays by our clients, reductions in transaction size, fewer (ransactions, delays in delivery of new producis or relesses or a decline in our renewal rates
tor service agreements; (8) general economie, political and market conditions, including inflatien and changes in interest rates; (9) technological and market risks asseciated with the development of
new products or services or of new versions of existing or acquired products or services; (10) competition in the industry in which we conduet business and the impact of competition on pricing, client
retention and pressure far new products or services; { 11) the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel and dealing with the loss or retirement of key members of management or other key
personnel; and (12) costs of compliance and any failure to comply with government and stock exchange regulations, A detailed discussion of these factors and other risks that affcct our business arc
described in lem 1A, “Risk Factors™. We expressly disclaim any obligation t publicly updaie or revise our forward-looking slatements.

OVERVIEW
General

We provide integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector. We develop and market a broad line of software produets and services to address the [T needs of public
sector entities. We provide subscription-based services such as sofiware as a service (“Saa$”), transaction-based fees primariiy related to digital government services and online payment processing,
and electronic document filing solutions (“e-filing”), which simnplify the filing and management of court related documents. In addition, we provide professianal IT services to our clients, including
software and hardware instaliation, data conversion, training, and for certain clients, product modifications, zlong with continuing maintenance and support for clients using our systems. Additionaily,
we provide property appraisal outsourcing setvices for taxing jurisdictions.

We provide our software systems and related professional services and appraisal services throngh seven business units, which focus on the fellowing products;

*  f(inancial management, education and planning, regulalory, and maintenance soflware solutions,

*  financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions;

= courts and justice and public safety software solutions;

> data and insights solutions;

*  appraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal services:
+  developrent platform solutions including case management and business process management; and

»  digital government and paymenls solutions.
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Ins accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting. we report our resulls in two reportabie segments. The Fnterprise Software (“ES™) reportable segment provides public sector entities with sollware
systems and services to meet their information technology and automation needs for mission-critical “back-oifice™ functions such as: tinancial management and education; planning, regulatory and
maintenance; courts and justice; public safety; datn and iusights; appraisal and tax sollware solulions; land and vital records management software soluticns: and property appraisal services. The
Platform Technologies (“PT™) reporlable segment provides public sector entities with sofware solulions to perform transaction processing, streamline data processing, and improve operations ancd
workflows such as digital government and payments solutions and developmeni plattorm solutions

We evaluale petformance based on several factors, of which the primary {inancial measure is business segrent operating income. We define segment operating income for our business units as income
before non-cash amottization of intangible assets associated with their acquisitions, interest expense, and income taxes. Sepment operating income includes intercompany transactions. The majority of
intercompany transactions relate to contracts involving more than one unil and are valued based on the contraciual arrangement. Corporale segment operating loss primarily consists of compensation
costs for the executive manapement team, cerlain shared services staff, and share-based compensation expense for the entire company. Corporale segment operating income also includes revenues and
expenses related to a company-wide user conference.

As of January 1, 2022, the appraisal and tax software selutions, land and vital records management softwarc solutions, and property appraisal service business unit, which was previously reported in
the Appraisal & Tax ("A&T") reportable segment, was moved Lo Lhe ES teportable segment, The digilal government and payments solutions, which was previously teporled in the NIC reporiable
segment, and development platfarm solutions moved to the PT reportable segment to reflect changes in the way in which management males operating decisions. allocates resourees, and manages (he
growth and profitability of the Company. As a result of the changes in cur reportable segments, the former A&T and NIC reportabie segments are no longer considered separate segments. Prior period
amounts for the ES and PT reportable segments have been adjusted to reflact the segment change, See Note 17, "Segment and Related Information," in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
for additienal information.

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform ta the current year presentation. We have elected to present amortization of software development, previously included in the cost
of revenues software licenses and royalties line item, in a separate category line item on the consolidated statements of incame for all reporting periods presented. Previously disclosed as selling,
general and administrative expense is now disclosed in separate line jtems; sales and marketing expense and general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of incomme for all
reporting periods presented.

Recent Acquisitions
2622

On Qctober 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC. a principal provider of reliable, scalable, and secure payments with best-in-class card issuance and digital disbursement capabilities,
The total purchase price, net of cash acquited of $2.2 million, was approxinately $67.7 millien, consisting of $51.2 million peid in cash, $18.2 million of commaon stock, and $500,000 related to
working capital holdbacks, subject to ceriain post-closing adjustments.

On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc. (US eDireet), a leading pravider of techaology salutions for campground and outdoor recreation management, The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of §6.4 million, was approximately $116.5 million, consisting of $118.8 million paid in cash and approximately $4.( million refated to indemnity holdbacks.

2027

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Gltimate Tnformation Systems, Tnc. (dba Arx). Arx is u cloud-based platform which creales zccessible technology Lo enable a modern-day
palice force that is fully transparent, accountable, and a trysted resource to the community it serves. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was approximately $12.8 million.

On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendEngine, Inc (VendEngine), a cloud-based sofiware pravider focused on financial technology for the cortections market, The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $1.7 million, was approximately $83.6 million, consisting of $81.6 million paid in cash, and approximatety $3.8 million related to indemnity holdbacks,

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, a leading digital government solutions and payment company that primarily serves federal and state government agencies. The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $331.8 million, was approximately $2.0 billion, eonsisting of cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase cansideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock
awards.

On March 31, 2021, we completed two acquisitions, Glass Are, Inc. (dba ReadySub) and DataSpee, Inc. (DataSpec), for the combined purchase price of $12.1 million.
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2022 Operating Results

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, total revenues increased 16% compared to the prior peried. Cxcluding the 2022 impact of recent acquisitions', total revenues increased 4% compared
w prior period. Revenues from sequisions contributed 12.4% of growth for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022,

Subscriptions revenue grew 29.0°% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, due (> an ongoing shilt toward a cloud-based, sofiware as u service business model, as well as the inclusion ol
transaction=based revenue from NTC's digital government and payments processing businesses. Excluding the 2022 impact of recent acquisitions', subscriptions revenue increased 6.3% for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2022,

‘The majority of cur revenues are comprised of revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider fo be recurri ng revenies, Annualized recurring revenucs ("ARR”) is calculated based
on quarter-to-date end tolal recurring revenues mulliplied by four. ARR was $1.50 billion and $1.39 billian as of December 3| » 2022, and 2021, respeclively. ARR increased 8% compared 1o the prior
period, due to an increase in subscriptions revenue due to an ongoing shifit toward Spa% arrangements.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, total revenues include COVID-related subscriptions revenue of $10.8 million from NIC’s Tour Health offering and professional services revenue of
$40.2 million from pandemic unemployment and Virginia rent relief offerings. These programs all ended in 2022 and we do not cxpect (o generate COVID-related subscriptions revenue and
prolessional services revenue in [ulure periods.

We monitor and znalyze several key performance indicators in order to manage our business and evaluate our financial nd operating performance. These indicators include the following:

Revenues — We derive our revenues from five primary sources; subscription-based arrangements; maintenance; professional services, sale of software licenses and royalties; and appraisal services,
Subscriptions and maintenance are considered recurring revenue sources and comptised approximately 80% of our revenues in 2022. The number of new Saa$ elients and the number of existing
elichts who convert from our traditional software arrangements to our $aaS model are a significant driver of our revenue growth, together with new software license sales and maintenance rale
increases. We monilor ARR which is caloulated based on quarter-to-date end tolal recurring revenues multiplied by four, As of December 31, 2022, ARR was $1.50 billion, In addition, we also
monitor our customer base and turnever, which historically is very low. During 2022, based an our number of customers, turnaver was approximately 2%,

Cost af Revenues and Gross Margins — Our primary cost comporent is personnel expenses in connection with providing software implementation, subscription-based services, maintenance and
suppert, and appraisal services to our clienis. We can improve gross marging by controlling headcount and related costs and by expanding our revenue base, espeeially from thosc products and
services thal produce incremental revenue with minimal incremental cost, such as soltware licenses and toyalties, subseriplion-based services, and maintenance and support. Our appraisal projects
are cyclical in nature, and we often employ appraisal personnel on a short=lerm basis to coincide with the life of a project. As of December 31, 2022, our total employee cownt inchuided in cost of
vevenues increased to 5,021 from 4,746 at December 31, 2021, including 56 emplayees who joined us tirough acquisitions completed since December 31, 2021,

Sales and Markeling (“3&M™) Expense — The primary components of &M cxpense include sales personnel salarics and sharc-based compcnsation expense, sales commissions, travel-related
expenses, advertising and marketing materials, and allocated depreciation, facilities, and [T support, Sales commissions lypically fluctuate with revenues and share-based compensation expense
generally incteases based increased level of awards issues during the period and as the mariet price of our stock increases. Other administrative expenses tend to grow at a slower rate than
IEVEnues.

General and Administrative (“G&A™) Expense — The primary components of G&A expense include personnel salarics and sharc-based compensation expense for general corporate functions,
including senior management, finance, aceounting, legal, human resources and corporale development, third parly professional fees, travel-related expenses, insurance, allocation of depreciation,
facilities and [T support costs, acquisition-related expenses and other administrative expenses. Share-based compensation expense generally increases as the market price of our stock increases.
Other administrative experses tend Lo grow at a slower rale than revenues.

Liquidity and Cash Flows — The primary driver of our cash flows is net income, Uses of cash include acquisitions, capital investments in property and equipment and discretionary purchases of
treaswry stock, Our working capital needs are fairly stable (hroughout the vear with the significant components of cash owflows being payment of personnel expenses offset by cash inflows
representing collection of aceounts receivable and cash receipts from clients in advance of revenue being earned, In recent years,

! Excludes the 2022 incremental impact as a tesult of not having the recent acquisition for a full fiscal year.
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we have also received significant amounts of cash from employees exercising stock oplions and contributing to our Fmplayee Stock Purchase Plan.
Balange Sheet — Cash, accounts receivable and days sales oulstanding and deferred revenue balances are imperlanl indicators of our business.
Chutlook

The local government software market continues to be aclive with sales aclivity trending at or near pre-pandemic leveis in most sectors of our business, and our back!og at December 31, 2022 reached
51.89 billian, a 5% increase from the prior period. We expect to continue to achieve solid growth in revenues and earnings. With our strang financial position and cash flow, we plan to continue to
make significant investments i produet development and aceelcrating our move 1o the cloud to betier pasitien us to continue to expand our addressable market and strengthen our competitive position
over the long term. The expenses associated with the cloud transition are expected to pressure operating margins in 2023 and 2024,

CRITICAL ACCQUNTING ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and resulis of opsrations is based upon our financizl statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“GAAP™). The preparation of these financial statements requires us fo make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, the reparted amounts of revenues, cast of revenues and expenses during the reporting period, and related disclosure of centingencies. The Notes to the Financial Statements
included as part of this Annual Report describe our significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions
include the application of the progress toward completion methods of revenue recognition, estimated standalone selling price ("SSP for distinct performance obligations, the fair value omount and
estimated useful tives of intangible assets, determination of share-hased campensation expense and ailowance for losses and sales adjustments. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
varieus other assumptions that we believe Lo be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which fort the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparcnt from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions ot conditions,

We believe the following critical accounting policies require significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of gur financial statcments,

Revenue Recognition. We earn revenues from software licenses. royalties, subscription-based services, professional services, post-cotitract customer support (“PCS” or “maintenance™), hardware, and
appraisal services. Revenue is recognized upen transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those
praducis or services. We determine revenue recognition through the following steps;

*  Ideatification of the centract, or contragts, with a customer

*  Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

*  Determination of the transaction price

+  Allocation of the transaction price (o the performance obligations in the cantract
*  Recagnition of tevenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

Our software errangements with customers contain multiple performance obii gations that range from software licenses and SanS arcangements, installation, training, and consulting to software
modification and custemization to meet specific customer needs (services), hesting, and PCS, For these contracts, we account for individual performance obligalions separately when they are distinct.
We evaluate whether separate performance obligations can be distinct or should be accounted for as one performance abligation. Arrangements that include professional serviges, such as training or
installation, are evaluated to determine whether the customer can benefit from the services cither en their own or together with other resources readily available to the customer and whether the
services are separately identitiable from other promises in the contract. Many of our software arrangements involve “off-the-shel T software, We recognize the revenue allocabls to "aff-the-shelf”
software [icenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when control of the software license transfers t the customer, unless the software is not considered distingt. We consider offethe-shelf
software o be distinct when it can be added to an arrangement with minar changes in the underlying code, it can be used By the customer for the customer's purpese upon installation, and remaining
services such as iraining are not considered highty interdependent or highly intenelated to the product's functionality,
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For arrangements that involve significant preduction, modification or custemization of the software, ar where professional services are otherwise not considered distinct, we recognize revetue over
time by measuring progress-lo-completion. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor houts incurred as it best depicts the Iransfer of contrel to the customer which occurs as we incur
c0sts on our contracts. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended period and cecasionally require us (o revise total cost estimates, Amaunts recognized in revenue are calculated
using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contracl costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the pariod in which we first determine that a Joss {s apparent. When professional services are distinet, the fee allocable te the service element
is recognized over the time we perform the services and is bilied on a time and material or milestones basis.

Subseription-based services consist of revenues derived from Saa8 arrangements, transaction and paymeni processing, clectronic filing transactions, and digital gavernment services. Revenue from
subscription-based services (s generally recognized over lime on 4 ratable busis ever the conlract term, beginniug on Lhe date that our service is made available la the customer. For Saa$ arrangements,
we evaluate whether the cuslomer has the contractual right to take possession of our software at any time during the hosting period without sipnificant penalty and whether the customer car feasibly
maintain the software on the customet s hardware or enter into another arrangement with a third-party to hest the software. We allocate contract value to each performance obligation of the
arrangenient that qualifies for treatment as o distinct element based on estimated SSP. We recognize Saa$ arrangements ratably over the terms of the arrangements, which range from one ta ten years,
butare typically for perieds of three to five years. For professional services associated with certain SaaS arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinct, and we recognizs the
revenue ratably over the remaining conlractual period once we have provided the customer aceess to the software. We record amounts that have been invoiced in aceounts receivable and in daferred
revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met,

For transaction and payments revenue and e-filing transaction fees, we have the right to charge the customer an amount that directly corresponds with the value to the customer of our performance to
datg, Therefore, we recognize revenug for these services over time based an the amount billable (o the customet in accordance with the 'as invoiced' practical expedient in ASC 606-10-55-18, [n some
cases, we are paid on a fixed fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual peried. Typically, the structure of our arrangements daes not give rise 1o variable consideration. However,
in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in our estimates, additional revenue for variable consideration when we believe we have an enfarceable right, the amount can be
cstimated reliably and its realization is probable.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis, We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market
conditions and other factors, including the value of our contragts, the applications seld, customer demographics, and the nutmber and types of users within our contracts. We use a range of amounts 1o
estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately and tieed Lo determine whether there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products and services.
Tn ingtances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product or service separately, we determine S5P using the expected cost-plus marain approach. Revenue is
recognized net of allowances for szles adjustments and any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remiited to governmental authorities.

We maintain allowances far losses and sales adjustments, which losses are recorded against revenues at the time the loss is incurred. Since most of our clients are domestic governmental entities, we
rarely incar 2 credit loss resulting from the inability ofa client to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales
adjustments may require revision, inchude, but are not limited to, managing our clicnt’s expeetations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered and defects or errors in new versions or
enhancements of our soflware products. Cur allowance for losses and sales adjustments of $14.8 million and $12.1 million at December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively, does not
include provisions for credit losses. As of January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, and primarily evaluated our historical experience with credit losses related
to tracle and other recelvables. Because we rarely expetiehce credit losses with our clients, we have not recorded a material reserve for credit losses,

In conneciion with certain of our contracts, we have recorded retentions receivable or unbilied receivables consisting of costs and estimated profit in excess of billings as of the balance shect datc.
Many of the contracls which give rise to unbilled receivables at a given balance sheet date are subject Lo billings in the subsequent accounting period. We review unbilled receivables and related
coniract provisions Lo ensure we are justified in recognizing revenue prior to billing the customer anl that we have objective evidence which allows us te recognize such revenue, In addition, we have a
sizable amount of deferred revenue, which represents billings in excess of revenue earned. The majerily of this liability consists of subsctiptions and maintenance billings for which payments are made
in advance and the reverue is ratably earned over the subscription or maintenance billing period, generally one year. We also have deferred revenue for those cantracts in which we receive a deposit
and the conditions in which to record revenue for the service or product have not beer mtet. On a periodic basis, we review by customer the detail components of our deferred revenue (o ensure our
accounting remains appropriate.
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Business Combinations. Accounting for the acquisition of n busincss requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various asscis acquirced and liabilitics assumed at their respactive tair values.
The determination of fair value requires the use of significant estimates and assumpttons, and in making these determinations, management uses all available infornmation.

For tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combinalion, management estimates the fair value of asscts acquired and liabilities assumed based on quated market prices, the
cartying value of the acquired assets and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and markel multiple analyses. The assumptions nade in performing these valuations
inelude, but are not limited to, discount rates, future revenues and operaling costs, projeclions of capital costs, and other assumptions belicved to be consistent with those used by principal market
partlicipants

Due to the specialized nature of these calculations, we engage third-party specialisis to assist management it evaluating our assumptions as we!l as appropriately measuring the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. We adjust the preliminary purchase ptice allocation, as necessary, up to ene year after the acquisition closing date as we abtain new information aboul facts and
circumstances that cxisted as of the closing date. IF actual results are material ly different than the assumptions we used to determine (air value of the esscts acquired and liabilitics assumed threugh a
business combination as weil as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible assels, il is possible that adjustments to the carrying values of such assets and liabilities will have a material impact
on our financial position and results of operations.

Intangibie Assets and Goodwill. Our business acquisitions typically result in the creation of goodwill and other intangible asset balances, and these balances affect the amount and timing of future
period amortization cxpense, as well as expense we could possibly incur as a result of an impairment charge. The cost of acquired companics is allocated to identifiable tangible and inlangible assets
based on estimated fair value, with the excess allocated 1o goodwill. Accordingly, we have a significant balance of scquisition date intangible assels, including software, cusiomer related intangibles,
trade name, leases and goodwill. These intangible assets (other than goodwill) are amortized over their estimated useful lives. We currently have na intangible assets with indefinite lives other than
goodwill.

We assess goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable, We begin with the qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely (han not that a reporling unit's fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative assessment deseribed below. When testing goodwill for
impairment quantitatively, we first compare the Cair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of reporting unit poodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values caleulated in our impairment tests arc determined using discounted cash flow models invelving several assumptions (Level 3 inputs). The
assumptions that arc used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in estimating fair value. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be
reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. We evaluate the reasonableness of the fair value caleulations of aar reporting units by comparing the total of the fair value of all of our
reporting units tg our totai market capitalization.

During the fourth quarter, as part of our annual impairment test as of October 1, we performed qualitative assessments for the reporting units containing the recently acquired data and insights, digital
gevernment and payments selutions, and development platform solutions, and concluded ne impairment existed as of our annual assessment date. Approxitmately $1.7 billion, or 70%, of total goodwill
as of December 31, 2022, relates to these reporting wiits, which as a result of these recent acquisitions, de not have sighificant excess fair valucs over carrying values, We performed qualitative
assessments for the remaining reporting units in which we determined that it not more likely than not that the fair value exceeded the carrying value; therefore, we did not perforn 2 Step 1 quantitative
impairment test. Our annual goadwill impairment analysis did not result in an impairment charge, During 2022, we have recorded no impairment to goodwill as no triggering events or change in
circumstances indicating a potential impairment has occurred as of period-end.

Determining the fair value of our reporting units invalves the use of significant estimates and ussumptions and considetable management judgment. We base our Fair valuc estimates on assumptions we
believe to be reasonable at the time, bul such assumplions are subject to inkerent uncerlainty. Changes in market conditions o other lactors outside of our control, such a5 the COVID- 19 pandemic,
could cause us to change key assumptions and owr judgment about a reporting unit’s prospecis. Similarly, in a specific period, a reporting unit could significantly underperform relative to its historical
or projected future operating results. Either situation could result in a rreanin gfully different estimate of the fair vaiue of our reporting units, and a consequent future impairment charge.
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All intangible assets {other than goodwill) are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount ol an asset may not be recoverable,
Recaverability of ather intangible assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount to estitnated undiscounted future cash flows. The assessment of recoverability or of the estimated uselu] life
for amortization purposes will be attected if the timing or the amount of estimated future operating cash flows is not achieved. Such indicators may include, nmeng others: & signiticant decline in
expected fulure cash flows; a sustained, significant decline in stock price and market capitalization: a significant adverse change in legal Factors or in the business climate; unanticipated competition;
and reductions in growth rates. In addition, products, capabilities, or technologies developed by others may render aur software products obsolele or non-competitive. Any advarse change in these
factors could have a significant impact on the recoverability of goodwill or other intangible assets. During 2022, we did not identify any triggering events that would indicate (hat the carrying amount
of our intangible asscls may nol be recoverable

Recent udoption of new deeounting pronouncenents

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 - Accounting for Contract Assels and Contract Lichilities from Cantructs with Customers (ASC 803) (“ASU 2021-08™). ASU 2021-08 requires an
acquirer in a business combination to recognize and measure contract assets and conwract liabilities (deferred revenue) from acquired contracts using the revenue recogaition guidance in Topic 606.
Under this "Topic 606 approncl,” the acquirer applies the revenue model as if it had originated the contracts. This is a departure from the current requitement to measurc contract assets and contract
liabilities al fair value. ASU 2021-08 is effective for all public business entities in annual and interim periods starting afler December 15, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. An entity that early
adopts sheuld apply the amendments (1) retrospectively to all business combinations for which the acquisition date occurs on or after the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period of
early application and (2) prospectively to all business combinations that occur on or after the date of initial application. We early adopted as of Januacy 1, 2022. The adeption of ASU 2021-08 resulted
in no adjustments to the fair value of the deferred revenue balances assumed in our 2022 agquisitions. See Note 2, “Acquisitions,” t the consolidated financial statements for fucther discussion.

Recent Accounting Guidance not yet Adopled

There wete no new not yet adopied accounting pronouncements currently issued that would affect the Company or have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations
in future periods.
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ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF QPERATIONS AND OTHER

The following discussion compares the historical results of operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,

Revenues:
Subscriptions
Mainfenance
Professional services
Software licenses and royalties
Appraisal services
Hardware and other
Total revennes
Cast of revenues:
Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services
Software licenses, royalties, aud amortization of ncquired software
Amoartization of software development
Appraisal services
Hardware and otlier
Saies and marketing expense
Ganeral and admmistrative expense
Research and development expense
Amortizaticn of customer and (rade name intangibles
Ogerating income
Interest expense
Other income, net
Income before intome taxes
Income tax provision (beaefif)
Net income

2022 Compared ta 202/
Revenues

Recend Acquisitions

On Qctober 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, I.1.C (Rapid), a provider of reliabie, scalable, and secure payments with basiin-
On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Ing, (US eDirect), a leading pravider of technology selutions for campground and outdoor recre
Inc., a leading digitai government solutions and payment company that serves foderal, state and |
paymert solutions business unit (also known as the NIC division) and the results of NIC, US eDirect, and Rapid from their respective dates of acquisition. are included wit

P segment.

Percentage of Total Revenues
Years Ended December 31,

2020
54.7% 493 % 31.4%
253 19.8 119
13.1 13.2 16.7
32 446 6.5
L9 17 15
18 14 1.6
100.0 160.0 100.0
516 503 458
31 3.1 32
04 0.1 —
1.3 12 14
13 08 11
73 74 8.3
14.4 17.1 14.4
57 59 79
3.3 28 1.9
1.6 113 155
(L.5) (1.5) {0.1)
0.1 0.1 03
0.2 9.9 15.7
1.3 0.2) (1.8)
8.5% 10.1 % 17.5 %

class card issuance and digital disbursement capabilities.
ation management, On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC,
ocal government agencics. US eDirect and Rapid arc operated as a part of the digital government and

h the operating resnlts of the




The following table details revenues for the NIC division for the period from acquisition threugh December 31, 2022 and 2021, which are presented in our consolidated stalements of income From the
date of acquisition and included in the operaling tesults of the P'T" reportable scgment (in thousands).

2022 2021
Revenues;
Subseriptions S 470904 § 344,692
Maintenance 810 560
Professional services 50,006 23,665
Software licenses and royalties — —_
Appraisal services —_ —_
Hardware and atler — —
Total revenues 5 521,720 § 368,917
Subscriptions,
The following table sets forth a comparison of our subscriptions revenue for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):
Change
2022 2021 ] %
ES § 520,323 8 425078 § 101,245 24 %
PT 485,981 339,357 126,624 35
Total subscriptions revenne L] 1,012,304 % 784435 § 227,86% 25 %
Less: Revenue from recent acquisitions 2 (178,363) — (178,363}
Total sbscriptions revenue excluding sequisitions 3 833941 § 784435 5 49.506 5%

Subscriptions revenuc consists of reverue derived from our Saa$ arrangements and transaction-based fees ptimarily related to digital gevernment services and payment processing. We also provide
electzonic document (ifing solutions (“e-fling”) that simpliry the [iling and management of court related documents for courts and law affices, E-filing revenue is derived from transaction faes and
fixed Fee arrangements,

Subseriptions revenue grew 29% compared to 2021, primarily due to the inclusion of transaction-based revenues from NIC including Rapid and US eDirect from the respective dates of acquisition.
Excluding the incremental impact of recent acquisitions, subscriptions revenue increascd 6%, New Saa$ clients as well as existing clienls who converted to our Saa$ model provided the majority of the
subscriptions revenue increase, In 2022, we added 609 new Saas clients and 336 exisling clients elecied te convet to our Saa$ model. Our mix of new software contracts in 2022 was approximately
23% perpetual software license arrangements and approximately 77% subscription-based arrangements compared to total new client mix in 2021 of approximately 33% perpetual software licensc
arcangethents and appreximately 67% subscription-based arrangements.

Total subscriptions revenue derived from transaction-based fees was $600.8 miilion and $454.8 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase of $146.0
million or 32% s aliributable w inelusicn of the NIC division, including Rapid and US eDirect iransaclion-based revenues from the respective dales of acquisition. Transaction-based revenue from (he
NIC division was $470.9 million and $344.7 millien for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Excluding NIC, transaction-based (ees contributed $19.8 million to the
increase in subscriptions revenue due to the inereased volumes of online payments and e-tiling services in 2022,

*Excludes the 2022 incremental impact as a result of not having the recent acquisition for a full fiscal year.
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Meinternunce.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our maintenance revenue for the years ended December 31 (5 in thousands);

Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES 5 444,143 § 439,589 3§ 4.554 1%
T 24,312 34,658 (10,386) 130}
Total maintenance revenue $ 468,455 § 41,287 § (5,832) (1%
Less: Ravewie from recent acquisitions 2 (689) —_ (689)
Total maintenance revenue excluding acquisitions 3 467,766 § 474287 % {6,521) ()%

We provide mainlenance and supporl services for our softwars products and certain third-party sofiware. Maintenance revenue decreased 1% compared Lo the privr period. Maintenance revenue
declined mainly due to atirition related to a legacy case management solution and clients converting from on-premises license arrangements to SaaS, partially offset by annual maintenance rate
increases and maintenance associated with new software license sales.

Aunualized Recupring Revernuyes

Supseriptions and maintcnance are considered recurring revenue sources. Annualized recurring revenucs ("ARR"} is calculated based on quarter-cnd total recurcing revenues multiplicd by four. ARR
was $1.50 billion and $1.39 billion 45 of December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. ARR increased 8% compared Lo the prior period due to an increase in subseriplions revenue resulting from an
ongoing shift toward SaaS arrangements.

Professional services.

The following table sets forth 2 comparison of our professional services revenue for the vears ended Decetnber 31 ($ in thousands):

Clange
2022 2021 3 Yo
ES § 170,462 § 165396 § 5,066 3%
PT 72,655 43,995 28,660 65
Total professional services revenue % 243,117 % 209391 § 33,726 16 %
Less: Revenue from recent scquisitions 2 (17.073) e (17,073)
Total professional servicus revenue excluding tcquisitions $ 226,044 § 209,391 § 16,633 3 %

Professional services revenue primarily consists of professional services billed in conncetion with implementing our software, converting client data, traiting client personnel, custom development
activities and consulting, New clients who purchase our proprietary sofiware licenses or subscriptions generally aiso contracl with us 1o provide the related professional services. Existing clienis also
periodically purchase additional training, consulting and minor programming services.

Professional services revenue increased 16% compared to the prior year, primarily due to the inclusion of revenues from recent acquisitions (rom the date of acquisition, Excluding the incremental
impact of recent acquisitions, professional services revenue increased 8%. The increasc in professional services revenue is primarily attributed to higher revenues generated by the continued COVID
pandemic-refated renf relief services and the return of billable travel revenue as onsite services have increased since 2021 The ingreases are parlially offsel by more ¢lients selecting our cloud solutions
instead of our on-premises license atrangements which typically require more professional services,
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Software ficenses and rovaliies.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our sofiware licenses and royalties revenue for the years ended December 31 (5 in thousands);

Change
2022 2021 $ %
ES $ 55,158 § 66,816 § (11,558) (170%
PT 4,248 7.636 (3,388) (44)
Total software licenses and royalties revenue $ 59,406 & 14,452 & (15,046) (20%
Less: Revenue fron recent acquisitions ? — — _
Total software licenses and royallies revenue excluding acquisitions 5 59,106 § 74,452 % (13,046) (20)%

Software licenses and royalties revenue decreased 20% compared (o the prior period. The decline is primarily attribuied to the shift in the mix of new sofware contracts toward more subscription-
bascd agrectents compared to the prior period.

Although the mix of new contracts between subscription-based and perpetual license arrangements may vary frot quarter to quarter and year to year, we expect the decline in soflware license revenues
will accelerate as we continue to shift our model away from perpetual licenses to SaaS. Subseription-based arrangements result in Jower software license revenue in the nitial year a5 compared (o
perpetual software license arrangements but penerate higher averall revenue over the term of the contract.

Appraisal services.

The tollowing table sets forth a comparison of our appraisal services revenue for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands};

Changg
2022 2021 b %
E3 3 34,508 § 27,788 § 6,720 24 %
PT — — — N —_
Total appraisal services revenue 5 34508 § 17758 % 6,720 24 %
Legs: Revenne from recent acquisitions * _ — o
Total appraisal secvices revenue sxcluding acquisitions $ 34,508 % 27,788 & 6,720 24 %

In 2022, appraisal services revenue grew 24% compared to the prior period primarily due to relaxed travel testrictions allowing for the ramp=up of appraisal services for sevetal new revaluation
contracts which started in recent quarters. The appraisal services business is somewhat eyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation cycles in various stales.

Cost of reveinies and gross marains

The following table sets forth a comparison of the key components of our cost of revenues tor the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 § Yo

Subseriptions, maintenance, and professional services b 953,897 $ 799,158 § 154,739 19%
Sottware licenses and rovalties 6,083 3,552 2,531 71
Amortization of seftware development 6,507 2325 4,182 180
Amortization of acquired software 52,192 45,601 5,591 14
Appraisal services . 23,988 19,061 4,927 26
Hardwarg and other 23,674 12,946 10,728 83

Total cost af revenues 5 1,066,341 § 832,643 § 183,698 21 %
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The following table sels forth a comparison of grass margin percentage by revenue type for the years ended December 31:

2022 2021 Change
Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services 44.7 % 45.6 % (0.9)%
Software licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired soflware .0 309 {399
Appraisal services 30.5 314 (0.9)
Hardwarz and other 27.0 4.0 (14.5)
Overall gross margin 42.4 % 44.6 % {2.2)%
Gross margin percentage by revenue type, sxcluding the incremental impact of recent acquisitions *, far the years ended December 3 1:

2022 2021 Change
Subscriptions, mainfensnce, and professional services 45.8 % 43.6 % . 0.2
Software licenses, royalties, software development, and acquired sofiware 71 309 (23.8)
Appraisal services 30.5 314 0.
Hardware and other 279 41.0 {13.1)
Overall gross margin 43.8 % 44.6 % (0.8)%

Subscriptions, maintenance, and professional services. Cost of subscriptions, maintenance and professional services primarily consists of personnel costs refated to installation of our software,
conversion of client data, training client personnel and support activities and various othet services such as custom client development, en-going operation of Saa$, digital government, and other
transaction-based services such as e-filing, Other costs included are interchange fees required to process credit/dehit card transactions and bank fees to process automated clearinghouse transactions
related to our payments business. In 2022, the subscriptions, maintenance and professional services gross margin declined 0.9% compared to the prior period primarily due to several factors, including
lower maintenance revenue resulting from atirition refated to a legacy case management solution; a post-C'OVID return of low-margin revenues such as billable travel; higher personnel costs related to
inflation, as well as costs related to anbearding nesw professional services employecs who are not yet billable; and higher hasting costs related te our accelerated shift to the cioud. Our implementation
and support stafl grew by 225 employees since December 31, 2021, as we increased hiring Lo ensure that we are well-positioned to deliver our current backlog and anticipaled new business. Excluding
the incremental impact from recent acquisitions of $70 million, gross margin was 45.8% in 2022, a slight increase of 0.2% which is attributable to an increase in Saa$ arrangements and the decline in
low margin COVID-related transaction-based revenues compared (o the prior period.

Software licenses, royaliies, saftware development, and acquired sofiware. Amartization expense for acquired soflware comprises the majority of costs of software licenses, royaltics, software
development, and acquired soflware. We do not have any direct costs associated with royalties. The gross margin for soflware licenses, royalties, soflware development, and acquired soRware was
negative 8.0% in 2022 and 30.9% in 2021. Exeluding the impact of amortization expense of acquired software, the margin was 78,8% in 2022 and 92.1% in 2021 The deciine in software licenses,
royallies, software development, and acquired software gross margin compared ta the prior period is due to lower revenue from software licenses.

Appraisal services. Appraisal services revenue comprised approximately 1,9% of total revenues. The appraisal services gross margin decrease of 0.9% campared to 2021 is primarily duc to higher
personnel costs relaled (o inflation, as well as increased low margin billable travel revenue. The appraisal services business is somgwhal cyciical and driven in parl by statutory revaluation cyeles in
various states.

Overall gross wargin. Our 2022 blended gross margin decreased 2.2% compared to 2021, principally due to the inclusion of NIC's revenues (including lower margin COVID related revenues), which
historically have lower margins than Tyler’s software-related revenues. Excluding the ineremental impact from recent acquisitions of $60 million, overall pross margin was 43.8% in 2022, The
decrease of 0,8% in overall gross margin compared 1o Lhe prior period is due Lo lower revenue from sofiware licenses and maintenance, higher hosting costs related to our accelerated shifl ta the cloud,
and higher personnel costs. Excluding employees from recent acquisitions, our implementation and support, and appraisal staff grew by 219 employees since December 31, 2021, as wa increased
hiring to ensure that we are well-positioned ta deliver our current backlog and anticipated new business.
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Sules and marketing expense

Sales and Marketing expense (“S&M”) consists primarily of salaries, employee benefits, travel, share-based compensation expense, comumissions and related overhend costs tor sales and marketing
employees, as well as professional fees, trade show activities, advertising costs and other marketing costs. The following table sets forth a comparison of our S&M expenses (o the years ended
December 31 {3 in thonsands):

Change
2022 2021 3 %o
Sales and marketing expense § [35,743 § 18,624 % 17,119 14 %

S&M as a percentage of revenue was 7.3% in 2022 compared to 7.4% in 2021, S&M expense increased approximately 14% compared to the prior period, primarily due to the inclusion of recent
acquisitions’ 8&M expense. Excluding the incremental impact of S&M expense from recent acquisitions of $5.6 million, S&M increased 10% compared ta the prior period. Higher S&M expense is
due to higher benus and commission expense relating to improved operating results, increase in road show and user conference expenses, increase in travel-related expenses, and higher sales and
marketing personnel ¢osts from increased employee headcount,

General and adiiniztralive experise

General and administrative (“G&A™) expense censists primarily of personnel salaries and share-based compensation expense for general corporate functions, including senior management, finance,
accounting, legal, human resaurces and corporate development, third party professional fees, travel-related expenses, insurance, allocation of depreciation, facilities and [T support costs, acquisition=
related expenses and ather administrative expenses. The following table sels forth a comparison of our G&A expense for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 $ %
General and administrative expense 4 267324 § 271,955 8 4,631y (2%

Gé&A as a percentage of revenue was 14.4% in 2022 compared to 17.1% in 2021. G&A expense decreased approximately 2% compared 1o the pricr peried, The decrease {n G&A is primarily attributed
to lower transaction costs refated to recent acquisitions and lower share-based compensation expense. G&A includes $2.0 million of transaction expenses related to acquisitions completed in 2022
compared te 523.5 million of transaction expense related o acquisitions complsted in 2021, During 2022, stock compensation expense declined $3.5 million compared to 2021, generally dueto a
lewet fair valuc of cach sharc-based award resulting from the decline in our stock price. The deereases arc offset by inclusion of G&A cxpense from acquisitions of §21.5 milkion, higher bonus expense
dus to improved operating results, increases in amortization of software development for internal use, increases in travel-related expenses and other administrative costs, and higher personnel costs
from increased employes headcount. [n 2022, G&A expense also included $2.8 million related to lease restructuring and other asset write-ofts.

Research and developmen! expense

Research and developmient expense consists primarily of salaries, employee benefits and related overhead costs associated with new product development. The follewing table sets forth 2 comparison
of our research and development expensc for the years ended December 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 5 Y
Research and develapmert expense b} 105,184 & 93481 % 11,703 13%

Research and development expense consists mainty of cests associated with development of new products and technologies (rom which we do not currently generate signiticant revenue.

Research and development cxpense as 2 percent of {olal revenue was 53.7% in 2022 compared to 5.9% in 2021. Research and development expense increased 13% in 2022 compared to the priar period,
mainly due to 2 number of new Tyler product development initiatives across our product suites, including increased investments in research and develapment at recently acquired businesses,
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Amortisation of other intangibies

Other intangibles are comprised of the excess of the purchase price over Ihe fair value of net tangible assets acquired that are allocated to acquired soitware and customer related, trade name, and leases
acquired inlangibles. The remaining excess purchase price is allocated to goodwill that is not subject to amartization. Amortization expense related to acquired software is included with cost of
revenues while amorlizalion expense of customer and trade name intangibles is recorded as operaling expense. The estimaled useful lives of other intangibles range lrom ane 1o 25 years. The following
table sets forth 2 comparison of our amortization of ather intangibles for the years ended Tecember 31 ($ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 4 %
Amartization of other intangibles $ 61,363 § 44,849 § 16,514 37%

Amortization of other intangibles increased due to the impact of intangibles added with several acquisilions completed in 2022 and 2021,

Estimated annual amortization expense relating to customer related, trade name, and acquired tease intangibles, excluding acquired software for which the amortization expense is recorded as cost of
revenues, for the next five years and thereafter is as follows (in thousands):

2023 $ 70,233
2024 34,141
2025 53,404
2026 42,386
2027 52,143
Thereafter 524,162

The following table sets forth a comparison of our intetest expense for the years ended December 31 (3 in thousands);

Change
2022 2021 3 %%
Interest expense 3 2837 § (23,298) § {5,081) 2%

[nterest expense is comprised of interest expense and non-usage and other fees associated with our borrowings. The change in interest expense compared to the prior peried is attributable to an increase
in amortization expense related Lo debt issuance costs, resulting from our accelerated repayment of the term loans, coupled with an increase in interest rates compared to the prior period.

Dther income, net

The following table sets forth a comparison of our other income, net for the years ended December 31 (§ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 3 %
Other income, net ) 3 1,723 § L544 § 179 12%

Other income, net, is primarily comprised of interest income from invested cash, The change in other income, net, compared to the prior period is due to increased intersst income renerated from
invested cash as a result of higher intereat rates in 2022 compared Lo 2021,
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Fisldviciicdiing [HOVISION

The follewing table sets forth a comparison of our income tax provision for the years ended December 31 {$ in thousands):

Change
2022 2021 3 e
Income tax provision (benefit) & 23,353 3 2477y % 23,830 {1,043)%

Effective income fax rate 124% (1.6)%

The increase in the income tax provision and the effective income tax rate in 2022 compared Lo the prior period is principally driven by a decrease in excess tax benefits fram share-baged compensation
and an increase in liabilities for uncertain tax positions, offset by an increase in research tax credit benefits. The share-based exercise and vesting activity in 2022 generated 57.8 million of excess ax
benefits, while exercise and vesting activity in 2021 generaled 347.7 million of excess tax benefits, The tax benefits related to research tax credits totaled $31.3 millicn in 2022 compared to $5.0
millien in 2021, as a result of completing a multiyear rescarch and development tax credit study during 2022,

The effective income tax rates for the periods presented were different from the statutory Uniied States federal income tax rale of 21% primarily due to excess tax benefits from share-based
compensation and the tax benefits of research tax credits, offset by an increase in labilitics for uncertain tax positions, state income taxes, and nondeductible business expenses. Excluding the impact
of the excess tax benefits, uncertain tax positions and research credits, our income tax provision and effective tax rate in 2022 wouid have been $54.1 million and 28 8%, respectively, and in 2021,
wonld have been $50.6 million and 31.8%, respecrively.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $173.9 million compared to $309.2 million at December 31, 2021. We also had $55.5 million invested in investment grade corporate
bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed securities as of December 31, 2022, compared ta §98.7 million ar December 31, 2021. These investmants have varying maturity dates through 2027 and are
held as available-for-sale. As of December 31, 2022, we had $395.0 million outstanding borrowings under our 202 | Credit Agreement and one outstanding letter of credit totaling $1.5 million in favor
of a client contract, We believe our cash on hand, cash from operating activities, availability under our revolving line of eredit, and access to the credit markets provide us with sufficient flexibility to
meet our long-term financial needs,

The foliowing table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2022 2021 2020
Cash flows provided {used) by:
Operating aclivities 5 381,455 % 371,753 § 355,089
Tnvesting fetivities (172,530 (2,09¢,935) {58,320)
Financing activitics (344,239) 1,424,730 114,172
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $ {135314) 8 (294,452) $ 370,941

Nzt cash provided by operating activities continues to be our primary source of funds to finance operating needs and capital expenditures. Other potential capital resources inciude cash on hand, public
and private isseances of debt or equity securities, and bank borrowings. It is posaible that our ability to access the vapital and credit markets in the future may be limited by economic conditions er
other factors. We currenily believe thal our cash on hand, cash provided by operating activities, and available credit are sufficient to fund our working capital requirements, capital expenditures, income
tax obligations, and share repurchases for at least the next twelve months.

(11 2022, operating activities provided cash of $381.5 miliion compared te $371,8 million in 202 1. Operating activities that provided cash were primarily comprised of net income of $164.2 million,
non-cash depreciation and amortization charges of $159.1 million, non-cash share-based compensation cxpense of $103.0 million and non-gash amortization of operating lease right-ol-use assers of
$13.0 millien. Working capital, excluding cash, decreased approximately $60.6 million mainly due to timing of payments to and receipts from our goverrunent partners, timing of payments of payroll
related taxes and vendor invoices, and deferred laxes associated with tax research credits and stock option activity during the period. These decreases were offset by the timing of tax payments, prepaid
expenses, and increase in delerred revenuc during the period. In general, changes in deferred revenue are cyclical and primarily driven by the timing of our maintenance renewal billings. Qur renewal
dates occur throughout the year, but cur largest renewal billing cycles occur in the second and fourth quarters, Subscription renewals are billed throughout the year,

39




Days sales oulstanding (DSO) in accounts receivable were 115 days at December 31, 2022, compared to 108 days at December 31, 2021. D8O is caleulated based on quarter-end accounts receivable
divided by the quotient of annualized quarterly revenues divided by 360 duys. The increase in DSO compared to December 31, 2021, is atiributed to slower payments from certain large clients and
timing of receipts from our government partners.

Investing activities used cash of $172.5 million in 2022 compared to $2.1 billion in 2021. On October 31, 2022, we acquired Rapid Financial Solutions, L1.C, for the total purchase price, net of cash
acquired of $2.2 million, oF approximately $67.7 million, consisting of $51.2 million paid in cash, $18.2 million of common stack, and $500,000 related (o working capital holdbacks, subject ta certain
post-cloging adjustments. On May 31, 2022, we completed the acquisition of Quatred, LLC for the total cash price of approximately $637,000. On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Tne, for
the total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $6.4 million, of approximatety $116.5 million, consisting of $118.8 million paid in cash and approximately $4.1 mitlion related to indemnity holdbacks.
During 2022, we also paid approximalely $1.9 million in indemnily and working capital holdbacks related (o acquisitions completed in Jule 2021 Tn addition, approximately $27.6 million of sollware
development costs were capitalized. Approximately $22 5 million was invested in property and equipment, including $4.5 million related to real estate. The remaining additions were for computer
equipment and furniture and fixtures in suppart of growth, particularly with respect to data cenfers supporting growth in our cloud-based offerings,

[nvesting activities used cash of $2.1 billion in 2021. We invested $77.5 miilion and reeeived $13 1.4 million in proceeds from investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and assei-backed
sceurities with maturity dales ranging from 2022 through 2027. On Mareh 31, 2021, we completed two acquisitions with the total purchase price, net of cash acquired, of $12.1 million paid in cash, On
April 21, 2021, we completed the acquisition of NIC for the total purchase price of $2.0 billion, net of cash acquired of $331.8 million, including cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase
consideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock awards. On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendCngine for the total purchase price, uet of cash acquired of $1.7 million, of
approximately $83.8 million consisting of $80.2 million paid in cash and approximately 85.4 million related to indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. On September 9, 2021,
we acquired all of the equity interest of Arx for the total purchase price, net of cash acquired, of approximately $12.8 million, of which $12.3 willion was paid in cash and approximately $300,000 was
accrued for indemnity haldbacks. Approximately $33.9 million was invested in property and equipment, including $12.8 million related fo real estate. [n addition, approximately $21.7 million of
software development was capitalized in 2021, The remaining additions were for computer equipment and furniture and fixtures in support of internal growth, with the majerity associaled with our
dala centers supporting growth in cur cioud-based offcrings. These expenditures were funded from cash generated from oporations,

Financing activities nsed cash of $344 2 million in 2022 compared (o cash provided of $1.4 billion in 2021, primarily attributable to repayment of $360.0 million of term debt, partially offset by
payments received from stock option exercises, net of withheld shares for taxes upon equity award and employee stock purchase plan activity

Finaneing activities provided cash of $1.4 billion in 2021. Financing activities in 2021 were primarily comprised of proceeds from the issuance oF the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit
Agreement, On March 9, 2021, we issued $600.0 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes. The net proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $391.4
million, net of initial purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 millioh and debt issuance casts of $2.6 million. On April 21, 2021, in connection with the completion of the NIC acquisition, the Company, as
borrower, entered into a new 2021 Credit Agreement with various lenders cansisting of’an unsecured revelving credit facility of up to $500.0 million and unsecured term loans totaling $900.0 million.
The nat proceeds from the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net of debt discaunts of $7.2 million and debt issuance costs of $4.9 million and $6.4 miliion of commnitment
fees paid related to the terminated $1.6 billion unsecurcd bridge loan facility. During the twelve months ended December 31,2021, we repaid $250.0 million of the unsecured revolving credit facility
and $145.0 million of the term debt. The remainder of the linancing activilies was comprised of receipts of $109.9 million from stock oplion exercises and employee stack purchase plan activity. We
also purchased approximately 33,000 shates of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million,

In February 2019, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 1,5 million shares of our commont stock. The repurchase program, which was approved by our board of directors,
was originally announced in October 2002 and was amended at various times from 2003 through 2019, As of February 22, 2023, we have authorization from our board of directors ta repurchasc up to
2.3 million additional shares of sur commean stock, Our share repurchase program allows us io repurchase shares at our <iscretion. Marlel conditions influence the liming of the buybacks and Lhe
number of shares repurchased, as well as the volume of emplovee stock option exercises. Share repurchases are generally funded using our existing eash balances and borrowings under our credit
facility and may oceur through open market purchases and transactions structured th rough investment banking institutions, privately negotiated transactions and/or other mecharisms. There is ne
expiration date specifiad for the authorization and we intend to repurchase stock under the plan from time to time.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had $600 million in outstanding principal for the Convertible Setior Notes due 2026 Under gur 2021 Credit Agresment, we had $395 million in outsianding principal for
the Term Loans, no cutstanding borrowings under the 2021 Revolving Credit Tacility, and an available borrowing capacity of $500 million as of December 31, 2022. As of December 31,2022, we had
ofie outstanding letter of credit totaling $1.5 million. The letter of eredit, which guarantees our performance under a client contract, renews automatically anmually untess canceled in writing and
expires in the third quarter of 2026. For the twelve months ended December 31,2022, we repaid $360 million of the Term Loans under 2021 Credit Agrcement.

We paid interest of $21 3 million in 2022, §17.7 million in 2021, including $6.4 million related to the senior unsecured bridge loan facility commitment fee in 2021, and §61 0,000 in 2020. See Note 6,
“Debt,” to the cansolidated financial staiements for discussions of the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit Agreetnent,

We paid income taxes. net of refunds received, of $38.5 million in 2022, $2 2 million in 2021, and $3.3 million in 2020, [n 2022, stock oplion exercise activity generated net tax benefits of $7.8 million
and reduced tax payments accordingly, as compared to $47.7 million and $60.2 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively,

For tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (*TCIA™) eliminates the option to currently deduet research and development expenses and requires taxpayers to
capitalize and amortize them over five years {or research activities performed in the {United States and 15 years for research activitics perfanmed outside the United States pursuant to IRC Section 174.
Although Congress is considering legislation that would repeal or defer this capitalization and amortization requirement, it is not certain that this provision will be repealed or otherwise modified. If the
requirement is not repealed or replaced, it will increase our U, 8. federal and state cash tox payments and reduce cash flows in fiscal year 2023 and future years,

We anlicipate that 2023 capital spending will be between $68 million and $70 million, including approximately $ 16 million related to rea! esiate and approximately $37 million of software
development. We expect the majority of the other capital spending will consist of computer equipment and soflware for infrastructure replacements and expansion. We also expect cash tax payments to
be higher as a result of IRC Section |74, Capital spending and cash tax payments are expected to be funded from existing cash balances and cash flows from operations,

From time (o lime we engage in discussions with polential acquisition candidates, Tn order to pursue such opportunities, which could require significant commitments of capital, we may be required Lo
incur debt or o issue additianal potentially dilutive securities in the future. No nssurance can be given as to our future acquisition opportunitics and how such opportunities will be financed.

We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our leases are non-cancelable operating lease agreements and they expire from one to (2
years. Some of these leases inchude options to extend for up to six years.

Our cstimated futurc obligations consist of debt, uncertain tax positions, leases, and purchase cotmitments as of December 31, 2022, Refer to Note 6. “Debt,” Note 10, “Tneorme Tax,” Notc 14,
“Leases,” and Note 16, “Commitment and Conlingencies,” 1o the consolidated financial statements for related discussions,

CAPITALIZATION

At December 31, 2022, our capitalization consisted of $987 4 million of outstanding debt and $2.6 billion of sharehalders equily.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affect us duc to adverse changes in financial marlket prices and interest rates.

As of Becember 31, 2022, we had $395.0 miilion of outstanding borrowings under our 2021 Credit Agreement and available barrowing capacity under the 2021 Credit Agreement was $3500.0 million.

Borrowings under the Revalving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A=1 bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Administrative Agent’s prime commiercial lending
rate (subject to certain higher rate detenminations) (the “Base Rate”) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or (2) the one-, threes, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus
a margin of 1.125% 10 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 bears interest, at the Company’s eption, at a per arnum rate of either (1] the Base Rate plus a margin of 0% tc 0.5% or (2) the ong-, three-, six=, or,
subject te approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus & margh of 0.875% to 1.5%,

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, the effective interest rate for our borrowings was 3.79%. Based on the apgregate ovlstanding principal balance under the 2021 Credit Agreement
as ol December 31, 2022, of 83950 million, each quarter point change in interest rates would result in a S1.0 million change in annual interest expense.
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In January 2023, we amcnded our 2021 Credit Agreement to replace the LIBOR reference rate with the SOFR reforcnce rale. Assuming that SOIR replaces LIBOR and is approprintely adjusted to
equate Lo one-month LIBOR, we cxpeet thar there should be minimal impact on our operations.

[TEM 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
"The reparts of our independent registered public aceounting firm and aur financial stalements, related notes, and supplementary data are included as part of this Annual Report beginning on page F-1.
ITEM 9. CIIANGES [N AND DISAGREEMENTS WiTIT ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls und Provedures

We maintain disclosure contrels and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(c} of the Securities [ixchange Act) designed lo provide reasonable assurance that the information required ta be disclased by
us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time perieds specitied in the SECs rules and forms, These include controls and
procedures designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chicf exceutive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Management, with the participation of the chief executive officer and chisf financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2022, Based on this evaluation, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2022,

Management § Report an Internal Control Over Financia! Reporting

Tyler’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining eifective interal control over fnancial reporting as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Tyler’s interna! control over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to Tyler’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair pragentation of published financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over tinancial reporiing may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can pravide only
reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Tyler's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022. In muking this assessment. management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Grganizations of the Treadway Comimission (2013 framework) (the COS0 criteria). Based on our assessment, we concludad that, as of December 31, 2022, Tyler’s internal
control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

Tyler's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who also audited Tyler’s financial
slatements. Ernst & Young’s attestation report on Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting uppears o page F-1 hereof.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended December 31, 2022, there were no changes in our internal contral gver financial reporting, as defined in Securities Fxchange Act Rule 13a-15¢f), that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reparting,

ITEM 9B, OTHER INFORMATION.

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS, !

None,
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PART IIT

See the information under the following captions in Tyler’s definitive Proxy Statement, which is incorparated herein by reference. Only those sections of th
the 1tems set forth herein are incorporated by reference. Such incorporation by reference does not include (+

he Proxy Statement that specifically address
Comimittee Report, which are included in the Proxy Statement.

he Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the Compensation Committee Report or the Audit

Headings in Proxy Statement
ITEM 0.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE,

“Tyler Management™ and “Corporate Governance Principles and Board Matters™

ITEM I1. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

*Executive Compensation™

[TEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICTAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKITOLDER MATTERS.

“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management”
ITEM [3. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND REL.ATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE.

“Executive Compensation" and
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions™

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUINTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required under this item may be found under the section captioned “Proposals For Consideration —
when filed.

Proposal Two — Ratificalion of Qur [ndependent Auditors for Fiscal Year 2022 in our Proxy Statement
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PART IV
ITEM [5. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

The foliowing documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

{a) (1) The financial statements are filel as part of this Annual Report.
Page

Leporis ol Indenendent Registered Pyublic Accounting Firm (PCAOR 1D: 42) Fal

idnted ts of In for the vears ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 Eed

Congoljdated Statemenits of Comprehensive Income for the years ended Degermber 3 2022, 2021, and 2020 E-5

o idated Bal Shects 5. ccember 31, 2022 and 2021 ExG,

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flaws for the years ended December 3 1,2022 2021, and 2020 -3

Consoli latemen hareholders’ Equity for the years ended Decembgr 31,2022 2021, and 2020 F-9

Naoi onsolidated Financial 8 Tts F-10

(2) Financial statement schedules:

Thete are no financial statement schedules filed as part of this Annual Report, since the required information is inctuded in the financial slatements, including the notes thereto, or the
circumstances requiring inclusion of such schedules are not presenl.

(3) Exhibits
Certain of the exhibits to this Annual Report are hereby incorporated by reference, as specified:
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Txhibit

Description

Numher

31 Restated Centificate of incorporation of Tyler Three, as amended through May 14, 1990, and Certificate of Designalion of Series A Junior Participating Preferved Stock (filed ns Exhibit 3.1 to our Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1990, and incorporated by relerence herein).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K, daled February 19, 1998, and incorporated by reference herein).

33 Amended and Restated By-Lavs of Tyler Technologies e, dated Febiuary 1, 2022 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 1g oyr Fonp 81 dated February, 7, 2022, and incorporated by referenge hecein),

34 Certificate of Amendment dated May 19, 1999 19 the Restated Certilicate of Incorporation (filed as Fxhibit 3.4 to our Ferm 10-K for the year ended Devember 31, 2000, and ingorporated by reference
herein}.

4.1 Specimen of Comman Stock Certificate {liled as Exhibit 4.1 (0 our registration stalement no. 33-33503 and iucorporated by reference herein).

42 Third Amendment to the Credit Apreement dated January 37, 2023, among Tyler Technologies, Inc, and Wells Farpe Bank, N, &, as Adminisuative Apeat and other lenders parly hereto (filed as Exhibit
4.2 to gur Foun 10-K dated Febmgry 22, 2023, and incorporated by reference herein).

43 CrediAsreanent dated April 21, 2021, aimong Tyler Technoleaies. ng, and Wells Farga Bank, . A s Administrative Apent and gther lenders party berero {(led as Exhibit 10,1 gg gur Forg 8§21
dated April 21, 2021, and incorporated by reference heren),

4.4 Agreement and Plan of Merper, dated February 9, 2021 by and among Tyler Techuologies, Inc., Topos Acquisition, Tne., and NIC, fne.(filed ag Exhibii 2.1 to our Form 8-K, dated February 10, 2021,
and incorporated by reference hereln).

4.5 Indenture, dated s of March 9, 2021, between Tyler Technologjes, Inc. and U.S. Bank Nationsl Association, ag trugieg. relating to the 0.23% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 _filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
our Form 8K, dated March 9, 2021, and incorperated by reference hercin,)

10t Employee Stock Purchase Plan (fited as Exhibit 10.1 to our registration statement 333183318 dated June 23, 2012 gnd jnggrmorated by reference herein).

143

Employment and Non-Competition Apreement between Tyler Technolgpies, Tne, gnd Jobi §, B, . effective February 26, 2018 {filed as Fxhibit 10,1 o qur Form 8-K dated March 9, 2018 ang
- o .
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Fxhiblt

Description

Number
183 Lmployment and Non=Competjtion A greement betwsen Tyler Technglorics, Inc, and Bran K., Miller effegiive February 26, 2018 (fil Exhibi o cur Form 8- March 9, 2018 ang
ingor by teference herein),
lo4 Employment and Non-Competition A gregment between Tyler Technologies, Ine. and H, Lynn Muore, Jr effective Feliiary 26, 2018 (fited &s Exhibir 10,2 rForm 8-K dared Mareh 9, 2018 and
incorporated by referenge herefy),
105 i;_&grcemant al}l]d plan of merger by and smong Tyler Technalogies, Inc. TMP Subsidiary, (ng.. P Holding Parent, Inc. (filed a5 Exhibit 0.7 to our Form 10-K, dafed February 20, 2019 and incorporated
by reference herein),
188 Iwler Techielogjes, Inc. 2018 Stock Optian Plan effective as of Mgy 9. 2018 (filed as Appendix A to the tegistrant's Proxy Statement filed with the Commission on March 28, 2018 and ingorpornted by
reference herein),
¥ Subsidiaries of Tyler Technoiopies, Ing,
*23 Consent of lndependent Registered Public Accauniing Finm,
*311 Rule 13a-14(g) Certilication by Principal Executive Officer,(a} Certification by Principal Executive Officer,
*312 Rule 13g-1444) Certification by Principal Financial Officer,
*32.1 Section 1350 Cerfifigation of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Fingngial Officer.
*1OLINS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the Insiance Document does not appear in the interactive data file because its XBRL tags, including Caver Page XBRL tags, are embadded within the Inline XBRL
Document.
*101,8CH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docutent.
#101.CAL Inling XBRL Taxonomy Extension Caloulation Linkbase Document.
*101.LAB Inline XBRL Exlension Labels Linkbase Document.
*101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
*101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Liitkbase Document,
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 10},

- Filed herewith.

A copy of each exhibit may be obtained at a price ot 15 cents per page, with 2 $10.00 minimum order, by writing Investor Relations, 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, Texas 75024,
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section

authorized,

below.

Date: February 22, 2023

SIGNATTRIES

3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf'by the undersigned, thereunto duly

TYLER TECHNOLOQGIES, INC

By:

/s HL Lynn Moore, Ir.

IL Lynn Moore, Ir
Presidant and Chief Executive Dfficer
{principal executive oificer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the following persons on behalf of the refgistrant and in the capacities and an the dates indicated have signed this report

Date: February 22, 2023

Date: February 22, 2023

Date: February 22, 2023

Date: February 22, 2023

Date: February 22, 2023

Date: February 22, 2023

Date; February 22, 2023

Dale: February 22, 2023

Date: February 22, 2023

Date: Febryary 22, 2023

By

By:

By:

By:

By:

By

By

By

By

By:
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s/ John 5. Marr, Jr.

John 8. Marr, Jr.

Extecutive Chairman of the Board
Director

s/ H. Lynn Moare, Jr.

H Lyan Maore, Jr

President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal cxecutive officer)

s/ Brian K. Miller

Brian K. Miller

Executive Vice Prosidunt and Chicf Financial Officor
(principal financial officer)

s/ Jason P. Durham

Jasan P Durham

Chief Accowtting Officer
{principal avcawnting officer)

fs/ Glenn A, Carter
Glean A Carter
Direclor

/s/ Brenda A, Cline
Brenda A, Cline
Dirselar

/3 Romwic . Hawkins, Jr
Ronnje D. Hawkins, Jr
Director

fa/ Mary Landrieu .
Maty Landrieu
Thrector

#s/ Daniel M. Dope
Daniel M. Pope
Directar

5/ Duslin R, Womble
Dustin R, Wonible
Directar




Description of
the Mutter

How We Addressed the
Matrer in Quir Auclit

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Goodwill itpuirment tests

As of Decernber 31, 2022, the Company’s goodwill balance of $2.5 billion was atiributable Lo multiple reporting units. As disclused in Note | 1o the consolidated
financial statements, poodwill is assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may
noi be recoverable. The Company begins with a qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying
value befure applying a quantilative assessment. During the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company performed a quantitative assessment for goodwill associated with
reporting units comprised of more recently acquired businesses, which do not have significant excess fair values over canying values.

Auditing management’s quantilative analyses for goodwill impainment was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant judgement required to determine
the fair value of these reparting units, [n particular, the Company’s fair value estimates for these reporting units were sensitive to significant assumptions, such as
weighted average cost of capital and revenue growth rates which are forward looking and affected by expectations about future market or economic condstions,

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s review process for quantitative goodwiil
impaitment assessments, including controls ever management’s review of the significant assumptions described above.

To test the estimated fair value of the applicable reporting units, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing the methodologies and testing
the significant assumptions discusscd abeve and the underlying data used by the Company in its analyses. We evaluated management’s forceasted revenuc to
identify, understand and evaluate changes as compared to historical results 2nd performed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to evaluate the changes in
the fair value of the reporting units that wonld result from changes in the assumptions. We also involved internal valuation specialists to assist in evaluating
management’s methodalogies and significant assumptions applied in developing the fair value estimates.

We have scrved as the Company’s auditor since 1966,

Dallas, Texas

February 22, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To Ihe Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Cortral over Financial Reporting

We have audited Tyler Technologies, [nc.’s interna! control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criterfa established in Interng! Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimission {2013 framework) (the CDSO criteria). In our opirion, Tyler Technologies, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control aver financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based or: the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States) (PCACB), the consolidated balance sheeis of the Company as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, sharcholders® equily and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 3 1, 2022, and
the refated notes and our report dated February 22, 2023 expressed an unqualified apinior theraon.

Rasis Tor Opiunion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial teporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
included in the accompanying Management’s Report an Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial
reporting based on our andit. We arc a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required o be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U S, federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included oblaining an understanding of internal control over finaneial reporting, assessing the risk (hai a material weakness exists, tesling and evalualing the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such ather procedures as we congidered negessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonabls basis
for our opinien.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Contro] Over Finaneial Reporting

A company’s internal contral over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the telrability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's intemal contral over {Inancial reporting includes those pelicies and procedures that (1) pertain ta the
maintgnance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of (he company, (2} provide reasonable assuranee that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statciments in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting principles, and that recei pts and expenditurcs of the comparty are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s nssets that could have a material effect on the financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over {inancial reporting may not prevent or detect missiatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Dallas, Texas

February 22, 2023
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consolidated Statemenis of [ncome

For the years ended T3ecember 31,

{In thousands, except par share amounts)

Revenues:
Subscriptions
Maintenance
Professional services
Software licenses and royaltics
Appraisal services
Hardware and other
Total revenues

Cost of revenues:
Subseriptions, maintenance and professional services
Software licenses and royalties
Amodization of software development
Amortization of acquired software
Appraisal services
Hardware and other
Tolal cost of revenues

Gross proflt

Sales and marketing expense
General and administrative expense
Research and development expense
Amottization of other intangibles

Operating ingeme

Interest expense
Other income, el
Incame before incoine taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)
Net inceme

Earnings per somimon share:
Basic
Diluied

Sea qccompanying rotes.

2022 2020 2020

$ 1012304 & 784,435 § 350,648
468,455 474,287 467,513

243,117 209,391 186,409

59,406 74,452 73,164

34,508 27,788 21,127

32,414 21,934 17,802

1,850,204 1,592,287 1.116.662

953,897 799,158 510,504

6,083 3552 3339

6,307 2,325 —

52,192 45,601 31,962

23,988 12,061 15,945

23,67 12,946 12,401

1,066,341 882,643 574,151

783,863 709,644 542,512

135,743 118,624 98 466

267,324 271,955 161,095

105,184 93,481 88,363

61,363 44,349 21,662

214,249 180,735 172,926
(28379 (23.298) (1,013

1,723 1,544 3,129

187,503 158981 175,042
23,353 {2,477) (19,778)

s 164,240 § 161458 § 194,820
3 3195 § 395§ 4.87
3 387 § 382 § 4.69




Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consalidated Statements of Comprehensive [ncome
For the years ended December 31,

tIn thousands)

2022 2021 2020
Met income $ 164,240 % 161458 & 194,820
Other comprehensive Loss, net of tax:
Securities available-forsale and transfered securities:
{Change i net unrealized holding losses on avaiizble for sale securities during the perfod

1850y —
Reclassification adjustment of unrealized losses on securities transferred fiom held-to-maturity an — —_

Reclassificaion adjustinent lor nel foss on gale of available for sale securities, included in net income 79 —_
QOther comprehensive loss, net of tax (798) — e
Comprehiensive income g 163,442 § 161 438 § 194,820

See accompanying nols.
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Consolidaied Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value and share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cesh equivalents

Accounts receivable (less allawance for losses and sales adjustments of $14,761 in 2022 and
512,086 in 2021)

Short-terny investments

Trepaid expenses

Income tax receivable

Other current assels

Total current assets

Accounts receivable, long-term
Operating lease right~of-use asscts
Property and equipment, net
Other assets:

Saftware development costs, net

Goodwill

Other intangibles, net

Mon-virrent inveshments

Other non-current assels

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities.
Agcounls payahle
Accrued liabilites
Operating lcase liabilitics
Income tax payable
Deferred revenue
Current portion of tetm loans
Tolal current liabilities
Revolving fing of credit
Term loans, net
Convertible senior notes due 2026, net
Deferred revenne, long-term
Deferred incomae taxes
Operating tease liabilities. long-term
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitinents and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Preforeed stock, $10.06 per value; 1,000,000 shares anthorized; none issued

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 48,147,969 shares
issucd in 2022 and 2021

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive logs, net of tax

Retained eatnings

Treasury stock, at cost: 6,364,991 and 6,832,640 shares in 2022 and 2021, respectively
Tota} sharcholders' equity

See accompantying Hotes.

-6

December 31, 2022

December 31, 2021

$ 173,857 % 369,173
577257 521,059

37,030 52,300

50,859 55,513

— 18,137

8.239 8,151

847,242 964,331

8271 13,937

50,989 39,720

172,786 181,193

48,189 28,489

2,439,308 2,359,674

1,002,164 1,052,493

18,308 46,353

49,560 43,971

5 4,687,417 § 4,732,161
$ 104,813 § 119,988
131,941 158,424

10,736 10,360

43,667 —_

568,538 510,529

30,000 30,000

839,603 829,501

362,905 718,511

594,484 592,765

2,037 38

148,891 228,085

48,049 36,336

i 16,967 2,893
2,063,028 2,408,129

481 481

1,209,725 1,075,650
(844) {46}

1,437,854 1,273,614

(22,827) (25.667)

2,674,389 2,324,032

5 4687417 § 4732, 161




Tyter Technotogies, Tnc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31

(In thousands})

2022 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income 3 164,240 § 161458 % 194,820
Adjushnents to reconcile net ingome to cash provided by operating activitics:
Depreciation and amortization 159,072 135,624 81.657
Laosses from sale of investments 45 — -
Share-based compensation expense 102,585 104.726 67,305
Provision for losses and sales adjustinents - acoounts recelvable 2,781 2,831 3,517
Amertization of operaling lease right-of-use nssets 12,969 . 10216 5,782
Deferred jucome tax benefit (87,192) (13,271) (7.936)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, exclusive of eftects of acquired companies:
Accounts receivable (51,410) 17,608 (10,733)
Facome tax receivable 61,940 10.258 (15,117)
Prepaid expenses aud other gurrent asseis 910 (23,363) (8,304)
Accounts payable (17,537 (44,947) (967)
Operaling {ease liabilities (12,396) {6,952) (6,549)
Acerued labilities (24,344) (24,822) 2,870
Deferred revenus 39,460 44 874 48,684
Other longsterm labilities 9,932 {1,987) —
Net cash provided by operating activities 381,455 37,753 355,089
Cash flows from investing acthvities:
Additions to property and equipment {22.529) (33,919 (22.690)
Purchase of marketable security investments (29,935} (774500 {156,618)
Proceeds and maturilics Irom marketable security investments 71,034 131,449 82,742
Purchase of investment in common shares — — (16,000)
Proceeds from the sale of investment in preferred shares — — 15,000
tavestment in software development (27,622) (21,693) {5,776)
Cost of acquisitions, nel of cash acquired (163,921 (2,089,706) (1,292)
Other 443 384 314
WNet cash used by investing activitics (172,330) (2,050,935} {98,320)
Cash flows trom financing activities:
Net borrowings on revolving credit facility — — —
Payment on term loans {360,000) (145,000) —_
Proceeds from term: loans —_ 900,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes —_ 600,000 —_—
Payment of debt issuance costs — (27,165) —
Purchese of treasury shares — (12971 (15,484
Payment of contingent consideraticn — — (5,619)
Proceeds fiom exercise of stock options, net of withheld shares for taxes upon equity award (890) 96,714 124,363
Contributions from employee stock purchase plan 16,651 13,158 10,912
Net cash (used) provided by financing activities (344,239} 1,424,730 114,172
Net (decreasc) increase in cash and cash equivalents (135,314) {294,452) 370,941
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 309,171 603,623 232,682
Cash and cash equivalents at end of peried 3 173,857 & 309,171 % 603,623

See acconpanying notes.

F-1




Supplemental cash flow information;
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes, net
Non-cash tnvesting and financing activities:
Nan-cash additions to property and equipment
Issuance of shares for acquisitions
Purchase consideralion for conversion of unvested restricted stock awards
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2021

2020

21256 %

38,490
169 3

18,168

17,728
2,212

233

1,872

Glo
3,203
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Sharcholders™ Equity

Tor the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020
(In thousands)

Balance at Decomber 31, 2019
Net income
Issuance of shares pursuant to stock compensation pien

Emplovee taxes paid for withheld shares upon cquity award
settlement

Stock compensation
Issuance of shares pursuant o employee stock purchase plan
Treasury stock purchases
Ralance at December 31, 2020
Net income
Exercise of stack options antd vesting of restricted stock units

Emplayee taxes paid for withheld shares upon equity award
settlement

Stock compensation
Issuance of shares pursnant to employes stock purchase plan
Treasury stock purchases

Purchase consideration for conversion of unvested restricted
stock awards

Balance at December 31, 2021
Net income
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Exercige of stock options and vesting of resiricled stock units

Employee taxes paid for withheld shares upon equity award
settlement

Stock comipensation
Issuance of shares pursuant 1o employee stock purchase plan
Treaswy stoek purchases
[ssuance of shares for acquisitions
Balace at December 31, 2022

See qecompanying nofes.

Comman Stock Additional Accumulated Other Treasury Stock Total
Paid-in Camprehensive R d Shareholders'
Shares Amoun| Capital Income {Loss) Earnliiys Shares Amounl Equily
48,148 § 481 739478 8 (46) S 27,336 {8,839) § f40,191) § 1,617,058
— — — — 194,820 —_ —_ 194,820
— — 90,636 — — 1,283 33,727 124,363
— — — — — 34) (12,923) (12,923)
— — 67,365 — — — — 47,365
— — 7,853 -— — 40 3,059 10,912
— — — — — (39) (15,484) {15,484)
48,148 4R1 905,332 (46) 1,112,156 (7,609 {31.812) 1,986,111
— — — e 161,458 o — 161,458
— — 30,831 — — 832 45,883 96,714
— —_ —_— — — (58) (27,030) {27,030)
— - 164,726 e — — — 104,726
— - 12,889 — — 33 269 13,158
— — — — — (33) (12,977 (12,977
— — 1,872 — — — — 1,872
48,148 481 1,075,650 (46) 1.273614 {6,833) (25,667) 2,324,032
— — — — 164,240 — — 164,240
— — — (758) — — — {798)
— — (3.218) — — 433 29,547 26,329
— o — — — (70} {22.219 (27.219)
—_ — 102,985 — —_ — — 132,985
— — 16,365 — — 49 286 16,651
— — 17,943 — — 36 226 18,169
43,148 § 481 1,209,725 § (84 35 1437854 {6,365) § (22,827) § 2,024,389




Tyler Technologics, Inc.
Nates to Consolidated Financial Statements
{Tables in thousands, excepl per share data)

th) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We provide integraled sollware systems and related services for Lhe public sector. We develop and market o broad line of software solutions and services (o address the information technelogy (“IT™)
needs primarily of cities, counties, states, schools, federal agencies, and other government entities. We provide subscription=based services such as software as a service ("SaaS™), transaction=based fees
primarily related to digital government services and online payment processing, and electronic document filing solutions (“e-filing”}, which simplify the filing and management of court related
documents. In addition, we provide professional TT services, ineluding software and hardware installaiion, data conversion, training, and for certain custemers, product modifications, along with
cotitinuing maintenance and support for customers using our systems. Additionally, we provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The conselidated financial statements include our parent company and 62 subsidiaries, which are wholly-owned. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have heen eliminated in
conselidation. Comprehensive income (1oss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transaciions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sourcas
and includes all compaonents of net income {loss) and other comprehensive income {loss). During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we had approximately $798,000 of other comprehensive
loss, net of taxes, from our available-for-sale investment holdings. We did not have material items of other comprehensive income during the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. We have elected to present amortization of software development, previously included in the cost
of revenues software licenses and royalties line item, in a separate category line item on the consolidated statements of income for all reporting periods presented. We also have clected to present sales
and marketing expense and general and administrative expense, previously disclosed as selling, general, and adiministrative expense, as separale category Jine items on the consolidated statements of
inceme for all reporting periods presented.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in excess ol that necessary for operaling requirements is invested in shori~term, highly liquid, income-producing investments. Investments with original maturities of three months or less are
classified es cash and cash equivalents, which primarily consist of cash en deposit with several banks and moncy market funds, Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market
vatue.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Nature of Products and Services

We earn revenues from subscription-based services, post-contract customer support (“TCS” or “maintenance™), professional services, software licenses and royzlties, appraisal services, and hardware
and other. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised praducts or services Lo customers in an gmount that reflects the consideration we expect 1o receive in exchange for those products
or services. We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

< Tdentification of the contract, or contracts, with a custemer

= Ideniification of the performance obligations in the contract

+  Determination of the transaction grice

«  Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
*  Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance abligation
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Our software arrangements with customers contain multiple performance abligations that range from software licenses, installation, training, and consulting to software modification and customization
te meet specific customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. For these contracts, we aceounl for individual performance obligations separately when they are distinet. We evaluate whether separate
perfarmance obligations can be distinet or should be accounted for as one performance obligation. Arrangements that include professional services, such as training or installation, are evaluated to
determine whether those services are highly interdependent or interrelated to the product’s funclionality. The transaction price is allocated to the distingt performance obligations on a refative
standalone selling price (“SSP™) basis. We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our contracts,
the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our contracts. Revenue is recognized net of allowances for sales adjustments and any taxes collected from
cuslomers, which are subsequently remitied (o governmental autherities,

Subscription-Based Services:

Subscription-based services consist primarily of revenue derived from SaaS arrangements, digifal government services, payment precessing, and e-filing. For Saa$ arrangements, we evaluate whether
the customer has the contractual right to take possession of our software at any time during the hasting period without significant penalty and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the sofiware
an the custorner’s hardwarc or cnter into another arrangement with a third-party to host the sottware, We allocate contract valuc to ench performance cbligation of the arrangement that qualifies for
irealment as a distinct glement based on estimated SSP. We recopnize Saa$ services ratably over the term of Lhe arrangement, which range fiom one Lo 10 years, bul are Lypically for 4 period of (hree to
five years. For professional services associated with certain SaaS arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinct, and we recognize the revenue ratably over the remaining
contractual period once we have provided the customer access to the sofiware. We record amaunts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on
whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Transaction-based fees primarily relate to digital government services and orline payment services, which are sometimes offered with the assistance of third-parly vendors. In general, when we are [he
principal in a transaction, we record the revenue and related costs on a gross basis. Otherwise, we net the cost of revenue associated with the service against the gross revenue (amount billed to the
customer) and record the net amount as revenue.

E-filing transaction fees primerily pertair te documents filed with the courts by attorneys and other third-partics via our e-filing services and refrieval of tiled documents via our access services. For
each document filed with a court, the (iler generally pays a [ransaction fee and a court filing fee (o us and we remit a portion of the Lransaction lee and the filing fee (o the court. We record as revenue
the transaction fee, while the portion of the transaction fee remitted to the courts {5 recorded as cost of revenues as we are acting as an agent in the arrangement. Court filing fees collected on behalf of
the courts and remitted to the courls are recorded on a net basis and thus do not affect our consolidated statements of income.

For e-filing transaction fees and transaction-based rcvenues from digital government services and online payments, we have the ri ght to charge the customer an amount that directly corresponds with
the value to the customer of our performance to date. Theretore, we recognize revenues for these services over time based on the ameunt bitlable to the custemer. [n SOme cuses, we ars paid on a fixed
fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably aver the contractual period. Typically, the structure of our arrangements does not give rise to variable consideration. However, in those instances whereby
vatizble consideration exists, we include in our estimates, additional revenues for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceabla right, the amaunt can be estimated reliably and its
realization is probable.

Costs of performing services under subscription-based arrangements are expensed as incurred, except for certain direer and incremental contract arigination and set~up costs associated with Saa$
arrangements. Such direet and incremental costs are capitalized and amaortized ratably over the peried of benefit,

Software Arrangements;
Software Licenses and Rovallies

Many of our software arrangements involve “off-the-shelf” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to “off-the-shell™ software licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when contrel of
the software license transfers to the customer, unisss the saftware is not considered distinet. We consider "off-the-shelf" software to be distinct when it can be added to an arrangement with minor
changes in the underlying eode, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as training are not considered highly interdependent or
interrelated to the product's functionality.
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For arrangements thal involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where professional services are otherwise not considered distinet, we recognize revenue aver
time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measurs progress-te-cempletion primarily using labor heours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which occurs as we incur
costs on our contracts. These acrangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise tolal cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated
using lhe progress-to-completion measurement afler giving effect Lo any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when access to the sofiware license is made available to the customer and the remainder of

the fee due over a passage of time stipulated by the contract. We record amounis that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending en whether the revenue
recognilion criteria have been met.

We recognize royalty revenue when the sale occars under the terms of our third-party royaily arrangements, Currently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an estimated basis and adjusted if
needed, when we receive notice of amounts we are entitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenue we are entitled to and amounts are billed on a quarterly basis in the quarter
immediately following the royalty reporting period, and adjustments have not been significant,

Professional Services

As noted above, some of our software arrangements inchude services considered highly interdependent or highly interrelated or require significant customization to meet the custamer's desired
fnctionality. For these software arrangements, both the software licenses and related professional services revenue are net distinct and are recognized over time using the progress-to-completion
method, We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts, Contract fees
are typically billed on 2 milestone basis as defined within conlract lerms. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether
the revenue recognition criteria have been met. When professional services are distinct, the fee allocable to the service element s recognized over the time we perform the services and is billed on a
time and matsrial basis.

Post-Contract Cusiomer Suppor{

Our custemers generally enter into PCS agreements when they purchase our software licenses. PCS includes telephone support, bug fixes, and rights to apgrades on a when-gnd-if available basis. PCS
is considered distinst when purchased with our software licenses. Our PCS agreements are typically renewable annually, PCS is recognized over time on 2 straight-line basis over the period the PCS is
provided. All significant costs and expenses associated with PCS are expensed as incurred.

Compinter Hardwore Equipment

Revenue allocable to computer hardware cquipment is recognized at a point in time when control of the equipment is transizreed to the customer,

Appraisal Services:

For our preperty appraisal projects, we recognize revenue using the progress-to-completion method since many of these projects are executed over one to three-year periods and consist of various
unique activitics. Appraisal services require a significant level of infegration and interdependency with various individual service components; therefore, the service components are not considered
distinct, Appraisal services are recognized over time by measuring progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control Lo the customer which oceurs as
We incur costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often executed over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates, Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated
using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving eifect to any changes in our cost estimates, Changes Lo total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined,
Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent, Contract fees are typically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract
terms. We record amounts that have been invoiced in aceounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenne recopnition criteria have been met.
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Signrficant Judgments:

Cur contracts with customers often include multiple performance obligations to a customer. When a software arrangement (license ot subscription) includes both soltware licenses and professional
services, judgment is required to determine whether the software license is considered distinct and accounted for separately, or not distinct and accounted for together with the professional services and
recognized over time.

The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market
conditions and other factors, including Lhe vaiue of our contracls, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our coniracts. We use a range of amounts to
estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately and need to determine whether there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products and services.
Tn instances where SSP is not directly ebservable, such as when we do not sell the product or service separalely, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modiffeaticn, or customization of the software, or where professional services otherwise cannot be considered distinct, we recognize revenne as
control is transferred Lo the custemer over Lime using progress-to-campletion methods. Depending on the contract, we tmeasure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred, or value
added. The progress-to-completion method generally resulls in the recognition of reasonably consistent profit margins over the life of a contract because we can provide reasonably dependable
estimates of contract billings and contract costs. These arrangements are often implemented over an extended lime period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized
in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement alter giving effoct to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimaled contract costs, if any, are recorded in the
periad they are determined, Estimated Josses on uncompleted contraels are recorded in Lhe period in which we first determine thal a loss is apparenl.

Refer to Note 18 - "Disaggregation of Revenue” for further information, including the economic factors that affect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows of our various
revenue categaries.

Contract Balances:
Accownts receivable and allowance for losses and sales adjusiments

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the Liming of invoicing lo customers. We record an unbilled receivable when revenue is recagnized prior to invoicing, or deferred revenue when
invoicing occurs prior to revenue recognition, For multi-year agreements, we generally invoice customers annually at the beginning of each annual coverage period. We record an unbilled receivable
related to revenue recognized for an-premises licenses as we have an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment in the future telated to those licenses.

[ty connection with our appraisal scrvices contracts and certain professional services contracts, we may perform work prior to when the softwarc and services arc billable and/or payable pursuant to the
contract. Unbilled revenue is not billable at the balance sheet date but {s recoverable over the remaining life of the contract through billings made in accordance with contractual agreements. The
termination clauses in most of our contracts provide far the payment for the value of products delivered or services performed in the event of early termination. We have historically recorded such
unbilled receivables (costs and estimated profit in excess of billings) in connection with (1) property appraisal services contracts accounted for using progress-to-campletion method of revenue
recognition using labor hours as a measure of progress towards completion in which the services are performed in ene accounting period but the billing normally occurs subsequently and may span
another accounting period, (2} professional services contracts accounied for using progress-to-completion methed of revenue recognition using labor hours ns s measure of progress towards completion
in which the services are performed in ane accounting period but the billing for the software element of the arrangement may be based upon the specific phase of the implementation; {3) software
revenue for which we have recopnized revenue at the point in tire when the software is made available to the customer but the billing has not yet been submitted to the customer; (4) some of our
contracts which provide for an amount, to be withheld from a progress billing {generally between 5% and 15% retention) until final and satisfactory project completion is achicved; and {5) in a limited
number of cases, extended payment terms, which may be granted to customers with whom we generally have a lengeterm relationship ang favorable collection history.

As of December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, total current and long-term accounts receivable, net of allowance for losses and sales adjustments, was $585.5 million and $535.0 million,
respectively. We have recorded unbilled receivables of $135.4 million and $140.3 millicn at December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively, Tncluded in unbilled receivables are retention
receivables of $8.6 million and $7.7 million at December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively, which become payable upon the completion of the contract or completion of our feldwork
and formal hearings. Unbilled receivables expected to be collected within one year have been included with accounts receivable, current portion in (he accempanying consalidaled balance sheels,
Unbilled receivables and retention receivables expected to be collected past one year have been included with accounts receivable, long-term partion in the accompattying consolidated balance sheets,
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Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 90 days. Tn instances where the timing of revenue recognition difTers from
the timing of invoicing. we have determined our contracts generally de net include & significant financing component. The primary purpose of our invoicing terms is to provide customers with
simplified and predictable ways of purchasing our products and services, not to receive financing from our customers or to provide customers with linancing, Examples include invoicing at the
beginning of a subscription term with revenue recognized ratably over the cantract peried, and mulli-year on-premises term licenses that are invoiced annually with revenue recognized upfront.

We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which lasses are recorded against revenue at the lime the loss is incurred. Since most of our clients are domestic governmental entitics, we
rarely incur a credit loss resulting from the inability of a client to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances thal indicate the carrying amaunt for the aflowances for losses and sales
adjustiments may requize revision, mnclude, but are niot limited to, managing our client’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered and defects or srrors in new versions or
enhancements of our soltware praducts. Our allowance for losses and sales adjustments of $14.8 million and $12.1 million al December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respeclively. Because we
rarely experience credit losses with our clients, we have not recorded a material reserve for credi losses.

The Following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for losses and sales adjustments:

Years cnded December 31,

2022 2021
Balance at beginning of year E 12,086 % 9,255
Provisions for losses and sales adjustments - accounts receivable 2,781 1831
Cuollections of sccounts previously wrillen off (106) —_—
Balance at end of vear 5 14,761 3 12,086

Deferved Revenue

The majority of deferred revenue consists of deferred subscription-based services revenue that has been billed based on contractual terms in the underlying arrangement, with the remaining balance
consisting of payments received in advance of revenue being earned under maintenance, software licensing, software and appraisal services, and hardware installation. Refer to Note 19 - "Deferred
Revenue and Performance Obligations" for further information, including deferred revenue by segment and changes in deferred revenue during the period.

Deferred Conumissions

Szles commissions earned by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. Sales cominissions for initial contracts are deferred and then
amortized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over a period of benefit that we have determined to be three to seven years. We wlilized the “portfolio approach” practical
expedient, which allows entitics to apply the guidance to a porttolio of contracts with similar characteristics because the effects on the financial statements of this approach would not differ materially
from applying the guidance to individual contracts. Using the “portfolio approach™, we determined the period of benefit by taking into consideration our customer contracts, our technology life-cycle
and other factors. Sales commissions for renewal contracts are generally not paid in connection with the renewal of a contract, In the small number of instances wiere a commission is paid on a
renewal, it is not commensurate with the commission paid on the initial sale and is recognized over the term of renewal, which is generally one year. Amortization expense relaied to deferred
commissions is included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income, Refer to Nole 20 = “Deferred Commissions” for further information.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include dicect and incremental costs such as commissions associated with arrangements for which revenue recognition has been deferred. Such costs are
expensed at the time the related revenue is recognized.
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USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financial statcments in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAPF™) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported antounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition, determining the nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, determining the S5F of
performance obligations, variabie consideration, and other obligations such as returns and refunds; loss contingencics; the estimated useful life of deferred commissions: the fair value amount and
estimaled useful tives ol intangible assets; the carrying amount of operaling lease righi-ol-use assets and aperaling lease liabililies: determining share-bused compensalion expense; the allowance lor
losses and sales adjustments. and determining the potential oulcome of future lax consequences of events that have been recognized on our consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Actual
results could differ from estimates.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, equipment and purchased software arg recorded at original cost and increased by the cesl of any significant improvements after purchase. We expense maintenance and repairs when incurred.
Depreciation and amortization is caleulated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful life or the term of the lease in the case of leasehold improvements. For income
fax purposes, we use accelerated depreciation methods as allowed by tax laws,

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
We expensed research and development expense of $103.2 million in 2022, $93.5 million in 2021, and $88.4 million in 2020.
INCOME TAXES

Income texes are accounted for under the asset and liabiiity method, Deferred taxes arise because of different ireatment between financial statement accounting and tax accounting, known as
“temporary differences”. We record the tax effect of these temporary differences as “deferred tax assets” {generally {tems that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in the future periods) and
“deferred tax liabilities” (generally items that we received a tax deduction for, which have not yet been recorded in the income statement). The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted Lax rules and laws thal are expecled to be in cffscl when the lemporary differences are expecled Lo be recovered or settled. A valuaion allowance is estublished Lo reduce deferred lax assels it
is mote likely than not that & deferred tax asset will not be "realized”,

We do not recognize a tax benefit for uncertain tax positions unless management’s assessment concludes that it is “more likaly than not™ that the position 15 sustainable based on its technical merite. 1F
the recognition threshold is met, we recognize a tax benefit based upon the largest amount of the tax benefit that is more likely than not probable, determined by cumulative probability, of being
realized upon settlement with the taxing authority. We recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized mx benefits in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income.

Tntern! Revenue Code (“IRCT) Section 174

For the tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (*TCJA™) eliminates the option to currently deduct research and development expenses and requires
taxpayers to capitalize and amortize them over five years for research activities performed in the United States and 15 years for research activities performed outside the United States pursuant to [TRC
Section 174. Although Congtess is considering legislation that would repeal or defer this capitalization and amortization requirement, it is not certain that this provision will be repealed or otherwise
moditied. If the requirement is not repealed or replaced, it will increase our U8, federal and state cash tax payments and reduce cash flows in fiscal year 2023 and future years,

SHAREG-BASED COMPENSATION

‘We have a share-based award plan that provides for the grant of stock options, restricied stock unils, and performance share units (o key employees, directors and non-employee consultants, Stock
options gencrally vest after threc to six years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a conlractual term of 10 years. Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three to tive
years of continuous service from the date of grant. Each performance share unit represents the right to receive one share of our common stock based on our achisvemnent of certain tinancia]
performarnce tarpets during applicable performance periods, which generaily cliff vest in one or three years. We account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to
ASC 718, Stock Compensaition. See Note 12, “Share-Based Compensation,” for further information.
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Agccounting for the aequisition of a business requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assels acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair values. The determination of fair
value reguires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, and in making these determinations, management uses all available information

For tangible and identifiable intangible assels acquired in 4 business combination. management estimates the fair value ol assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on quoted markel prices, the
carrying value of the acquired assets and widely accepted valuation technigues, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses. The assumptions made in performing these valuations
include, but are not limited to, discount rates, future revenues and operating cosls, projeclions of capital costs, and other assumptions believed to be consistent with those used by principal market
participants

Due o the specialized nature of these calculalions, we engage third-parly specialists (o assist management in evalvating our assuniplions as well as appropriately measuring the Fair value of assels
acquired and liabililies assumed. ‘We adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as necessary, up o one year after the acquisition closing date as we obtain new information about facts and
cirgumstances that existed as of the closing date. I actual results are materially different than the assumptions we used to determine fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed tirough &
business combination as well as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible assets, it is possible that adjustments to the carrying values of such assets and liabilities will have a material impact
on cur financial position and results of operations. See Note 2, “Acquisitions,™ for further information.

GOODWILL AND OTHER TNTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwifl

We zssess goodwill for impairment annually, or mare frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable. We begin with the qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantilative assessment described below. When testing goodwill for
impairment quantitatively, we [irst compare the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amouni of reporling unit gocdwill exceeds (he implied [air value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values caleulated in our impairment tests are determined using discounted cash flow models involving several assumptions (Level 3 inputs). The
assumptions that are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in estimating Fair value, We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be
reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. We evaluate the reasonableness of the fair value caleulations of our reporting wnits by comparing the total of the fair value of alt of our
reporting units to pur total market capitalization.

Duwring the fourth quarter, as part of our annual impairment test as of October 1, we performed qualitative assessments for the reporting units containing the receutly acquired data and insights, digital
government and payments solutions, and development platform solutions, and concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date. Approximately $1.7 billion, or 70%, of tota) goodwill
as of December 31, 2022, relates to these reporting units, which as 2 result of these recent acquisitions, do not have significant excess fair values vver cartying values, We performed qualitative
agsessments for the remaining reporting units in which we determined that it not more likely than not that the fair value exceeded the carrying value; therefore, we did not perform a Step | quantitative
impairment test. Our annual goodwill impairment analysis did not resul in an impairment charge. During 2022, we have recorded no impairment to goodwil! &s no triggering events or change in
citeumstances indicating 4 potential impairment has occurred as of period-end.

Determining the fair value of our reporting units involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and considerable management judgment. We base our fair value esiimates on AsSWMptions we
believe to be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncettainty. Changes in market conditions ar other factors outsice of our control could cause us to change key
assumptions and our judgment about a reporting unit’s prospects. Similarly, in a specific period, a reporting unit could significantly underperform relative to its historical or projected future operating
results. Either situation could result in a meaningtully ditferent estimate of the fair value of our reporting units, and a consequent futurs impairment charge.

There have been no impairments to goodwill in any of the periods presented. See Nate 4, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," for additional information.

F-16




Other hitangible dssels

We make judgments about the recaverabilily of purchased intangible asscts other than goadwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist. Customer base and
aequired soflware cach comprise approximately half of cur purchased intangible assets other thar goodwill. We review our customer trnover each year for indications of impairment. Qur customer
twrnover has historically been very low. If indications of impairment are determined Lo exist, we measure the recovernbility of assets by o comparison of the carrying amount of the asset Lo the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. 1f the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized l'or
the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. There have been no impairments of intangible assets in any of the periods presented

IMPAIRMENT OFF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We periodically evaluate wheiher current facts or cireumstances indicate that the carrying value of our property and equipment or other long-lived assets to be held and used may not be recoverable. 1
such circumstances are determined to exist, we measure the recoverability of assets to be held and used by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset or appropriate grouping of assels and the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated fature cash flows, an impairment charge {s recognized or
the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets There was no impairment of long-lived assets in any of the periods presented.

COSTS OF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

We capitalize soRware development eosts upon the establishment of technological feasibility and priar to the availability of the product for general release to customers for soflware sold to third parties
and for gpplication development costs of sefiware developed for internal use. Software development costs primarily consist of personnel costs. Duzing the twelve months period ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, vespectively, we capitalized approximaltely $27.6 million and $21.7 milljon of software development costs. We begin to amortize capitalized costs when a product is available for
general release Lo cuslomers and inlernal use soltware is ready for its intended use. Amarlization expense is determined on 2 product=by-product basis al a rale not less than siraighi-line basis over the
software’s remaining estirated economic life of, generally. three to five years.

CONTINGENT PURCHASE CONSIDERATION

Centingent future cash payments related to acquisitions are recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and included in the determination of the acquisition date purchase price. Subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent future cash payments are recognized in earnings in the period that the change oeeurs. We have no contingent consideration outstanding as of December 31,
2022,

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentiafly subject us te significant concentrations of credil risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable from trade customers, and investments
in marketable securities. Qur cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of operating account balances and money market funds, which are maintained at several major domestic financial institutions
and the balances often exceed insured amounts. As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $173.9 million. We perform periodic evaluations of the credit standing of these fnancial
institutions.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to the size and geographical diversity of gur customer base. As a result, we do not belicve we have any significant
concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2022,

We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustiments, which losses are recorded against revenues at the time the loss is incurred, Since most of our customers are domestic governmental entities,
we rarely incur a loss resulting from the inability of a customer 1o make required paymients, Events ot changes in citcumstances that indicate the carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales
adjustments may require revision inchde, but are not limited to, failure to manage our customer’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered, and defects or errors in new versions
ar enhancements of our software products. Historically, our credit losses have not been significant.

LLEASES

We determine il an arrangement is a lease al inception. Operating leases are included in operating leasc right-of-use ("ROU™) assets, and operating lease liabilitics, current and long-term, on our
consolidaled balance sheets. We currently da not have any finance lease arrangements.




Operating lease ROU asscts and operating lease liabilitics are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at commengement date. As most ol gur
leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement dale of the lcase in determining the present value of futore payments.
The operating lease ROU asset also includes any |ease payments made and excludes lease incentives and initial direct costs incurred. Ou lease terms may inciude options to extend or terminate the
lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense for minimurm lzase payments is recoghized an a straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases with an initial term of
12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet; we recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease
components, which are generally accounted for as a single lease component.

INDEMNIFICATION

Most of our software license agreements indemnify our customers in the event that the saftware sold infringes upon the intel lectual property rights of a third-party. These agresments typically provide
that in such cvent we will cither modify or replace the soflwarc so that it becomes nen-infringing or progure For the customer the right to use the software, We have not reeorded a liability associated
with these indemnifications, as we are nol aware of any pending or Lhreatened inftingement actions thal are possible losses, We believe the estimated fair value of these intetlectual property
indemnification clauses is minimal,

We have also agreed to indemnify certain officers and our board members if they are named or threatened to be named as a party to any proceeding by reason of the fact that they acted in such capacity.
We maintain directors' and afficers’ liability insurance coverage to protect against any such losses. We have not recorded a liability associated with these indemnifications. Because of our insurance
coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal,

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

[ October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 - dccounting for Contract Asseis and Contract Liahilities from Conmtracts with Customers (ASC 803) ("ASU 2021-08™). ASU 2021-08 requires an
acquirer in a business combination o recognize and measure contract zssets and contract liabilities (deferred revenue) from acquired contracts using the revenue recognition guidance in Topic 606.
Under this "Topic 606 approach.” the acquirer applics the revenue model as if it had eriginated the contracts, This is a departure from the current requirement to measure coniract asscts and contract
liabilities at fair value. ASU 2021-08 is efTective for all public business entities in annual and inlerim periods starting afler December 15, 2022, and early adoption is permilted, An entity that eurly
adopts should apply the amendments (1) retrospactively (o all business combinations for which the acquisition date ocours on ar after the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period of
early application and (2) praspectively to all business combinations that occur on or after the date of initjal application. We early adopted as of January 1, 2022. The adoption of ASU 202108 did not
restlt in an adjustment to the fair value of the deferred revenue balances assumed in our 20272 acquisitions. See MNote 2, “Acquisitions,” for further discussion,

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

There were no new not yet adopted accounting pronouncemenis currently issued that would affect the Company or have a material impact on its cansolidated financial position or results of operations
in futire periods.

(2) ACQUISITIONS
2022

On Octlober 31, 2022, we scquired Rapid Financial Solutions, LLC (Rapid), a provider of rchable, scalsble, and secure payments with besi-in-class card {ssuance and digilal disbursemenl capabilitjss.
The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.2 million, was approximately $67.7 mitlion, consisting of $51.2 million paid in cask, $18.2 million of commen stock, and $500,000 related to
working capital holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments,

We have pertormed a preliminary valuation analysis of the fair market value of Rapid’s assets and liabilities. In connection with this wansaction, we acquired total tangibie assets of $2.9 million and
assumed liabilities of approximately $635,000, We recorded goodwill of approximately $40.0 million, all of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets
of approximately $27.6 million. The goodwill atising from this acquisition is primarily attributed o our ability to gencrate increased revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable
market and client base. The $27.6 million of intangible assets are autributable to customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and wiil be amortized over a weighted average peried of
approximately 10 years.

On May 31, 2022, we completed the acquisition of Qualred, LLC (Quatred), a systems integrator and barcode technology salulions provider, The total cash price was approximatety $637,000.




On February 8, 2022, we acquired (1S eDirect Inc (IS eDireet, a leading provider of technology solutions for campground and outdoor recreation management. The total purchase price, net of eash
acquired of $6.4 million, was approximately $116.5 million, consisting of $118.8 million paid in cash and approximately $4. [ million related to indemnity holdbacks.

We have performed 2 valuation analysis of the (air market value of US eDirect's assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the preliminary allocati

on of the purchase price as of the
acquisition date:

Cash $ 6,361
Accounts receivable 1,730
Other surrent assets 594
Other nppcuzrent assels 698
Goodwill and identifiable intanpible assets 125,541
Acconnts payable (1,881)
Accrued expenses {357)
Other noncurrent liablities {142)
Deferred revenue (688)
Deferred tax liabilities, net (8,326}
Tatal consideration $ 122,930

[n connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $9.4 million and assumed liabilities of approximately §3.7 million. We recorded poodwill of approximately $91.4 million, none
of which is expected ta be deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $34.1 million. The goodwill arising from this acquisition is primarily attributed o our
ability to generate increased revenues, earnings, and cash (low by expanding our addressable market and client base, The identifiable intangible assets are attributable o customer relationships,
acquired software, and wrade name and will be amortized over a weighted average peried of approximately 13 yeurs. We recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $8.3 million related (o the tax effect of
our estimated fair value allocations. Since the acquisition date, we recorded adjustments to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to decreases in other current assets, other noncurrent assets,
identifiable intangible assets, accrued expenses, and deferred revenue, and increases in accounts receivable, accounts payable, and deferred tax liabilities, resulting in a net

increase to gaodwill of
approxinately $10.3 million.

As of December 31, 2022, the purchase price allocations for US eDirect and Quatred are complete, while the purchase price allocation for Rapid is not final; therefore, certain preliminary valuation

estimates of fair value assumed at the acquisition date for intangible assets, receivables, and related deferred taxes are subject to change as valuations are finalized, Our balance sheet as of
December 31, 2022, reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired based on their estimated fair value at the date of the acquisition, The fair value of the assets and liahilities
acquired are based on valuations using Level 3 unobservable inputs that are supported by littie or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the asseis or liabilities.

Rapid and US eDirect are aperated as a part of the digital government and payments solutions business unit (alse known as the NIC division ), therefore the following unaudited pro forma consolidated

operating tesults information has been prepared as if the acquisitions of Rapid and US eDirect had occurred an January 1, 2021, and N1C had occurred on January 1, 2020, after giving efTect to certain
adjustments, including amortization of intangibles, transaction costs, and tax effects.

Years ended Decemier 31,

2022 2021 2020
Revenues $ 1,867,011 § 1,785,623 § 1,577,117
Net income 147,028 157,765 183,994
Basic carniugs per share 5 3.54 % 386 & 4.60
Diluted earnings per share 3 347 5 373§ 443

The pro forma information above does not include acquisitions that are not considered material to our results of’ operations. The pro forma information does not purport to represent what our results of
operations actually would have been had such transaction occurred on the date specified or to project our results of aperations for any future period.
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The actual operating results of Rapid, US eDirect, and NIC from their respective dates of acquisition are included with the oparating resuits of the Platform Technalogies segment. The operating results
of Quatred are included in the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since the date of acquisilion. The impact of the 2022 acquisitions ou our operating results, assets, and liabilities iz
not material. In the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we incurred Fees of appreximately $2.0 million for finaneial adlvisory, legal, accounting, due diligence, valuation, and other various
services necessary to complele acquisitions, These cosls were expensed in 2022 and are ingluded in general and adminisirative expense in the aceompanying consolidated statements of income,

2021

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultimate Information Systems, [ne. (dba Arx). Arx is a cloud-based platform which creates accessible technology to enabie a modern-day
police force that is fully transparent, aceountable, and a trusted resoures to the community it serves. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was approximately $12.8 million,

On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendEngine, Inc., 4 cloud-based soflware provider focused on financial technology lor the corrections market. The wlal purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7
million, was approxirmately $83.6 million, consisting of $81.5 million paid in cash, and approximately $3.8 million related to indemnity holdbacks.

Tn connection with this transaction, we sequired total tangible assets of $5.8 million and assumed labilides of approximately $3.0 million. We recorded poodwill of approximately $54.3 million, none
of which is expeeted to be deduetibic for tax purposcs, and ofher identifiable intangible assets of approximately $37.9 million. The $37.9 million of intangible assets arc attributable to customer
relationships, acquired sofiware, und trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 13 years, We recorded net delerred Lax liabilities of $9.6 million related to the
tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations. In the twelve months ended December 31, we recorded adjusiments to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed Lo a decrease to accounts
receivable, accounts payable, deferred income laxes, and an adjustment to the aceral for indemnity holdbacks and increases in identifiable intangible assets and accrued expenses resulting in a net
decrease to goodwill of approximately $4.4 million.

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, Inc., a leading digital government solutions and paymen( company thal primarily serves federal and stale government agsnzics. The total purchase price, nel of
cash acquired of $331.8 million, was approximately $2.0 billion, consisting of cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.5 million of purchase consideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock
awards.

We have performed the valuation analysis of the fair market value of NIC's assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price as of the acquisition date:

Cash $ 331,783
Accounts receivable 149,513
Other current 2ssots 12,988
Qther nancurrent assets 20,974
Tdemifiable intangible assets 777,000
Croodwill 1,446 868
Accounts payable (156,099)
Accrued expenses (63,154)
Other noncurrent linbilitics (11,493)
Deferred revenue {3,294)
Deferved tax liabilities, net 7 (190,596)
Total consideration N 2,320,492

In connection with this transacticn, we acquired total tangible assets of $515.3 million and assurned fiabilitics of approximately $228.0 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately $1.4 billion,
none of which is expected to be deductibie for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $777.0 million. The $777.0 million of intangible assets are attributable to customer
relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 17 years. We recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $190.6 miilion related to
the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations, [n the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we recorded adjustmenis to the preliminary opening balance sheet atiribuled to a decrease (o
accounts receivable and inereases in identifiable intangible assets, deferred revenue and related deferred taxes resulti ng in a net decrease (o goodwill of approximately $17.2 million.

NIC delivers userfriendly digital services that nale it easicr and more officient far citizens and businesses Lo interact with government-providing valuable conveniences like applying for
unemployment insurance, submitting business filings. renewing licenses, accessing information and making secure payments withont visiting a government office. Tn addition, NIC has extensive
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experlise and scalz in (he governmen! payments arena which will aceelerale our strategic payments iniliatives. Therelore, the goadwill ol approximately $1.4 billion arising from this uequisition is
primarily atirtbuted Lo owr abifity 10 generate increased revenues, carnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable market and clicnt base.

On March 31, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Glass Are, Inc. (dba ReadySub), a cloud-based platform that assists school districts with absence tracking, filling substitute teacher
assignments, and automating essential payroll processes. The total cash price was approximately $6.2 million, net of cash acquired.

O March 31, 2021, we acquired substantiaily all assels of DataSpec, Inc. (DataSpec), a provider of a Saa8 selution that allows for secure electronic claims submission to the Federal Department of
Veterans Affairs and reperting capabilities, in addition to scheduling, calendaring, and payments. The total cash purchase price was approximately $5.8 million.

The operating results ol Arx, DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEngine are included with the operating results of the Enterprise Software segment since their date of acquisition, The impact of the Arx,
DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEngine acquisitions, individually and in the agaregate, on our operaling results, assets and liabilities is not material. The operating results of NIC arc included in the
Platform Technologies Seginent. Revenues from NIC included in Tyler's results of operatipns totaled approximately $368.9 million and net income yeas approximately $37.2 million from the date of
acquisition through December 31, 2021, Tn 2021, we incurred fees of approximately $23.5 million for financial advisary, legal, accounting, due diligence, valuation and other various services necessary
to complete these acquisitions. The Company also incurred $ 1.6 million of expense related to a separation agreement with NTC's fortner Chief Executive Officer. These costs were expensed in 2021
and are included in general and administrative cxpense in the accompanying conselidated stalements of income. Ag of December 31, 2022, the purchase price allocations for 2021 acquisitions are
complete,

3) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET AND SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, NET

Froperty and equipment, net consists of the following af December 31:

Usefu!
Lives
(years) 2022 2021
Land — & 22908 ' § 22,523
Building and leasehold improvements 5e39 159,059 154,222
Compuler equipment and purchased software 3=5 121,968 199,691
Furniture and fixtures 3 39,373 35932
Transportation equipment 3 200 207
343,508 322,575
Accummlated depreciation and amorlization (170,722) (141,382)
Propcerty and equipment, net 7 § 172,786 § 181,193
Depreciation expense was $29.5 millien in 2022, $25.4 million in 2021, and $25.5 million in 2020,
We paid $4.5 million and §12.8 million for real estate and the expansicn of existing facilities in 2022 and 2021, respeciively.
Software development costs, net consists of the following at December 31:
Useful
Lives
{years) 2022 2021
Sottware development costs 345§ 59904 § 32,274
Accumulated amortization 111,715) {3,783)
Software developtient casts, net $ 48,189 § 28,489

Amottization expense for software development costs is recorded 10 cost of revenues and general and administrative expense. Amortization expense for sotlware development costs recorded to cost of
reventes was $6.5 miilion ir 2022, $2.3 million in 2021, and no expense in 2020. Amortization expense for software development costs recorded to general and administrative expense was $1.4
million in 2022, no expense in 2021, and 1.2 million in 2020.
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Cstimated annual amertization expense related to saflware developmment costs:

2023 5 11,038
2024 12,440
2025 11,236
2036 8,247
2027 3,924
Thereafter 1,304

s 48,182

4) GOODWILL ANT> OTHER INTANGIRILE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwil | for the two years ended December 31, 2022 are as follows;

Enterprise Software Platform Technologies Total
Balance as of 12/31/2020 13 762,127 § 76,301 § 838,428
Goadwill nequired related to the purchase of NIC — 1,446,868 1,446,868
Goadwill acquired telated Lo the purchase of VendEngine 54,456 — 54,456
Coudwill acquired related to the purchase of other acquisitions 19,922 — 19,922
Balance as of 12/31/2021 836,505 1,523,169 2,359,674
Goodwill acquired related to the purchase of US eDirect — 91,44] 9l.44(
Goodwill acquired related to the parchase of Rapid — 40,005 40,003
Purchase price adjustments related to the purchase of VendEngine 204} — (204)
Furchase price adjustments related to the purchase of ofher aequisitions (1,608} — {1,608)
Balance as of 12/31/2022 ¥ 834,693 & 1,654,615 § 2,489,308
Other infangible assets and related accumulated amortization consists of the fellowing at December 31:
2022, 2021
Gross cacrying amount of other intangibles:
Customer related intungibles L] 990,545 § 949 844
Acquired software 456,137 433,300
Trade names 45,293 43,353
Leases acquired 5,037 5,037
1487012 434,034
Accumulated armortization (494,848) (381,541)
Total other intangibles, net B 1,002,164 § 1,052,493

Amortlization expense (or acquired sollware is recorded Lo cost of revenucs. Amortization expense for cuslomer related intangibles, irade names and (eases acquired is recorded te amorlization of other
intangibles. Total amottization expense for other intangibles was $113.9 million in 2022, $90.8 million in 2021, and $53.9 million in 2020
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The amortization periods of other intangible assets is summarized in the following table:

Won-amortizable intzngibles:
Goodwill

Amortizable intangibles;
Customer related intangibles
Acquired software
Trade names
Leases acquired

Estimated annual amortization expense related to other intangibles:

(3) ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued linbilities consist of the following at December 31:

Accrued wages, bonuses and commissiong

Other acerued liabilities

(6)  DEBT

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
Thereafter

December 31, 2022

December 31, 2021

The following table summarizes our lotal ouistanding borrowings related o the 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior Notes:

2021 Credit Agreemetg

Revolving credit facility

Terma Laan A-1

Tern Loan A-2
Canvartible Senior Notes due 2026
Total botrowings

Less: unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs

Total borrowings, net

Less: carrent partion of debt
Carrying valne

Weighted Weighted
Gross Average Gross Average
Carrying Amaorlization Accumulaled LCarrying Amortization Accumulated
Amaount Period Amortizalion Amount Period Amortization
2.489.308 — — 8 2359674 — & —_
990,545 20 years 209501 S 949,844 21 yems § 157,077
456,137 5 years 260,642 433,800 7 years 208,451
45,293 5 years 21,059 45,353 10 years 13,064
5,037 9 years 3,646 5,037 O vears 2,949
§ 103,284
89,192
88,423
80,722
78,626
359,917
¥ 1,002,164
2022 2021
13 BM45 % 88,696
58,196 69,728
$ 131,941 § 158,424
Raie Maturily Date December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
L+ 1.50% April 2026 $ — 3 —
L+ 1.50% April 2026 290,006 585,000
L+ 1.25% April 2024 105,000 170,000
0.25% March 2026 600,000 600,000
995,000 1,155,000
(7,611) {13,724)
087,389 1,341,276
{30,000) (30,000)
$ 957389 & 1,311,276
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20210 Credit Agreesment

[n connection with the completion of the acquisition of NIC on April 21, 2021, we, as borrower, entered into a new $1.4 billion Credit Agreement (the “2021 Credit Agreement”) with the various
lenders party thereta and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associalion, as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender, and Issuing Lender. The 2021 Credit Agreement provides for { 1) a senjor unsecured
revolving credil facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $500 million. including sub-fagilities for standby letters of credit and swingling loans (the “Revolving Credit Feeility™, (2) an
amortizing five-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $600 million {the “Term Loan A-17, and (3) a non-amartizing threc-year term loan in the aggregate amotnt of $300 million (the “Term Loan
A-""y and, together {the “Term Loans™). The 2021 Credit Agreement matures on April 20, 2026, and the loans may be prepaid at any time, without premium ar penalty, subject to certain minimum
amounis and payment of any LIBOR breakage costs. In addition to the required amortization payments on the Term Loan A~ of 5% annually, certain mandatory quarterly prepayments of the Terin
Loans and the Revalving Credit Facility will be required (i) upon Ihe issuance or incurrence of additional debl not otherwise permitled under the 2021 Credit Agreement and (ii) upon the occurrence of
certain asset sales and inswrance and condemnation recoveries, subject to cetlain thresholds, baskets, and reinvestment pravisions as provided in the 2021 Credit Agreement.

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A~] bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a per antum rate of either { 1) the Administrative Agent’s prime commercial lending
rale (subjcet to certain higher rate determinations) (the “Basc Rate™) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lendlers, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus
a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 bears inleresl, at the Company’s option, al a per annum rate of either {1) the Base Rale pius a margin of 0% io 0.5% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or,
subject to approval by ali lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to 1.5%. The margin in each case is based upon the Company’s total net leverage ratio, as detetmined pursuant (o
the 2021 Credit Agreement. The 2021 Credit Agreement has customary benchmark replacement language with respeet to the replacement of LIBOR once LIBOR becomes unavailzble. In addition to
paying interest on the oulstanding principal of loans under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Campany is required Lo pay a commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit
Facility, currently 0.25% per annum, ranging from 0.15% to 0.3% based upon the Company’s total nel leverage ratio.

LIBOR, the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, is currently anticipated to be phased out in June 2023 and is expected to transition to a new standard rate, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate
{"SOFR"), which will incorporate certain overnight repa market data collected from multiple data sets. Tn January 2023, we amended? our 2021 Credit Agreement to replace the LTBOR reference rate
with the SOFR reference rate. Assuming that SOFR replaces LIBOR and is appropriately adjusted to equate to one-month LIBOR, we expect that there should be minimal impact on our operations,

The net proceeds [rom Lhe borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net of debt discounts of $7.2 million and deb issuance costs of $4.9 million and $6.4 million of commilment
fees paid related to the terminated $1.6 billion unsecured bridge loan facility. On the Closing Date, the Company paid approximately $2.3 billion it cash for the purchase of NIC, The Term Loans of
5900 million and a portion of the proceeds of the Revolving Credit Facility, in the amount of $250 million, together with cash available to the Company of $609 millien and the net proceeds of its
Convertible Senior Notes of $594 millien, were used to complete the acquisition and pay fees and expenses in connection with the acquisition and the 2021 Credit Agreement. The remaining portion of
the Revolving Credit Facility may be used for working capital requirements, acquisitions, and capitel expenditures of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The 2021 Credit Agreement requires us to maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions and prohibits us from making certain investments, advances, cash dividends or loans, and
limits incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens. As of December 31,2022, we were in compliance with those covenants,

The carrying amount is the par value of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans less the debt discount and delt issuance costs that are amortized to intercst expense using the cffective interest
method over the terms of the Term Loans, Tnterest expense is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income

* The foregoing i3 a summary of the amended terms and conditions of the 2021 Credit Agreement and not a complete description of the Third Amendnient (o Credit Agreement, dated January 27,2023, Accordingy, the
foregoing is qualified in ils sntirety by teference to the Bl text of the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement attached to this Current Report on Form 10-K. as Exhibit 4.2, which is incorporated by reference.
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Converlible Senior Notes due 3026

On March 9, 2021, we issucd 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 in the aggregate principal amaunt of $500.0 million {“the Convertible Seniot Notes™ or “the Notes™). The Convertible Senior
Notes were issued pursuant to, and are governed by, an indenture (the “Indenture™), dated as of March 9, 2021, with U.8. Bank National Associalion. as trustee, The net proceeds from the issuance of
the Convertible Senior Noies were $591.4 million, net of initial purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 miltion and debt issuance costs of $2.6 million.

The Convertible Senior Notes are senior. unsecured obligations and are (i) equal in right of payment with our future senior, unsecured indebtedness; (ii) senior i right of payment to our future
indebtedness that is expressty subcrdinated to the Notes: (iii) effectively subordinated to our future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing that indebtedness; and (iv)
structurally subordinated te all future indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, and {to the extent we are not a halder thereof) preferred equity, if any, of our subsidiaries.

The Convertible Senior Notes accrue interest at a rale of 0.25% pet annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year, beginning on September 15, 2021, The
Convertible Senior Noles mature an March 15, 2026, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed, or converred.

Before September 15, 2023, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes have the right to convert their Convertible Senior Notes only upen the occurrence of certain events. Under the terms of the
Indenture, the Convertible Senior Notes are convertible into conmon stock of Tyler Technologies, Inc. {referred to as “our common stock” herein) at the following times ar circumstancas:

*  during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ended June 30, 2021, if the last reported sale price per share of our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion
price for each of at least 20 rading days {whether or not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and {neluding, the last trading day of the immediately preceding
calendar guarter;

+  during the five consecutive business days immedistely after any five conseculive rading day period (such (ive conseculive trading day period, the “Measurement Period™) if the {rading
price per $1.000 principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes, as determined following a request by their holder in accordance with the procedures in the Indenture, for each trading day
of the Measurement Period was less than 98% of the praduct of the last reported sale price per share of our common stock o such trading day and the conversion rate on such trading day;

+  upon the oceurrence of certain corporate events or distributions on our coimmon stock, including but not limited to a “Fundamental Change” (as defined in the Indenture);

*  upon the eccurrence of specified corporate events; or

*  on or afler September 15, 2023, unti! the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, March 15, 2026.
With certain exceptions, upon a change of contrel or ether fundamental change (both as defined it the Indenture governing the Convertible Senior Notes), the holders of the Convertible Senior Notes
may require us to repurchase all or part of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes at g repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.

As of December 31, 2022, none of the conditions allowing holders of the Convertible Senior Notes to convert have been met.

From and including September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes may convert their Convertible Senior Notes at any time at their election until the close of business on the second
scheduled trading day immediately before the manwity date. We will settle any conversions of the Convertible Senior Notes either entirely in cash or in a combination of cash and shares of our
common stock, at our election, However, upon conversion of any Convertible Senior Notes, the conversion value, which will be determined over an “Observation Period” (as deflned in the [ndenture)
consisting of 30 irading days, will be paid in cash up to a least the principal amount of Lhe Notes being converied,

The Initial conversion rate is 2.0266 shares of comman stack per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes, which represents an initial conversion price of approximately $493 44 per share
of common stock. The conversion rate and conversion price will be subject to adjustnent upen the oceurrence of certain events, In addition, if certain corporale events that constitute a “Make-Whaole
Fundamental Change™ {as defined in the Indenture) oceur, then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, be increased fora specified period of ttime.

The Convertible Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option at any lime, and (rom time to time, on or aller March 15, 2024 and on or before the 30th scheduled trading day
immediately before the maturity date, at o cash redemption price
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equal to the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus azcrued and unpaid interest, if' any, up to, but excluding, the redemption date, but anly if the last reported sale price per share of aur
common stack exceeds [30% of the conversion price of the Notes on (i) each of at leas; 20 trading days, whether or nol consecutive, during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including,
the trading day immediately before the date we send the related redemplion notice; and {ii) the trading day imimediately before the date we send such notice. In addition, calling any Note for
redemption constitutes a Make-Whole Fundamental Change with respect (o that Note, in which case the conversion rate applicable (o the conversion of that Note will be increased in certain
circurmnstances if il is converted after it is called for redemption.

Fffective Interest

The weighted average interest rates for the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement and Convartibie Senior Notes due 2026 were 5.82% and 0.25%, as of Daceinber 31, 2022, respectively. During
the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, the effective interest rates for our borrowings were 3,79% and 0.54% for the 2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes, respectively. The
following sets forth the interest expense recognized related to the borrowings under the 2621 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior Notes and is included in interest expense in the accompanying
consalidated statements of income:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Contractual interest expense - Revalving Credit Facility $ (L267) % (L,244) § —
Contractual interest expense = Term Loang (18,583} 19.341) —
Contractual interest expense ~ Convertible Senior Notes (3,500) {1,213) -
Amartization of debt discount and debt issunnce costs (7,026 3,297 —
Interest expense and amortization of debt jssuance costs = tferminated 2019 Credit Agreement end Senior Unsecured Bridge loan facility — {8,203} (1,013)
Total § (28379) & (23298) & 11,013)

As of December 31, 2022, we had cne outstanding slandalene letter of credil totaling $1.5 million. The letter of credil, which guaraniees our performance under a client contract, rencws automatically
annually unless canceled in writing, and expires in the third quarter of 2026. For the twelve months ended December 31,2022, we repaid $360 million of the Term Loaus under the 2021 Credit
Agreement.

As of December 31, 2022, the required annual maturities related to the 2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Nates duc 2026 were s follows:

Year ending December 31, Annuzl Marities

2023 3 30,000
2024 135,000
2025 30,000
2026 800,000
2027 —_—
Total required matarities 3 993 000

(7} FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table prasents our financial instruments:

Decemmber 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Cash and cash equivalents s 173,857 % 309,171
Held=to~maturity investments — 98.653
Available-for-sale investments 55,538 —
Equity investments 10,000 10.000
TFatal 3 239395 § 417,824

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of money narket funds with original maturity dates of three manths or less, for which we defermine fair value through quoted market prices,
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Our available-for-sale securities were historically classified as held-to-maturity. Management determined that aur investment postfolio would be transferred from held-to~-maturity to available-for-sale,
in order to have the flexibility to buy and sell investments and maximize cash liquidity for petential acquisitions or for debl repayments. Accordingly, our investment portfolio is now classified as
available-for-sale as of Lecember 31, 2022, Qur available-for-sale investments primarily consist of investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds, and asset-backed securities with maturily dates
through 2027. These investments are presented at fair value and are included in short-term investments and non-current investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Unrealized pains
or logses associated with the investments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of ax in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and statements of comprehensive income,
For our available-for-sale investments, we do not have the intent to sell, nor is it more likely than not that we would be required to sell before recovery of their cost basis.

As of December 31, 2022, we have an accrued interest receivable balance of approximately $200,000 which is included in accounts receivable, net. We do nol measure an allowance for credit losses
for uccrued interest receivables. We record any losses within the matwrity period or at the time of sale of the investment and any write-ofls to accrued interest receivebles are recorded as a reduction (o
interest income in the period of the loss, During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, we have recorded no credit losses for acerued interest receivables. Tnterest income and amortization of
discounts and premiums are included in other income, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of incone.

The fellowing table presents the components of our avarlable-for-salc investments:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Amortized eoat $ 56,670 8§ —_
Unrealized gains 16 —
Unrealized Josses (1,148) —
LEstimated fair value 5 55538 % —_

As of December 31, 2022, we have $37.0 million of available-lorsale debl securities with conlractual maturities of one year or lsss and $18.5 million with contraclual maturities great than one year, As
of December 31, 2022, 24 available-for-sale debt securities with a fair value of $25.8 million have been in a loss position for one year or less and 28 securities with a fair value of $23.1 million have
been fn a loss position for greater than one year.

The following table presents the activity on our available-fotmsale or heldsto-maturity investments:

Years Ended December 3,
2022 2021 2020
Proceeds from sales and maturities . 5 71034 § 131,449 % 82,742
Realized losses on sales, net of tax (79) —

Our equity investments cansist of an |8% interest in BFTR, LLC., & wholly owned subsidiary of Bison Capital Partners V L.P. BFTR, LLC, a privately held Ausiralian company specializing in
digitizing the spoken word in court and legal procesdings. The investment i common stock is accounted for under the equity method because we do not have the ability to exercise significant
influence over the investee; and as the securities do not have readily determinable Fair values, our investment is carried at cost less any impairment write-gowns.
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(8) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE L.OSS

The following tables present the changes in the balances of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax by component:

Balaice as of December 31, 2020
Other compreliensive inconic before reclassitications
Amounls reclagsified (o nel ingome
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance a3 of December 31, 2021
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications
Reclassification adjustment of unrealized Losses on securities teansferced {rom held-to-maharity
Reclassification admstment for net loss on sale of available for sale seeurities, included in net income
Other comprehensive loss 1
Balance as of December 31, 2022

19} FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

LUnrealized Loss On Available-

Accumulated Other

lor-Sales Secaritics Other Comprehensive Loss
46) § — % (46)
“6) % — % (46)
(850) — {850)
N — 27
70 — 79
(798) — (798)
(B44) § — 8 (344)

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an assel or paid Lo transter a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or
most advantageous market for thal asset or liability. Guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of inputs used in measaring fair value defined

as follows;

*  Level l—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for idantical assets or liabilities.

inputs that are not directly observable, but are corrobarated by chservable markat dala.

Level 3—inputs that are unobservable and are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the use of significant management judgment.

Level 2—Inpuls include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in aclive markets and queted prices in non-active marlkels, inputs ather than quoted prices that are observable, and

The classification of a financial asset or liability within the hierarchy is determined based on the ieast reliable level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. In determining fair value,
we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. We also consider the counterparty and our own non-

performance rigk in our assessment of fair value,

The following table presents fair values of our financial and debt instruments categorized by their fair value hisrarchy as of December 31, 2022:

Availab{e-for-sale investments
Equity investments
2021 Credit Agreement
Revolving Crediu Facility
Term Loan A-1
Term Loan A-2
Convertible Senior Notes due 2026

Assety that are Meayured at 1qir Value on a Recwrring Basis

Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
55538 8 — 8 53,538
— 10,000 10,000
288,302 — 288,302
104,603 — 104,603
560,910 —_ 550,910

Cash and cash equivalenis, accounts receivables, accounts payables, short-term oblipations and certain other assefs at cost approximate fair value because of the shoit maturity of these instruments.
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As of December 31, 2022, we have $55.5 million in investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds, and asset-backed securitics with maturity dates through 2027, The fair values of these
securities are considered Level 2 as they are based on npuis from quoted prices in markets that are net active or other observable market data.

Assets ihat are Measured at Fuir Vilue on a Nonrecurring Busiy

As al'December 31, 2022, we have an 18% inlerest in BFTR, LLC. The invesiment it comimon stock is accounted under the equily method because we do nat have the abilily 1o exercise significant
influence over the investee and the securities do not have readily determinable fair values. Our investment is sarried at cost less any impaitment write-downs. Periodically, our equity method
investments are assessed for impairment. We do not reassess the fair value ol equity method investments if there are no identified events ar chunges in circumstances that may have a significant
adverse effect on the fair value of the investments. No events or chariges in circumstances have occurred during the period that require reassessment. There has been no {mpairment of our equity
method investment for the periads presented. This investment is included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets,

We assess goodwill for impairment annually on October 1. Tn addilion, we review goodwill, property and equipment, and other intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate the carrying value may nol be recoverable. During the fourth quarter ol 2022, we compleled our annual assessment ol goodwill which did not result in an impairment charge. Further, we
identitied no indicators of impairment to long-lived and other assets and therefare, na impairment was recorded as of and for the period ended December 31,2022,

dinancial instiuanents measured of fair value only for disclosure purposes
The fair value of our borrowing under our 2021 Credit A greement would approximate book value as of December 31, 2022, because our interest rates reset approximately every 30 days or less.

The carrying amount of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest
method over the tertns of the Term Loans. Tnterest expense is includad in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The fair value of our Convertible Senicr Notes due 2026 is determined basad on quoted market prices for a similar liability when traded as an assel in an active market, a Level 2 input, See Note 6,
“Dehbt,” for further discussion.

The carrying amount of the Convertible Senior Notes is the par value less the debt discount and debt issuance costs that are amottized to interest expensc using the offective interest method over the
term of the Convertible Senior Nates. Interest expense is included in the accompanying consolidaled stalements of income.

The following table presents the fair value and carrying value, net, of the 2021 Credit Agreement and our Convertible Notes due 2026):

Fair Value at December 31, Carrying Value al December 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021
2021 Credit Agreement

Revolving Credit Facility kS — % — 5 — % —
Terim Loan A-1 288,302 580,515 288,302 580,515
Terin Loan A«2 104,503 167,997 104,603 167,996
Convertible Notes due 2026 560,910 736,662 594,484 592,765
$ 953,813 % 1485174 § 987,389 § 1,341,276
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(1G) INCOME TAX

Tncome tax provision {benefit) on income from operations consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Carrent:
Federal $ 84,570 § 7501 § {10,538)
Staie 25,075 3,203 (1,304)
110,545 10,794 (11,342)
Deferred (87,192) {13,271) (7,536)
% 23353 % 12477 § (19,778)
Reconciliation of the U.8. stalulory income tax rate to our effective income tax expense rate for operations follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021 Z020
Federal fncome 1ax expense at statutory rate 3 39,395 % 33,386 § 36,759
State income tax, net of federal income tax besefit 9.197 5,594 6.677
Net operating Joss carryback (261) 3,391 (3,445)
Excess tax benefirs of share-based compensation {7.752) (47,673) {60,190)
Tax eredits (31,334) (4,000} (3,867
Nornedeductibie business expenses 5425 7,542 4,199
Uncertain tax positions 8,338 (425} —
Other, uet 348 709 89
$ 23353 % {2477 % (19,778)
1 2022, we completed a multi-year rescarch and development tax eredit study, which resulted in 2 $31.3 million research tax credit benefit,
The tax effects of the major items recorded as deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are:
2022 2021
Deferred income tax asgets:
Capitalized research and experimental expendifures s 76731 0§ —_
Qperating expenses not carrently deductible 17,263 16,639
Stock option and other employee benefit plans 21.373 19,596
Loss. angd credit carryferwards 8,589 18,604
Deferted revenne 4,403 4,717
Other 289 —
Total deferred income tax assets 128,630 59,556
Valuation allowance — —
Total deferred income tax absets, net of valuation allowsnes 128,630 59,556
Defened income tax Habilities;
Intangible assets (256,318) (266,827)
Property and equipment {11,220) (12,272)
Prepaid expenses (9,503) (8,542)
Total deferred income tex liabilities (277.541) (287.641)
Net deferred income tax Labilitics $ (148,891) § (228,045)

As of December 31, 2022, the capilalization and amortization requirements of research and experimental expendilures pursuant to the TCIA changes to Tntcmal Revenue Code Section 174 resulted in a

deferred tax asset of $76,7 million,




As of December 31, 2022, we had lederal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22.9 million, after-tax state nel operating loss carryforwards of approximately $1.6 million, and tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $4.1 million. The federal net operating loss carryforward will begin to expire in 2037, if not utilized, and a portion of the statc net operating foss and (ax credit
carryforwards begin expiring in 2033, il not utilized.

The acquired carryforwards arc subject to an annual limilation bul are expeeted to be realized. We belicve it is more likely than not that all other deferred tax asscis will be realized. However, the
amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted in the future if estimales of reversing taxable temporary differences are revised.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31

2022 2021
Balance at beginning of period $ 4,635 § 1,929
Additions for ax positions of prier period 3,522 4,508
Reductions for tax pesitions ef prior period (170) (1)
Additions for tax positions of current period 5,804 212
Settiements —— —
Expiration of statutes of limitations (1.160) 2,004)
Balance at end of periad 3 14,631 § 4,635

As of December 31, 2022, $ 1.5 million of the unrecopnized tax benefits are reflected as a decrease in deferred income taxes and $12.7 million are included in other long-term liabilities in our
consolidated balance sheets. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits, net of federal income tax benefit of state taxes, il recognized, that would atfect the etfective tax rate is $13.9 million as of
December 31,2022, and $4.3 million and $1.9 millien as of December 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively. Tt is reasenably possible that events will oocur during the nex! 12 months thal would cause the
total amount of unrecognized lax benefits to increase or decrease. However, we do not expect such increases or decteases to be material to the financial condition or results of operations.

We are subjest to U.S. federal income tax, as well as iticome tax of multiple stale, local and foreign jurisdictions. We are routinely subject to income tax examinations by these taxing jurisdictions, but
we de not have a history of, nor do we expect any material adjustments as a result of these examinations, With few exceptions, major U.S. federal, state, lacal and foreign jurisdictions are no longer
subject to examination for years before 2018, As of February 22, 2023, no significant adjustments have been proposed by any taxing jurisdiction.

We recopnize inlerest and penalties related (6 uncerlain lax posilions as a compenent of income tax expense in the consolidaled stalements of income. Accrued interest and penalty amournls were nol
significant at December 31, 2022,

(11} SHAREHOLDERS' BQUITY

The tollowing table details activity in pur common stock:

Yeirs Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Shares Amount Shares Amouni Shares Amauni
Purchages of treasury shares — 5 — ¢33 § (12.977) 59 § {15.484)
Stock option exercises 186 26,329 627 96,714 1,174 124,363
Eriiployee siock plan purchases 49 16,651 35 13,158 40 10,912
Restricted stock unirs vested, ner of withheld sharcs upot award settlement 176 (27.219) 147 (25,158) 76 (12.923)
Shargs issued for acqnisition 56 13,169 — — — —

As of February 22, 2023, we had autharization front our board of direclors to repurchase up to 2.3 million additional shares of our common stock,




{12) SHARI-BASED COMPENSATION
Share-Basgd Compensation Pian

In May 2018, stockhelders approved the 'lyler Technologics, Ine. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (“the 2018 Plan”) which amended and restated the existing Tyler Technolegics, [ne. 2010 Stock Option
Plan (“the 2810 Plan™). Upon stockholder appraval of the 2018 Plan, the remaining shares availabie for grant under the 2010 Plau were added to the shares autharized for grant under (he 2018 Plan,
Additicnally, any awards previously granted under the 2010 Plan that expire unexercised or are forfeiled are added 1o the shares autherized for grant under the 20718 Plan.

During fisca! year 2022, we pranted stock awards under the 2018 Plan in the form of stock options. restricted stock uwits and performance share units. Stock options generally vest afier three to six
years of continuous service from the datc of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years. Once options become exercisable, the employee can purchase shares of aur common stack at the market price
on the dale we granied the opticn, Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three Lo five years of continuous service from (he date of grant. Each performance shave unil represents the
right to receive one share of our common stock based on our achievement of certain financial performance targets during applicable performance periods. We account for share-based coimpensation
utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock € ‘ompensation.

As of December 31, 2022, there were 1.3 million sharcs availablc for [utare grants under the 2018 Plan from the 22.9 million shares previously approved by the sharcholders.

Jetgrmining Fair Yaluge of Stock Compensation

Valuation and Amortization Method. We estimate the fair value of stock option awards granted using the Black-Scholes aption vaiuation model. For restricted stock unit and performance stock unit
awards, we estimate fair value as market value on the date of grant. We amorlize the fair value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods, which are generally the vesting

periods.

Expected Life, The expected life of awards granted represents the period of time that they are expected (o be outstanding. The expected life represents the weighted-average period the stock options are
expected to be outstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting terms, temaining contractual {ifz and the employees’ expected exercise based on historical patterns.

Expected Volatility. Using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, we estimale the volatility of our common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our comman stock.

Rigk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option valuaticn medel on the implied yield currently availabie on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an
cquivalcnt remaining term equal to the expected life of the award.

Expected Dividend Yield. We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock in more than ten years and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foresseable future.
Consequenily, we use an expected dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

Expected Forfeitures. We use historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures. We record share-based compensation enly for those awardls that are expected to vest.

The following weighted average assumptions were used for options granted:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Expected life (in years) 50 5.0 5.0
Expected volatility 283 % 26.1 % 27.0%
Risk-free interest rate ' 33% L0% 04%
Expected forfeitnre rate —% —% — %
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ShareeB ward Activify,

The following table summarizes resiricted stock unitand performance stock unit activity during the periods presented (shares in thousands):

Weighted Average Grant Dale

Number of Shares Fair Value per Share
Unvested at December 31, 2021 G0 § 155.43
Granted 240 I 16
Conversion of Unvested Resticted Stock Awards — —
Vested {2406) 316.10
Torfeited (26) 392.33
Unvested at December 31, 2022 568§ 376.07
Options granted, exercised, forfzited and expived are summarized as follows:
Weighted
Average
Weighted Remalning
Number of Average Exercise Contractual Life Aparegate
Shares Price {Years) lnirinsic Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 1,620 206.06

Granted . 90 349,05

Exercised (186} 141.54

Forfeited {13) 292,50
Cutstanding at December 31, 2022 1511 % 221.38 3 5 175,246
Exercisable at December 31, 2022 1245 § 195.54 5 5 167,620
We had unvested options to purchase approximately 267,000 shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $344.14 as of December 31, 2022, and unvested options to purchase
approximaiely 445,000 shares with a weighted average grant date exerciss price of $293,84 as of December 31, 2021,
Other information pertaining to option activity was as follows during the twelve months ended December 31:

2022 2021 2020
Welghted average grant-date fair vatue of stock options pranted 3 10899 % 113.13 § 93.69
Total intrinsic value of stock options exerciged $ 43,160 § 215,062 % 292,394
Share-Based Compensation Expense
The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to share-based awards which is recorded in the consolidated statements of income:
Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Subscriptions, maintenance and professional setvices $ 27485 & 23,705 % 18,125
Sales and marketing expense 8,800 8,834 7,904
General and administrative expense 66,699 72,187 41,336

Totel share-hased campensation expense 112985 104,726 67,365
Total 1ax benefit (27,599} (63,456) (66.241)

Net decrease in net income § 75,386 § 41,270 § 1,124

As of December 31, 2022, we had $175.6 million of 1otal unrecognized compensation cost related Lo unvested options and restricted stock unis, net of expected {orfeitures, which is sxpected 1o be

amartized over a weighted average amertization period of 2.7 years.
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Limployee Stock Purchage Plan

Under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) purticipants may contribute up 1o 15% of their annual compensation (o purchase common shares of Tyler. The purchase price of the shares is equal
to 85% of the closing price of Tyler shares on the last day of each quarterly offering period. As of December 31, 2022, there were 576,000 shares available for [uture issuances under the ESPP from the
2.0 million shares previously approved by the stockholders,

f13) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table details the reconciliation of basic eamings per share to diluted earnings per share:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Numerator for basic and diluted earuings per share:
Net income 5 164,240 § 161,458 S 194,820
Denominator:
Weightedwaverage basic common shares outsiauding 41,544 40,848 40,035
Assumed conversion of dilutlve securites:
Stock awards BEES 1,382 1,491
Convertible Senior Notes — 14 —
Drenominator for diluted earnings per share - Adjusted weighted-average shares 42,399 42,244 41,526
Earnings per common share:
Basic ' $ 395 8 395 5 4.87
Difuted $ 3,87 8 382 % 4.69

Share-based awards representing the right to purchase common stock of 372,000 shares in 2022, 117,000 sharcs in 2021, and 132,000 shares itt 2020, were nat included in the computation ot diluted
sarnings per share becatse their inclusion would have had an antidilutive effect,

We have used the if-converted method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 on our diluted net income per share. Under the if-converted method, the
Notes are assumed to be converted at the beginning of the period and the resulting common shares are included in the denominator of the diluted earnings per share calculation for the entire period
being presented and interest expense, net of tax, recorded in connection with the Convertible Senior Notes is not added back to the mumerator, enly in the periods in which such effset is dilutive. The
approximately 1.2 million remaining resulting commen shares related to the Notes are not included in the dilutive weighted-average commen shares cutstanding calculation for the twelve months

ended December 31, 2022, as their effect would be antidilutive given none of the conversicn features have been triggered, See Note 6, “Debt.” for discussion on the conversion features related to the
Convertible Senior Notes,

(14) LEASES

We lease office facilities for usc in our operations, as well as transportation and other equipment. Mos1 of our leascs are non-cancelablc operating lease agrecments with original maturitiss between onc
1o 12 years, Some of these leases include options (o extend for up Lo six years, We have o (inance leases and no related party lease agreements as of December 31, 2022, Right-of-use leuse assets and

lease liabilities for our operating leases are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. During 2022, we incurred lease restructuring costs, resulting in an additional 51,7 million of operating lease
costs.

‘The compaonents of operating leasc expense were as follows:

Lease Costs Years ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Operating lease cost 3 14,743 % 11,095 3 6,524
Short-tenn lease cost 2,166 2,308 1,940
Variable fease cost 1,047 1,659 1,760
Nai lease cost 5 17,956 § 15062 § 10,224
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Suppicmental information reiated to leases is as follows:

Other Information Years ended December 31,
2022 2021
Cash flows:
Cash paid amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash oulflaws from operating leases 5 13,562 % 11,432

Right-of-use assets obtained iu oxchange for Jease obiigations (non-cash):
Qperating leases g 25,17t % 20,140

Lease tenn and discomit rate:

Weigltted average remaining lease term (ysars) 7 &
Weighted average discount rate 1.57% LB %

As of December 31, 2022, maturities of |sase liabilities were as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2023 $ 11,054
2024 10,878
20235 8,942
2026 7,022
2027 5,943
Theveatter 17,876
Totul lease pryments 61,715
Less: Interest (2,930)
Present value of operating leese labilities 3 58,785

Rental Income from third pariies

We awn office buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plano, Texas; Troy, Michigan; Latham, New York, and Mortaing, Chio. We lease space in some of these buildings to
third-party ienants, The property we lease to others under operating leases consists primarily of specific facilities where one tenant obtains substantially all of the economic benefit from the asset and
has the right (o direct the usc of the asset. These nonwcarcelable lzases expire between 2023 and 2027, and some have options 1o extend the lease for up to 10 years. We determine if an arrangement is a
lease at inception. None of our leases allow the lesses to purchase the leased assat,

Rental income from third-party tenants was $1,7 million in 2022, $1.2 million in 2021, and $1.1 million in 2020, Rental income is included in hardware and othet revenue on the consolidated
statemenis of income. Future minimum operating rental income based on contractual agreemenls is as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2023 3 1,881
2024 1,904
2025 1,363
2026 408
2027 131
Thereafter —
Total $ 5,687

As of December 31, 2022, we had no additional significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.
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{15) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majority of our employees meeting minimum service requirements. Eligible employzes can contribuie up 1o 30% of their current compensalion o the
plan subject to certain statutory limitations. We contribute up to a maximum of 3% of an employee’s compensation to the plan, We made contributions to the plan and charged operating results $17.3
million in 2022, $15 6 million in 2021, and $12.7 million in 2020.

(16} COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

During the first quarter 2022, the Company received a notice of termination for canvenience for professional services under a contractual arrangement with a stats client. Upon receipt of the
termination notice, we ceased performing services under the contractual arrangement and sought payment of contractually owed fees of approximately $15 miliion in connection with the termination
for convenience. As of December 31, the tolal exposure in our financial statements included the remaining balance of net billed accounts receivable for licenses and services rendered under the contract
of approximately $12 million

The client was unresponsive to company outreach for several months. On August 23, 2022, the Camipany filed a lawsuit lo enforce our rights and remedies uader the applicable contractual
arrangement. The client has not filed responsive pleadings and no other significant activity has occurred in the lawsuit. Although we believe our products and services were delivered in accordance
with the terms of our contract and that we are entitled to payment in connection with the termination for convenicnge, at this titne the matier remains unresolved. We are unable to estimate the
probability of a favorable or unfavorable outcome with respect to the dispute or estimate the amount of potential loss, if any, related to this matter, We can provide no assurances that we will not incur
additional costs as we pursue our rights and remedies under the contract.

Purchase Cominiiments

We have contractual obligations for third=party technology used in our selutions and for other services we purchase as part of our normal operations. Tn certain cases, these arrangemenis require a
minimum annual purchase commitment by us. As of December 31, 2022, the remaining aggregate minimum purchase commitment under these arrangements was approximately $264 million through
2028. Future minimum payments related to purchase commitments based on contractual agreements is as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amnount

2023 5 41,210
2024 41862
2025 39,730
2026 42,681
2027 42,734
Thereafter 56,245
Total $ 264,462

{1 SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We provide integraied information management solutions and services for the public sector.
We previde our soflware systems and related professional services and appraisal services through seven business units, which focus on the following products:

+  financial management, education and planning, regulalory, and maintenance soltware soluticns;

+  financial manapement, municipal courts, planning, regulatory, and maintenance software solutions:

»  courts and justice and public safety software sclutions;

*  dala and ingights solutions;

+  appraisal and lax software selutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and properly appraisal scrvices;
+  development platform solulions including case management and business process management; and

»  digital government and payments solutions.

F-36




In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segnmwnt Reporting. we report our resulis in two reportable segments. The Enterprise Saftware ("IR") reportable segment provides public scetor entities with sofiware
systems and services te meel their information technology and aulemation needs For mission-vritical “back-office™ functicns such as: financial management and education; platning. regulatory and
maintenance; cowrts and justics: public safety; data an<l insights; appraisal and (ax software solutions: land and vital records management software solutions: and property appraisal services. The
Platform Technologies ("PT") reportalile segment provides public sector entities with software solutions lo perform transaction processing, streamline data processing, and improve operations and
workflows such as digital government and paymenis solutions and deveiopment platforn solutions

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business sepment eperating income, We define segment operating income for our business units as income
before non-cash amortization of intangible assets associated wilh Iheir acquisitions, interest expense, and incoime taxes. Segmert eperating income includes intercompany iransactions, The majority of
intercompany lransaclions relate (o contracts invalving more (han one uail and are valued based on the contractoul arangement. Corparale sepment operaling loss primarily consists of compensation
costs for the executive management team, certain shared services staff, and share-based compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment aperating income also includes revenues and
expenses related to a company-wide user conference. The accounting palicies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Palicies™,

As of January |, 2022, the appraisal and tax sofiware salutions, land and vital records management saftware solutions, and property appraisal service business unit, which was previously reported in
the Appraisal & Tax ("A&T") reportable segment, was moved Lo the ES reporlable segment. The digital government and payments solutions, which was previously reporled in the NIC reportable
segment, and development platform solutions moved to the PT reportable segment to teflect changes in the way in which management makes operating decisions, allocates resources, and manages the
growth and profitahility of the Company. As a result of the changes in our reportable segiments, the former A&T and NIC reportable segments are no longer considerad separate segments. Prior periods
amounts for the ES and PT reportable segments have been adjusted to reflect the segment change,

Segment assets primarily consist ol nel accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other curreni assels and net property and equipmient, and soflware development costs, Corporate assets primarily
consist of cash and investments, prepaid insurance, intangibles associated with acquisitions, deferred income taxes and net propetty and equipment mainly related to unallocated informatien and
technology assets.

The ES segment capital cxpenditures included $3.6 million in 2022 and $12.8 million it 2021 for the expansion of existing buildings and purchases af'buildings. ‘The PT segment had $263,000 capital
expenditures in 2022 and had no capilal expenditures in 2021 Tor the expansion of existing buildings.

Enterprise

For the year ended December 31, 2022 Software Platforin Technologies Corporale Tolals
Revenues

Subscriptions $ 526,323 % 4359681 3% — 8§ 1,012,304
Maintenance 444,143 24,312 — 468,455
Professional services 170,462 72,655 —_ 243,117
Software licenses and royalties 55,158 4,248 — 59,406
Appraisal services 34,508 — — 34,508
Hardware and other 26,592 —_— 5,822 32,414
Intercompany 21,636 - (21,634) —
Total revenues 3 1,278822 % 587,195 % (15,814) § 1,850,204
Depreciation and amortization expense 55,389 84,609 19,074 159,072
Segment operating income 418,776 123,291 (214,263) 327,804
Software development expenditures 3.790 14,581 9,231 27,622
Capital expenditures 8,972 6,345 6,712 21,529
Segment asscts b 630,377 & 362,610 § 3,688,430 § 4,687,417
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For the year ended December 31, 2021

Enterprise

Sofiware Platform Technologics Corporale Totals
Revenues
Subscriptions 435078 § 359,357 &% — 3 784 435
Maintenance 439,589 34,698 — 474,287
Professional services 165,396 43,995 —_ 209,391
Sottware licenses and royalties 66,816 7,636 —_ T, 457
Appraisal services 27,788 — — 27,788
Hardware and other 18,876 3 3,027 21,934
Intercompany 22,033 — 122,033} —
Total revenmes 1,165,376 % 445,717 & {19,006) $ 1,592,287
Depreciation and amortization expense 54,011 55,539 26,074 135,624
Sepment operating incning 401,382 92,582 (222,779 271,185
Software development expenditures 3,504 12,332 5,857 21,693
Capital expenditures 19,213 3,696 11,010 33,919
Segment assets 601,350 % 339819 § 3.770.852 % 4,732 161

Enterprise
For We year ended December 31, 2020 Software Flatform Technolopies Corporate Totals
Revsnues
Subscriptions 339842 3 10,806 § — 3 350,648
Maintenange 427 813 39,700 —— 467,513
Professional services 165,022 21,387 _ 186,409
Software licenses and royalties 67,979 5,185 — 73,164
Appraisal services 21,127 — — 21,127
Hardware and other 17,755 36 fi 17,802
Tntercempany 19,131 — 119.131) —_—
Total vevenues 1,058.669 & 77,114 § {19,120) § 1,116,663
Depreciation and amortization expense 52,715 1517 13,225 81,657
Segment operating incame 355,679 15,569 (144,698) 226,556
Software development expenditures — 5,776 — 3,776
Capital expenditares 14,246 652 7.752 22,690
Segmenl assels 561324 % 57420 & 1988530 § 2,607,274
Reconoiliation of reportable segment opevating meome to the Company's consolidated totals: Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Tetal segment operating income $ 327,804 % 27,185 8 226,550
Amortization of acquired software 52,192) (45,601) (31,962)
Amgrtization of other istangibles (61,363) (44,849) (21.662)
Interesi expense 128,379) (23,298) {1.013)
Other ineeme, net 1,723 1,544 3,129
Income befors ingome taxes 3 187,593 3 158981 5§ 175,042




118) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENIE

The tables below show disaggregation of revenue into catcgaries (hat retlect how economic factors affect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenues and cash (lows.

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Timing of revenug recognition by revenue category during the period is as follows;

For the year ended December 31, 2022
Revenues:

Subscriptions

Maintenance

Professional services
Seftwarc licenses and royaliies
Appraisal serviges
Hardware and nther

Total

For the year ended December 31, 2021
Revenugs:

Subscriptions

Maintenance

Professional services
Soltware Hoenses and royalties
Appraisal services
Hardware and other
Total

For the year ended Decentber 31, 2020
Revemues:

Subscriptions

Maintenaos

Professional services
Software licenses and royalties
Appraisal services

Hardware and other

Total

Products and services

Products and services

transferred at & point in time transferved over time ‘Tolal

¥ — 1,012.304 1,012,304

— 468,455 468,455

— 243.117 243,117

50,302 o104 59,406

— 34,508 34,508

32,414 — 32,414

3 82,716 1,767,488 1,850,204

Products and services Products and services

transferred at a point in ime transferred over time Total

$ — 784,435 784,435

- 474287 474,287

— 202.39] 209,391

62,847 11,605 74,452

—_ 27,788 27,788

21,934 — 21,934

$ 84,781 1,507,506 1,392,287

Proclucts and services Praducts and services

transferred at a point in time trangferved over time Total

$ — 350,648 350,648

— 467,513 467,513

—_ 186,409 186,409

62,020 11,135 73,164

— 21,127 21127

17,802 — 17,802

5 79,831 1.036.832 1,116,663
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Recurring Revenues

The majority of our revenue is comprised of revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider to be recurring revenues. Subscriptions revenue primarily consists of revenues derived
fram our SaaS arrangements and transaction-based fees, which relale (o digita] government services, efiling transactions, and payment processing. Total subscriptions revenue derived from
transaction-based fees included in total recurring revenues was $600.8 million, $454.8 million, and $21.0 million, respectively, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2024,
respectively. The contract terms for subscription arrangements range from one to 10 years but are typically contracted for initiai periods of three to five years. Virtually all of our on-premises sofiware
clients contract with us for maintenance and support, which provides us with a significant source of recurring revenues, That maintenance and suppert is generally provided under annua), or in some

cases, muiti-year conlracts, We consider all other revenue categories to be non-recurring revenues.

Recurring revenies and non-recurring revenues recognized during the period are as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2022
Recuring reventies

Nom-recurring revenues

Intgrcompany

Total revenues

For the year ended December 31, 2021
Recuring tevenses

anl-recuri‘ing FeEvennes

Intercompany

Total revenues

For the year ended December 31, 2020
Recusring ceveones

Non-recutting tevenues

Intercompany

Total revenues

(19) DEFERRED REVENUE AND PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

Total deferred revenue, including long-term, by segment is as follows:

Enterprise Software
Platform Technologics
Carporate

Totals

Changes in total deferred revenue, including long-term, were as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Delerral ol revenus
Recopnition of deferred revenue
Balancc at end of yoar
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Enterprise
Soltware Platiorm Technologies Corparate Totals
870,466 § 510,203 % — % 1,480,759
286,720 76,903 5,822 309,443
21,636 s {21,636) —
1,278,822 § 587,196 § (13814 % 1,850,204
Enterprise
are Platform Technologies Corporate Totals
864,667 % 394,055 % — % 1,258,722
278.876 51,662 3.027 333,565
22,033 —m {22,033) —
1,165,576 % 445717 $ (19,006) & 1,592,287
Enterprise
Software Platform Technolapies Corporate Totals
767,655 % 50,506 $ — % 818,161
271.883 26,608 11 298,502
19,131 — (19,131) —
1,058,569 § 7714 % (19,1207 % 1,116,663
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
5 53390z § ’ 479,048
33,691 29,705
2,982 1814
B 370,575 § 510,567
2022
$ 510,567
1,267,937
(1,207,929)
3 570,575




Transection Price Alfocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining performance ebligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized (“backlog™), which includes deferred
revenue and amounts thal will be invoiced and recognized s revenue in {ulure perieds. Bucklog as of December 31, 2022 was $1.89 billion, of which we expect to recognize approximately 47% as
revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder therealter.

20) DEFERRED COMMISSIONS

Sales commissions sarned by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. Sales commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then
amartized commensurate with the recognition of associated revenue over a period of benefit that we have determined to be generally three to seven years. Deferred commissions were $43.8 million and
$38.1 million as of Peczmber 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization expense was 515.4 million, $13.4 million, and $11.9 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and
20620, respectively. There were no indicators of impairment in relation to the costs capitalized for the periods presented, Deferred commissions have been included with prepaid expenses for the current
portion and non-current other assets for the long-term portion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization expense related to deferred commissions is included in sales and
marketing expense in the accompanying consolidaled statemenlis ol income.

(21) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no material events or transactions that occurred subsequent to Decermber 31, 2022
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Exhibil 23

Cansent of Independent Registered Pubtic Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

{1) Registration Stalement (Form S-8 No. 333-225011} pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Option Plan,
12) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-182318) pertmiming lo the Tyler Technelogies, luc. Lmployee Stock Purchase Flan;

of our reports dated February 22, 2023, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Tyler Technoiogies, Inc., and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Tyler
Technologies, Tnc., included in this Annval Report (Form 10-X) of Tyler Technologies, Inc. for the vear ended December 31, 2022,
s/ FRNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2023



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
[, H. Lynn Moore, Jr., certify that:
I. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tyler Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this reperl does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 2 material fact necessary to make the statements macle, in light of the circumstances
undet which such statements were made, not misieading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cagh
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s ather certifying officer and I are responsibie foi establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and [5d-15(e)) and
inlernal centrol over our linancial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15([) and 15d-15(0)) lor Tyler and have;

a. Designed such disclosure contrels and procedures ot cansed such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, 1o ensure that material information relating
to the registeant, including its divisions, is made known to us by ethers within those entities, particularly during the perind in whicl this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide icasonable assurance
regarding the reliahility of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter { The registrant’s fourth
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The repistrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclesed, based on onr most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent function):

. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial infermation; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal contrels over financial reporting,
Date: February 22, 2023 By: /s/ H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
H. Lynn Mooie, Jr.
President and Chict Executive Oflicer




Exhibit31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Brian K. Miller, certify that:

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K ol Tyler Techiologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cenlain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit (o state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, nol misleading with respect to the petiod covered by this report,
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other linanciat information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, resulis of operations and cash
flows ol Lhe registrant as of, and (or, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over our financial reporting (as detfined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(1) and 13d-15(F) for Tyler and have:
a Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, Lo ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known Lo us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared:
b. Designed such internal control over {financial reporting, or caused such internal control over linancial reporting lo be designed under our supervision, (o provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effactiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions aboul the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (The registrant’s fourth
quartcr in the case of an annual report) that has matcrially atfected, or is reasonably likely to materially affoet, the registrant™s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ have disclosed. based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial repatting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committes of
the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent Fanction):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, sumimarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or ether employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal contrels over financial reporting.
Date: February 22, 2023 By: /s/ Brian K. Miller

Brian K Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFTCATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

H. Lynn Maore, Jr, President and Chief Executive Officer of Ty(er Technolegies, Tnc., {the “Company™} and Brian K. Miller,

Execulive Vice President and Chiel Financial Officer of the Com pany,
each certify pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act o[ 2002, |8 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

i The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended: and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all aterial respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation.
Date: February 22, 2023 By: /s/ H. Lynn Moore, Ir.

H Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer
By: /s/ Brian K. Miller
Brian K. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this wrilten statement required by Section 908 has been provided to Tyler Technologies, Inc. and will be retained by Tyler Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon roquest,




RQIT24000006 09/JAN/2024
VENDOR 3
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC
12 GOOSE LN

TOLLAND cT 06084~0000

TEL: (800} 2738605
FAX: (860)872-5526

TTEM DEBCRIPTION
ool 920~-45

REQUISITION

REQUISITIONER:

IT DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECH

240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD
6TH FLOOR

MINEOLA

&.BARNETT/MARY MAHONEY
TEL: (516)571-3159

FAXt (516)571-3918

QTY U/M UNIT COST
i1.00 EA

COMPUTER SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE/SUPPORT

ENTERPRISE ASSESSMENT & TAX (ORIGINALLY IAS) MAINTENANCE

ADAPT MATINTENANCE

RENEWAL TERM: 4/1/2024 - 3/31/2025===

T L T TR L LT TR TR S O N R R I R R N

BILL TO: I.T. ACCOUNTS FPAYABLE
240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD €TH FL
MINROLA, NY, 11501

NY 11501

TOTAIL
735,380.0000

$396,175.00

£339,205.00

TOTAL DUE: $735,380.00

EMAIL: ITACCOUNTINGENASSAUCOUNTYNY.GOV

R T T S T T T T S R R R I N I T R R

B R N B

ESTIMATED TOTAL:

PPN

AraararIAIAIIAYAAARLLLL AL LA Ly

735,380.00

735,380.00



PCHL910@ ADVANCED PURCHASING/INVENTORY 01/09/2024 11:37 AM
LINK TO: ELECTRONIC NOTE PAD PAGE ©1 OF 91

REQ DOC INQUIRY 214e

SOLE SOURCE; LETTER REQUESTED; QUOTE: NO QUOTE NUMBER

VENDOR EMAIL: GUS.TENHUNDFELD@TYLERTECH.COM .

A) ADAPT & ENTERPRISE ASSESSMENT & TAX (ORIGINALLY IAS) MAINTENANCE FOR THE
TERM 4/1/2024 - 3/31/2025.

B ﬁg35,3se.ee

C

D} NO. VENDOR IS THE SOLE-SOURCE PROPRIETARY OWNER/SUPPLIER OF THIS SOFTWARE.

E) THIS IS A NECESSARY ITEM TO MAINTAIN CURRENT TECHNOLOGY. THIS IS A
MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT FOR MODULES RELATED TO TAX BILLING & COLLECTIONS,
REkINQUENT TAX, APPEALS MANAGEMENT AND EDMS INTERFACE.

F

GE N/A

REFER TO POIT23000238/RQIT23000024

F1-HELP  F4-AUDIT  F5-TOP F6 COPY F7-PR PAGE F8-NX PAGE
FO-LINK  F10-SAVE  F11-INS PAGE F12-DEL PAGE ENTER-INQUIRE CL-EXIT
INQUIRY COMPLETE
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September 18, 2023

One Tyler Way
Moraine, Ohio 45439

7. 800.800.2581
Fi1937.278.3711

RIS RS (PR SR I T

Ms. Mary Mahoney

Nassau County IT Department
240 Old Country Road
Mineola, NY 11501

Re: 2024-2025 Enterprise Assessment & Tax Maintenance Renewal
RENEWAL NOTICE
Dear Ms. Mahoney:

The County’s current Enterprise Assessment & Tax Maintenance Agreement runs through March 31,
2024, Article 3 “Term”, “Subsequent Term of Agreement” of the agreement provides that additional
Support Periods shall begin {renew} at the end of each previous Period and end one year later unless (i)
either party gives written notice of non-renewal to the other party at least 30 days prior to the
expiration of the then current Period or any renewal thereof; or {(ii) the Agreement is terminated
according to the terms of this Agreement.

The Agreement allows Tyler to increase or decrease prices for Maintenance Services to be effective at
the beginning of any renewal of a Period by providing the County written notice of such change at least
90 days prior to such renewal. This Letter provides notice of the prices for the Maintenance Services for
the Period of Agreement from April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025,

Below is a breakdown of those services and this term’s corresponding fees:
Support Services:

Enterprise Assessment & Tax (Original IAS) Maintenance $396,175.00

ADAPT Maintenance $339,205.00
Total Due $735,380.00

The total fee for the above services provided under this Agreement is SEVEN HUNDRED THIRTY-FIVE
THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED EIGHTY DOLLARS {$735,380.00). Tyler will invoice the County in one (1)
installment on or about March 1, 2024. Any additional services requested by the County will be charged
at our then-current Time and Materials rates.

Both parties agree that the Terms & Conditions of the original contract’s Articles of Agreement and
Scope of Services remain in full force and effect for the term of this renewal.

Tyler will notify the County at least ninety (90} days prior to this renewal’s expiration of any changes to
the fees for the Maintenance Services for the following renewal period. The County shall notify Tyler at
least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of this renewal should the County choose not to renew this
agreement for the 2025-2026 period.



Tyler appreciates our current business relationship and we again thank you for your continued
confidence in our ability to provide professionat services to Nassau County. If you have any questions,

please contact me at 1-800-800-2581, ext. 1924, or via email at gus.tenhundfeld@tylertech.com.

Sincerely,

l

Gus Tenhundfeld
Inside Sales Manager



BRUCE BLAKEMAN
COUNTY EXECUTIVE

Nancy Stanton
COMMISSIONER

DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

January 9, 2024

TO: Robert Cleary, Chief Compliance Officer
Nassau County Dept. of Shared Services

Subject: RQIT24000006
Robert,

RQIT24000006 is for the maintenance of two Tyler products, Enterprise Assessment & Tax
(Original IAS) for $396,175.00 and ADAPT for $339,205.00. These Tyler products are critical
to the daily operations of several County Departments. These products are used by Assessment,
ARC, Treasurer, County Attorney and NCIT. These are sole source products and maintenance is
required. The total maintenance cost for these two products is $735,380.00 which covers the
period April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025.

Please let I.T. know if anything further is needed to approve the creation of the P.O.

Thank you,
Mary

Mary Mahoney, Information Technology Project Manager I
N.C. Dept. of Information Technology

240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD - MINEOLA, NEW YORK 11501 (516) 571-4311
Fax: (516) 571-3918
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One Tyler Way

Moraine, Ohio 45439

P: BOO.800.2581
F:937.278.3711

v opertee b

January 9, 2024

Ms. Nancy Stanton

Nassau County Commissioner
Information Technology Department
240 Old Country Road, 6™ Floor
Mineola, NY 11501

Dear Ms. Stanton:

Please accept this letter as confirmation that Tyler Technologies, Inc. is the sole provider of the
Enterprise Assessment & Tax (iasWorld) software. Additionally, Tyler is the only party
authorized to host, support, update or modify Enterprise Assessment & Tax (iasWorld) software.

The Enterprise Assessment & Tax (iasWorld) software products currently in use by Nassau
County, NY provides for a single source of data to perform its business functions. The ability to
use a single source of data (i) reduces the possible need for duplicate data entry, (ii) provides a
seamless transition of data from the valuation office function to the billing and collection office
function, and (iii) gives the tax office function immediate access to changes in valuations. In
addition, Tyler Technologies staff are the foremost users of the Tyler software and have the
abilities and access to access the solution in advanced ways that no other software service provider
can.

Tyler is the sole developer and implementer of its proprictary Enterprise Assessment & Tax
(iasWorld) software.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call (800-800-2581), or email me at
kim frisby@tylertech.com

Sincerely,

Lundwly 9. Gudyy
Kimberly L. Frisby

Vice President Support Services

KLF:bb:krs



Stanton, Kimberly

From: Do_Not_Reply@nassaucountyny.gov

Sent: Tuesday, January 30, 2024 10:40 AM

To: Stanton, Nancy; Stanton, Kimberly

Cc: Cleary, Robert; Stanton, Nancy

Subject: RQIT24000006 - APPROVED by Compliance

Nassau Co

Information Techno

Compliance has APPROVED the requisition below.

Requistion #/Blanket Order

#: RQIT24000006

Date: 09/29/2023

Delivery location: 240 Old Country Road

User Department: Information Technology ‘

Description: ADAPT and IAS, now called Enterprise Assessment & Tax Maintenance for the term 4/1/2024 -
3/31/2025.

Estimated Cost: $735,380.00

You may view this case by logging into the Requisition Application and going to the case or click here to go directly to the
requisition.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This transmission (including any attachments) may contain confidential information,
priviteged material (including material protected by the attorney-client or other applicable privileges), or constitute
non-public information. Any use of this information by anyone other than the intended recipient is prohibited. If you
have received this transmission in error, please immediately reply to the sender and delete this information from

your system. Use, dissemination, distribution, or reproduction of this transmission by unintended recipients is not
authorized and may be unlawful.
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)
071712023

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND,
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANGCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE ROLICIES

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED,
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the ferms and conditions
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu

the policy{ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
of such endorsement(s).

FRODUCER EONTACT Finn Davis
MARSH USA, LL.C. NAME: 7 857580 - ]
9 HIGH STREET | AJC, No. Ext): (AJC, Noj:
BOSTON, MA 02110 . Finn.Davisg@marsh.com
INSURER{S) AFFORDING COVERAGE Naic# |
CN102891976-TTI-GAWX+23-24 INSURER A : Hartford Fire Insurance Co 19682
INSURED . 2712
Tylor Technofoges, fnc INSURER B : Trumbull Insurance Company 0 n
5101 Tennyson Parkway INSURER C : Hartford Casualty insurance Company 29424
Plano, TX 75024 INSURER D : Sentinel Insurance Company 11000
INSURER E : QBE Specially Insurance Company 11515
INSURER F :

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER:

NYC-(11256015-11 REVISION NUMBER: 0

THIS IS TC CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELCW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE PGLICY PERIOD

INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION

CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANGCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUGH POLICIES, LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS

OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESFECT TO WHIGH THIS

ADDL[SUBR, T i
'f%? TYPE OF INSURANCE ] | WVD POLICY NUMBER (nﬁﬂh:cnfyvgrﬁ) rﬁﬁs?n%‘fv?\(fn LIMITS
A | X | cOMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 10 UEN DLO437 04/01/2023 0401/2024 EACH OCGURRENCE 3 1,000,000
ﬁj DAWMAGE TORENTED
CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR PREMISES (Ea gecurrence) $ 300,000
MED EXP (Any one person) | § 10,000
PERSONAL & ADV INJURY | § 1,600,000
GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER; GENERAL AGGREGATE 5 2,000,000
X | poLiey e Loc PRODUCTS - COMPIOP AGG | § 2,000,000
OTHER: $
B | AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 10 UEN DigBg7 040112023 |oa/0Ni2024 [ COMBINED SINGLELIMIT | 4 1,000,000
X | ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person) | §
OWNED SCHEDULED -
AUTOS ONLY AUTOS BODILY INJURY (Par accidant)| §
HIRED NON-QWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE s
L | AUTOS ONLY ALUTOS ONLY (Per accident}
§
C | X | umereLLALIAR [ X | ogour 10 XHU DLOT02 04/01/2023  |OMOV2024 | cack OCGURRENGE R 26,000,000
EXCESS LIAS CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE 8 25,000,000
DED [ X ‘ RETENTION § 10,000 5
D |WORKERS COMPENSATION 10WBAKBAGK 0470772023 0470172024 X ] PER | OTH-
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY YIN STATUTE ER
ANYPROPRIETORPARTNER/EXEGUTIVE E.L EACH ACCIDENT $ 1,000,000
OFFICER/MEMBEREXGLUDED? N/A
(Mandatory in NH} E.L DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE]| § 1,000,000
i yes, describe under 17000,000
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below E.L DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT | 8 00,
E tProfessional Liability 130001986 06/17/2023 0611772024 Limit 10,000,000
Cyber Protaction

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES
Counly of Nassau is Additional Insured as respects general ligbility where required by writien contract.

{ACORD 101, Additlonal Remarks Scheduls, may be attached if more space is required}

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

CANCELLATION

County of Nassau
240 Old County Rd
Mineola, NY 11501

|

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Pranadl PEET A PR

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2016 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



AGENCY CUSTOMER iD: CN1028919786
LoC #: Boston

y ) ®
ACORD ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE Page 2 of 2
AGENCY NAMED INSURED
WARSH USA, LLC. Tyler Technologies, Inc.
5101 Tennyson Parkway

POLICY NUMBER Plano, TX 75024
CARRIER NAIC CODE

EFFECTIVE DATE:

ADDITIONAL REMARKS

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TQ ACORD FORM,
FORM NUMBER: 25 FORM TITLE: Certificate of Liability Insurance

The Professional Liahility/Cyber policies evidenced contain Self Insured Retentions to various perils covered. If you would like additional information regarding these sublimits or deductibles, please contact the
insurad.

ACORD 101 (2008/01) © 2008 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
The AGORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



